
 

 

14 November 2019 

At 5.00 pm 

 

Central Sydney Planning Committee 
 



 

 

 
 



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 

  

Agenda 
  

 

 

1.   Disclosures of Interest 

2.   Confirmation of Minutes 

3.   Matters Arising from the Minutes 

4.   Development Application: 2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern 
- D/2018/1128 

5.   Development Application: 194 & 196-204 Pitt Street, Sydney – D/2018/1246 

6.   Development Application: 420 & 422-424 Kent Street and 275 & 277 Clarence Street, 
Sydney - D/2018/1577 

 



 

 



 

 

 

Guidelines for Speakers 
at the Central Sydney 
Planning Committee 

 

As part of our democratic process, the City invites members of the community to 
speak directly to Members of the Central Sydney Planning Committee (the CSPC) 
about items on a meeting agenda. 

To enable the CSPC to hear a wide range of views and concerns within the limited 
time available, we encourage people interested in speaking at meetings to: 

1. Register to speak by calling Council’s Secretariat on 9265 9190 before 12.00 
noon on the day of the meeting. 

2. Check the recommendation in the agenda report before speaking, as it may 
address your concerns so that you just need to indicate your support for the 
recommendation. 

3. Note that there is a three minute time limit for each speaker and prepare your 
presentation to cover your major points within that time. 

4. Avoid repeating what previous speakers have said and focus on issues and 
information that the CSPC may not already know. 

5. If there is a large number of people interested in the same item as you, try to 
nominate three representatives to speak on your behalf and to indicate how 
many people they are representing. 

6. Before speaking, turn on the microphone by pressing the button next to it and 
speak clearly so that everyone in the Council Chamber can hear. 

7. Be prepared to quickly return to the microphone and respond briefly to any 
questions from CSPC members, after all speakers on an item have made their 
presentations. 

At the start of each CSPC meeting, the Chair may re-order agenda items so that 
those items with speakers can be dealt with first. 

CSPC reports are on line at www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au, with printed copies 
available at Sydney Town Hall immediately prior to the meeting. Council staff are 
also available prior to the meeting to assist. 

January 2011 



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Disclosures of Interest 

Pursuant to the provisions of the Code of Meeting Practice – May 2019 and the Code of 
Conduct – May 2019, Members of the Central Sydney Planning Committee are required to 
disclose pecuniary interests in any matter on the agenda for this meeting. 

Member of the Central Sydney Planning Committee are also required to disclose any non-
pecuniary interests in any matter on the agenda for this meeting. 

This will include receipt of reportable political donations over the previous four years. 

In both cases, the nature of the interest must be disclosed. 

Written disclosures of interest received by the Chief Executive Officer in relation to items for 
consideration at this meeting will be laid on the table. 

Local Government and Planning Legislation Amendment (Political Donations) 
Act 2008 

The Local Government and Planning Legislation Amendment (Political Donations) Act 2008 
(“the Act”) requires the disclosure of relevant political donations or gifts when planning or 
development applications are made to minimise any perception of undue influence. The 
amendments to the Act require disclosure to the Electoral Funding Authority of: 

 a reportable political donation as defined in the Election Funding and Disclosures 
Act 1981 (a donation of $1000 or more made to or for the benefit of the party, elected 
member, group or candidate or made by a major political donor to or for the benefit of 
a party, elected member, group or candidate, or made to the major political donor), or  

 a gift (as defined in the Election Funding and Disclosures Act 1981) to any local 
councillor or council employee (and includes a disposition of property or a gift of 
money or the provision of other valuable or service for no consideration or for 
inadequate consideration) when a relevant planning application is made to a council.  

A donation of less than $1000 can be a reportable political donation if the aggregated total of 
such donations was made by an entity or person to the same party, elected member, group 
or candidate or person. 

1

Item 1.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Confirmation of Minutes 

Minutes of the following meeting of the Central Sydney Planning Committee are submitted 
for confirmation: 

Meeting of 24 October 2019 

 

 

 

  

1

Item 2.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Matters arising from the Minutes 

Matters arising from the minutes of the Central Sydney Planning Committee of 24 October 
2019. 

 

 

 

 

  

1

Item 3.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Development Application: 2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, 
Redfern - D/2018/1128 

File No.: D/2018/1128 

Summary 

Date of Submission: The application was lodged 20 September 2018. 

Amended plans were submitted on 17 May and 23 
September 2019. 

Applicant: Surry Hills Project Pty Ltd / TOGA 

Architect/Designer: SJB Architects and Studio Prineas 

Developer: TOGA 

Owner: Surry Hills Project Pty Ltd 

Cost of Works: $147,877,000 

Zoning: The site is zoned B2 - Local Centre under the Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012. The proposed uses 
comprise residential accommodation, retail and 
commercial; and a recreation area (public park), which are 
permissible within the zone with consent.  

Proposal Summary: Proposal 

Consent is sought for the redevelopment of the existing 
Surry Hills Shopping Village.   

The proposal includes the retention and adaptive reuse of 
the heritage listed former Bank of NSW building (397-399 
Cleveland Street) for retail purposes and the demolition of 
all other existing structures on-site.  It is proposed to 
remediate the site and construct a mixed use development 
comprising: 

 The construction of 6 x residential flat buildings 
containing 154 apartments, and 1 x commercial 
building containing retail and office uses; 

1

Item 4.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 Excavation and construction of 3 basement car 
parking levels for 345 car spaces accessed via 
Marriott Street and Baptist Street; 

 Basement, lower ground and level 1 would include 
commercial (retail and supermarket) uses accessed 
from Marriott, Baptist and Cleveland Streets. The 
proposed hours of operation of the supermarket are 
between 6.00am and 12 midnight Mondays to 
Sundays inclusive. 

Land dedication (public park, footpath widening, shared 
zone and public through-site link) is to occur by way of a 
previously executed Voluntary Planning Agreement. 

The development requires dewatering and is Integrated 
Development, requiring approval from Water NSW under 
the Water Management Act 2000. General terms of 
approval have been issued by Water NSW and form part of 
the recommended conditions of consent.  

The development has been the subject of a competitive 
design process, with the winning scheme a collaboration 
between SJB Architects and Studio Prineas. The proposal 
is generally consistent with the winning scheme and has 
adequately addressed the recommendations of the 
competitive design selection panel. The proposal seeks to 
utilise the design excellence provisions pursuant to Clause 
6.21 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012, where 
up to a further 10% height is possible. 

Development Standards 

The development complies with the overall Height of 
Buildings development standards for the site, and the 
height for the through-site link.  

The proposal exceeds the street wall Height of Buildings 
development standard, where a height of 9.9 metres (9 
metres + 10%) is permitted around the perimeter of the site 
with a depth of 4 metres. The street wall height non-
compliances are essentially misalignments in the site 
specific building envelopes ranging from 2% to 139% 
across 4 of the 6 proposed buildings. This is due to the 
articulation of the facade, with some elements above the 
street wall height, and other elements pulled back.  

A written request to vary the Height of Buildings 
development standard in accordance with Clause 4.6 of 
the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 has been 
submitted. 

 

2



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

The proposal exceeds the Floor Space Ratio (FSR) 
development standard under the Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 by 8.6%.  An FSR of 2.007:1 
(24,573.7sqm) is permitted, with the provision of 'end of 
journey facilities'. The exceedance is primarily a 
consequence of the change of use of the residential 
building to Cleveland Street to commercial, creating 
deeper floor plates.    

A written request to vary the Floor Space Ratio 
development standard in accordance with Clause 4.6 of 
the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 has been 
submitted. 

The requests to vary the Height of Buildings and Floor 
Space Ratio development standards are supported. The 
proposed development meets the objectives of the B2 - 
Local Centre zone and the development standards, and 
there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to 
justify the proposed variances. In particular, the varied 
street wall heights provide a high degree of articulation that 
reduces the perceived bulk and scale of the development. 
The change of use of Building G (the new Cleveland Street 
building) from residential to commercial enables the 
efficient and appropriate use of the land facing the state 
classified Cleveland Street. The overall form of the 
development distributes bulk across the site without 
adverse impact on the public domain and amenity of the 
surrounding area. 

Amendments 

During the assessment the scheme was amended and 
additional information was submitted, to address the 
concerns of the City's Design Advisory Panel and Council 
officers. These concerns primarily related to: 

 Land contamination; 

 Compliance with development standards and 
controls; 

 Design of communal open space for occupants 
(including the provision of rooftop open space) and 
increase in deep soil; 

 The architectural aesthetic of the overall 
development compared to the competition winning 
scheme; 

 Lift cores protruding beyond DCP building envelope; 

 

3



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 Removal of cantilevered levels above the former 
Bank of NSW, and reinstatement and restoration of 
the heritage listed building's original elevation to 
Cleveland Street.  

These issues have generally been addressed and/or 
justified by the applicant in the amended plans. Subject to 
the adoption of the recommended conditions of consent, 
the proposal is considered to achieve an acceptable 
degree of compliance with the relevant planning controls, 
and provides an adequate level of residential amenity.  

Notification 

The original proposal was notified for a period of 30 days 
between 4 October and 4 November 2018. As a result of 
the notification there were 23 individual submissions 
received, and 3 types of pro-forma submissions from 51 
residents. Submitters raised concerns with: 

 Height, bulk and scale of the proposal; 

 Heritage impact on the former Bank Building of 
NSW; 

 Removal of street trees; 

 Appropriateness of vehicular ingress and egress 
point on Marriott Street; 

 Construction and delivery vehicles utilising Baptist 
Street over surrounding streets, and the resultant 
noise impacts; 

 The removal of the 3 tonne vehicle weight limit in 
Baptist Street; 

 The need for dilapidation reports to be carried out 
along Marriott Street; and 

 The hours of operation of the proposed supermarket. 

On 17 May 2019, amendments to the scheme were 
submitted, which were re-notified for a period of 28 days 
(between 4 June and 3 July 2019. There were 7 individual 
submissions and 1 pro-forma response from 27 residents 
raising concerns with construction traffic impacts to Young, 
Cooper and Marriott Streets; and the use of the Marriott 
Street vehicular entry for both residential and commercial 
users of the site. 

 

 

4



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

An updated Construction Traffic Management Plan 
(CTMP) has been submitted in response to concerns 
raised by residents about the proposed construction 
vehicle routes to the development site. Additionally, Roads 
and Maritime Services (RMS) support the removal of the 
'No left turn' (buses excepted) at the Cleveland Street and 
Baptist Street intersection to improve access to the subject 
site, and minimise construction vehicle impacts to 
surrounding properties. 

All submissions have been considered within the report. 

Overall, the proposal responds satisfactorily to surrounding 
development and its context, and achieves a standard of 
architectural design that is considered to demonstrate 
design excellence.  

Summary Recommendation: The development application is recommended for 
approval, subject to conditions. 

Development Controls: (i) Sydney Airport Referral Act 1996 

(ii) Water Management Act 2000 

(iii) State Environmental Planning Policy (Building 
Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004 

(iv) State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 
2007 

(v) State Environmental Planning Policy No. 55 - 
Remediation of Land 

(vi) State Environmental Planning Policy No. 65 - Design 
Quality of Residential Flat Development 

(vii) Apartment Design Guide 2015 

(viii) Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

(ix) Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

(x) City of Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2015 

  

5



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Attachments: A. Recommended Conditions of Consent 

B. Selected Architectural Drawings (B1 and B2) 

C. Clause 4.6 Variation Request - Height of Buildings 

D. Clause 4.6 Variation Request - Floor Space Ratio 

E. Competitive Design Alternatives Report - 14 June 
2018 

 

  

6



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) the variation requested to 'Height of Buildings' in accordance with Clause 4.6 
'Exceptions to development standards' of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
be upheld;  

(B) the variation requested to 'Floor Space Ratio' in accordance with Clause 4.6 
'Exceptions to development standards' of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
be upheld; and 

(C) consent be granted to Development Application No. D/2018/1128 subject to the 
conditions set out in Attachment A to the subject report. 

Reasons for Recommendation 

The application is recommended for approval for the following reasons: 

(A) The requested variation to the maximum Height of Buildings development standard is 
upheld because the consent authority is satisfied that the applicant's written request 
has adequately addressed the matters required to be demonstrated by Clause 4.6(3) 
of the Sydney LEP 2012, and the proposed development would be in the public 
interest because it is consistent with the objectives of the Height of Buildings 
development standard and the B2 - Local Centre zone. 

(B) The requested variation to the maximum Floor Space Ratio development standard is 
upheld because the consent authority is satisfied that the applicant's written request 
has adequately addressed the matters required to be demonstrated by Clause 4.6(3) 
of the Sydney LEP 2012, and the proposed development would be in the public 
interest because it is consistent with the objectives of the Floor Space Ratio 
development standard and the B2 - Local Centre zone. 

(C) The development subject to conditions, is considered to exhibit design excellence 
through its positive contribution to the streetscape and public domain. The 
development is generally consistent with the winning scheme of a competitive design 
process and achieves a high standard of architectural design, materials and detailing. 
The development achieves the principles of ecologically sustainable development and 
has an acceptable environmental impact with regard to the amenity of the surrounding 
area and future occupants. The development therefore achieves design excellence in 
accordance with Clause 6.21 of the Sydney LEP 2012.   

(D) The proposal has been assessed against the aims and objectives of the relevant 
planning controls including SEPP 65, the Sydney LEP 2012 and the Sydney DCP 
2012. Where non-compliances exist, they have been demonstrated in this report to be 
acceptable in the circumstances of the case, or can be resolved by the recommended 
conditions of consent.  

 

7



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(E) The proposed development is considered to be appropriate within its setting and will 
provide for residential, retail and commercial development to serve the needs of 
community, and support the vitality of the local centre. 

(F) Subject to the recommendations contained within this report, and the imposition of the 
proposed conditions, the proposal demonstrates a design that responds to the 
constraints of the site, and contributes to the existing and desired future character of 
the area.  

  

8



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Background 

The Site and Surrounding Development 

1. The site is irregular in shape, with an area of approximately 12,244sqm. It has a 
northern frontage of approximately 70 metres to Cleveland Street; a 163 metre eastern 
frontage to Baptist Street; a 22 metre southern frontage to Baptist Lane; and a 160 
metre western frontage to Marriott Street. The site slopes from north to south with a fall 
of about 5 metres or nearly 2 storeys from boundary to boundary.  

2. Existing development on the site consists of the local heritage listed former Bank of 
NSW building (Sydney LEP 2012 I1305) on the corner of Cleveland and Baptist 
Streets, containing retail and commercial uses. Adjoining the heritage item is a single 
storey building containing a supermarket and various specialty retail shops known as 
Surry Hills Shopping Village. The southern portion of the site is used as an outdoor at-
grade retail car park with 145 car parking spaces and servicing areas. Loading dock 
access is provided from Marriott Street, and general vehicular access is provided from 
Baptist Street and Cooper Street.  

3. An aerial map, and photographs of the subject site are provided below. 

 

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site and surrounding area 

9



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 2: Former Bank of NSW Building viewed from Cleveland Street 

 

Figure 3: Cleveland Street frontage of subject site 

10



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 4: Baptist Street frontage of subject site 

 

Figure 5: Car park associated with the subject site - Marriott Street elevation 

11



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 6: Rear of buildings within the site - looking north 

 

Figure 7: Rear of buildings within the site - Marriott street elevation 

4. Surrounding land uses are residential and commercial in nature. The NSW Police 
Force horse stables are located directly opposite the site to the east (Baptist Street), 
and is a local heritage item under the Sydney LEP 2012 (I1278).  

5. To the south of the site are 2 storey terraces fronting Baptist and Boronia Streets. 
Adjoining the site to the south-west is a small open space reserve area containing a 
playground, with a pedestrian connection between Cooper and Boronia Streets.  

12



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

6. Directly opposite the site, on the western side of Marriott Street are single storey 
residential terraces. Cleveland Street contains a mixture of retail, business and 
residential uses over buildings at a height of 2 to 3 storeys.  

7. The subject site is not located within a heritage conservation area, however is 
bounded by the Baptist Street Heritage Conservation Area (C53) at all street 
frontages. 

8. Photos of the surrounds are provided below: 

 

Figure 8: Public Park to the south of the subject site.  

 

Figure 9: Baptist Street (west) terraces adjoining the site to the south 

13



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 10: Rear of Boronia Street terraces adjoining the subject site 

 

Figure 11: Marriott Street terraces (directly opposite the site) looking north-west 

  

14



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Proposal 

9. The proposal, as amended, is for the redevelopment of the site. This includes: 

(a) The adaptive reuse of the heritage listed former Bank of NSW building with an 
addition for retail purpose; 

(b) The demolition of all other structures on-site;  

(c) Site remediation; and 

(d) Excavation and construction of a mixed use development with 8 buildings in total 
(Buildings A to H) These buildings will include, 154 residential units, 7,475sqm of 
retail, 4,634sqm of commercial and 3 basement levels containing 324 car 
spaces. 

10. As part of the executed Voluntary Planning Agreement (VPA) between the City and the 
Developer, the following areas are to be transferred to Council, and have been 
included in the subject development application: 

(a) An area of 500sqm at the south-west boundary of the site for a public park; 

(b) An area of 610sqm for a 9m wide laneway at the southern boundary of the site; 

(c) An area of 279sqm for a footpath along Marriott Street. 

11. A site plan of the proposed development is provided below. 

 

Figure 12: Site plan of the proposed development, with transferred land indicated as (a), (b) and (c).  

12. The sloping of the site (north-south and west-east) results in the south-east corner of 
Baptist Street, the new laneway at the southern boundary of the site, and residential 
terraces DT.01, ET.01, ET.02 and FT.01 being shown at grade on the basement 1 
plan.  

(a) 

(b) 

(c) (c) 

15



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

13. The residential lobbies of Buildings A and B to Baptist Street and Building F to Marriott 
Street are located at grade, and shown on plan as lower ground.  

14. The through-site link at the Baptist Street elevation, access to the former Bank of NSW 
(both via the through-site link and Cleveland Street), and access to Building G from 
Cleveland Street are located at ground floor (referenced as level 1 in the drawing set). 

15. A breakdown of the development is provided as follows: 

(a) Basement 3 (lowest level) 

(i) Residential and commercial car parking, storage areas, garbage rooms 
and plant areas; 

(ii) End of journey facilities (change rooms, bike store); 

(b) Basement 2 

(i) Retail car parking, plant areas, retail end of journey facilities; 

(ii) Trolley storage (for the supermarket); 

(c) Basement 1 

(i) Loading dock (with turntable, waste area) at street level, accessed from 
Baptist Street; 

(ii) Car park entry ramp (to Basement 2) accessed from Baptist Street; 

(iii) Residential lobby of Building C at street level, accessed from Baptist 
Street;  

(iv) Car park entry ramp (to Basement 2) accessed from Marriott Street; 

(v) Commercial waste areas, plant areas and substation, retail back of house 
(below street level); 

(vi) Retail tenancy R1A (743sqm, food and drink premises), with sanitary 
facilities. Tenancy located below street level; 

(vii) Supermarket tenancy (3,633sqm) with attached liquor store (202sqm). 
Tenancy partially located below street level; 

(viii) Ground floor of residential terraces DT.01, ET.01, ET.02 and FT.01 
accessed from Marriott Street; 

(ix) Ground floor of residential terraces DT.02 and DT.03 accessed from the 
new laneway (at south-west corner of the site); 

(x) Residential lobbies of Buildings E and D at street level, accessed from 
Marriott Street; 

  

16



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(d) Lower ground 

(i) Retail tenancies R4 (460sqm food and drink) and R5 (286sqm food and 
drink), and residential lobbies to Buildings A and B to Baptist Street; 

(ii) Residential lobby of Building F to Marriott Street; 

(e) Ground Floor (Level 1 in drawing set) 

(i) Retail tenancies R2A (330sqm) and R3A (276sqm food and drink), and 
retail tenancies R4A (460sqm food and drink), R5A (323sqm food and 
drink) and R9A (345sqm food and drink) with access via Cleveland Street; 

(ii) Public through-site link (accessed at street level from Baptist Street) with 
public area; 

(iii) Communal open space for residents, and residential apartments of A to F; 

(f) Building A (Baptist Street) - 7 storeys, 26 apartments 

(i) 10 x 1 bedroom; 

(ii) 10 x 2 bedroom; 

(iii) 6 x 3 bedroom; 

(g) Building B (Baptist Street) - 7 storeys, 29 apartments 

(i) 11 x 1 bedroom; 

(ii) 16 x 2 bedroom; 

(iii) 2 x 3 bedroom; 

(h) Building C (Baptist Street) - 7 storeys, 38 apartments 

(i) 16 x 1 bedroom; 

(ii) 15 x 2 bedroom; 

(iii) 7 x 3 bedroom; 

(iv) 94.6sqm of communal floor space on level 4; 

(i) Building D (Corner of Marriott Street and new laneway) - 6 storeys, 26 
apartments 

(i) 6 x 1 bedroom; 

(ii) 15 x 2 bedroom; 

(iii) 2 x 3 bedroom; 

(iv) 3 x terraces (3 bedroom); 

  

17



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(j) Building E (Marriott Street) - 6 storeys, 19 apartments 

(i) 6 x 1 bedroom; 

(ii) 9 x 2 bedroom; 

(iii) 2 x 3 bedroom; 

(iv) 2 x terraces (3 bedroom); 

(k) Building F (Marriott Street) - 6 Storeys, 16 apartments 

(i) 5 x 1 bedroom; 

(ii) 6 x 2 bedroom; 

(iii) 4 x 3 bedroom; 

(iv) 1 x terrace (3 bedroom); 

(v) 225.3sqm of communal open space on level 5; 

(l) Building G (Corner of Marriott Street and Cleveland Street), 6 storeys 

(i) 2 x retail tenancies at level 1 and commercial office areas on levels 2 to 6; 

(ii) Plant area on level 6 and rooftop; 

(iii) Photovoltaic cells at rooftop;  

(m) Building H (former Bank of NSW building on the corner of Baptist Street and 
Cleveland Street), 2 storeys 

(i) Demolition of existing extension, and replacement with new extension that 
matches the height of the existing building; 

(ii) 1 x retail tenancy at level 1; 

(iii) 4 x retail tenancies at level 2; and 

(iv) Green roof. 

  

18



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

16. Photomontages and extracts of selected architectural drawings of the proposed 
development are provided below. 

 

Figure 13: Photomontage of the former Bank of NSW Building, Building A and Building G viewed 
from the corner of Cleveland Street and Baptist Street 

 

Figure 14: Photomontage of proposed retail and residential apartment buildings to Baptist Street 

19



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 15: Photomontage of proposed terraces and residential apartments to Marriott Street 

 

 

Figure 16: Proposed basement level 03 plan 

20



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 17: Proposed basement level 02 plan 

 

Figure 18: Proposed basement level 01 plan 

21



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 19: Proposed lower ground floor plan 

 

Figure 20: Proposed level 1 plan 

22



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 21: Proposed level 2 plan 

 

Figure 22: Proposed level 3 plan 

23



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 23: Proposed level 4 plan 

 

Figure 24: Proposed level 5 plan 

24



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 25: Proposed level 6 plan 

 

Figure 26: Proposed level 7 plan 

25



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 27: Proposed level 8 plan 

 

Figure 28: Proposed roof plan 

26



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 29: Proposed Cleveland and Cooper Street elevations 

 

Figure 30: Proposed Marriott and Baptist Street elevations 

27



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 31: Proposed through-site link elevations (north and south) 

 

Figure 32: Proposed sections through the development 

28



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

History Relevant to the Development Application 

Planning Proposal 

17. In 2008, the City's Sustainable Sydney 2030 Vision proposed investigating the mixed 
use renewal of the Surry Hills Shopping Village to support the Crown Street Village 
hub's role as a focus for the local economy and community. 

18. In January 2016, a planning justification report was submitted (by the proponent and 
landowner) requesting a change to the Sydney LEP 2012 and the Sydney DCP 2012 
in relation to the site. 

19. The request was to enable the redevelopment of the Surry Hills Shopping Village site 
for mixed use with approximately 8,000-9,000sqm of retail and commercial floor space 
and approximately 170 residential apartments. The proposal also included an increase 
of the maximum building height across the site, with the exception of the former Bank 
of NSW building.  

20. The post exhibition Planning Proposal report recommended a number of changes to 
the Sydney LEP 2012 as follows: 

(a) Amend the Height of Buildings Map; 

(b) Amend the Heritage Map to remove the site from the Baptist Street Heritage 
Conservation Area; and 

(c) Introduce two site-specific clauses so that: 

(i) Additional floor space cannot be awarded through the design excellence 
provisions of the Sydney LEP 2012; and 

(ii) Additional building height awarded through design excellence is linked to 
the achievement of a BASIX energy and water score that exceeds the 
State-mandated minimum target by 5 points. 

21. A site-specific draft DCP was also prepared containing provisions relating to the 
location of land uses, active street frontages, building configuration, street wall heights, 
upper level setbacks, through-site link, vehicular access and sustainable design 
measures. 

22. The Central Sydney Planning Committee resolved to approve the changes to the City's 
planning controls on 30 November 2017, as recommended in the post exhibition 
Planning Proposal report. 

23. The site specific controls, with amendments to the Sydney LEP 2012 and Sydney DCP 
2012, came into effect on 24 August 2018. 

24. A detailed assessment of compliance against the site specific controls is provided 
within this report.   

  

29



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Competitive Design Alternatives Process 

25. Following the Planning Proposal, the applicant commissioned a competitive design 
alternatives process for the site. Four architectural firms (each partnered with 
emerging architects) were invited to submit a design proposal in September 2017. The 
four selected architectural firms were: 

(a) Bates Smart / Chenchow Little / Luchetti Krelle; 

(b) DKO / Archer Office / Hames Sharley / Tribe / Aspect Studio; 

(c) SJB / Architect Prineas / Aspect Studio; and 

(d) Woods Bagot / Alexander & Co / Christopher Owen Landscape Design. 

26. Presentations were given to the Selection Panel on 14 May 2018. The Selection Panel 
resolved that the scheme prepared by SJB, Architect Prineas and Aspect Studio was 
preferred, and was capable of achieving design excellence.  

27. A copy of the competitive design alternatives report, including the selection panel 
recommendations, is provided at attachment E. A selection of the winning scheme's 
images presented during the competitive design process is provided below: 

 

Figure 33: Photomontage at competition stage, and prior to amendments being made, viewed from 
the corner of Cleveland Street and Baptist Street 

30



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 34: Photomontage at competition stage, and prior to amendments being made, looking north 
to laneway and Marriott Street  

Planning Agreement 

28. The Planning Proposal was subject to a planning agreement. The planning agreement 
was executed on 20 December 2017 and includes the following public benefits: 

(a) The transfer of an area of approximately 500sqm at the southern end of the 
subject site, from a private car park to be public parkland prior to the issue of the 
final occupation certificate of the development; 

(b) The transfer of an area of approximately 610sqm for a 9m wide laneway partially 
adjacent to the public park at the southern end of the subject site prior to the 
issue of the first occupation certificate of the development; 

(c) An area of approximately 279sqm for a footpath running along Marriott Street on 
the western side of the subject site, located 3m from the back of the existing kerb 
prior to the issue of the first occupation certificate of the development; 

(d) The construction and embellishment of those areas of land to be transferred to 
the City; 

(e) The provision of a community bus service commencing on the closure of the 
existing supermarket within the site, and operating until the opening to the public 
of the new supermarket at the site. The bus service is to run from the site to the 
supermarket at 1 Crystal Street Waterloo; and 

31



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

29. The installation of a 1000KVA substation kiosk within the public park to service the 
surrounding area only, and not the development itself. The Developer is committed to 
achieve the following sustainability measures for the subject development application, 
as required by the VPA: 

(a) An energy BASIX score of at least 5 points above the target required for a BASIX 
Certificate (residential); 

(b) A water BASIX Score at least 5 points above the target required for a BASIX 
Certificate (residential); and 

(c) Achievement of a certified design rating of at least 4 stars under the Green Star 
Interiors Green Building Council of Australia rating tool for the retail supermarket 
fit-out. 

Design Amendments 

30. During the assessment, Council officers requested design amendments and further 
information to address concerns raised by the Design Advisory Panel and internal 
units within Council. This included improved performance compared with the 
Apartment Design Guide (relating to building separation, communal open space and 
deep soil in particular), height and FSR non-compliances, compliance with the site 
specific controls of the Sydney DCP 2012 (with regard to landscape setbacks, height 
in storeys), and the materiality of the development. These issues are discussed in 
greater detail within this report. Modifications by the applicant include, but are not 
limited to: 

(a) External lift cores being setback to reduce bulk and scale as viewed from the 
street frontage; 

(b) Central massing of Buildings C and E reduced to increase separation distances, 
privacy, and improve design of communal open space; 

(c) Modification of architectural elements of the facade to reference the design 
competition winning scheme; 

(d) Reduction in the number of apartments from 157 to 154; 

(e) Increased landscaping, and rationalisation of courtyards to the Marriott Street 
terraces; 

(f) Removal of cantilevered portion of the commercial building (Building G) over the 
former Bank of NSW building; 

(g) Reinstatement and restoration of the original elevation of the former Bank of 
NSW building; and 

(h) Introduction of a second through-site link from Cleveland Street. 

31. The applicant submitted amended drawings on 20 May 2019, which were re-
advertised for a period of 28 days. Further amended drawings were received on 20 
September 2019, involving minor changes to communal open space requirements and 
deep soil provision, materials and removal of the signage strategy originally proposed 
as part of the application.  

32



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Community Consultation 

32. In addition to public notification requirements, a community meeting relating to the 
proposed development application was held on 16 February 2019 at the site. The 
meeting was attended by City staff, and residents of the local area. 

33. Residents raised concerns with regard to the following: 

(a) Impact of construction traffic on already congested streets; 

(b) The suggestion that the subsoil on which the houses in the surrounding area are 
built upon is not stable and causing houses to sink. The proposed construction 
works may worsen the instability, and dilapidation reports are requested for all 
houses along Baptist Street; 

(c) Concerns that the 3 tonne limit on Baptist Street will be abandoned, leading to 
more heavy vehicles using the street and impacting on amenity; and 

(d) General questions about the application process with regard to next steps, and 
whether residents will get the opportunity to verbally express their objection/s to 
the proposal.  

34. The above concerns are replicated in submissions received during both notification 
periods, and are addressed in this report under the section titled 'Notification, 
Advertising and Delegation'. 

Sydney Airport Referral Act 1996 

35. Section 182 of the Commonwealth Airports Act 1996 specifies that, amongst other 
things, constructing a building or other structure that intrudes into a prescribed 
airspace is a controlled activity. 

36. Schedules 2 and 5 of the Civil Aviation (Building Control) Regulations 1988 identify the 
subject site is subject to a prohibition of the construction of buildings more than 150 
feet in height (45.72m) above existing ground height. 

37. Section 183 of the Commonwealth Airports Act 1996 specifies that controlled activities 
may not be carried out in relation to prescribed airspace unless an approval has been 
granted. The relevant approval body is the Civil Aviation Safety Authority (CASA). 

38. All proposed buildings are below the 45.72m height limit, and approval from CASA is 
not required in this instance. 

Water Management Act 2000 

39. The proposed basement excavation will have an impact on the ground water levels 
within the site, with first ground water occurrence expected at depths between 2.7m 
and 3.9m below ground level and dewatering is required. In accordance with Section 
4.47 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979, the application was 
forwarded to Water NSW as Integrated Development. 

  

33



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

40. Water NSW provided their General Terms of Approval on 6 November 2018. 
Subsequently, amended plans and submissions received were forwarded to Water 
NSW on 6 August 2019. No response was received during the 21 day period. The 
original General Terms of Approval, still apply, and have been included in Schedule 3 
of the Notice of Determination.  

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts 

41. The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters: 

(a) Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs. 

State Environmental Planning Policy No 55—Remediation of Land 

42. The aim of SEPP 55 is to ensure that a change of land use will not increase the risk to 
health, particularly in circumstances where a more sensitive land use is proposed. 

43. The site contains a plume of Chlorinated Hydrocarbons from the chemicals used in a 
previous dry cleaning business at the site. Additionally, a sub slab survey was carried 
out that has identified elevated levels of Tetrachloroethylene beneath the slab.  

44. Two Remediation Action Plans (RAP) relating to the subject site and the land to be 
dedicated to Council, accompanied by letters of interim advice have been submitted 
with the development application.  

45. The RAPs propose to excavate and dispose contaminants off-site. The plume of 
impacted groundwater may be treated in-situ if excavation of fill/soil and construction 
dewatering do not remove all contaminants. The extent of the plume is limited to the 
north-eastern portion of the site, separated from the VPA dedicated land. 

46. The interim advice confirms that the above approach is appropriate, and that no 
environmental management plan will be required for any of the land to be transferred 
to the City. 

47. The City's Health Unit has reviewed the information provided, and has recommended 
standard conditions to ensure compliance with the remediation measures outlined, and 
for Council to be notified should there be any changes to the strategy for remediation. 
Additionally, the City's Public Domain Unit has requested a condition be imposed for 
the transferred land ensuring that no long-term environmental management plan is 
required. 

48. The City’s Health Unit is satisfied that subject to conditions, the site can be made 
suitable for the proposed use. 

State Environmental Planning Policy No 65 - Design Quality of Residential Flat 
Development 

49. SEPP 65 provides that in determining an application for a residential flat development 
of three or more floors and containing four or more apartments, that the consent 
authority take into consideration a number of matters relating to design quality, 
including 9 design quality principles, and the objectives of the Apartment Design Guide 
(ADG).  

34



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

50. The applicant has submitted a design verification statement and SEPP 65 design 
report with the application, in accordance with Clause 50(1A) and Schedule 1, Part 2, 
Clause 5 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000, addressing 
the design quality principles and the ADG.  

51. An assessment of the proposal against the design quality principles and the relevant 
objectives of the ADG is provided as follows: 

(a) Principle 1: Context and Neighbourhood Character 

The site is located within the B2 - Local Centre zone which permits mixed 
commercial, retail and residential developments, and is in close proximity to 
Redfern Railway Station and bus routes along Cleveland Street. The site is 
approximately 2km from the Sydney CBD. 

The development, by way of its form and scale is consistent with the City's 
strategic vision to support the Crown Street Village hub's role as a focus for the 
local economy and community.  The site specific planning controls envisage 
mixed use buildings for the Surry Hills Shopping Village that activate the 
streetscape, providing supermarket and retail uses with high quality residential 
accommodation of which the development generally conforms.  

(b) Principle 2: Built Form and Scale 

The proposal does not comply with the Sydney LEP 2012 maximum street wall 
height in some instances (Buildings A, C, F and G), and does not comply with 
the maximum FSR of 2:1 for the site. The majority of the FSR non-compliance (in 
the order of 1,900sqm) is the result of replacing the residential flat building to 
Cleveland Street with a commercial building. The proposal complies with the 
overall height limits for the site.   

An assessment has been carried out, and the additional height and FSR are 
considered acceptable. The street wall height non-compliance generally relates 
to building modulation and articulation; and the FSR variation is the result of the 
improved planning outcome achieved by replacing the intended residential flat 
building with a wholly commercial building (thus eliminating amenity impacts to 
occupants).The proposal has been designed so that it does not create any 
significant adverse impacts to the surrounding locality. Refer to the height and 
FSR discussion under the heading Issues.     

(c) Principle 3: Density 

The proposal does not comply with the maximum FSR development standard, 
however this is primarily due to Building G (facing Cleveland Street) becoming a 
commercial building with deeper floorplates, rather than residential as envisioned 
by the site specific controls.  

Notwithstanding, the development provides a suitable number and variety of 
apartment types, with appropriate amenity for occupants.  

The proposed density is considered to be appropriate given the local context, 
particularly its proximity to established infrastructure, public transport, community 
and recreational facilities. The development does not result in any unacceptable 
amenity impacts to neighbouring properties or future residents. 

35



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(d) Principle 4: Sustainability 

The proposal is compliant with the requirements of BASIX in terms of thermal 
comfort, and far exceeds the water and energy targets as required by the site 
specific controls and the planning agreement for the development. A condition is 
recommended to ensure that the development complies with the commitments 
contained in the BASIX documentation.  

(e) Principle 5: Landscape 

The proposal incorporates landscaped areas within the new laneway, the public 
park and within the landscaped setback to Marriott Street for the general public; 
and areas at level 1, and level 4 for residential use.  

Deep soil areas are equal to 301.3sqm or 2.6% of the site which is acceptable in 
this instance given the site constraints (particularly the need for an adequate 
sized supermarket to service the local community). Amended plans have been 
submitted on 20 September 2019 providing an additional deep soil area to the 
corner of Marriott Street and Cleveland Street, and a green roof over the new 
extension to the heritage item. With dedicated areas included in the calculation, 
deep soil increases to 1,156.9sqm or 9.44% of the entire site, well in exceedance 
of the 7% requirement of the ADG.  

Overall, the proposal seeks to provide generous green roofs to offset the lack of 
deep soil, as well as tree planting on slab at level 1 and within the private open 
space of residential apartments to contribute to tree canopy targets. The 
proposed landscape component of the scheme is extensive, and additional 
details are required to ensure its success. Information is to be submitted relating 
to soil profiles, irrigation and access for maintenance. Detailed landscape 
conditions have therefore been recommended for imposition.   

(f) Principle 6: Amenity 

The proposal provides a reasonable level of amenity for the residential 
occupants of the development and neighbouring properties. Compliance with the 
amenity controls are detailed in the below ADG assessment table.  

(g) Principle 7: Safety 

The safety and security of the public domain and the site itself is enhanced by 
increased activity within the site and casual surveillance of the surrounding 
streets from the residential apartments. 

The residential entries are clearly defined and located to both Baptist and 
Marriott Streets to maximise security and safety for residents.  

The proposal is considered to be designed in accordance with the principles of 
Crime Prevention through Environmental Design (CPTED) and is consistent with 
this design quality principle.  

  

36



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(h) Principle 8: Housing Diversity and Social Interaction 

The proposal has the following unit mix: 

(i) 54 x 1 bedroom (35%); 

(ii) 71 x 2 bedroom (46%); and 

(iii) 29 x 3 bedroom (19%). 

The unit mix is consistent with that envisaged by the Sydney DCP 2012 and is 
acceptable.  

(i) Principle 9: Aesthetics 

The residential buildings utilises a combination of bagged and painted brick 
podium facades with metal cladding at upper levels in rich earthy tones to 
complement the surrounding heritage conservation area. The commercial 
building to Cleveland Street will be constructed in cross laminated timber (CLT) 
clad in grey textured brick, responding to the context of Cleveland Street and the 
former Bank of NSW Building. The proposed materials are acceptable, and the 
overall design will positively contribute to the aesthetic qualities of the 
streetscape. 

The amended design is considered to maintain the integrity of the competition 
winning scheme, which was considered by the selection panel to be the scheme 
most capable of demonstrating design excellence. 

52. The development is considered generally acceptable when assessed against the 
above stated principles and the SEPP generally, which are replicated in large part 
within Council’s planning controls. 

Apartment Design Guide 

2E Building Depth Compliance Comment 

12-18m (glass to glass) Partial 
compliance 

The majority of the development 
complies with the maximum building 
depth of 18m, with the exception of 
apartments 07 and 08 in Building C 
at every level, which measures at 
20m. 

Despite the non-compliance, the 
building provides an acceptable 
level of residential amenity to these 
apartments, and Building C in 
particular is of a scale that is 
appropriate to the site. Accordingly 
the aims of the building depth 
provisions of the ADG have been 
met. 

 

37



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

2F Building Separation Compliance Comment 

Up to four storeys (approximately 
12 metres): 

 12m between habitable 
rooms / balconies 

 9m between habitable and 
non-habitable rooms 

 6m between non-habitable 
rooms 

Partial 
compliance 

 

The building height is taken from 
the podium (level 1) when 
assessing separation between the 
buildings, as this is the level 
where apartments face each other 
within the site. The minimum 
separation required between the 
Marriott Street and Baptist Street 
buildings is 12 metres.  

Generally, building separation 
complies when measured parallel 
between habitable rooms and 
balconies. However, it is the 
angled relationships between 
openings that do not comply. 
There are oblique sightlines 
between habitable rooms and 
balconies of apartments of 
between 6 and 8 metres. 

Refer to Issues section for further 
discussion. 

Five to eight storeys 
(approximately 25 metres): 

 18m between habitable 
rooms / balconies 

 12m between habitable and 
non-habitable rooms 

 9m between non-habitable 
rooms 

At the boundary between a 
change in zone from apartment 
buildings to a lower density area, 
increase the building setback 
from the boundary by 3m. 

No, but 
acceptable 

The subject site is zoned B2 - 
Local Centre, and directly adjoins 
an R1 - General Residential zone 
to the south (Baptist Street), which 
contains low scale residential 
terraces. A 3m setback to the 
Baptist Street terraces is therefore 
required. 

The building has been designed to 
respond to the building envelope 
contained within the site specific 
controls of Section 6.2.8 of the 
Sydney DCP 2012, which does 
not require such a setback. The 
development however, is 
separated from the Baptist Street 
terraces by a 9m wide pedestrian 
laneway, and a 2.5m landscape 
setback as required by the DCP.  

 

 

 

38



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

2F Building Separation Compliance Comment 

The DCP setbacks ensure that the 
subject development provides 
adequate separation to the 
adjoining low scale development 
of Baptist Street, and thereby 
limits adverse amenity impacts to 
surrounding properties. Concerns 
have been raised by objectors 
about privacy to the Baptist street 
terraces to the south, and this is 
addressed under Objective 3F 
Visual Privacy.  

 

3D Communal and Public Open 
Space 

Compliance Comment 

Communal open space has a 
minimum area equal to 25% of the 
site. 

No, but 
acceptable 

The proposal has been amended to 
provide a consolidated area of 
communal open space at level 1 
(1,277.5sqm), and communal areas 
at levels 4 and 5 (156.5sqm and 
302.6sqm respectively).  

This results in an area of 
1,736.6sqm or 16%, based on a 
reduced site area of 10,855sqm 
(minus areas to be dedicated for 
public use).  

The proposed areas for communal 
open space are considered to 
adequately provide for active and 
passive recreation as well as 
opportunities for social interaction of 
residents. The developer has 
committed to dedicating an area of 
approximately 500sqm for a public 
park at the southern end of the site, 
and 88% of the apartments within 
the development provide private 
open space above the minimums 
suggested in the ADG.  

Consequently in this instance, a 
variation of communal open space 
is supported.  

 

39



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

3D Communal and Public Open 
Space 

Compliance Comment 

Developments achieve a minimum 
of 50% direct sunlight to the 
principal usable part of the 
communal open space for a 
minimum of two (2) hours between 
9am and 3pm on 21 June 
(midwinter). 

Yes 51.4% of the communal open space 
at level 1 receives at least 2 hours 
of direct sunlight during the winter 
solstice. 

 

3E Deep Soil Zones Compliance Comment 

Deep soil zones are to have a 
minimum area equivalent to 7% of 
the site and have a minimum 
dimension of 6m 

No, but 
acceptable 

The application proposes 301.3sqm 
of deep soil within the site, being 
2.6%.  

The non-compliance is considered 
acceptable in this instance given the 
site constraints (particularly relating 
to contamination and the need for a 
replacement supermarket to service 
the needs of the local community). 
The proposal provides generous 
green roofs, and landscaped 
communal areas to offset the lack of 
deep soil. With dedicated areas 
included in the calculation, deep soil 
increases to 1,156.9sqm or 9.44% 
of the entire site, well in exceedance 
of the 7% in the ADG. 

Separation between windows and balconies is required to ensure visual privacy is achieved. 
Minimum separation distances from buildings to the side and rear boundaries are outlined 
below. 

3F Visual Privacy Compliance Comment 

Up to four storeys (12 metres): 

 6m between habitable rooms 
/ balconies 

 3m between non-habitable 
rooms 

No Similarly to Objective 2F, separation 
has been measured from the 
podium. 

There are oblique sightlines 
between habitable rooms and 
balconies of apartments of between 
6 and 8 metres which is inconsistent 
with ADG requirements. 

Refer to Issues section for further 
discussion. 

Five to eight storeys (25 metres): 

40



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

3F Visual Privacy Compliance Comment 

 9m between habitable rooms 
/ balconies 

 4.5m between non-habitable 
rooms 

The development however, provides 
at least 6-9 metres separation 
between habitable rooms / 
balconies and the side boundaries 
of the site (measured to the middle 
of the lane), as well as to both 
Baptist and Marriott Streets in 
accordance with the objective.  

It is noted however, that the 
windows at the southern boundary 
may potentially overlook the private 
open space of Baptist Street 
terraces at levels 1 to 3 of 
apartments C1.03, C1.04, C2.03, 
C2.04, C3.03, and C3.04. The 
windows are to bedrooms, and form 
part of a pop-out that provides 
articulation to the facade. Whilst the 
pop-out frame itself will limit views 
out over the terraces there is 
insufficient detail provided in plan or 
section to determine whether the 
glass line is set in, or if it is in line 
with the pop-out. A condition is 
recommended to ensure that the 
glass line of these bedroom 
windows are set in.  

Bedrooms, living spaces and other 
habitable rooms should be 
separated from gallery access and 
other open circulation space by the 
apartment's service areas. 

Yes The proposal complies. 

 

4A Solar and Daylight Access Compliance Comment 

70% of units to receive a minimum 
of 2 hours of direct sunlight in 
midwinter to living rooms and 
private open spaces. 

No, but 
acceptable 

61% or 94 out of 154 apartments 
receive a minimum of 2 hours direct 
sunlight to living areas and private 
open space between 9am and 3pm 
in midwinter.  

Refer to Issues section for further 
discussion. 

41



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

4A Solar and Daylight Access Compliance Comment 

Maximum of 15% of apartments in 
a building receive no direct sunlight 
between 9am and 3pm at 
midwinter. 

Yes 2.6% or 4 out of 154 apartments 
receive no direct sunlight between 
9am and 3pm at midwinter. 

 

4B Natural Ventilation Compliance Comment 

All habitable rooms are naturally 
ventilated. 

Yes All habitable rooms are naturally 
ventilated.  

Minimum 60% of apartments in the 
first nine (9) storeys of the building 
are naturally cross ventilated. 

Yes 73.4% or 113 of 154 apartments are 
capable of achieving natural cross 
ventilation. 

Some apartments rely on 3.3m slots 
(within the wings of the 
development) with angled windows 
to capture wind for cross ventilation. 
Some of these windows are angled 
in the wrong direction (or have not 
been provided), and this is to be 
conditioned.  

Refer to Issues section for further 
discussion. 

Overall depth of a cross-over or 
cross-through apartment does not 
exceed 18m, measured glass line 
to glass line. 

Yes All cross-over and cross-through 
apartments have a depth less than 
18m, measured glass line to glass 
line. 

Measured from finished floor level to finished ceiling level, minimum ceiling heights are as 
follows: 

4C Ceiling Heights Compliance Comment 

Habitable rooms: 2.7m Yes All habitable rooms are provided 
with a floor to ceiling height of at 
least 2.7 metres. 

Non-habitable rooms: 2.4m Yes All non-habitable rooms are 
provided with a floor to ceiling height 
of at least 2.4 metres. 

42



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

4C Ceiling Heights Compliance Comment 

If located in mixed use areas – 
3.3m for ground and first floor to 
promote future flexibility of use. 

No, but 
acceptable 

Buildings A to C provide a floor to 
floor height of 5.7 metres at lower 
ground for the proposed retail uses. 

The site specific DCP controls do 
not envision retail or commercial 
uses at level 1, with the exception of 
retail areas fronting the through-site 
link. A floor to floor height of 3.1 
metres is provided to these 
tenancies. This is considered a 
minor non-compliance and is 
acceptable in this instance. 

 

4D Apartment Size and Layout Compliance Comment 

Minimum unit sizes: 

 Studio: 35m2 

 1 bed: 50m2 

 2 bed: 70m2 

 3 bed: 90m2 

The minimum internal areas 
include only one bathroom. 
Additional bathrooms increase the 
minimum internal area by 5m2 
each. 

A fourth bedroom and further 
additional bedrooms increase the 
minimum internal area by 12m2 
each. 

Yes The apartments comply with the 
minimum apartment sizes and 
provide, including where an 
additional bathroom is being 
provided.  

Every habitable room is to have a 
window in an external wall with a 
minimum glass area of 10% of the 
floor area of the room. 

Yes All habitable rooms (including 
studies where provided) have 
access to an external window as 
required by the ADG.  

Habitable room depths are to be no 
more than 2.5 x the ceiling height. 

Yes All apartments are open plan and 
have a maximum room depth of 8 
metres measure from the inside of 
the glass line to the kitchen.  

8m maximum depth for open plan 
layouts. 

Yes 

43



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

4D Apartment Size and Layout Compliance Comment 

Minimum area for bedrooms 
(excluding wardrobes):  

 master bedroom: 10m2  

 all other bedrooms: 9m2 

Minimum dimension of any 
bedroom is 3m (excluding 
wardrobes). 

Yes The development provides 
compliant bedroom sizes. 

Living and living/dining rooms 
minimum widths: 

 Studio and one-bedroom: 
3.6m 

 Two-bedroom or more: 4m 

Yes The development provides 
compliant living and dining room 
widths. 

4m minimum width for cross over 
and cross through apartments. 

Yes The minimum dimension of cross 
through apartments is 4 metres 

 

4E Private Open Space and 
Balconies 

Compliance Comment 

Studio apartments are to have a 
minimum balcony area of 4m2 with 
a minimum depth of 1m. 

One bed apartments are to have a 
minimum balcony area of 8m2 with 
a minimum depth of 2m. 

Two bed apartments are to have a 
minimum balcony area of 10m2 
with a minimum depth of 2m. 

Three bed apartments are to have 
a minimum balcony area of 12m2 
with a minimum depth of 2.4m. 

Yes All apartments are provided with the 
required area of private open space.  

Some apartments have balconies 
with variable depths or are split into 
two (i.e. an area of 7sqm and 3sqm) 
to meet the overall area 
requirements of the ADG. 

All apartments however, provide 
sufficient area that meet the 
minimum depth requirements, and 
in all instances provides useable 
balcony areas. 

A landscape condition is 
recommended in order to provide 
maintenance access to a green area 
between buildings D and E. This will 
result in the terrace of D1.02 
reducing in size from 75sqm to 
60sqm, which remains compliant 
with ADG requirements. 

44



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

4E Private Open Space and 
Balconies 

Compliance Comment 

Private open space for apartments 
on ground level, on a podium, or 
similar, must have a minimum area 
of 15m2 and a minimum depth of 
3m. 

Yes Apartments located on podiums and 
at ground level are provided with 
private open space that exceeds the 
minimum recommended areas. 

 

4F Common Circulation and 
Spaces 

Compliance Comment 

The maximum number of 
apartments off a circulation core on 
a single level is eight (8). 

Yes The proposal complies with this 
requirement. 

Primary living room or bedroom 
windows should not open directly 
onto common circulation spaces, 
whether open or enclosed. Visual 
and acoustic privacy from common 
circulation spaces to any other 
rooms should be carefully 
controlled. 

Yes Bedroom windows open onto 
landscaped areas that are 
inaccessible (other than for 
maintenance). The proposal 
otherwise does not result in primary 
living or bedroom windows opening 
directly onto common circulation 
spaces. 

Daylight and natural ventilation are 
provided to all common circulation 
spaces. 

Yes Daylight and natural ventilation are 
provided to all lobby areas within 
each residential flat building. 

 

4G Storage Compliance Comment 

Minimum storage provision 
facilities: 

 Studio: 4m3 

 1 bed: 6m3 

 2 bed: 8m3 

 3 bed: 10m3 

(Minimum 50% storage area 
located within unit) 

Yes Adequate storage is provided for 
each apartment in accordance with 
ADG requirements. 

 

45



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

4J Noise and Pollution Compliance Comment 

Have noise and pollution been 
adequately considered and 
addressed through careful siting 
and layout of buildings? 

Yes All apartments are capable of 
natural ventilation and provide 
acceptable acoustic amenity. 

The proposal has sought to 
minimise the impact of noise and air 
emissions by locating retail uses at 
lower levels, and providing upper 
level setbacks to vertically separate 
the residential apartments from any 
noise source below.  

State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 2007 

53. The provisions of SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 have been considered in the assessment 
of the development application. 

Clause 45 

54. The application is subject to Clause 45 (Subdivision 2 Development likely to affect an 
electricity transmission or distribution network) of the SEPP as the development 
involves the penetration of the ground within 2m of an underground electricity power 
line, and will require a substation.  

55. In accordance with the Clause, the application was referred to Ausgrid for a period of 
21 days during the original notification period, and again during re-notification. 

56. On 8 November 2018, Ausgrid advised that no objection was raised to the proposal, 
subject to the imposition of conditions relating to the design of the substation, and for 
due consideration be given to existing Ausgrid infrastructure during construction works. 
The conditions have been included in the recommended conditions of consent (Refer 
to attachment A).  

Clauses 101, 102 and 104 

57. The application is subject to Clauses 101, 102 and 104 of the SEPP as the site has 
frontage to Cleveland Street, which is a classified road, with an average daily traffic 
volume of more than 40,000 vehicles and involves traffic generating development.  

58. In a response dated 29 October 2018, Roads and Maritime Services advised that they 
had no objection to the application, and recommended a number of conditions to be 
imposed. These conditions relate to all structures along Cleveland Street to be 
contained wholly within the boundary of the site, and for excavation details 
(documentation and drawings) to be submitted to RMS for review prior to 
commencement of works.  

59. These conditions have been included within the recommended conditions of consent. 

  

46



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

State Environmental Planning Policy (Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004 

60. A BASIX Certificate has been submitted with the development application. 

61. The BASIX certificate lists measures to satisfy BASIX requirements, LEP and planning 
agreement requirements which have been incorporated in the proposal. A condition is 
recommended ensuring the measures detailed in the BASIX certificate are 
implemented. 

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

62. The site is located within the B2 - Local Centre zone. The proposed uses are defined 
as residential accommodation, retail and commercial, and a recreation area (public 
park) which are permissible with consent within the zone.  

63. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

Compliance Tables 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

4.3 Height of Buildings 

6.39 Surry Hills Shopping 
Village 

No Clause 4.3 of the Sydney LEP 2012 
stipulates 7 building heights across the 
site. Clause 6.39 of the Sydney LEP 
2012 also sets a maximum incline plane 
for a through-site link within the subject 
site.  

The proposed development seeks to 
utilise the design excellence provisions 
pursuant to Clause 6.21, where up to a 
further 10% height is possible. This is 
applicable where the design scheme has 
won a competitive design process and is 
considered by the consent authority to 
exhibit design excellence. 

This proposal is eligible for up to an 
additional 10% design excellence bonus 
for the building heights that apply to the 
site as follows: : 

 9.9m street wall height (9m base 
height) that applies around the 
perimeter of the site to the 
northern, southern, eastern and 
western extent of the site 
frontages. The 9.9m height 
extends for a width of 4m to all 
frontages, excluding the former 
Bank of NSW building, to which 
this height limit does not apply; 

47



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

Beyond the 9.9m street wall height limit 
are the overall maximum building 
heights across the site: 

 Buildings A-C at 27.5m (25m base 
height), stepping down to 25.3m 
(23m base height) at the southern 
corner of Baptist Street and the 
new laneway; 

 Buildings D-F at 19.8 (18m base 
height) to Marriott Street; 

 Building G at 24.2m (22m base 
height); 

 Former Bank of NSW building 12m 
(no 10% increase); and 

 Through-site link within the site 
(Area 9) at an incline plane of 
RL34.5 to RL 35.65 from west to 
east / Marriott to Baptist Streets 
(no 10% increase). 

The buildings comply with the overall 
building heights that apply to the site, as 
follows: 

 Building A: 26.6m; 

 Building B: 26.2m; 

 Building C: 25.3m (south) - 27.5m 
(north); 

 Building D: 18.7m; 

 Building E: 18.9m; 

 Building F: 18.4m; 

 Building G: 23.7m; and 

 Building H: 10.8m. 

The proposal exceeds the street wall 
Height of Buildings development 
standard in the following instances: 

48



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

 Building A provides a 10.1m street 
wall height; 

 Building C proposes 10.3m; 

 Building F proposes 11.2m; and 

 Building G proposes 23.7m (i.e. no 
street wall height is proposed).  

The technical non-compliances range 
from 2% to 139%. A Clause 4.6 variation 
to the maximum height development 
standard has been submitted, and is 
supported. 

Refer to Issues section for further 
discussion.  

4.4 Floor Space Ratio 

6.13 End of journey floor 
space 

No Clause 4.4 of the Sydney LEP 2012 
stipulates a base floor space ratio of 2:1 
for the site, with up to an additional 0.3:1 
of the building eligible for end of journey 
facilities.  

In this instance, the development 
provides 193sqm of end of journey 
facilities at basement levels 2 and 3 for 
the retail and commercial tenancies, 
equalling 0.007:1. This equates to a 
maximum permissible FSR of 2.007:1 
(24,573.7sqm). 

The application proposes an FSR of 
2.18:1 (26,698sqm) and an 8.6% 
variation (being 2,124.3sqm).    

A Clause 4.6 variation to the maximum 
FSR development standard has been 
submitted, and is supported. 

Refer to Issues section for further 
discussion. 

4.6 Exceptions to development 
standards 

Yes The proposal seeks to vary the 
development standards prescribed 
under Clause 4.3 (Height of Buildings) 
and Clause 4.4 (Floor Space Ratio). 

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

49



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

5.10 Heritage conservation Yes The site contains the heritage listed 
former Bank of NSW building on the 
corner of Cleveland Street and Baptist 
Street (I1305). 

The application proposes the retention 
and adaptive reuse of the building for 
retail purposes, with shopfront 
alterations and an extension replicating 
the existing footprint of the shopping 
village. 

The alterations are generally supported.  

This is discussed in greater detail within 
the Issues section.   

6.21 Design excellence Yes Clause 6.21(5) of the Sydney LEP 2012 
requires a competitive design process to 
be carried out for the site as the 
proposed development has a height 
greater than 25 metres (in areas other 
than Central Sydney) and has a site 
area of more than 5,000sqm (as per 
Clause 7.20(2)(b)).  

As detailed in the relevant history 
section of this report, a competitive 
design alternatives process was held in 
September 2017. The proposal prepared 
by SJB and Studio Prineas was 
preferred, and named as the winning 
scheme. 

Pursuant to the provisions of Clause 
6.21(7)(a) of the Sydney LEP 2012, 
where the proposal is the winning entry 
of a competitive design process and is 
considered to exhibit design excellence, 
up to a further 10% height may be 
awarded across the site.   

The Selection Panel, in the architectural 
design competition report for the 
development dated 15 June 2018, 
concluded that they were of the view 
that the scheme was able to 
demonstrate design excellence and was 
worthy of being awarded the additional 
height. 

50



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

The proposal as amended has retained 
the important features of the competition 
winning scheme, whilst responding 
appropriately to the planning controls 
where required. The development has 
been designed so that it provides a 
suitable interface with the surrounding 
heritage conservation area, and 
complements the heritage listed former 
Bank of NSW Building. 

The development as proposed, achieves 
the principles of ecologically sustainable 
development and has an acceptable 
environmental impact with regard to the 
amenity of the surrounding area and 
future occupants. The overall materiality, 
articulation and distinctive architectural 
contribution of the development to the 
local centre is considered to achieve 
design excellence in accordance with 
Clause 6.21 of the Sydney LEP 2012.  

The development therefore satisfies the 
requirements of this provision.  

6.39 Surry Hills Shopping 
Village 

Yes Clause 6.39 of the Sydney LEP 2012 
allows for additional height through the 
design excellence process, subject to a 
number of requirements being met: 

(a) all BASIX affected buildings 
within the site cannot have a 
building height that exceeds 
the maximum height under 
Clause 6.21(7)(a) unless the 
buildings exceed BASIX 
commitments for water and 
energy by a minimum of 5 
points; 

(b) a lane through the site with 
visual and physical access 
between Marriott and Baptist 
Streets, and is open to the 
sky is to be provided (known 
as 'Area 9'); 

 

 

51



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

(c) Area 9 must not be higher 
than an incline plane 
extending from RL 34.5 
along the land's western 
boundary to RL 35.65 along 
the land's eastern boundary; 
and 

(d) The development is not 
eligible for additional floor 
space under Clauses 6.12(b) 
and 6.21(7)(b).    

The proposal exceeds BASIX water and 
energy targets by 6 and 7 points 
respectively; provides a through-site link 
within the site that does not exceed the 
inclined height plane prescribed; and 
does not seek additional floor space 
under the provisions of design 
excellence. Rather, a Clause 4.6 
variation has been submitted to address 
the 8.6% variation.  

7.1-7.9 Car parking ancillary to 
other development 

Section 6.2.8(27) 397-399 
Cleveland Street and 2-38 
Baptist Street, Surry Hills 
Shopping Village, Redfern 

Partial 
compliance 

The development comprises a mix of 
land uses, with maximum parking rates 
specific to each use. 

Maximum and proposed parking rates 
are specified as follows: 

Residential (maximum): 

 111 car spaces;  

 24 car spaces for adaptable 
dwellings;  

 13 visitor car spaces;  

 2 service vehicles; and 

 9 motorbike spaces. 

Residential (proposed): 

 87 car spaces; 

 24 car spaces for adaptable 
dwellings; 

52



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

 8 visitor spaces (including 1 
accessible); 

 2 service spaces; and 

 9 motorbike spaces. 

The commercial office maximum rate is 
36 car spaces, and the maximum retail 
rate is 169 car spaces. The application 
proposes 34 commercial spaces and 
170 retail spaces. It is recommended 
that 1 retail car space be allocated as a 
retail service vehicle space. This is 
discussed in further detail within the 
DCP table section.  

7.14 Acid Sulphate Soils Yes The site is identified as containing Class 
5 Acid Sulphate Soil. The site is not 
within 500 metres of other soil classes 
and as such, an Acid Sulphate Soil 
management plan is not required to be 
submitted.  

Accordingly, City Staff are satisfied that 
the Acid Sulphate Soil provisions of the 
LEP are not triggered. 

7.15 Flood planning Yes The site is identified as being flood 
affected. 

A flood impact assessment has been 
submitted with the application with post 
development flood maps demonstrating 
that the proposal will have no significant 
impact on existing flood levels for all 
possible storm events. The flood impact 
assessment confirms that the proposal 
complies with the minimum flood 
planning level requirements stipulated in 
the City of Sydney Interim Floodplain 
Management Policy (May 2014).  

The proposal is therefore considered to 
meet the requirements of Clause 7.5, 
and Section 3.7 of the Sydney DCP 
2012. 

53



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

7.20 Development requiring 
preparation of a development 
control plan 

Yes The site is subject to detailed site 
specific controls contained in Clause 
6.39 of the Sydney LEP 2012, and 
Section 6.2.8 of the Sydney DCP 2012 
that address the requirements of Clause 
7.20. 

The site specific controls relate to the 
height, land use mix, street frontage 
heights, setbacks and overall design of a 
new development within the site. 

A detailed assessment of compliance 
against the site specific controls is 
provided within this report.  

7.23 Large retail development 
near Green Square Town 
Centre 

N/A The site is not located within the 
restricted retail development area. 

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

64. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

2.13.1 Locality Statements – Cleveland Street 

The subject site is located in the Cleveland Street locality. Cleveland Street will continue 
to be a major east-west traffic route with an enhanced function as a place for people. The 
locality statement identifies that positive aspects of the streetscape are to be retained and 
reinforced, including existing corner commercial buildings, with a focus on pedestrians.  

The proposed redevelopment of the site for residential, commercial and retail purposes is 
considered to be in keeping with the unique character of the area and design principles in 
that it enlivens the streetscape, providing active uses at ground level, strengthening the 
east-west vista of Cleveland Street. The new buildings respond appropriately to the 
heritage listed former Bank Building, and the heritage item itself is to be retained, with 
heritage features reinstated to ensure its prominence on the corner of Cleveland and 
Baptist Streets as envisioned by the DCP.   

 
  

54



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.1 Public Domain Elements 

3.1.1 Streets, Lanes and 
Footpaths 

3.1.4 Public Open Space 

Yes The planning agreement for the 
development site identifies the provision 
of a new laneway extension to the south 
of the site connecting Cooper Street and 
Baptist Street, and a new public park 
further south of the new laneway.  

The associated public domain and 
landscaping works are to be carried out 
in accordance with the planning 
agreement, and before the issue of the 
first Occupation Certificate for the 
development.  

The proposed development has been 
designed to actively address the 
laneway, with appropriate residential 
uses facing the new frontage, making a 
positive contribution to the public 
domain.  

The applicant is continuing to liaise with 
City Staff regarding the design of the 
laneway and public park to satisfy the 
requirements of the planning agreement. 
Details have not been provided during 
assessment to a level that can be 
approved. Therefore, a separate DA will 
be required for the delivery of the public 
park, and this has been conditioned. 

3.1.5 Public Art Yes, by 
condition 

A revised public art plan was submitted 
during the assessment of the 
application. 

The plan proposes three areas for the 
proposed artwork: the sunken retail 
laneway, the through-site link within the 
Cleveland Street building and the 
building facades on Baptist and 
Cleveland Streets. The artwork may take 
the form of integrated suspended 
sculptures, ground plane 
treatments/inlays or small sculptural 
elements with potential for functionality.  

 

 

 

55



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

The plan has been reviewed by the 
City's Public Art Unit who have advised 
that some minor amendments are 
required with regard to the artist 
procurement process, and indicating the 
budget for artwork. An appropriate 
condition is recommended addressing 
the outstanding information prior to the 
development of the art work. 

3.2.3 Active frontages Yes The development is required to provide 
active street frontages to Cleveland 
Street, Baptist Street and the north-west 
corner of the site to Marriott Street, as 
identified on the active frontages control 
map.  

The application proposes retail 
tenancies, residential lobbies and 
general loading / services to Baptist 
Street; and retail uses at ground floor 
along the Cleveland Street and 
(northern) Marriott Street corner 
frontages in accordance with the control.    

3.2.4 Footpath awnings Yes Awnings are required to Cleveland 
Street, Baptist Street and the north-west 
corner of the site to Marriott Street, 
replicating the active frontages control.   

The application proposes awnings 
above the retail tenancies along Baptist 
Street, the north-west frontage on 
Marriott Street and on Cleveland Street.  

The awnings have a height of between 
3.2m and 4.2m above the footpath, and 
relate to the ground floor of each 
building.  

3.2.7 Reflectivity Yes The proposal is accompanied by a 
reflectivity report analysing glare from 
the glazed north facade of the Cleveland 
Street commercial building (Building G) 
and its effect on drivers in particular.  

The report advises that the proposed 
glazing has 16% reflectivity, which is 
within acceptable glare limits in 
accordance with the control.  

56



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

A condition of consent is recommended 
requiring compliance with the 
recommendations of the report.   

3.3 Design Excellence and 
Competitive Design Processes 

Yes The proposed development has been 
the subject of a competitive design 
process.  

The design excellence strategy 
approved in concurrence with the 
planning proposal sought additional 
height as part of the competitive design 
process. As discussed under Clauses 
4.4 and 6.21 of the Sydney LEP 2012, 
the development has been assessed as 
exhibiting design excellence and has 
sought to utilise the additional 10% 
height under the controls.  

Refer to issues section 

3.5 Urban Ecology Yes The proposed development necessitates 
the removal of the majority of trees 
within the site. Six trees have already 
been removed.  

The application proposes the removal of 
a single street tree along Cleveland 
Street that has been heavily lopped by 
Ausgrid. With design modifications 
proposed, the development will allow for 
the retention of all street trees along 
Baptist Street There are no street trees 
along Marriott Street that will be affected 
by the proposal.  

Overall, 60 trees are affected by the 
proposal. 

The application has been reviewed by 
the City's Tree Management Unit, who 
advised that the removal of trees is 
supported, subject to conditions. It is 
recommended that a minimum of 3 trees 
be planted in the new park adjoining the 
new laneway, and all street trees 
proposed for retention be adequately 
protected during construction.  

 

57



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

The new driveway on Baptist Street will 
need to be constructed using root 
sensitive techniques based on the 
proximity of the street tree that is 
recommended for retention. Additionally, 
the awning on Baptist Street will need to 
be reduced in width to ensure limited 
interference with the existing street 
trees.  

Appropriate conditions are 
recommended.   

3.6 Ecologically Sustainable 
Development 

Yes The planning controls and the VPA 
require the proposal to exceed the 
minimum BASIX water and energy 
targets by 5 points, which has been 
achieved. 

3.7 Water and Flood 
Management 

Yes The site is identified by Council as being 
flood prone. 

The proposal is generally compliant with 
the City's Interim Floodplain 
Management Policy.  

3.8 Subdivision, Strata 
Subdivision and Consolidation 

Yes Conditions of consent are recommended 
regarding the subdivision of the site.  

3.9 Heritage Yes Refer to Issues section of this report 
regarding the former Bank of NSW 
Building. 

3.11 Transport and Parking Partial 
compliance 

Bike parking and facilities 

The development requires at least 300 
bike parking spaces, made up of 154 
residential; 16 residential visitor; 63 non-
residential and 64 non-residential visitor 
spaces. 

 

 

 

 

58



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

The proposal relies on residential 
storage cages to double as bike parking. 
A condition is recommended to move 
these storage cages to allow for easy 
and direct access by residents, and to 
provide a class 2 storage facility at 
basement level as per DCP 
requirements.  All non-residential spaces 
are to be accommodated at level 1 
(within the site) and at basement 1, 
separate to the residential facilities.  

Servicing 

The DCP requires the development to 
provide 2 residential, 1 commercial and 
6 retail servicing spaces at a minimum. 
The application provides 2 residential, 3 
commercial and 3 retail.  

It is recommended that 2 of the 
commercial spaces be reallocated as 
retail; and the additional retail parking 
space proposed (discussed in further 
detail below), be converted into a 
service space in order to comply with 
DCP requirements. 

Design and location of waste collection 
points and loading areas 

The application proposes that Council's 
waste truck will be able to access the 
Baptist Street loading dock for 
residential waste collection, with bins 
transported from the waste storage area 
on basement 3 to the loading dock via a 
dedicated waste lift, which complies.  

Driveway design 

The proposed driveway design on 
Baptist Street provides poor pedestrian 
safety, and it is recommended that 
design modifications be made to provide 
a high quality ground level relationship 
to the public domain. 

Refer to Issues section for further 
discussion. 

59



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.12 Accessible Design Partial 
compliance 

Equitable access can only be provided 
via Cleveland Street and Baptist Street 
due to flood planning levels on Marriott 
Street. Additionally, access to the site 
from the laneway to the south is 
provided by a set of stairs due to the 
difference in levels and the sloping of 
the site.   

Any alternative solutions for access are 
to be reviewed by the certifier for the 
development. Whilst the above is noted, 
a condition has been recommended for 
the proposed access and facilities for 
persons with disabilities to comply with 
the DCP and the BCA.  

3.13 Social and Environmental 
Responsibilities 

Yes The proposed development provides 
adequate passive surveillance and is 
generally designed in accordance with 
the CPTED principles. 

3.14 Waste Partial 
compliance 

The application proposes vertical chutes 
for the residential portion of the 
development, with the exception of 
Building E, where the chute has a bend 
at lower ground floor. This issue has 
been raised with the applicant, however 
has not been adequately addressed as 
part of the proposal.  

It is recommended that a condition be 
imposed requiring the waste 
management plan to address the bend 
in the chute within Building E. It is likely 
that the bend will be need to be 
removed. 

As discussed under Section 3.11 of the 
Sydney DCP 2012, Council's waste 
truck will be able to access the site from 
the loading dock on Baptist Street. 

The proposed supermarket has not been 
included in the waste management plan, 
however the plan of management for 
Coles stipulates that 2 x 4.5m³ steel bins 
and 1 x 32m³ compactor container are 
required. These bins and container are 
accommodated within the loading dock. 

60



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

A detailed waste management plan is 
required for Coles as part of any fit-out 
application, and is to be conditioned as 
part of this application accordingly. 
Other standard waste conditions are 
also recommended.  

3.15 Late Night Trading 
Management 

Yes The application proposes hours of 
operation beyond 10pm for the 
supermarket at basement level 1. 

The hours of operation are supported. 
Refer to Issues for further discussion. 

3.16 Signage and Advertising Can comply Insufficient information has been 
provided to assess the proposed 
signage strategy, and as such, the 
applicant has advised in 
correspondence dated 25 September 
2019 that the signage strategy is to be 
withdrawn from the proposal.  

Given that the site will contain more than 
four business premises, and involves a 
heritage item, a signage strategy is 
required for the site in accordance with 
Section 3.16.1 of the Sydney DCP 2012. 
An appropriate condition is therefore 
recommended to ensure that one is 
submitted and approved by Council prior 
to any Occupation Certificate being 
issued for the development.   

3.17 Contamination Yes As discussed under the heading "SEPP 
No. 55 Remediation of Land", the City's 
Health and Building Unit has reviewed 
the information submitted to satisfy both 
the SEPP and Section 3.17 of the 
Sydney DCP 2012 and is satisfied that, 
subject to conditions, the site can be 
made suitable for the proposed 
development. 

 
  

61



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.1.2 Floor to ceiling heights 
and floor to floor heights 

Partial 
compliance 

All habitable rooms within the residential 
buildings are provided with a floor to 
ceiling height of at least 2.7 metres, and 
a floor to floor height of at least 3.1 
metres. 

Buildings A to C provide a floor to floor 
height of 5.7 metres at lower ground for 
the proposed retail uses, and Building G 
provides floor to floor heights of 3.5 
metres. 

The site specific DCP controls do not 
envision retail or commercial uses at 
level 1, with the exception of retail areas 
fronting the through-site link. A floor to 
floor height of 3.1 metres is provided to 
these tenancies. This is considered a 
minor non-compliance and is acceptable 
in this instance. 

4.2.3 Amenity Yes Many of the relevant provisions of 
Section 4.2.3 are superseded by the 
ADG, pursuant to the provisions of 
Clause 6A of SEPP 65. 

4.2.3.1 Solar access Yes The DCP requires development 
applications to demonstrate the shadow 
impact on neighbouring development 
between 9:00am and 3:00pm at the 
winter solstice. New development must 
not create any additional overshadowing 
onto a neighbouring dwelling where that 
dwelling currently receives less than 2 
hours direct sunlight to habitable rooms 
and 50% of the private open space. 

The proposal is accompanied by a 
shadow analysis prepared in 
accordance with the control, some of 
which is replicated in the Issues section 
under the Clause 4.6 variations to 
Height and FSR. The analysis compares 
a DCP compliant envelope with that 
currently proposed. 

62



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

The analysis identifies that the existing 
low scale residential terraces directly to 
the west and south of the site (Marriott 
and Baptist Streets respectively) are 
subject to overshadowing between 
9:00am and 10:00am. From 11:00am 
the residents to the west are not affected 
by the proposed development, receiving 
a minimum 2 hours direct solar access.  

With regard to the terraces on Baptist 
Street, the proposal generates less 
overshadowing compared to that of a 
DCP compliant building envelope 
between 11:00am and 1:00pm, with no 
discernible impact after 1:00pm. 

4.2.3.5 Landscaping Yes Amended landscape plans and a 
landscape report have been submitted 
with the application. The overall integrity 
of the design relies on the success of 
the landscaping on concrete slab, and 
further details are required to ensure 
that the landscape component is 
successful.  

This includes: 

 The Marriott Street setback 
contains stormwater pipes and 
junction pits that interfere with the 
proposed deep soil zone, and it is 
preferred that these elements be 
rationalised; 

 All trees in raised planters on slab 
located within private courtyards 
and balconies need to provide 
adequate soil volumes to grow; 

 The level 1 inaccessible green 
"finger" between apartment 
Buildings D and E requires 
maintenance access that 
replicates the maintenance area 
provided between Buildings B and 
C; 

63



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

 Replacement of the palms on the 
corner of Cleveland and Marriott 
Streets with an appropriate native 
tree species; and 

 Additional details with regard to 
the proposed green roof on top of 
the heritage building extension to 
minimise impacts to significant 
fabric. 

As such, a number of detailed landscape 
conditions are recommended  

4.2.3.10 Outlook Yes Adequate building separation is provided 
and landscaping is provided throughout 
the site, ensuring all apartments are 
provided with a pleasant outlook. 

4.2.3.12 Flexible housing and 
dwelling mix 

Yes The proposal has the following unit mix: 

 54 x 1 bedroom (35%); 

 71 x 2 bedroom (46%); and 

 29 x 3 bedroom (19%). 

The unit mix is consistent with that 
envisaged by the Sydney DCP 2012 and 
is acceptable.  

4.2.4 Fine grain, architectural 
diversity and articulation 

Yes The development is generally consistent 
with the site-specific controls (as 
discussed elsewhere in this report) with 
regard to the approved building 
envelope and siting of buildings.  

4.2.5.3 Development on busy 
roads and active frontages 

Yes Cleveland Street is a classified (State) 
road. 

The application proposes commercial 
and retail uses fronting Cleveland Street, 
eliminating any adverse amenity impacts 
to occupants within the site. 

64



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.6 Waste and Recycling 
Management 

Yes The proposal provides adequate storage 
within the residential units for at least 
two days volume of general waste and 
recyclables. A condition is to be imposed 
to ensure compliance with the 
Guidelines for Waste Management in 
New Developments.  

4.2.7 Heating and Cooling 
Infrastructure 

Yes Heating and cooling infrastructure for the 
residential buildings are located at 
rooftop level. 

4.2.8 Letterboxes Yes Plans have been received depicting 
letterboxes at ground floor within the 
each residential lobby in a secure 
location.  

 

6. Specific Sites 

6.2.8 397-399 Cleveland 
Street and 2-38 Baptist 
Street, Surry Hills Shopping 
Village, Redfern 

Compliance Comment 

(1)-(8) Uses and layout Yes (1) The development provides a land 
use mix consistent with the layout 
specified Figures 6.50-6.52 of the DCP.  

(2) The proposed supermarket has a 
floor level RL of 31.45, with equitable 
pedestrian access provided via Baptist 
and Cleveland Streets to the lift lobby 
(labelled S3 on the plans). 

(3) Fine grain retail uses are proposed at 
street level fronting Cleveland and 
Baptist Streets, the northern part of 
Marriott Street and along the through-
site link. 

(4) Building G to Cleveland Street 
contains non-residential uses at lower 
ground, level 1 and level 2 as required 
by the controls. 

65



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

6. Specific Sites 

6.2.8 397-399 Cleveland 
Street and 2-38 Baptist 
Street, Surry Hills Shopping 
Village, Redfern 

Compliance Comment 

(5) Residential uses are located at 
ground level fronting Marriott Street and 
the proposed laneway to the south of the 
site as per Figure 6.51 Land use plan - 
street level. 

(6) The development has been designed 
in accordance with Figure 6.49 - 
Structure plan:  

 Active frontages and awnings are 
provided to Cleveland and Baptist 
Streets;  

 A publicly accessible through-site 
link is provided between Buildings 
A, F and G and H;  

 Vehicular access points are 
located at the south-east and 
south-west frontages of the site to 
Baptist and Marriott Streets;  

 A public laneway to the south of 
the site with a minimum width of 
9m (made up of a shared zone 
connecting Baptist Lane to Baptist 
Street and Cooper Street); and  

 A public park further south of the 
laneway to be dedicated to 
Council.  

(7) The shared zone and park to the 
south of the site, and the footpath along 
Marriott Street is to be dedicated to 
Council in accordance with the planning 
agreement for the development. 

(8) Appropriate easements, and 
landscape setbacks have been 
provided. Whilst not technically 
compliant with Figure 6.53, the setbacks 
are considered acceptable. The non-
compliance is discussed in further detail 
in the Issues section.  

66



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

6. Specific Sites 

6.2.8 397-399 Cleveland 
Street and 2-38 Baptist 
Street, Surry Hills Shopping 
Village, Redfern 

Compliance Comment 

(9)-(21) Built form Partial 
compliance 

(9) The proposal does not strictly comply 
with the building height in storeys 
required by the site-specific controls. 
Refer to Issues section for further 
discussion. 

(10) Building G (to Cleveland Street) has 
been amended so that no part of the 
building cantilevers over the former 
Bank of NSW Building. The pedestrian 
connection between Cleveland Street 
and the through-site link (between 
Building G and the heritage item) has a 
two storey height as required by the 
control. 

(11) The proposed works to the former 
Bank of NSW Building are sympathetic 
to the significance of the heritage item, 
and have been designed to maximise 
the retention, reinstatement and 
exposure of heritage fabric and spaces. 
Refer to Issues section for further 
discussion. 

(12) The proposal provides building 
setbacks and street wall heights that are 
generally consistent with Figure 6.54 of 
the DCP, with the exception of building 
height in storeys. Refer to Issues section 
for further discussion. 

(13)-(14) Building G fronting Cleveland 
Street is proposed to be used for 
commercial purposes rather than 
residential as envisioned by the DCP. 
Clause (14) allows for the depth of the 
building envelope to be increased 
should non-residential uses be 
proposed, subject to there being no 
additional overshadowing to the through-
site link compared to a single loaded 
residential building envelope; and if a 
two storey street wall height to 
Cleveland Street is provided.   

67



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

6. Specific Sites 

6.2.8 397-399 Cleveland 
Street and 2-38 Baptist 
Street, Surry Hills Shopping 
Village, Redfern 

Compliance Comment 

The siting of Building G results in 
overshadowing to the through-site link 
regardless of whether the building 
envelope is single loaded or not. 
Amendments have been made during 
the assessment process to reduce the 
bulk and scale of the building, however a 
two storey street wall height to 
Cleveland Street is not provided.  

Notwithstanding, Building G as 
designed, provides a positive 
contribution to the activation of 
Cleveland Street, and responds 
appropriately to the masonry-built 
character of the streetscape and the 
adjoining heritage item within the site. 
Further to this, being located on a main 
arterial road means that a commercial 
building fronting Cleveland Street is 
better suited compared to a residential 
use. Whilst the commercial building has 
not been strictly design in accordance 
with Clauses (13) and (14) of the site-
specific controls, it is considered to be a 
positive planning outcome for the site 
and overall Cleveland Street locality 
area. 

(22)-(26) Through-site link Partial 
compliance 

The proposed through-site link has been 
designed in accordance with (22) parts 
(a) to (e). Equitable access however, is 
not provided to the through-site link from 
Marriott Street due to flood planning 
levels. Instead, additional through-site 
links have been proposed from 
Cleveland Street to minimise travel 
around the site. This is considered 
acceptable given the circumstances 
surrounding Marriott Street in relation to 
flooding. 

 

 

68



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

6. Specific Sites 

6.2.8 397-399 Cleveland 
Street and 2-38 Baptist 
Street, Surry Hills Shopping 
Village, Redfern 

Compliance Comment 

The through-site link aligns with James 
Street and Matterson Lane (to the east 
and west of the site), providing a visual 
connection between Baptist and Marriott 
Streets.  

(27)-(30) Parking, vehicular 
access and servicing 

Partial 
compliance 

(27) The development proposes 170 
retail spaces when a maximum of 169 
car space are permitted. The additional 
car space is to be conditioned to 
become a retail service space. 

(28)-(29) The development provides a 
vehicle crossover to Baptist Street that 
allows for a 17.2m length truck to safely 
access the site. This results in a single 
driveway crossover being provided for 
both the loading dock and the car park 
entry/exit, with swept paths depicting the 
large truck potentially traversing over the 
exit lane of the car park which is unsafe 
for users of the car park, and 
pedestrians generally. Refer to Issues 
section.  

All servicing vehicles for the proposed 
retail and commercial uses are to use 
the loading dock and the Baptist Street 
entry to the car park only. It is 
recommended that a condition be 
imposed requiring a loading dock and 
car park management plan to be 
submitted. 

(30) The documentation provided with 
the planning proposal acknowledged 
that there would be substantial queuing 
along Baptist Street resulting from the 
use of the car park for retail purposes. 
Minimal impact was predicted to Marriott 
Street.  

 

 

69



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

6. Specific Sites 

6.2.8 397-399 Cleveland 
Street and 2-38 Baptist 
Street, Surry Hills Shopping 
Village, Redfern 

Compliance Comment 

Modelling for the detailed design DA, 
however, shifts the impact from Baptist 
Street to the basement car park within 
the site. This is discussed in further 
detail in the Issues section under 
'Transport, parking and servicing'.  

The proposal provides bicycle facilities 
to encourage the use of sustainable 
transport to the site, which on balance, 
are considered to help mitigate any 
adverse impacts resulting from the car 
park. The design of the bike parking is to 
be developed further to ensure the 
facilities provided are of a compliant 
standard. A condition is therefore 
recommended to address this, as 
discussed elsewhere in this report.   

(31) Flooding and stormwater Yes The flood planning levels are consistent 
with the City's Interim Floodplain 
Management Policy. 

(32)-(35) Noise Yes An acoustic report has been prepared in 
accordance with parts (32) to (35) of the 
site-specific controls. An appropriate 
condition is to be imposed requiring the 
development to comply with the 
recommendations of the report. 

No detail regarding the fit-outs have 
been provided. As such the retail fit-outs 
will be subject to separation applications 
(DA or CDC as appropriate), whereby 
hours of operation will be determined. 

 

 

 

 

70



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

6. Specific Sites 

6.2.8 397-399 Cleveland 
Street and 2-38 Baptist 
Street, Surry Hills Shopping 
Village, Redfern 

Compliance Comment 

(36)-(41) Design Excellence Yes A competitive design process has been 
undertaken in accordance with Clause 
6.21 of the Sydney LEP 2012.  

The proposed development is generally 
consistent with the winning scheme 
resulting from the competitive design 
process, achieving BASIX energy and 
water scores that exceed the minimum 
targets by more than 5 points 
respectively, and is capable of providing 
4 star Green Star for the supermarket fit-
out. Additionally the proposal meets the 
requirements for the National 
Construction Code Section J for the all 
other retail and commercial uses. 

The proposal is therefore considered to 
meet the requirements of parts (36) to 
(41), and achieves design excellence 
with regard to ecologically sustainable 
development outcomes. 

Issues 

Clause 4.6 request to vary a development standard - Height of Buildings 

65. Clause 4.3 of the Sydney LEP 2012 stipulates 7 building heights across the site. 
Clause 6.39 of the Sydney LEP 2012 also sets a maximum incline plane for a through-
site link within the subject site.  

66. The proposed development also seeks to utilise the design excellence provisions 
pursuant to Clause 6.21, where up to a further 10% height is possible where the 
proposed design scheme has won a competitive design process and is considered by 
the consent authority to exhibit design excellence. The proposal is eligible for up to an 
additional 10% design excellence bonus for the podium and overall building heights as 
follows: 

(a) A 9.9m street wall height (9m base height) applies to the northern, southern, 
eastern and western perimeter of the building envelope for a width of 4m 
(excluding the former Bank of NSW, which has a height limit of 12m); 

67. Beyond the 4m setback, the following heights apply across the site:   

71



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(a) Buildings A-C at 27.5m (25m base height), stepping down to 25.3m (23m base 
height) at the southern corner of Baptist Street and the new laneway; 

(b) Buildings D-F at 19.8 (18m base height) to Marriott Street; 

(c) Building G at 24.2m (22m base height); 

(d) Former Bank of NSW building 12m (no 10% increase); 

(e) Through-site link within the site (Area 9) at an incline plane of RL34.5 to RL 
35.65 from west to east / Marriott to Baptist Streets (no 10% increase); and 

(f) The shared laneway and public park at 3m (no 10% increase). 

68. The height of buildings development standards as they apply to the proposed 
development are expressed in the building envelope in Figures 36 and 37 below. An 
extract of the height of buildings map is also provided. 

 

Figure 35: Extract of the height of buildings map with site outlined in red. The 10% additional height 
under the design excellence provisions has not been factored into the above map.  

72



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 36: The height standards as they apply to the building envelope of the site - Cleveland Street / 
Baptist Street view.  

 

Figure 37: The height standards as they apply to the building envelope of the site - Marriott Street / 
laneway view.  

69. The proposal exceeds the 9.9m Height of Buildings development standard along the 
perimeter of the site as follows: 

(a) Building A provides a 10.1m street wall height; 

(b) Building C proposes 10.3m; 

(c) Building F proposes 11.2m; and 

(d) Building G proposes 23.7m (i.e. no street wall height is proposed).  

73



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

70. The non-compliances range from 2% to 149%. 

71. A written request has been submitted to Council in accordance with Clause 4.6(3)(a) 
and (b) of the Sydney LEP 2012 seeking to justify the contravention of the 
development standard by demonstrating: 

(a) That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case; and 

(b) That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard. 

72. A copy of the applicant's written request is provided at attachment C. 

Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(3)(a) and (b) 

73. The applicant seeks to justify the contravention of the height of buildings development 
standard for height across the site on the following basis: 

(a) That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case: 

(i) The statement has referred to the first and third methods of the five part 
test established in Wehbe v Pittwater Council [2007] NSW LEC 827 to 
demonstrate that compliance with the numerical standard is unreasonable 
or unnecessary. The tests seek to demonstrate that the objectives of the 
standard are achieved notwithstanding non-compliance with the numerical 
standard; and the underlying object or purpose would be defeated or 
thwarted if compliance was required and therefore compliance is 
unreasonable.  

(ii) A summary of the applicant's assessment against the objectives of the 
control (first method) are provided below: 

Objective (a): to ensure the height of the development is appropriate to the 
condition of the site and its context 

(iii) The applicant states that the development has been designed to respond 
to the unique setting of the immediate surroundings of the site. The 
development complies with the maximum overall building heights for the 
site, the variations to street wall height resulting from the design response 
which articulates the facade with some elements pushing forward and 
others pulled back. This is considered to be a positive feature (and a 
superior planning outcome) and was supported in the Design Excellence 
process. Strict compliance with the maximum street wall height 
development standard would result in less articulation and a weaker design 
response. 

Objective (b): to ensure height transitions between new development and 
heritage items and buildings in heritage conservation areas or special 
character areas 

  

74



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(iv) The proposed development: 

 Retains and restores the existing heritage item (the former Bank of NSW 
Building) located within the site. Where new development abuts the 
heritage item, it has been designed to ensure an appropriate scale in 
relation to the item; 

 Uses materiality which responds to Surry Hills predominant masonry-built 
fabric; 

 Uses upper level setbacks which are recessed inwards from the street, 
reducing the perceived bulk and scale of development to the existing 
terrace housing, shopfronts and laneways within the surrounding Baptist 
Street heritage conservation area; 

 Provides sufficient separation and transition in built form from the site to 
surrounding heritage items; and 

 Does not result in any adverse impacts from the height exceedance. 

Objective (c): to promote the sharing of views 

(v) That part of the development that departs from the height standard has no 
impact on existing public or private views. The proposed built form ensures 
internal privacy and view sharing for the future residents of the 
development. 

Objective (d): to ensure appropriate height transitions from Central Sydney 
and Green Square Town Centre to adjoining areas 

(vi) The site is not located in either Central Sydney or Green Square Town 
Centre. This objective is not applicable. 

(vii) A summary of the applicant's assessment against the third method, where 
the object or purpose would be defeated or thwarted if compliance was 
required is summarised below: 

(viii) The Cleveland Street area is a precinct undergoing a transition from low-
quality built form to a more vibrant mixed-use neighbourhood. This is 
evident in the objectives of the B2 - Local Centre land use zone and the 
site-specific planning provisions that apply to the site. The proposed 
development is consistent with this transition and has been specifically 
designed to respond to the unique site context. 

(ix) The proposed building height enables efficient use of the land 
commensurate to the density envisaged for the site.  

(b) That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard: 

(i) The statement considers two environmental planning grounds to justify 
contravening the standard: that there is reduced visual impact, and 
comparing a compliant building envelope with that which is proposed in 
determining the impacts on surrounding development. 

75



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Reduced visual impact 

(ii) The extent of visual impact as a result of the height variation is not of 
discernible scale. The development has been appropriately modulated at 
upper levels and at the streetscape interface. This minimises visual bulk 
and scale when viewed from the streetscape and park to the south. 
Further, the building materiality and landscaping will serve to screen the 
upper levels and reduce visual prominence. Overall, the proposed 
development results in a positive visual impact when viewed from the 
public domain.  

Impacts on surrounding development 

(iii) To determine the additional impact of the development on terraces to the 
south of the site (on Marriott and Baptist Streets), the built form of the 
development has been compared a compliant building envelope. 

(iv) A shadow analysis has been prepared for the proposal that demonstrates 
the impacts generated from the development as proposed, and that of a 
development proposed in accordance with the site-specific controls. The 
analysis has been undertaken during the winter solstice. 

 

Figure 38: Building C and G DCP envelope (left) and Building C and G proposed envelope (right) at 
9:00am, winter solstice.  

 

Figure 39: Building C and G DCP envelope (left) and Building C and G proposed envelope (right) at 
10:00am, winter solstice. 

76



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(v) The solar analysis demonstrates that the existing residential terraces along 
Baptist Street to the south of the site are subject to overshadowing 
between 9:00am and 10:00am, regardless of whether Building C is 
developed as proposed, or in accordance with the site-specific controls. 

(vi) Building C has been appropriately setback at the lower and upper levels 
and is almost entirely consistent with the site specific DCP controls. The 
height and setbacks to Building C have been further improved since the 
development was subject to a design competition process. 

(vii) The perceived bulk and scale of Building C is also modulated by the 
physical separation provided from the landscaped setback and 9m public 
share way. 

(viii) The variation to the height development standard on Building C does not 
cause any additional amenity impacts on surrounding properties and, as 
proposed, better responds to those properties than a compliant scheme.  

(ix) It is recognised that Building G causes a similar, but slightly increased, 
overshadowing impact to the northern most terraces along Marriott Street 
at 9:00am. The overshadowing is gone by 10:00am.  

(x) There is no material change to the amenity impacts to the northern most 
terraces whose solar access after 10:00am will be unaffected. 

Consideration of Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(4) (a) (i) and (ii) 

74. Development consent must not be granted unless the consent authority is satisfied 
that: 

(a) The applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters required 
to be demonstrated by subclause 3 of Clause 4.6 being that compliance with the 
development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of 
the case, and that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify 
contravening the standard; and 

(b) The proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent 
with the objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development 
within the zone in which the development is proposed to be carried out. 

Does the written request adequately address those issues at Clause 4.6(3)(a)? 

75. The applicant has correctly referred to the test established by Preston CJ in Wehbe v 
Pittwater to demonstrate that compliance with the standard is unreasonable or 
unnecessary in the circumstances of the case. Specifically, the applicant has 
addressed the first part of the test by demonstrating that the development meets the 
objectives of Clause 4.3, notwithstanding non-compliance with the numerical standard. 

76. A detailed discussion of the applicant's submission with regard to the objectives of the 
height standard has been provided and satisfies the test under Clause 4.6(3)(a), in that 
compliance with the 'Height of Buildings' development standard, to the extent of the 
variation proposed, is unreasonable and unnecessary. 

  

77



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Does the written request adequately address those issues at clause 4.6(3)(b)? 

77. The statement provides environmental planning grounds specific to the circumstances 
of the site to justify the extent of non-compliance with the 'Height of Buildings' 
development standard. The design reflects the winning scheme of a competitive 
design process, with modulated upper levels that appropriately distribute bulk across 
the site without adverse impact on the public domain and amenity of the surrounding 
area. 

78. Particular attention was given to the visual impact provided by the development, and 
the minimal overshadowing impact of the current scheme compared to that achieved 
by a development proposed in strict compliance with the site-specific controls. 

79. The applicant has therefore demonstrated that there are sufficient environmental 
planning grounds to support the extent of the variation proposed. 

Is the development in the public interest? 

80. With regard to varying development standards, the public interest is conceived as 
being protected where a development meets the objectives of the zone and the 
development standard sought to be varied. As has been discussed within this report, 
the development is consistent with the objectives of Clause 4.3 notwithstanding the 
variation to the numerical standard. 

81. The objectives of the B2 - Local Centre zone are provided below: 

(a) To provide a range of retail, business, entertainment and community uses that 
serve the needs of people who live in, work in, and visit the local area. 

(b) To encourage employment opportunities in accessible locations. 

(c) To maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling. 

(d) To allow appropriate residential uses so as to support the vitality of local centres. 

82. With regard to the first objective, the development provides a mix of retail, business 
and residential land uses, and a public park to the south of the site, consistent with the 
desired future character of the site and surrounds. The land uses are permissible 
within the zone. 

83. With regard to the second objective, the development provides sufficient employment 
opportunities with opportunities for commercial, office and retail uses.  

84. The site is located in an accessible location, within walking distance of public transport 
for local workers and residents. Redfern and Central Railway Stations are located west 
and north-west of the site respectively. Both stations provide adjoining bus routes, 
forming a transport cluster. Central Station also provides a connection to the Sydney 
Light Rail Network. 

85. Two bus stops are located along Cleveland Street, directly in front of the site. Two bus 
stops are located along Baptist Street. The future South East Light Rail link will include 
a light rail stop approximately 550m north of the site (on the corner of Marlborough and 
Devonshire Streets), and the future Waterloo Station, forming part of Sydney Metro, 
will be located approximately 1.6km south west of the site. 

78



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

86. With regard to the third objective, the development provides bicycle parking and end of 
journey facilities for commercial and residential use, encouraging residents and 
employees to utilise active forms of transport such as walking and cycling. 

87. With regard to the fourth objective, the proposed development provides a total of 154 
residential units, with the forecasted residential population providing a suitable level of 
permanent critical mass to support the Surry Hills and Redfern local centre areas. 

88. The statement demonstrates that the extent of non-compliance with the 'Height of 
Buildings' development standard is consistent with the objectives of Clause 4.3 and the 
B2 - Local Centre zone and is therefore in the public interest. 

Conclusion 

89. For the reasons provided above the requested variation to the 'Height of Buildings' 
development standard is supported as the applicant's written request has adequately 
addressed the matters required to be addressed by cl 4.6 of the Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 and the proposed development would be in the public 
interest because it is consistent with the objectives of the 'Height of Buildings' 
development standard and the B2 - Local Centre zone. 

Clause 4.6 request to vary a development standard - Floor Space Ratio 

90. The site is subject to a maximum floor space ratio of 2:1, with up to an additional 0.3:1 
of the building eligible for end of journey facilities. The development provides 193sqm 
of end of journey facilities at basement levels 2 and 3 for the retail and commercial 
tenancies, equalling 0.007:1. This equates to a maximum permissible FSR of 2.007:1 
(24,573.7sqm). 

91. The application proposes an FSR of 2.18:1 (26,698sqm) and an 8.6% variation to the 
'Floor Space Ratio' development standard (being 2,124.3sqm). 

92. A written request has been submitted to Council in accordance with Clause 4.6(3)(a) 
and (b) of the Sydney LEP 2012 seeking to justify the contravention of the 
development standard by demonstrating: 

(a) That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case; and 

(b) That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard. 

93. A copy of the applicant's written request is provided at attachment D. 

  

79



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(3)(a) and (b) 

94. The applicant seeks to justify the contravention of the 'Floor Space Ratio' development 
standard on the following basis: 

(a) That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 
in the circumstances of the case: 

(i) The statement has referred to the first and third methods of the five part 
test established in Webhe v Pittwater Council [2007] NSW LEC 827 to 
demonstrate that compliance with the standard is unreasonable or 
unnecessary. The test seeks to demonstrate that the objectives of the 
standard are achieved notwithstanding non-compliance with the standard; 
and the underlying object or purpose would be defeated or thwarted if 
compliance was required and therefore compliance is unreasonable. 

(ii) A summary of the applicant's assessment against the objectives of the 
control (the first method) are provided below: 

Objective (a): To provide sufficient floor space to meet anticipated 
development needs for the foreseeable future. 

(iii) The applicant asserts that the anticipated needs in the foreseeable future 
for the Surry Hills area will be influenced by forecast job growth, a growing 
population and low vacancy rates within the Sydney CBD. Specifically, the 
area is forecasted to provide an additional 24,480 jobs by 2036; will 
increase from 37,480 residents in 2016 to 56,390 residents by 2036; and 
demand for commercial floor space will be driven by a growing local 
population and ongoing low office vacancy rates within the Sydney CBD, 
increasing the demand for floor space in fringe sites (such as Redfern and 
Surry Hills). 

(iv) The proposed development will provide commercial floor space to help 
accommodate the development needs generated from job and population 
growth expected for the area in the foreseeable future; and in turn the 
demand for residential floor space from local workers. 

(v) The residential floor space proposed will improve housing choice within the 
area. The terrace style and residential apartments can accommodate 
individual and family compositions, contributing to a more diverse 
residential population, ensuring the area can absorb a greater number of 
residential needs. 

(vi) The residential floor space will assist to meet the needs of Eastern City 
District Plan, specifically: 1-bedroom units proposed will support housing 
for single person households, expected to increase by 61,100 by 2036 in 
the Eastern City District; and 2 and 3-bedroom units will support housing 
for couple-only households, expected to increase by 31,750 in the Eastern 
City District by 2036. 

Objective (b): To regulate the density of development, built form and land 
use intensity and to control the generation of vehicle and pedestrian traffic. 

  

80



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(vii) The density of the development is considered reasonable and appropriate, 
given the location and circumstances of the site in a local centre close to 
public transport, and given the proposed development creates no 
unreasonable impacts.  

(viii) There will be no significant additional overshadowing impacts to the 
existing residential terraces to the west of the site as a result of the 
additional floor space proposed for Building G (Cleveland Street building). 

(ix) The Traffic Impact Assessment has determined that traffic generation from 
the proposed development will not have a significant adverse impact on 
the surrounding road network. 

(x) The FSR proposed for the site is accommodated within the site's overall 
maximum height limits that apply, and is generally consistent with the 
requirements of the site-specific controls. Therefore, the proposed 
development is reasonably scaled in line with the envisioned 
environmental capacity of the site.  

(xi) A number of design measures have been included to regulate the density 
of the proposed development, such as an architecturally designed two 
storey podium that responds to the existing low-density scale of 
development surrounding the site; upper level setbacks to reduce 
perceived bulk and scale of the development; and distribution of floor 
space across 6 individual buildings to reduce an unsightly 'blank wall effect' 
along the Baptist Street and Marriott Street streetscapes. 

Objective (c): To provide for an intensity of development that is 
commensurate with the capacity of existing and planned infrastructure. 

(xii) The increased floor space proposed for the site can be accommodated 
without any undue impact on the capacity of existing and planned 
infrastructure. The site is in a highly accessible location, being in walking 
distance (1.5km) from Redfern and Central Railway Stations. Two bus 
stops are also located along Cleveland Street directly in front of the site, 
and future light rail stops are in close proximity (550m) of the development.  

(xiii) The intensity of development is therefore considered suitable for the site as 
the majority of visitors, employees and residents of the site will use public 
transport for their daily mode of travel. This mode of transport will further 
be encouraged by the bicycle storage facilities and end of trip facilities 
provided by the proposed development. 

Objective (d): To ensure that new development reflects the desired 
character of the locality in which it is located and minimises adverse 
impacts on the amenity of that locality. 

  

81



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(xiv) The site is located in the Cleveland Street Locality Area (Section 2.13.1 of 
the Sydney DCP 2012). The additional floor space proposed is the result of 
Building G becoming a commercial building (rather than residential as 
envisioned by the site-specific planning controls). Notwithstanding, the 
additional floor space will not cause Building G to become inconsistent with 
the Cleveland Street Locality Area. Specifically: 

 Building G continues to provide ground floor retail along Cleveland Street 
and does not reduce the amount of residential floor space on the site, or 
the number of residents that can be accommodate within the site. 

 Deliberate design development and materiality responds to, and continues 
to complement, the existing heritage items surrounding the site. The 
proposal retains and restores the former Bank of NSW Building located on 
the corner of the site, reinstating its original integrity and reflects more 
broadly, the ongoing commitment to conserving the heritage character of 
the locality. The development provides street landscaping to confirm the 
existing pattern of street planting in the locality; and uses materiality which 
responds to Surry Hills predominantly masonry-built fabric. 

 Upper level setbacks are utilised to reduce the perceived bulk and scale of 
the development when compared to the existing surrounding terrace 
housing, shopfronts and laneways within the surrounding Baptist Street 
heritage conservation area. 

 The proposed terrace housing along Marriott Street and retail outlets along 
Cleveland and Baptist Streets will provide street activation.   

 A range of building heights across the site are provided. Heights along 
Marriott Street are proposed to be lower than those along Baptist Street to 
ensure greater sympathy and amenity for existing low scale residential 
terraces to the west. 

(xv) A summary of the applicant's statement with regard to the underlying 
object or purpose would be defeated or thwarted if compliance with the 
development standard was required and therefore compliance is 
unreasonable (the third method) is provided below: 

(xvi) Strict compliance with the development standard would likely result in 
Building G (Cleveland Street) being reverted back to residential use, or 
designed with smaller commercial floor plates which would not align to the 
identified demand for residential and commercial floor space.  

(xvii) Strict compliance with the development standard would reduce the 
diversity of commercial and retail uses sought in the locality statement for 
Cleveland Street, and would specifically fail to achieve objectives (a) and 
(d) of the 'Floor Space Ratio' development standard.  

(xviii) Reducing opportunities for residents to live and work locally would likely 
increase the need for more trips outside the area. This would inevitably 
increase the number of vehicle and pedestrian movements which is 
contrary to objective (b) of the 'Floor Space Ratio' development standard. 

82



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(xix) The capacity of existing and planned infrastructure can support the 
intensity of the development proposed with manageable impacts consistent 
with objective (c) of the 'Floor Space Ratio' development standard. 

(b) That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening 
the standard: 

(i) The statement considers five environmental planning grounds to justify 
contravening the standard, all of which relate to Building G (Cleveland 
Street) as it is the element of the proposal which causes the non-
compliance. The justifications detail: that the development will help satisfy 
demand for commercial floor space within Surry Hills, that the proposal has 
minimal impact compared to a compliant building envelope (in terms of 
overshadowing, privacy and heritage impact), that the development results 
in improved residential amenity within the site, that there are social and 
economic benefits from the variation, and the site is suitable for the 
proposed development. 

Demand for commercial floor space within Surry Hills 

(ii) The site is within an area forecast to experience significant job growth, 
driven by a growing population and ongoing low office vacancy rates within 
the CBD. Building G will provide employment generating land uses which 
will assist to accommodate this forecast growth.  

(iii) Building G provides floor plates which are between 650sqm and 950sqm. 
An examination of historical and current rental listings between 2015 and 
2018 illustrates a gap in the market for offices with these size floor plates in 
the Surry Hills and Redfern area. The application is accompanied by a 
Social and Economic Benefit statement containing data about commercial 
rentals in Surry Hills and Redfern over the specified period. 

(iv) The proposed supply of floor space between 650sqm and 950sqm in 
Building G can also assist in the retention of established medium sized 
businesses in the locality. 

(v) If Building G were to provide smaller floor plates, the proposed 
development could comply with the 'Floor Space Ratio' development 
standard, but it would not meet market demand for commercial floor space 
between 650sqm and 950sqm. The benefits associated with providing in 
demand, yet undersupplied, floor space and retaining existing business 
within the Surry Hills and Redfern area would be lost. 

Impacts on surrounding development 

(vi) The applicant has prepared a shadow analysis to determine the additional 
impact of the proposal on the existing low scale terraces directly to the 
west of Building G, compared to a compliant building envelope. The 
analysis has been undertaken during the winter solstice. 

83



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 40: Building G DCP envelope (left) and Building G proposed (right) at 9:00am, winter solstice. 

 

Figure 41: Building G DCP envelope (left) and Building G proposed (right) at 10:00am, winter 
solstice. 

 

Figure 42: Building G DCP envelope (left) and Building G proposed (right) at 11:00am, winter 
solstice. 

84



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 43: Building G DCP envelope (left) and Building G proposed (right) at 12 midday, winter 
solstice. 

 

Figure 44: Building G DCP envelope (left) and Building G proposed (right) at 1:00pm, winter solstice. 

(vii) The analysis demonstrates that the existing residential terraces along 
Marriott Street are subject to overshadowing between 9:00am and 
10:00am. This occurs regardless of whether Building G was to be 
developed as proposed, or in accordance with the site-specific controls. 

(viii) Whilst Building G as proposed does increase the extent of overshadowing 
to these terraces on Marriott Street, it lasts for one hour during the winter 
solstice, and on balance is considered to be a nominal additional adverse 
impact in terms of overshadowing to surrounding development. 

(ix) In addition to the above, the proposed commercial land use of Building G 
will remove a habitable interface from the Marriott Street frontage, and any 
potential issues associated with visual privacy to the residential terraces to 
the west. 

(x) Building G is adjacent to the former Bank of NSW Building, a heritage item 
located on the corner of the site to Cleveland and Baptist Streets. Building 
G has been designed so that it provides appropriate separation and is 
sympathetic to the significance of the heritage item. The scaling and detail 
of Building G does not dominate the heritage item, and the sense of scale 
of the heritage item is not lost. 

85



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Improved residential amenity 

(xi) The competitive design process for the site envisioned Building G as a 
residential use. A recommendation from the Design Excellence Panel, inter 
alia, was to reconsider the use of Building G due to its location fronting 
Cleveland Street. 

(xii) A non-residential use is more appropriate to Cleveland Street as residential 
units would experience a lower level of amenity, caused from the ongoing 
traffic and activity along the street front.  

(xiii) The commercial use of Building G is considered a better planning outcome, 
separating residents from Cleveland Street, and better responds to the 
constraints of the active streetscape. 

Social and economic benefits 

(xiv) The floor plates proposed for Building G will help reduce the current 
undersupply of office floor space within the fringe CBD and improve 
employment opportunities within Surry Hills and Redfern. This will provide 
an opportunity to deliver an office product which allows emerging and small 
business to evolve within Surry Hills / Redfern and provide opportunities for 
medium-sized business to remain in the area. This could not be achieved if 
the floor plates for Building G were reduced to below 650sqm to ensure a 
development compliant with the 'Floor Space Ratio' development standard. 

Site suitability 

(xv) The amount of commercial floor space within Building G is appropriate to 
the site's zoning and location within the Surry Hills Town Centre. The site is 
highly accessible, in walking distance to a range of existing and future 
transport options, and is consistent with the existing commercial land use 
pattern running east and west along Cleveland Street. 

Consideration of Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(4) (a) (i) and (ii) 

95. Development consent must not be granted unless the consent authority is satisfied 
that: 

(a) The applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters required 
to be demonstrated by subclause 3 of Clause 4.6 being that compliance with the 
development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of 
the case, and that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify 
contravening the standard; and 

(b) The proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent 
with the objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development 
within the zone in which the development is proposed to be carried out. 

  

86



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Does the written request adequately address those issues at Clause 4.6(3)(a)? 

96. The applicant has correctly referred to the test established by Preston CJ in Wehbe v 
Pittwater to demonstrate that compliance with the standard is unreasonable or 
unnecessary in the circumstances of the case. Specifically, the applicant has 
addressed the first part of the test by demonstrating that the development meets the 
objectives of Clause 4.4, notwithstanding non-compliance with the numerical standard; 
and has addressed the third part of the test by addressing that the underlying object or 
purpose would be defeated or thwarted if compliance was required and therefore 
compliance is unreasonable. 

97. A detailed discussion of the applicant's submission with regard to the objectives of the 
'Floor Space Ratio' development standard has been provided and satisfies the test 
under Clause 4.6(3)(a), in that compliance with the 'Floor Space Ratio' development 
standard, to the extent of the variation proposed, is unreasonable and unnecessary.  

Does the written request adequately address those issues at clause 4.6(3)(b)? 

98. The statement provides environmental planning grounds specific to the circumstances 
of the site to justify the extent of non-compliance with the 'Floor Space Ratio' 
development standard. In particular, the non-compliance is the result of the change of 
use of Building G from residential (as envisioned under the site-specific controls), to 
the more appropriate commercial land use given its frontage to Cleveland Street, a 
State road connecting East and Inner Western Sydney.  

99. The statement gives particular attention to the demand for commercial floor space in 
the immediate area being satisfied by the proposed commercial land use, the minimal 
impact of the non-compliant floor space (in terms of overshadowing, visual privacy and 
heritage), improved residential amenity within the site, the social and economic 
benefits of Building G and the suitability of the site fronting Cleveland Street for 
commercial use. 

100. The applicant has therefore demonstrated that there are sufficient environmental 
planning grounds to support the extent of the variation proposed.   

Is the development in the public interest? 

101. With regard to varying development standards, the public interest is conceived as 
being protected where a development meets the objectives of the zone and the 
development standard sought to be varied. As has been discussed within this report, 
the development is consistent with the objectives of Clause 4.4 notwithstanding the 
variation to the numerical standard. 

102. The objectives of the B2 - Local Centre zone are provided below: 

(a) To provide a range of retail, business, entertainment and community uses that 
serve the needs of people who live in, work in, and visit the local area. 

(b) To encourage employment opportunities in accessible locations. 

(c) To maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling. 

(d) To allow appropriate residential uses so as to support the vitality of local centres. 

103. The applicant has replicated their response to the non-compliance with the 'Floor 
Space Ratio' development standard with regard to the objectives of the B2 - Local 
Centre zone. For completeness, the response has been reproduced below. 

87



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

104. With regard to the first objective, the development provides a mix of retail, business 
and residential land uses, and a public park to the south of the site, consistent with the 
desired future character of the site and surrounds. The land uses are permissible 
within the zone. 

105. With regard to the second objective, the development provides sufficient employment 
opportunities with opportunities for commercial, office and retail uses.  

106. The site is located in an accessible location, within walking distance of public transport 
for local workers and residents. Redfern and Central Railway Stations are located west 
and north-west of the site respectively. Both stations provide adjoining bus routes, 
forming a transport cluster. Central Station also provides a connection to the Sydney 
Light Rail Network. 

107. Two bus stops are located along Cleveland Street, directly in front of the site. Two bus 
stops are located along Baptist Street. The future South East Light Rail link will include 
a light rail stop approximately 550m north of the site (on the corner of Marlborough and 
Devonshire Streets), and the future Waterloo Station, forming part of Sydney Metro, 
will be located approximately 1.6km south west of the site. 

108. With regard to the third objective, the development provides bicycle parking and end of 
journey facilities for commercial and residential use, encouraging residents and 
employees to utilise active forms of transport such as walking and cycling. 

109. With regard to the fourth objective, the proposed development provides a total of 154 
residential units, with the forecasted residential population providing a suitable level of 
permanent critical mass to support the Surry Hills and Redfern local centre areas. 

110. The statement demonstrates that the extent of non-compliance with the 'Height of 
Buildings' development standard is consistent with the objectives of Clause 4.3 and the 
B2 - Local Centre zone and is therefore in the public interest. 

Conclusion 

111. For the reasons provided above the requested variation to the 'Floor Space Ratio' 
development standard is supported as the applicant's written request has adequately 
addressed the matters required to be addressed by cl 4.6 of the Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 and the proposed development would be in the public 
interest because it is consistent with the objectives of 'Floor Space Ratio' development 
standard and the B2 - Local Centre zone. 

Competitive Design Alternatives Process 

112. Following the implementation of the site specific controls, the applicant commissioned 
a competitive design alternatives process for the site.  

113. Presentations were given to the Selection Panel in September 2017. Following the 
presentations by all competitors, SJB, Studio Prineas and Aspect Studios were 
identified as the preferred scheme. On 15 June 2018, the Selection Panel concluded 
that the scheme was capable of achieving design excellence. The proposal was 
considered to be of high quality, demonstrating a thorough and thoughtful 
understanding of the area, with a "delightfully whimsical" architectural language and 
sophisticated thinking in the relationship of public and private spaces. 

114. The Selection Panel identified a number of items to be retained throughout design and 
development, and recommended further design refinement.  

88



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

115. The development is generally consistent with the recommendations of the Selection 
Panel, which are included in attachment E. Further discussion is provide with regard to 
the following matters, with a response following: 

Trees, particularly those on the corner of Cleveland and Marriott Streets, to be 
maintained where possible for community benefit. 

(a) The application proposes to retain the majority of street trees, however all trees 
within the site are to be removed to make way for the redevelopment of the site. 
The proposal has been amended over the course of the assessment to provide 
deep soil to the corner of Cleveland and Marriott Streets, allowing for the planting 
of palm trees which meet the intent of the Selection Panel's comments. It is 
recommended that the palm trees be replaced with a tree species more 
appropriate to the site.  

The proposal was reviewed by the City's Tree Management Unit who advised 
that the overall removal and replacement of trees was an acceptable outcome for 
the site and surrounds, and appropriate standard conditions are recommended.  

Revise/confirm drawings demonstrate SEPP 65 and ADG compliance, with 
particular attention to natural ventilation, natural cross ventilation and achieving 
suitable acoustic amenity within apartments. 

(b) Additional information has been provided during the assessment of this 
application confirming general compliance with natural ventilation, natural cross 
ventilation and acoustic amenity to apartments within the development. As noted 
elsewhere in this report, conditions are recommended to address natural cross 
ventilation (via the provision of windows within the wings to take advantage of 
prevailing winds). 

The suitability of the residential building fronting Cleveland Street. 

(c) The Cleveland Street building (Building G) has been revised as part of the 
detailed design DA to contain commercial and retail uses only. As discussed 
elsewhere in this report, this is considered to be a superior planning outcome 
compared to a residential development given the amenity impacts of its location 
adjacent to a major arterial road.  

Further consideration of another layer of texture/colour/materiality to the upper 
level facades. 

(d) In amended plans received on 20 May 2019, the facades of the residential 
buildings, particularly to Baptist Street, were redesigned to provide further 
articulation and distinction between the podium and upper levels. In particular, 
the materiality was lightened in tone, with the inclusion of bagged brick, and 
popped windows were introduced to increase glazing. The design amendments 
are considered to satisfactorily address the Selection Panel's comment with 
regard to the facade. 

Review ground plane and common areas / a clear statement on public vs private 
needs to be made to ensure the residential communal spaces don't intersect with 
public circulation and to avoid over-use of gating within communal spaces. 

  

89



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(e) Amendments have been made to the scheme to provide a consolidated area of 
communal open space within the development that still achieves the intent of the 
winning design competition scheme with regard to the relationship of private and 
public open spaces. Clear demarcation has been provided between private 
terraces and communal open space, and security access is required for 
residents entering the communal open space from the through-site link.  

Demonstrate deep soil zones and design detail to achieve ambitious 
landscaping/greening vision. 

(f) Deep soil areas are equal to 301.3sqm or 2.6% of the site which is considered 
appropriate in this instance given the site constraints (particularly the need for a 
replacement supermarket to service the local community). The proposal provides 
generous green roofs to offset the lack of deep soil. With dedicated areas 
included in the calculation, deep soil increases to 1,156.9sqm or 9.44% of the 
entire site, well in exceedance of the 7% requirement of the ADG. 

Concerns were raised by City staff during the assessment of the application with 
regard to the viability of landscaped areas over concrete slabs in terms of soil 
depth and volume and species of plants proposed. Amendments were submitted 
on 20 September 2019 demonstrating that the proposal is capable of providing 
generous landscaping within the site. Appropriate conditions are recommended 
to ensure that these elements of the design can be achieved and carried through 
to occupation of the development.  

Demonstrate sunken terraces have good security and access to light and air. 

(g) The sunken terraces have been removed from the proposal due to amenity 
concerns.  

Design Advisory Panel 

116. The application was presented to the Design Advisory Panel on 13 December 2018 
and 14 March 2019. The Panel raised concerns during the first review of the proposal 
relating to the street wall height non-compliance, as well as the lack of communal open 
space and deep soil; and recommended a reconsideration of the architectural 
aesthetics of the overall development.  

117. The proposal was redesigned to recess the lift cores (so that they did not protrude 
beyond the permitted street wall height), and changes to the facade were made to 
provide a distinction between the podium and upper levels.  

118. The second presentation sought feedback on the preliminary design amendments 
made in response to the initial recommendations, and the following advice was 
provided: 

(a) The design has been amended to incorporate previous DAP advice. Lift cores 
have been recessed so that they are not visible from the Baptist Street elevation, 
footpaths have been widened and building setbacks have been increased. On 
the southern edge of the site at street level, the retail space has been converted 
to residential. 

Response: These design changes have been carried through to the final 
amendments made to the proposal.  

90



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(b) While generally supportive of the scheme, the Panel noted that the building form 
still protruded into the centre of the communal open space, dividing the 
communal courtyard and reducing outlook. In addition, privacy of apartments 
located in the protrusion is compromised from all three sides. 

Response: One wing has been removed from the development, and the wing of 
Building C has been significantly reduced to provide a consolidated area of 
communal open space.  See comparison between the original proposal, and the 
amended plans received 20 September 2019 below.  

 

Figure 45: Original level 1 floor plan 

 

91



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Figure 46: Proposed level 1 floor plan (20 September 209) 

(c) It is acknowledged that privacy of the apartments is a concern, and conditions 
are recommended to address these impacts as discussed elsewhere in this 
report.  

(d) Regarding the Marriott Street terraces, the Panel noted a lack of transparency on 
the street elevations. Visual access into and out of the terraces should be 
increased, and forms to be adjusted to optimise amenity for the occupants. 

Response: The proposal has been amended to remove the sunken terraces, 
therefore providing courtyards at ground level that optimise amenity and allow 
visual access into and out of the terraces on Marriott Street.  

(e) The Panel agreed with the strategy to make the commercial building on 
Cleveland street a recessive element, however noted that more design 
development is required and careful investigation into appropriate facade 
systems to integrate with the street front facades below, and promote excellent 
environmental design is needed. 

Response: The design presented to DAP in its preliminary form was overly 
glazed, and City Staff agreed that it did not successfully integrate with the 
podium facade below. Amendments have since been made, proposing a cross 
laminated timber (CLT) structure clad in a textured masonry facade that 
references the historical Surry Hills warehouse buildings, and responds to the 
materiality and character of the former Bank of NSW Building within the site. The 
depth of the facade achieves passive shading, as recommended by DAP. See 
below a comparison between the preliminary and the proposed design of 
Building G. 

  

Figure 47: Preliminary design amendments to Building G (facing Cleveland Street) 

92



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 48: Proposed photomontage of Building G depicting the proposed CLT structure (internally) 
and the exterior brick cladding.  

The amended design response is considered to be a superior outcome 
compared to both the original proposal and the preliminary response to DAP.  

(f) Issues regarding vehicle access onto the site and community concerns regarding 
increased traffic volumes was raised. The Panel support in principle, the 
proposal to restrict service and delivery to time-controlled access via Baptist 
Street off Cleveland Street and requested Council negotiate this with RMS. 
Parking and residential traffic concerns are to be further investigated and 
resolved in a separate forum. If changes are necessary to the location of site 
vehicle entries, those changes are to be referred back to the Panel.   

Response: The concerns raised by DAP are noted. RMS support the removal of 
the 'No left turn' at the Cleveland Street and Baptist Street intersection to 
improve access to the subject site, and minimise construction vehicle impacts to 
surrounding properties. No changes are proposed to the location of site vehicle 
entries.  

Building Separation 

119. Objective 2F of the ADG considers building separation to assist with visual and 
acoustic privacy, outlook, natural ventilation and daylight access within apartments, 
and ensures communal and private open spaces can have useable space with 
landscaping, deep soil and adequate sunlight and privacy.  

120. Habitable room windows and balconies for the subject development are to be setback 
between buildings by 12 metres up to four storeys, and 18 metres from five to eight 
storeys. 

93



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

121. Objective 3F-1 of the ADG specifically requires visual privacy to be provided with 
habitable room windows and balconies to be setback from side and rear boundaries by 
6 metres up to four storeys, and 9 metres from five to eight storeys in this instance.  

122. The building height is taken from the podium (level 1) when assessing separation 
between the buildings, as this is the level where apartments within the different 
buildings across the site face each other. The Marriott Street buildings are 4 storeys 
high from the podium, and the Baptist Street buildings are 7 storeys high from the 
podium. Therefore the separation between buildings is required to be a minimum of 12 
metres between habitable rooms and balconies.   

 

Figure 49: Typical lower floor level within the development depicting separation distances between 
buildings. 

123. Generally, building separation complies when measured parallel between habitable 
rooms and balconies. However, it is the angled relationships between openings that do 
not comply. There are oblique sightlines between habitable rooms and balconies of 
apartments of between 6 and 8 metres, with the potential for noise transfer.  

94



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 50: Oblique sightlines between balconies and bedrooms, and between bedrooms. 

124. Given that the privacy impacts are at an oblique angle between buildings, the concerns 
can be addressed via the installation of perpendicular screening to the bedrooms. In 
the diagram above, screens would be required to the two bedrooms of C2.07, and the 
bedroom to the north of B2.04.  An appropriate condition is to be imposed reflecting 
this requirement for the bedroom of apartments A2.02, A3.02, A4.02, A5.02, A6.02, 
B2.02, B3.02, B4.02, B5.02, C2.07, C3.07, C4.05, C5.05, E2.04, E3.05, F2.04 and 
F3.04.  

Solar Access (to the apartments) 

125. The proposal achieves 61% solar access, whereby 94 out of 154 residential 
apartments receive a minimum of 2 hours direct sunlight to living areas and private 
open space between 9am and 3pm in midwinter. Objective 4A-1 of the ADG requires 
at least 70% to achieve at least 2 hours solar access. 

126. The development achieves 2.6% (or 4 out of 154) apartments that receive no direct 
sunlight between 9am and 3pm at midwinter, which complies. 

127. The sun's eye views submitted with the application demonstrate that the angle of the 
sun starts becoming oblique at approximately 10:45am at the winter solstice for east 
facing facades. As such, it is not possible for apartments relying on the eastern facade 
for solar access to achieve 2 hours. Rather, apartments facing Baptist Street and the 
eastern facade of the internal courtyard achieve 1 hour 45 minutes (apartments A.01, 
A.02, A.04, B.01, B.02, B.05, C.01, C.02, C.03, C.06, C.08, D.03, D.04, D.05, F.02 and 
F.03 at most levels within the development). 

128. Whilst it is acknowledged that the proposed 61% solar access is a variation to the 
design criteria of Objective 4A-1 of the ADG, the proposal has been assessed as 
acceptable in this instance.  

129. Compliant solar access is difficult to achieve given the site-specific controls allow for 
more height on the eastern side of the site (both Baptist Street and the internal 
courtyard elevation), and therefore more apartments. This, coupled with the design 
development since the winning scheme of the competitive design process removing 
the north-facing, east-west wings within the communal open space, and the proposed 
additional depth of Building G to Cleveland Street create obstacles in achieving ADG 
compliance in this regard. 

95



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

130. The removal of the north-facing, east-west wings within the development allow for the 
communal open space in the centre of the site to achieve solar access in accordance 
with Objective 3D-1. Additionally, the commercial building now proposed to Cleveland 
Street is considered a better planning and amenity outcome compared to the 
residential flat building envisioned as part of the site-specific planning controls. Being 
located on a main arterial road means that a commercial building fronting Cleveland 
Street is better suited compared to a residential use.  

131. The site faces a number of competing priorities, and the assessment of City staff, is 
that the proposal has maximised the potential solar access in terms of apartment 
planning and layouts.  

Cross Ventilation 

132. Objective 4B-3 of the ADG requires at least 60% of apartments to be naturally cross 
ventilated. The proposal achieves 73.4%, where 113 of 154 apartments are capable of 
complying. 

133. There are apartments that rely on 3.3m slots (in the wings of the development) with 
angled windows to capture wind for cross ventilation. Some of these windows are 
angled in the wrong direction, meaning that they have limited exposure to prevailing 
winds. These apartments face a wall located 3 metres away, and are deep within a 
slot. 

134. For example, apartment D2.01 is located within 2 metres of an obstruction (being the 
corner of a balcony) and requires a window in the opposite direction to the inlet. See 
below: 

 

Figure 51: Plan of Building D and Building E wings depicting cross ventilation solution 

96



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

135. The apartments affected are B2.05/3.05/4.05/5.05/6.05; C2.07/3.07/4.05/5.05; 
D1.01/2.01/3.01/3.04; and E1.01/1.02/2.01/2.02/3.01/3.02.  

136. An appropriate condition addressing natural cross ventilation is recommended. 

Building Height in Storeys and Landscape Setbacks 

137. The Sydney LEP 2012 requires the preparation of a site-specific development control 
plan before any development is carried out on the site. Site-specific controls, requiring 
amendments to the Sydney LEP 2012 and the Sydney DCP 2012 came into effect on 
24 August 2018.  

138. The proposal does not comply with building height in storeys (in terms of the street 
wall / lower building heights within the site) identified in Figure 6.54 of Section 6.2.8 
(the site-specific controls) of the Sydney DCP 2012; and does not provide the full 2.5m 
and 3 metre landscape setbacks required by Figure 6.53 to the new laneway at the 
south of the site and Marriott street respectively. A discussion of the non-compliances 
with building height in storeys and landscape setbacks is provided below. 

Building Height in Storeys 

139. Figure 6.54 of Section 6.2.8 of the Sydney DCP 2012 sets out the permitted height in 
storeys for each building within the site, with the exception of the former Bank of NSW 
Building, where additional storeys are not encouraged.  

140. The development complies with the overall height in storeys permitted for the site, 
however has proposed variations to the street wall height. Figure 6.54 depicting the 
permitted height in storeys for the site, and the proposed height in storeys are provided 
below. 

97



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 52: Figure 6.54 from Section 6.2.8 of the Sydney DCP 2012 depicting the permitted height in 
storeys and setbacks for the subject site 

98



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 53: Proposed height in storeys and setbacks for the subject development application.  

141. Combined LEP and DCP building envelope non-compliances are provided below. 

99



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 54: Proposed envelope non-compliances - Baptist Street view 

 

Figure 55: Proposed envelope non-compliances - Marriott Street view  

100



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

142. The above diagrams demonstrate that the non-compliances relate to: 

(a) The Cleveland Street commercial building 'G', not providing the required street 
wall height in storeys (both to Cleveland Street and internal to the site);  

(b) The Marriott Street terraces, whilst being two storeys in height, structures 
encroach into the required 3 metre landscape setback; 

(c) In some instances along both Marriott Street and Baptist Street, the breaks 
between each building have not been provided strictly in accordance with the 
location of breaks sited in Figure 6.59; and 

(d) Some building structures encroach onto the communal open space internal to 
the site. 

143. The Marriott Street landscape setback non-compliance is addressed in greater detail 
below under 'Landscape setbacks'. 

144. The overall form is generally consistent with the maximum building height in storeys 
permitted for the site. Whilst not strictly in accordance with the site-specific controls, 
the development continues to achieve the intent of the required building height in 
storeys by: 

(a) Positioning the lowest heights along Marriott street to minimise overshadowing 
impacts to existing low scale terraces west of the site; 

(b) Designing Building G to Cleveland Street so that it provides a positive 
contribution to the activation of Cleveland Street, and responds appropriately to 
the masonry-built character of the streetscape and the adjoining heritage item 
within the site; 

(c) Positioning the tallest building elements along Baptist Street and Cleveland 
Street north, enabling the development to provide an appropriate height 
transition to the south-east corner of the site to the existing low scale terraces on 
Baptist Street; and 

(d) Incorporating appropriate building articulation addressing the street wall heights 
and upper level setbacks across the site to reduce the perceived scale of the 
development; and 

(e) Projecting building envelopes into the central open space area to create distinct 
areas of communal open space as envisioned by the winning design competition 
scheme.  

145. The proposal as currently designed does not generate any substantial or significantly 
adverse environmental impact compared to a compliant building envelope as 
demonstrated elsewhere in this report. The non-compliances with the building height in 
storeys control is considered acceptable in this instance and is supported.  

Landscape setbacks 

146. The Marriott Street terraces, whilst being two storeys in height as required by Figure 
6.54, structures encroach into the required 2.5 and 3 metre landscape setbacks set out 
by Figure 6.53 of Section 6.2.8 of the Sydney DCP 2012. Figure 6.53, and the non-
compliance with setbacks are reproduced below. 

101



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 56: Figure 6.53 from Section 6.2.8 of the Sydney DCP 2012 depicting the required 
dedications, easements and landscape setbacks for the site. The non-compliant landscape setbacks 
are highlighted by red dashed lines. 

 

Figure 57: Proposed lower ground floor plan depicting the 3 metre required setback to Marriott Street, 
with built and unbuilt areas highlighted. 

102



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 58: Proposed lower ground floor plan depicting the 2.5 metre required setback to the proposed 
laneway, with built and unbuilt areas highlighted by red dashed lines.  

147. For the most part, the 2.5 and 3 metre setbacks are provided, however non-
compliances at ground level are the result of the modulation and articulation of the 
terraces at certain points along the streetscape, creating a "push and pull" effect that 
seeks to complement the Marriott Street low scale dwellings directly opposite the site. 
These encroachments are low scale in the streetscape, being 1-2 storeys in height (as 
required by the building height in storeys control), with no adverse environmental 
impact to surrounding development. 

148. The proposed Marriott Street terraces have been designed to contribute to the 
diversity of housing offered within the site and help to integrate the scheme into the 
neighbouring context. It is this design, along with the overall expressiveness of the 
Marriott Street facade that was celebrated by the Selection Panel during the 
competitive design process. 

149. On balance, the proposed non-compliance with regard to landscape setbacks is 
appropriate in this instance.  

Heritage 

150. The former Bank of NSW building at 397-399 Cleveland Street is a heritage listed site 
under the Sydney LEP 2012 (I1305). The building is a good example of a Federation 
free Classical style building on a prominent corner site. The inventory sheet for the site 
recommends that the building be retained and conserved. No vertical additions to the 
building are recommended, and no alterations to the facade of the building other than 
to reinstate original features.  

151. Urbis has developed a Conservation Management Plan (CMP) for the former Bank of 
NSW building, dated 10 September 2018. The CMP makes a number of recommends 
with regard to alterations. In particular, the exterior of the remnant historic building 
should be conserved, with new elements focused in any new additions proposed within 
the site rather than on or within the heritage item itself. 

152. The application proposes the adaptive reuse of the building for retail purposes, and the 
demolition of the later structures (that are part of the current shopping village), with a 
modest addition at the rear that replicates the existing footprint of the shopping village.  

103



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

153. Building G, adjoining the heritage item to the west along Cleveland Street, originally 
cantilevered above the heritage building, but has since been pulled back to retain the 
building's setting and significance. Additionally, the proposed works along the 
Cleveland Street elevation of the addition have subsequently been amended to 
provide a true reinstatement of the heritage shopfront. 

154. Appropriate conditions regarding minor design details (i.e. the main entry replacement 
door design, the internal floor pattern of the former banking chamber etc.) and 
standard heritage requirements are to be imposed.    

Transport, parking and servicing 

155. The development proposes car parking entry/exit and loading access from Baptist 
Street, and a car parking entry/exit point on Marriott Street. Refer to plan below 
depicting site access. 

 

 

Figure 59: Proposed basement level 01 plan depicting car park and loading access to the site 

156. The traffic assessment identifies that Baptist Street currently experiences vehicle 
queuing from the Cleveland Street intersection, past the location of the proposed 
driveway of the subject site. To ameliorate existing traffic impacts, the traffic 
assessment models a 50/50 split of residential, retail and commercial vehicular traffic 
between the two access points on Baptist and Marriott Streets.  

157. During the development of the site-specific controls, the traffic assessment covered 
the same 50/50 split of traffic across the site, however made the key assumption that a 
two lane exit at Baptist Street would be provided. This would allow exiting traffic to turn 
left or right onto Baptist Street without holding up users within the basement.  

104



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

158. The driveway design of the DA, however, proposes one exit lane to Baptist Street, 
meaning that there will be significant queuing within the basement car park as users 
wait to exit.  

159. Section 6.2.8 (30) of the Sydney DCP 2012 (the site-specific controls) requires the 
location of vehicle access for non-residential car parking to minimise the impact on the 
local street network and residential amenity of areas to the west of the site (i.e. Marriott 
Street, Cooper Street etc.).  

160. The proposed 50/50 split of vehicular traffic, whilst inconsistent with the DCP, is a 
more positive outcome for the site compared to restricting retail access to Baptist 
Street only. It will ease congestion within the basement to some degree, and will share 
vehicular traffic amongst surrounding streets, therefore minimising burden on one area 
of the local street network. Existing traffic conditions, particularly on Baptist Street, 
would worsen if DCP requirements were complied with.  

161. The traffic assessment additionally predicts a 20% increase in pedestrian traffic to the 
development. One large driveway is proposed for ingress/egress to the basement and 
the loading dock on Baptist Street due to the required swept paths for a 17.2m 
supermarket delivery truck. The intended driveway design provides poor pedestrian 
safety as a result, and creates a situation where the large truck will traverse over the 
car park exit lane in order to access the loading dock. 

162. Additionally, the City's Traffic Operations team has concerns about the proposed 17.2 
metre truck proposed to service the supermarket on-site from Baptist Street. The 
application does not indicate a clear route for the truck to take in order to access the 
loading dock on Baptist Street, and as discussed, the size of the truck also creates an 
issue with regard to the driveway.  

163. In order to address pedestrian safety, and access to the loading dock, it is 
recommended that design modifications be made to provide either a reduced 
driveway, or alternatively two driveways at the Baptist Street interface, with a 
dedicated pedestrian waiting area in between in order to achieve a high quality ground 
level relationship to the public domain and increase safety for local residents. The 
amended design is to provide the swept path of the largest vehicle entering/exiting the 
loading dock, which should not cross the path of travel of exiting vehicles from the 
basement car park.  

164. The loading dock design is also required to be amended to ensure the accommodation 
of all loading needs for the site, including the supermarket. Details of any turn 
restrictions at the driveway entry/exit are to be provided to determine delivery routes. 
This may result in the supermarket requiring a smaller truck to service the site.  

165. Appropriate conditions reflecting the above have been included in the proposed 
conditions of consent in attachment A. 

Construction traffic 

166. An updated Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) has been submitted in 
response to concerns raised by residents about the proposed construction vehicle 
routes to the site.  

  

105



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

167. Construction trucks are proposed to travel down Elizabeth and Cooper Streets to the 
subject site; and Cleveland Street west, with a left turn into Baptist Street. The left turn 
onto Baptist Street from Cleveland Street is the result of Roads and Maritime Services 
(RMS) agreeing to temporarily lift the 'No left turn' ban at this intersection in order to 
ease impacts to residential properties in close proximity as a result of construction.  

168. Trucks are to exit the site up Marriott and Baptist Streets to Cleveland Street.  

169. Whilst the proposed CTMP has attempted to address public concerns about 
construction traffic, the suitability of the CTMP and the proposed construction vehicle 
routes will be determined by the City's Traffic Operations Team at post-determination. 
Compliance is to be achieved with the City's standard requirements before approval of 
the CTMP is granted, and this is to be conditioned. Additionally, the Developer will be 
required to establish a construction liaison committee (with parties representing 
affected properties adjacent to the development, and any other interested groups), to 
ensure that construction related impacts can be dealt with expeditiously and 
cooperatively. Refer to attachment B for the proposed conditions of consent. 

Operation of the supermarket within the development 

170. Approval is sought for the use of the tenancy at basement level 1 as a Coles 
supermarket with associated liquor store. No details of the fit-out have been provided, 
other than the tenancy covering an area of 3,835sqm. The proposed hours of 
operation are between 6.00am and 12 midnight Mondays to Sundays inclusive, with 
deliveries to occur 24 hours a day, 7 days per week via a 17.2 metre delivery truck 
using the loading dock on Baptist Street.  

171. The fit-out of the supermarket is to occur under a separate approval process (either 
DA or CDC where appropriate). The main issues with the supermarket as this 
application goes, is hours of operation, noise and deliveries. 

172. The combined supermarket and liquor store is defined as a Category B - Low Impact 
Premises, and is located within a Local Centre Area under Section 3.15 of the Sydney 
DCP 2012. The recommended hours of operation for a Category B premises within a 
Local Centre Area are the internal base hours of 7am to 11pm, with an extension until 
12 midnight for a trial period. 

173. The proposed hours of operation are generally consistent with the recommended 
internal trading hours for a Category B premises, however the hours of 6.00am to 
7.00am, and 11pm to 12 midnight are to be subject to a 12 month trial period to ensure 
that early morning trade, and late night operations are well managed and will have 
minimal impact on surrounding development.  

174. In determining whether the proposed hours of operation are acceptable, the plan of 
management and the acoustic report for the development has been reviewed by the 
City's Health and Building Unit, and additional comment was sought by NSW Police. 

175. The acoustic report recommends the implementation of certain glazing thicknesses to 
protect residential occupants within the site from traffic noise intrusion, and music from 
the supermarket is not to be audible within the lower ground breakout areas (i.e. below 
the through-site link) from 10pm onwards. These recommendations are to be 
conditioned as part of the application.  

  

106



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

176. The plan of management for the premises however, does not meet the requirements of 
Schedule 3.2 of the Sydney DCP 2012. Additional details are required with regard to 
the identification of noise sources (including the recommendations of the acoustic 
report), how noise will be managed, the use of a complaints register, and the 
responsible service of alcohol within the liquor store. The plan of management will 
require amendments prior to the trial hours of operation for the supermarket operating, 
and this has been conditioned accordingly.  

177. The City's Health and Building Unit has recommended conditions relating to the use of 
CCTV, neighbourhood amenity conditions and for the plan of management to be kept 
on the premises at all times (once approved). A shopping trolley management plan will 
also need to be prepared for the proposed supermarket use and approved by Council, 
prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate. 

178. NSW Police, in a response dated 30 October 2018, advised that the site is located in a 
high density hotspot for crime, and recommended conditions regarding the installation 
of CCTV, with good lighting of the public areas of the development. The recommended 
conditions are similar to that imposed by other internal units within Council. 

179. It has been assessed that the supermarket will be able to operate with minimal impact 
on surrounding development, subject to the imposition of conditions. It is 
recommended that hours of operation be restricted as follows: 

(a) 7am to 11pm, Mondays to Sundays inclusive; with an extension between 6am 
and 7am, and between 11pm and 12 midnight, Mondays to Sundays inclusive for 
a 12 month trial period.  

180. With regard to 24/7 deliveries, there are concerns regarding the delivery route of the 
17.2 metre truck, the capacity of the loading dock and whether the truck is able to 
access the loading dock without impact on the car park and pedestrian safety. This is 
discussed in further detail under the heading 'Transport, parking and servicing'.  

181. The acoustic report states that the operation of the loading dock 24 hours a day, 7 
days per week is able to comply with the night time noise criteria for Baptist Street 
(where the loading dock is located). However, the City's Health and Building Unit has 
advised that 24/7 use of the loading dock has the potential to disrupt residents of the 
development, and has therefore recommended that loading be restricted.  

182. In light of these concerns, approving deliveries 24 hours a day, 7 days per week is 
premature. It is therefore recommended that deliveries occur between 7.00am and 
10.00pm, 7 days per week. . 

Other Impacts of the Development 

183. The proposed development is capable of complying with the BCA. 

184. It is considered that the proposal will have no significant detrimental effect relating to 
environmental, social or economic impacts on the locality, subject to appropriate 
conditions being imposed. 

Suitability of the site for the Development  

185. The proposal is of a nature in keeping with the overall function of the site. The 
premises are in a commercial/residential surrounding and amongst similar uses to that 
proposed. 

107



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Internal Referrals 

186. The conditions of other sections of Council have been included in the proposed 
conditions. 

The application was referred to the Heritage and Urban Design Specialists; Building 
Services Unit; Environmental Health; Licenced Premises; Public Domain; Safe City; 
Surveyors; Transport and Access; Social Planning; Tree Management Unit; and Waste 
Management; who advised that the proposal is acceptable subject to the 
recommended conditions. 

External Referrals 

Notification, Advertising and Delegation 

187. The application constitutes integrated development and as such the application was 
notified and advertised for 30 days between 4 October 2018 and 5 November 2018 in 
accordance with the provisions of Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Regulations 2000. As a result of this notification 23 individual submissions, and 3 pro-
forma responses from 51 residents were received. 

188. Amended plans and documentation were received on 17 May 2019, and the 
application was re-notified for a period of 28 days (due to changes in legislation 
regarding the period of notification for integrated development applications) between 4 
June 2019 and 3 July 2019. As a result of the re-notification 7 individual submissions 
and 1 pro-forma response from 27 residents were received. 

Issue: Construction traffic / traffic post construction 

(a) The CTMP allows construction and delivery heavy vehicles to travel up and 
down Baptist Street for the period of construction and then permanently for 
deliveries to the shopping complex. There is a clear alternative via Cleveland 
Street turning left into Baptist Street, and requiring those same trucks to return to 
Cleveland Street upon exit. 

(b) Having construction trucks travelling down Baptist Street is incompatible with the 
3 tonne limit. Removing the limit will destroy the amenity of the area. 

(c) It will be difficult for construction trucks to manoeuvre down Young Street to the 
site due to the street trees and traffic calming measures in place.  

(d) The amended CTMP (2 August 2019) shows the removal of Young Street as a 
route for construction traffic, and this is supported. 

Officer Response: The applicant has revised the CTMP throughout the 
assessment process, with construction trucks travelling down Elizabeth and 
Cooper Streets to the subject site; and Cleveland Street west, with a left turn into 
Baptist Street. Trucks are to exit the site up Marriott and Baptist Streets to 
Cleveland Street.  

The suitability of the CTMP and the proposed construction vehicle routes will be 
determined by the City's Traffic Operations Team at post-determination. 
Compliance is to be achieved with the City's standard requirements before 
approval of the CTMP is granted, and this is to be conditioned. 

108



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(e) Whilst the left turn from Cleveland Street is positive, it is important for 
construction vehicles and Coles to follow these requirements. This should be 
monitored closely.  

Officer Response: A copy of the approved construction/delivery routes and the 
loading dock management plan are required to be distributed to the relevant 
parties as required by the City's standard requirements for CTMPs. 

(f) The left hand turn removal on Cleveland Street is not supported on safety 
grounds as it is already an unsafe intersection. It is a high pedestrian area. All 
vehicle access should be via Cleveland Street. 

(g) There will be increased traffic on Baptist, Crown and Cleveland Streets from the 
proposed development. A review of traffic signals are required, or an overpass 
from Baptist to Crown Streets for pedestrians. 

Officer Response: RMS have advised that they support the removal of the left 
turn prohibition on Cleveland and Baptist Street for a 12 month period. A 
pedestrian overpass is not required at this point in time and does not form part of 
the infrastructure works.  

(h) The DCP requires the location of vehicle access for non-residential parking to 
minimise impact on the local street network and residential amenity of areas to 
the west of the site. The DA proposes use of both access points for residential, 
commercial and retail and does not comply with the site-specific control. Vehicles 
should not be allowed to access the site from Marriott/Cooper Streets.  

(i) Retail traffic should be permitted to enter and exit the shopping centre via 
Cooper Street (in addition to Baptist Street) to mitigate traffic congestion on 
Baptist Street. 

Response: While the proposal does not technically comply with this aspect of the 
site-specific controls, sharing vehicular access split between Marriott and Baptist 
Streets will ease traffic congestion (particularly queuing within the basement) for 
the site and the surrounding area. 

(j) Loading dock access has always been located on Marriott Street with house 
prices reflecting this. Now trucks will enter/exit at night via Baptist Street. This is 
unfair on residents who live and have purchased properties on Baptist Street.  

Officer Response: The submission is noted, however land and property values 
are not a planning consideration. As discussed, having the loading dock on 
Baptist Street is considered to be the most appropriate location given site 
constraints, access, and the context of surrounding development.  

(k) There are concerns that vehicles other than occupiers of terraces on Baptist 
Street using the new lane to the south of the site as a thoroughfare.  

Officer Response: The new lane will be a shared cycle/pedestrian zone and is to 
be designed as such so that vehicles are required to slow down.  

  

109



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(l) Sufficient parking is not being provided within this development and should be 
increased. No occupiers of this development (retail, commercial or residential) 
should be offered parking permits due to current issues with parking in 
surrounding streets. 

Officer Response: The proposed car parking rates comply with LEP and DCP 
requirements. Parking permit eligibility is a separate matter to the assessment 
process.    

 Issue: Heritage Concerns 

(m) The repairs and refurbishment of the heritage item is important to get right. 

(n) Very little detail has been provided about the heritage building works. The 
relationship with the commercial building sitting over it is not well resolved and 
both suffer. 

(o) The design of the commercial building is not as well resolved as the rest of the 
development, and cantilevers over the heritage item.  

Officer Response: The proposal has been amended to reduce the length of the 
commercial building so that it no longer cantilevers over the heritage item. 
Building G is now of masonry construction, responding to the heritage 
significance of the former Bank of NSW Building, and heritage warehouses in 
close proximity. Additionally, the facade works to the heritage item have been 
developed further so that they are a true restoration of heritage fabric. 

 Issue: Height, bulk and scale 

(p) This is a gross overdevelopment of the site with no respect for the surrounding 
heritage conservation area. It will result in overshadowing and will have an 
unsightly impact on the skyline.  

(q) No buildings match the scale of this development. 

(r) The site should comply with FSR. 

Response: The site-specific controls have been designed to allow for a medium 
density development of this nature, with scaled heights from Cleveland Street to 
Baptist and Marriott Streets that respond to the surrounding development.  

The proposal has been the subject of a design competition that proposed a 
similar bulk and scale, and FSR non-compliance, and was considered capable of 
achieving design excellence. Furthermore, as part of the detailed design 
development, the proposal has evolved in terms of materiality, and overall 
modulation to respond and complement adjoining buildings within the heritage 
conservation area. 

It has been determined within this assessment report that the non-compliances 
with street wall height and FSR are acceptable in this instance and will not result 
in any significantly adverse amenity impacts, particularly in relation to 
overshadowing.  

  

110



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Issue:  Landscape setbacks / deep soil 

(s) Inadequate setbacks have been provided to soften the development's harsh 
facade. 

(t) There is a lack of sufficient landscaping and deep soil.  

Response: This issue has been acknowledged in the assessment report. The 
variation to the landscape setback to Marriott Street relates to the modulation 
and articulation of the terraces at certain points along the streetscape.  

Deep soil is restricted due to the required size of the supermarket at basement 
level. This means that there will always be structures below ground impeding the 
provision of deep soil. The level of deep soil provided is considered acceptable in 
this instance, however additional information is required in order to ensure that 
viable and generous landscaping is provided as part of the development.  

Issue: Privacy 

(u) Balconies at higher levels face the private open spaces of existing properties on 
Baptist Street. They should be modified to protect privacy.  

Response: Compliant separation has been provided between the apartments at 
the southern elevation of the site and the existing Baptist Street terraces. A 
condition however, is recommended to ensure that the glass line of the bedroom 
pop-out windows are set in to protect the privacy of neighbouring dwellings.  

Issue: Design development 

(v) The artist's impressions between the design competition and community 
newsletters are substantially different. The design has appeared to have evolved 
to use less materials and colour differentials in the facades. 

Response: The proposal has been amended to create a distinction between the 
upper level facades and the podium, with the introduction of bagged brick and 
other masonry elements. The design has been reviewed by City staff and is 
considered to satisfactorily address the site-specific controls whilst maintaining 
the intent of the design competition winning scheme and therefore achieves 
design excellence.   

Issue: ESD concerns 

(w) There are no green credentials, only contributing to future greenhouse gasses. 

(x) How are the residential development and Coles meeting future energy and water 
requirements? 

Response: The development is required to achieve a number of BASIX and 
Green Star targets that have been built into the planning agreement and the site-
specific controls. The proposal provides for photovoltaic cells at roof level, the 
use of indigenous/low water use vegetation species, extensive green roofs and 
landscaping, and other standard BASIX/Green Star requirements. The proposed 
measures are to be conditioned to ensure they are provided. 

  

111



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 Issue: Dilapidation reports 

(y)  The basement excavation process will cause soil to move, creating stresses in 
surrounding buildings. Dilapidation reports are required for Baptist and Marriott 
Street terraces.  

Response: A condition requesting dilapidation reports to be carried out for 
surrounding affected properties has been included in the proposed conditions of 
consent.  

Issue: Trees 

(z) Trees provide invaluable habitats for local fauna, and shade. Replacing mature 
trees with saplings will not provide birds or humans with shade or refuge. 

Response: The City's Tree Management Unit support the removal of trees within 
the site, subject to the planting of new trees at completion of the development. 
The majority of the existing street trees however, are to be retained and 
protected during construction, where indicated in the proposed conditions.  

(aa) There are trees exceeding 10-12 metres height at maturity being planted in the 
public park. They may cause damage to the existing terraces. 

Response: The design of the public park is to be subject to a separate 
development application, where the suitability of the proposed trees will be 
considered. 

Issue: Substation / kiosk 

(bb) The proposed substation within the new public park should be moved elsewhere. 
There will be an increased health risk.  

(cc) Why is the substation being provided in the public domain rather than being 
encased within the proposed development? 

Response: The VPA requires that the substation kiosk in park only service 
surrounding development.   The site itself will be serviced by a substation located 
on the Baptist Street frontage. 

Public park 

(dd) There is no public space as part of this development for the community to enjoy.  

(ee) Consider adding a water play area to the park for young children. 

(ff) A public park will generate more noise compared to the existing staff car park. 

(gg) There are concerns about landscaping and lighting of this park and whether it will 
provide for a safer community. 

(hh) Is the park being delivered as a separate project? 

  

112



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Response: The public park has been identified as a public benefit for the 
community, and is subject to a separate design process between the City and 
the Developer as part of the planning agreement for the site. The park will be 
delivered prior to the issue of the final Occupation Certificate for the residential 
component of the development. 

The size of the park (at 500sqm) means that it is likely to be utilised by local 
residents only, and is considered to be a better use of the site compared to a 
staff car park. Casual surveillance of the park can be undertaken from existing 
terraces, and the proposed residential development within the site. 

Hours of operation 

(ii) The proposed hours of operation of Coles will further exacerbate noise issues 
residents are currently experiencing. 

Response: The application is accompanied by an acoustic report that identifies 
Coles is able to operate until 12 midnight with no significant adverse noise 
impact, subject to a number of recommendations. A condition is to be imposed 
for the hours to be subject to a trial period of 12 months to monitor the operation 
of the supermarket.   

Use of Buildings E and F 

(jj) Please confirm that Buildings E and F will be residential, and not substituted for 
the purposes of a hotel, as indicated by the Developer on their sales plan. 

Response: The application proposes permanent residential accommodation for 
Buildings E and F. Any proposal for hotel accommodation is subject to a 
separate development application that will be subject to a merit based 
assessment. 

Name of the development 

(kk) The name Surry Hills Shopping Village is outdated. The site is located in 
Redfern. The development should acknowledge its nearest neighbours and the 
indigenous community. 

Response: The submission is noted. The site's street address is located within 
the boundaries of Redfern and is referenced as such. 

Public Interest 

189. It is considered that the proposal will have no detrimental effect on the public interest, 
subject to appropriate conditions being proposed. 

S7.11 Contribution 

190. The development is subject of a S7.11 contribution under the provisions of the City of 
Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2015. This contribution is calculated on the 
basis of the development’s net increase in resident, worker and/or visitor populations. 

113



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

191. Credits have been applied for the most recent past use of the site as a supermarket 
and various retail and office tenancies. Credits have been calculated based on 
information provided by the applicant with regard to the use and GFA of each tenancy. 

192. With the above credits applied, the following monetary contribution is required towards 
the cost of public amenities: 

(a) Open Space $2,089,750.90 

(b) Community Facilities $1,194,100.49 

(c) Traffic and Transport $112,913 

(d) Stormwater Drainage $0 

Total $3,396,764.40 

193. The monetary contribution is to be paid prior to the issue of any Construction 
Certificate. An appropriate condition has been recommended and is provided in 
attachment E.  

Relevant Legislation 

194. The Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

195. Sydney Airport Referral Act 1996 

196. Water Management Act 2000. 

Conclusion 

197. The proposal seeks consent for the redevelopment of the site for residential, retail and 
commercial purposes across 8 buildings, including the heritage listed former Bank of 
NSW Building, with 154 residential apartments, 3 levels of basement car parking for 
345 car spaces.  

198. The development has been the subject of a competitive design process with the 
winning scheme being a collaboration between SJB Architects and Studio Prineas was 
selected as the winning entry. The proposal is generally consistent with the winning 
scheme. 

199. The application seeks Integrated Development approval under the Water Management 
Act 2000 for dewatering. General terms of approval have been granted by Water NSW 
and are included in the list of recommended conditions. 

  

114



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

200. Written requests seeking to vary Clause 4.3, the 'Height of Buildings' development 
standard, and Clause 4.4 of the Sydney LEP 2012, the 'Floor Space Ratio' 
development standard have been submitted. The variations relate to non-compliance 
with the 9.9m height (subject to 10% additional height with design excellence) and the 
proposed commercial building to Cleveland Street known as 'Building G' and its 
change of use from mixed use residential as envisioned under the site-specific controls 
contained in Section 6.2.8 of the Sydney DCP 2012. 

201. The proposed requests to vary the development standards are well founded. The 

statements provided demonstrate that compliance with the standards are unnecessary 

in this instance and that there sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify the 

variations. The variations to the development are consistent with the objectives Clause 

4.3 and 4.4, and the B2 - Local Centre zone, and therefore in the public interest. 

202. The development achieves a high standard of architectural design, materials and 
detailing, with the provision of landscaping and green roofs throughout the site that will 
contribute positively to the public domain. The development is generally consistent 
with the design quality principles of the State Environmental Planning Policy No. 65 
and the objectives of Parts 3 and 4 of the Apartment Design Guide. Where non-
compliances exist they have been demonstrated in this report to be acceptable in the 
circumstances of the case, or can be resolved by the recommended conditions of 
consent. The development achieves the principles of ecologically sustainable 
development and has an acceptable environmental impact with regard to amenity of 
the surrounding area and future occupants.  

203. Overall, the proposal responds satisfactorily to surrounding development and its 
context, achieving a standard of architectural design that is considered to demonstrate 
design excellence in accordance with Clause 6.21 of the Sydney LEP 2012. 

204. There were 30 individual submissions, and 78 pro-forma responses across two periods 
of notification of the proposal. The submissions raised concerns with the height, bulk 
and scale of the proposal, heritage impacts, the removal of street trees, vehicular 
access, construction vehicle routes, the requirement for dilapidation reports to be 
carried out, and hours of operation of the proposed supermarket. The concerns are 
addressed within the report. 

205. Subject to conditions, the development is in the public interest and is recommended for 
approval. 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Jessica Symons, Senior Planner 

115



Attachment A 

Recommended Conditions of Consent 

 

  

 

 

 

116



 

CONDITIONS OF CONSENT 

SCHEDULE 1A 

APPROVED DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN MODIFICATIONS/COVENANTS AND 
CONTRIBUTIONS/USE AND OPERATION 

Note:  Some conditions in Schedule A are to be satisfied prior to issue of a 
Construction Certificate and some are to be satisfied prior to issue of Occupation 
Certificate, where indicated. 

(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. 
D/2018/1128 dated 20 September 2018 and the following drawings 
prepared by SJB Architects, Studio Prineas and Aspect Studios: 

Drawing Number Drawing Name Date 

DA-0201 Rev. 33 Floor Plan – Basement 03 19 September 
2019 

DA-0202 Rev. 33 Floor Plan – Basement 02 19 September 
2019 

DA-0203 Rev. 33 Floor Plan – Basement 01 19 September 
2019 

DA-0210 Rev. 33 Floor Plan – Lower Ground 19 September 
2019 

DA-0211 Rev. 33 Floor Plan – Level 01 19 September 
2019 

DA-0212 Rev. 33 Floor Plan – Level 02 19 September 
2019 

DA-0213 Rev. 33 Floor Plan – Level 03  19 September 
2019 

DA-0214 Rev. 33 Floor Plan – Level 04 19 September 
2019 

DA-0215 Rev. 33 Floor Plan – Level 05 19 September 
2019 

DA-0216 Rev. 33 Floor Plan – Level 06 19 September 
2019 

DA-0217 Rev. 33 Floor Plan – Level 07 19 September 
2019 

DA-0218 Rev. 33 Floor Plan – Level 08 19 September 
2019 

DA-0219 Rev. 33 Floor Plan - Roof 19 September 
2019 

DA-0501 Rev. 33 Elevations – North-South 19 September 
2019 

DA-0503 Rev. 33 Elevations - Laneway 19 September 
2019 

DA-0504 Rev. 33 Elevations – Through-Site  19 September 
2019 

DA-0505 Rev. 33  Elevations – Through-Site 19 September 
2019 

117



 

Drawing Number Drawing Name Date 

DA-0601 Rev. 33 Building Sections 19 September 
2019 

DA-0502 Rev. 33 Elevations – East-West 19 September 
2019 

DA-9008/23 Level 01 – Demolished 16 May 2019 
 

DA-9009/24 Level 02 - Demolished 18 September 
2019 

DA-9010/23 Roof – Demolished 16 May 2019 
 

DA-9011/23 Cleveland Street Elevation – 
Demolished 

16 May 2019 

DA-9012/24 Baptist Street Elevation - 
Demolished 

18 September 
2019 

DA-9013/24 Level 01 - Proposed 18 September 
2019 

DA-9014/24 Level 02 – Proposed  18 September 
2019 

DA-9015/24 Roof - Proposed 18 September 
2019 

DA-9016/24 Cleveland Street Elevation – 
Proposed  

18 September 
2019 

DA-9017/24 Baptist Street Elevation – 
Proposed  

18 September 
2019 

DA-9018/23 Through Site Link Elevation 
– Proposed  

18 September 
2019 

DA-9019/23 Laneway Elevation – 
Proposed  

16 May 2019 

DA-9020/23 Section A – Proposed 16 May 2019 
 

DA-9021/24 Section B – Proposed  18 September 
2019 

DA-9022/23 Section C – Proposed  16 May 2019 
 

DA-9023/23 Section D – Proposed  16 May 2019 
 

DA-9024/24 Section E – Proposed  18 September 
2019 

S18012-DA-05-101 
Rev. K 

Deep Soil Compliance 
diagram 

18 September 
2019 

 
and as amended by the conditions of this consent. 

(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and 
supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail. 

  

118



 

(2) DESIGN MODIFICATIONS - WINDOWS 

The design of the development must be modified as follows: 

(a) The glass line of the bedroom windows at levels 1 to 3 of apartments 
C1.03, C1.04, C2.03, C2.04, C3.03 and C3.04 at the southern 
boundary is to be set in from the pop-out framing. The location of the 
glass line is to be depicted in plan and section; 

(b) The bedrooms of apartments B2.05, B3.05, B4.05, B5.05, B6.05; 
C2.07, C3.07, C4.05, C5.05; D1.01, D2.01, D3.01, D3.04; and E1.01, 
E1.02, E2.01, E2.02, E3.01 and E3.02 within the wings of Buildings B, 
C, D and E are to be provided with a window located in the opposite 
direction to the inlet to provide natural cross ventilation; and 

(c) Perpendicular screening is to be installed to the bedroom windows of 
apartments A2.02, A3.02, A4.02, A5.02, A6.02, B2.02, B3.02, B4.02, 
B5.02, C2.07, C3.07, C4.05, C5.05, E2.04, E3.05, F2.04 and F3.04. 

The modifications are to be submitted to and approved by Council’s Director 
City Planning, Development and Transport prior to the issue of a Construction 
Certificate. 

(3) DESIGN MODIFICATIONS - HERITAGE 

Further detail of the design of 397-399 Cleveland Street (the former Bank of 
NSW Building) is to be provided as follows: 

(a) The main entry (Baptist Street) replacement door design; 

(b) Interpretative ceiling design in the banking chamber; and 

(c) The floor pattern reflecting the footprint of the former banking chamber. 

The modifications are to be submitted to and approved by Council’s Director 
City Planning, Development and Transport prior to the issue of a Construction 
Certificate. 

(4) DRIVEWAY REDESIGN 

The car parking driveway on Baptist Street is to be amended as follows to 
address the pedestrian safety / amenity and operations of the driveway entry: 

(a) The driveway width at Baptist Street is to be decreased to reduce 
pedestrian crossing distance and entry vehicle speed. Alternatively, a 2 
driveway access arrangement may be considered which includes a 
proper pedestrian waiting area between the basement car park 
driveway and the loading dock driveway. 

(b) The swept path of the largest vehicle entering / exiting the loading dock 
is not to cross the path of travel of exiting vehicles from the basement 
car park.  

(c) Detail of any turn restrictions being proposed at the driveway location 
are to be documented and mechanics to enforce specified.  

119



 

(d) A Pedestrian Safety Audit is to be carried out, with recommendations 
providing an appropriate level of design and operations for pedestrians 
to be incorporated into the design. The amendments / 
recommendations are to reflect pedestrian priority at driveway 
crossings. Note: audible sirens and flashing lights are not suitable.  

(e) To reinforce the priority of pedestrian movement on the footpath, the 
footpath paving surface is to be continued over the vehicle crossing 
(i.e. continuous footpath pavement). 

Amended plans must be submitted to and approved by Council’s Director City 
Planning, Development and Transport prior to a Construction Certificate being 
issued.  

(5) CAR PARK AND LOADING DOCK DESIGN 

The car parking and loading dock layout is to be amended as follows: 

(a) The loading dock is to be redesigned to accommodate any changes 
resulting from a revised driveway crossover design for the site, and 
ensure accommodation of the loading needs of all uses of the site 
including residential, commercial, supermarket retail and other retail. 
The loading dock is to provide for all deliveries to the site including (but 
not limited to) waste servicing, removalist vehicles, deliveries (short 
stay) and tradespersons (long stay). 

(b) A capacity analysis is to be provided to demonstrate the final design 
can accommodate all loading on-site. 

(c) Bicycle parking facilities to be modified to meet the design standards 
and parking space requirements for the site and including (but not 
limited to) the provision of Class 2 bicycle parking for residential 
parking.  

(d) A design is to be provided showing the provision of visitor bicycle 
parking spaces in accordance with design standards and Council 
requirements.    

A revised car park design must be submitted to and approved by Council’s 
Director City Planning, Development and Transport, prior to any Construction 
Certificate being issued.   

(6) LOADING DOCK MANAGEMENT PLAN   

A Loading Dock Management Plan must be submitted to and approved by 
Council’s Director City Planning, Development and Transport, prior to a 
Construction Certificate being issued.  

(a) The plan must identify how the loading area (loading dock and service 
bays) will be managed and used by all building tenants of the site 
(including residential, commercial, supermarket retail, other retail). This 
will include the ability of the loading dock to accommodate various uses 
such as waste servicing, removalist vehicles, deliveries (short stay) and 
tradesperson (long stay) etc. 

120



 

(b) The plan must detail, but is not limited to, heavy vehicle access routes 
to and from the site including an assessment of the capacity of those 
streets to accommodate the size of truck chosen to service the site. 
This assessment will include the largest vehicle which will service the 
site. 

(c) The plan must detail, but is not limited to, the pedestrian path within the 
loading dock, management operations, wayfinding signage and 
markings to ensure efficient and safe pedestrian access.  

(d) The plan must detail, but is not limited to, methods of communication to 
encourage users to utilise smaller vehicles (i.e. B99 or smaller) where 
possible. 

(e) The plan must detail, but is not limited to, the methodology and 
schedule for transferring waste and goods from uses on the site to the 
loading dock. The plan is to be consistent with the approved Waste 
Management Plan in this regard. 

(f) The plan must include, but is not limited to, management of deliveries 
to ensure there is no requirement for any service vehicles to wait on 
public streets to enter the site.  

(g) The plan must include, but is not limited to, cleaning management of 
the dock and scheduling of these operations to ensure the dock is 
available and appropriate for all scheduled bookings for the dock.  

(h) The plan must include, but is not limited to, reference to any time 
restrictions on access for the largest vehicle accessing the site. Any 
time restrictions is to consider the driveway efficiency and safety 
requirements of the driveway access to the dock.  

(i) The plan shall be managed either by a schedule showing all tenants 
when they can use the area, or by a register managed on site to allow 
tenants to reserve a time period for their deliveries. Once approved, 
this management plan will need to be provided to all tenants and 
external users of the loading area. 

(7) DESIGN MODIFICATIONS - TREES 

The design must be modified as follows: 

(a) The proposed awning on Baptist Street must be a minimum of 1.5 metres 
from the face of the kerb to accommodate street trees.  

(b) The new driveway on Baptist Street is constructed using root sensitive 
techniques such as pier and beam above existing grade to limit impact 
to tree roots. Detailed drawings and a construction methodology of the 
new driveway on Baptist Street must be based on the findings from the 
non-invasive root investigations.  

The modifications are to be submitted to and approved by Council’s Area 
Planning Manager prior to the issuing of the Construction Certificate. 

121



 

(8) DESIGN MODIFICATIONS - LANDSCAPE 

The landscape design of the development must be modified as follows: 

(a) Rationalise the stormwater design and location of junction pits and 
pipes to the OSD tank on Marriot Street. Coordinated and complete 
civil engineering and landscape plans with construction details are to 
be submitted, to demonstrate the stormwater design does not impact 
upon deep soil zones; 

(b) The terrace of D1.02 is to be modified to reduce the paved area to be 
in line with columns above (allowing for a terrace area of approximately 
60sqm. The remaining 15sqm is to become part of the inaccessible 
landscaped area that adjoins the terrace, and an additional 600mm 
wide maintenance access path to the common open space on the 
northern side (next to Unit E1.04 ) is to be provided. The maintenance 
access path is to terminate before the window opening of E1.04; 

(c) All trees in raised planters on slab located within private courtyards and 
balconies, on Levels 01, 02,04, 06 and 07, are to be re-designed to 
provide a minimum 9m³ soil volume in accordance with the Sydney 
Landscape Code and ADG Part 4P; 

(d) Structural design is to make allowance for landscaping and wet soil 
loads, soil depth and volume for all trees on slab, in accordance with 
the Sydney Landscape Code and ADG Part 4P. A maximum 200mm 
allowable mounding to achieve minimum soil depths; 

(e) Trough planters located on the Level 2 Commercial terrace are to be a 
minimum 500mm wide; 

(f) Replace the proposed palms located on the corner of Marriot and 
Cleveland Streets with appropriate tree species selected for the site 
conditions with consideration given to shade in summer, habitat 
creation and a minimum 200L pot size; 

(g) The proposed heritage green roof on dwg 17202-DA-9015 [24] by 
Studio Prineas is not approved. A detailed roof plan and details, drawn 
to scale, by a qualified architect must be prepared. The document must 
include: 

(i) A new hob and flashing detail to the edge of the new green roof 
structure where it abuts the west walls of the heritage building to 
ensure integrity of heritage fabric and water tightness of existing 
roof and the green roof.  

(h) Confirm the location of all plant including rainwater tanks and storage 
tanks pertaining to the irrigation and fertilising of the landscaping, 
planters, pots and green roofs located on slab; 

(i) Awning design is to minimise impacts on existing street tree canopy for 
trees located in the public domain on Baptist and Cleveland Streets; 
and 

122



 

(j) Submit construction details of balustrade / wall adjoining Level 1 
common open spaces to demonstrate adequate privacy to residents’ 
private open space. 

The modifications are to be submitted to and approved by Council’s Director 
City Planning, Development and Transport prior to the issue of any 
Construction Certificate. 

(9) LANDSCAPING OF THE SITE AT GROUND LEVEL 

(a) The landscape package prepared by ASPECT Studio, dated 
September 2019, is not approved. A detailed landscape design 
including plans and details drawn to scale, and technical specification, 
by a qualified landscape architect or landscape designer, must be 
submitted to and approved by Council’s Director Planning, 
Development and Transport prior to the issue of any Construction 
Certificate. These documents must include: 

(i) Location of existing and proposed planting on the site including 
existing and proposed trees, and planting in natural ground, on 
structure and in pots. 

(ii) Details of deep soil in accordance the approved stamped plan 
(dated 18 September 2019). Where relatively natural soil areas do 
not exist in the deep soil area or contaminated lands, provide 
details of clean fill including subsoil and topsoil layers. 

(iii) Location and details of existing and proposed structures on the site 
including, but not limited to, paved areas, walls, services, edges, 
timber decking, furniture, shade structures, lighting and other 
features 

(iv) Details of earthworks and soil depths including finished levels and 
any mounding. The minimum soil depths for planting on slab must 
be 1000mm for trees, 450mm for shrubs and 200mm for 
groundcovers, excluding mulch and drainage layers. 

(v) Planting details, and location, numbers, type and supply size of 
plant species, with reference to Australian Standards and 
preference for drought resistant species that contribute to habitat 
creation and biodiversity. 

(vi) Landscape maintenance plan. This plan is to be complied with 
during occupation of the property. 

(vii) Details of drainage, waterproofing and watering systems. 

(b) Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, the deep soil area must 
be constructed as approved on drawing S18012-DA-05-101[K]. Where 
relatively natural soil areas do not exist in the deep soil area, 
photographic evidence of installation of clean fill, in accordance with 
approved details, must be submitted to and approved by Council’s Area 
Planning Manager 

123



 

(c) All landscaping in the approved plan is to be complete prior to an 
Occupation Certificate being issued. 

(10) ACCESSIBLE GREEN ROOFS – COMMON AND PRIVATE OPEN SPACES 

(a) The landscape package prepared by ASPECT Studio, dated 
September 2019, is not approved. A detailed green roof design 
including plans and details drawn to scale, and technical specification, 
by a qualified landscape architect or landscape designer, must be 
submitted to and approved by Council’s Director Planning, 
Development and Transport prior to the issue of any Construction 
Certificate. These documents must include: 

(i) A statement that includes details of proposed use of the accessible 
green roofs, common and private open spaces accessibility, and 
any noise and privacy treatments. 

(ii) Location and details of existing and proposed services, walls, 
balustrades, hard surfaces, furniture, screens and shade 
structures, fixings and other structural elements that may interrupt 
waterproofing, including cross-sectional details of all components. 

(iii) Engineers report confirming structural capacity of building for 
proposed roof terrace loads.  

(iv) Wind study (if applicable) confirming suitability of the roof for 
intended use. 

(v) Details of soil types and depth including any mounding.  

(vi) Details of drainage and irrigation systems, including overflow 
provisions and water retention cells in the drainage layer.  

(vii) Planting details, and location, numbers, type and supply size of 
plant species, with reference to Australian Standards and 
preference for drought resistant species that contribute to habitat 
creation and biodiversity. 

(viii) Green roof maintenance plan. This plan is to be complied with 
during occupation of the property. 

(ix) Maintenance methodology for safe working at height including 
access requirements, location of any anchor points, gates, and 
transport of materials such as green waste removal. 

(b) Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, structural and 
waterproofing certifications for the green roof are to be submitted to and 
approved by the Principal Certifying Authority. 

(c) All landscaping in the approved plan must be complete prior to the 
issue of an Occupation Certificate. 

(d) Inaccessible green roofs must remain inaccessible for the lifetime of 
the property. 

124



 

(11) INACCESSIBLE GREEN ROOFS  

(a) A detailed extensive green roof design including plans and details 
drawn to scale, and technical specification, by a qualified landscape 
architect or landscape designer, must be submitted to and approved by 
Council’s Director Planning, Development and Transport prior to the 
issue of any Construction Certificate. These documents must include: 

(i) Location and details of existing and proposed services, walls, 
fixings, PV cells, and other structural elements that may interrupt 
tanking waterproofing membrane, including cross-sectional details 
of all components.  

(ii) Engineers report confirming structural capacity of building for 
proposed green roof loads. 

(iii) Details of soil types and depth including any mounding.  

(iv) Details of integrated green roof with solar panels including planting 
underneath solar panels, ballast at walkway edge and at the base 
of PC cell frames 

(v) Details of drainage and irrigation systems, including overflow 
provisions and water retention cells in the drainage layer.  

(vi) Planting details, and location, numbers, type and supply size of 
plant species, with reference to Australian Standards and 
preference for drought resistant predominately native species that 
contribute to habitat creation and biodiversity. 

(vii) Green roof maintenance plan. This plan is to be complied with 
during occupation of the property. 

(viii) Maintenance methodology for safe working at height including 
access requirements, location of any anchor points, gates, and 
transport of materials such as green waste removal. 

(ix) A plan outlining the intended strategy for decommissioning if 
planting works fail. This is to ensure green roof maintained is 
throughout its life. 

(b) Prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate, structural and 
waterproofing certifications for the green roof are to be submitted to 
and approved by the Principal Certifying Authority. 

(c) All landscaping in the approved plan must be complete prior to the 
issue of an Occupation Certificate. 

(d) Inaccessible green roofs must remain inaccessible for the lifetime of 
the property. 

  

125



 

(12) LANDSCAPING OF THE SITE - TREES 

(a) Detailed landscape plans, drawn to scale, by a qualified landscape 
architect or landscape designer, must be submitted to and approved by 
Council’s Director City Planning, Development and Transport, prior to 
the issue of a Construction Certificate. The plan must include: 

(i) Location of existing and proposed structures on the site including, 
but not limited to, existing and proposed trees, paved areas, 
planted areas on slab, planted areas in natural ground, lighting and 
other features; 

(ii) Details of earthworks and soil depths including mounding and 
retaining walls and planter boxes (if applicable). The minimum soil 
depths and widths for planting on slab must be 1000mm x 2000mm 
for trees, 450mm for shrubs and 200mm for groundcovers; 

(iii) Location, numbers, type and supply of plant species, with 
reference to the relevant Australian Standard; 

(iv) The design for the following level/ location must provide trees that 
will reach the specified minimum height as follows: 

a. Marriott Street & Cleveland Street Corner 

i. Two (2) trees must be planted in this location. The tree 
species, when mature, must attain a minimum height 
of no less than 15 metres and minimum canopy spread 
of 8 metres. Palms, fruit trees and species recognised 
to have a short life span are not considered a suitable 
replacement. 

ii. At the time of planting, the container size is to be a 
minimum of 400 litres and a minimum height of 2.5 
metres 

b. Lower ground and ground floor:  

i. 60% of the species must have a mature height of 6-8 
metres and 40% mature heights of 10-15 metres 

c. Level 1: 

i. 75% of the species must have a mature height of 6-8 
metres and 25% mature heights of 10-15 meters 

d. Level 2, 6 and 7: 

i. 100% of the species must have a mature height of 4-6 
metres  

  

126



 

e. Level 4: 

i. The western courtyard of level 4 must have a mature 
height of 4-6 metres. The three (3) proposed on the 
south eastern courtyards must have a mature height of 
6 metres at maturity. 

f. Level 5: 

i. The five (5) proposed trees within the Inaccessible 
Green Roof must be a minimum of 6 metres at 
maturity.  

(v) All trees must be grown to Australian Standard 2303:2015 ‘Tree 
stock for landscape use’ 

(vi) At the time of planting, the container size is to be a minimum of 
100 litres and a minimum height of 2 metres for lower ground floor, 
ground floor and level 1. All other levels unless stated otherwise 
must be a minimum size of 75 litres and 1.5 metres height. 

(vii) New trees must be appropriately located away from existing 
buildings and structures to allow maturity to be achieved without 
restriction; 

(viii) Details of planting procedure and maintenance; 

(ix) Details of drainage, waterproofing and watering systems. 

(b) All landscaping in the approved plan is to be completed prior to an 
Occupation Certificate being issued. 

(13) SECTION 7.11 CONTRIBUTIONS PAYABLE - CONTRIBUTION TOWARDS 
PUBLIC AMENITIES – CITY OF SYDNEY DEVELOPMENT 
CONTRIBUTIONS PLAN 2015 – EAST PRECINCT 

Council has identified the development will increase demand for public 
amenities and facilities. Pursuant to Section 7.11 of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Act, 1979 (as amended), and the City of Sydney 
Development Contributions Plan 2015 the following monetary contributions 
are required towards the cost of public amenities. 

Contribution Category Amount 

Open Space $2,089,750.90 

Community Facilities $1,194,100.49 

Traffic and Transport $112,913 

Stormwater Drainage $0 

Total $3,396,764.40 

The City of Sydney will index the above contribution for inflation at the time of 
payment using the following formula. 

127



 

Cpayment = Cconsent x (CPIpayment ÷ CPIconsent) 

Where: 

Cpayment = Is the contribution at time of payment; 

Cconsent = Is the contribution at the time of consent, as shown above; 

CPIpayment = Is the Consumer Price Index (All Groups Index) for Sydney 
published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics that 
applies at the time of payment; and 

CPI1consent = Is the Consumer Price Index (All Groups Index) for Sydney 
at the date the contribution amount above was calculated 
being – 115.9 for the June 2019 CPI quarter. 

The contribution must be paid prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate 
in relation to this development. 

Please contact Council’s Planning Administration staff at 
planningsystemsadmin@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au to request a letter 
confirming the indexed contribution amount payable. 

Once the letter confirming the indexed contribution is obtained, payment may 
be made at any of the City’s Neighbourhood Service Centres or the One Stop 
Shop at Town Hall House. Acceptable payment methods are EFTPOS (debit 
card only), cash (up to 10K only), Credit Card (up to 50K only) or a bank 
cheque made payable to the City of Sydney. Personal or company cheques 
will not be accepted. 

(14) DESIGN QUALITY AND EXCELLENCE 

(a) As the proposal has been awarded bonus height for achieving design 
excellence and in order to ensure the design quality and excellence of 
the development is retained to completion: 

(i) The design architect(s) comprising SJB Architects and Studio 
Prineas are to have direct involvement in the design 
documentation, contract documentation and construction stages of 
the project including signing off any required certifications at DA, 
S4.55 applications, Construction Certificate and Occupation 
Certificate stages; 

(ii) The use of Cross Laminated Timber within Building G (as indicated 
on the approved plans) is to be retained;  

(iii) The design architects are to have full access to the site and is/are 
to be authorised by the applicant to respond directly to Council 
where information or clarification is required in resolving design 
issues throughout the life of the project; 

(iv) Evidence of the design architect’s commission must be provided 
to, and approved by Council prior to issue of any Construction 
Certificate. 

128



 

(b) The design architects of the project is not to be changed without prior 
notice and approval of the Council’s Director Planning, Development and 
Transport. 

The Principle Certifying Authority must be satisfied that the above matters are 
complied with prior to the issue of a relevant Construction and Occupation 
Certificates, in accordance with written confirmation from Council. 

(15) COMPLIANCE WITH VOLUNTARY PLANNING AGREEMENT 

The terms of the executed planning agreement entered into in accordance with 
VPA/2016/23 are to be complied with. 

(16) PUBLIC PARK WORKS - VOLUNTARY PLANNING AGREEMENT 

Embellishment works associated with the public park required as part of the 
planning agreement dated 20 December 2017 (VPA/2016/23) have not been 
approved, and are subject to a separate development application to be 
submitted to Council in accordance with the staging prescribed in the VPA. 

Any separate development application is required to provide details relating to 
the terms of the voluntary planning agreement (but not limited to): 

(a) Removal of the top 500mm layer of soil; 

(b) Importation and grading of clean fill, top soil and garden soil to meet 
required flood levels; 

(c) Construction of a 2.5m wide concrete path to the eastern perimeter; 

(d) Installation of a 2m wide landscape strip to the southern perimeter with 
minimum 300mm garden soil and 75mm mulch; 

(e) Supply and installation of turf; 

(f) Supply and installation of planting to the landscape strip; 

(g) Supply and installation of 4 smart poles;  

(h) Surface and subsoil drainage as required; and 

(i) Installation of a substation to service surrounding properties only. 

(17) BUILDING HEIGHT 

(a) The height of the new buildings must not exceed the following RLs: 

(i) Building A RL 60.4 (AHD) to the top of the building; 

(ii) Building B RL 60.4 (AHD) to the top of the building; 

(iii) Building C RL 57.4 (AHD) to the top of the building; 

(iv) Building D RL 51.1 (AHD) to the top of the building; 

(v) Building E RL 51.1 (AHD) to the top of the building; 

129



 

(vi) Building F RL 52.35 (AHD) to the top of the building; 

(vii) Building G RL 58.25 (AHD) to the top of the building; and 

(viii) Building H RL 44.497 (AHD) to the top of the roof and RL 45.19 
(AHD) to the top of the parapet.  

(b) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued, a Registered Surveyor 
must provide certification that the height of buildings accords with part 
(a) above, to the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier. 

(18) APPROVED DESIGN ROOF - TOP PLANT 

All roof-top plant and associated equipment must be located within the 
approved building envelope. 

(19) FLOOR SPACE RATIO - ALL OTHER AREAS 

The following applies to Floor Space Ratio: 

(a) The Floor Space Ratio for the retail use must not exceed 0.61:1; for the 
residential use must not exceed 1.19:1; for the commercial use must not 
exceed 0.38:1 and for the mixed use must not exceed 2.18:1 calculated 
in accordance with the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. For the 
purposes of the calculation of FSR, the Gross Floor Area of the retail 
component is 7,475sqm, for the residential component is 14,590sqm, for 
the commercial component is 4,634sqm and the total Gross Floor Area 
is 26,698sqm. 

(b) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued, a Registered Surveyor 
must provide certification of the total and component Gross Floor Areas 
(by use) in the development, utilising the definition under the Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012, applicable at the time of development 
consent, to the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier. 

(20) RESTRICTION OF END OF JOURNEY / COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE 
– OUTSIDE CENTRAL SYDNEY 

Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued or the use commencing, 
whichever is earlier, a documentary restrictive covenant to the effect that 
193sqm of the building has been approved as end of journey is to be registered 
on the Title of the development site pursuant to section 88E of the 
Conveyancing Act 1919. The covenant is to be created appurtenant to Council 
and at no cost to Council. 

  

130



 

(21) RESTRICTION ON RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

The following restriction applies to buildings approved for residential use: 

(a) The accommodation portion of the development (Level 02 to Level 07 
of Building A, Level 01 to Level 07 of Building B, Level 01 to Level 06 of 
Building C, and Basement 01 to Level 04 of Buildings D, E and F) must 
be used as permanent residential accommodation only and not for the 
purpose of a hotel, motel, serviced apartments, private hotel, boarding 
house, tourist accommodation or the like, other than in accordance with 
the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

(b) A restrictive covenant is to be registered on the title of the development 
site in the above terms and restricting any change of use of those 
levels from a “residential flat building” as defined in Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012. The covenant is to be registered on title prior 
to an Occupation Certificate being issued or the use commencing, 
whichever is earlier, to the satisfaction of the Council. All costs of the 
preparation and registration of all associated documentation are to be 
borne by the applicant. 

(c) If a unit contains tenants, it must be subject to a residential tenancy 
agreement for a term of at least three months. 

(d) No person can advertise or organise the use of residential apartments 
approved under this consent for short term accommodation or share 
accommodation. 

(22) RESTRICTION ON USE OF CAR SPACES - RESIDENTIAL, SERVICED 
APARTMENTS AND MIXED USE 

The following conditions apply to car parking: 

(a) The on-site car parking spaces, exclusive of service and visitor car 
spaces, are not to be used other than by an occupant, tenant or 
resident of the subject building. 

(b) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued, a documentary 
restrictive covenant, is to be registered on the Title of the development 
site pursuant to Section 88E of the Conveyancing Act 1919, to the 
effect of (a) above. The covenant is to be created appurtenant to 
Council, at no cost to and to the satisfaction of Council. 

(c) Any future strata subdivision of the site is to include a restriction on 
User pursuant to section 39 of the Strata Titles (Freehold 
Development) Act, 1973, as amended, burdening all utility car parking 
allotments in the Strata Plan and/or an appropriate restrictive covenant 
pursuant to section 88B of the Conveyancing Act 1919 burdening all 
car parking part - lots in the strata scheme. 

  

131



 

(23) COMPLIANCE WITH SUBMITTED MATERIALS AND SAMPLES BOARD 

The design details of the proposed building facade including all external 
finishes, colours and glazing must be in accordance with the materials 
schedule and sample board, and specifications ‘AR-DA-4501 Rev. 33, 
prepared by SJB Architects (not dated, TRIM ref: 2019/486483). 

(24) USE - SEPARATE DA REQUIRED 

No consent is granted or implied for the fit-out of each individual tenancy, 
including the fit-out of the supermarket / liquor store. 

A development consent or Complying Development Certificate (as 
appropriate) is required to be obtained for the fit-out of each individual tenancy 
prior to that fit-out or use commencing. 

(25) USE OF COMMON AREAS AND FACILITIES 

The communal open space at levels 1, 4 and 5 of the development must be 
available for the use all residents of the building, and must be designated as 
common property on any strata subdivision of the site, with no exclusive use 
rights. 

(26) DELIVERY VEHICLES 

Deliveries associated with the site that involve the movement of vehicles to 
and from the Baptist Street loading dock, must only occur between the hours 
of 7.00am and 10.00pm, Mondays to Sundays. 

(27) HOURS OF OPERATION - SENSITIVE USES – SUPERMARKET / LIQUOR 
STORE 

The hours of internal operation of the combined supermarket and liquor store 
tenancy are regulated as follows: 

(a) The hours of operation must be restricted to between 7.00am and 
11.00pm Mondays to Sundays. 

(b) Notwithstanding (a) above, the use may operate between 6.00am and 
7.00am, and between 11.00pm and 12 midnight, Mondays to Sundays 
inclusive for a trial period of 12 months from the date of issue of the 
Occupation Certificate (or commencement of the use, whichever is 
earlier). Council’s Health and Building Unit is to be informed in writing of 
the date of commencement of the trial hours. Email notification is to be 
sent to liquor@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au  

(c) A further application may be lodged to continue the operating hours 
outlined in (b) above not less than 30 days before the end of the trial 
period. Council’s consideration of a proposed continuation and/or 
extension of the hours permitted by the trial will be based on, among 
other things, the performance of the operator in relation to the 
compliance with development consent conditions, any substantiated 
complaints received and any views expressed by the Police. 

132

mailto:liquor@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au


 

(28) SUPERMARKET PLAN OF MANAGEMENT TO BE SUBMITTED AND 
APPROVED - CATEGORY B PREMISES ONLY 

(a) The Plan of Management (POM) accompanying this Development 
Application for the supermarket has not been approved by this consent.  

(b) A Plan of Management must be prepared to address all operational and 
management procedures to be employed, to ensure that the 
supermarket can operate without unreasonable disturbance to the 
surrounding locality. The plan must address the whole of the 
supermarket operations and reflect the matters contained in the 
Schedule 3 of the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012, including a 
specific waste management plan for the supermarket. 

(c) The plan must include but not be restricted to; compliance with all other 
operational conditions of this consent; hours of operation; management 
of noise sources (including any acoustic report recommendations); 
security management; and handling complaints (including a complaints 
register), harm minimisation and the responsible service of alcohol. 

(d) The plan must be submitted to and approved by Council’s Area 
Coordinator Planning Assessments prior to a Construction Certificate 
relating to the supermarket being issued. 

(e) Once approved by Council’s Area Coordinator, a full and current copy of 
all current development consents for the operation of the supermarket, 
and the Plan of Management, and trolley management plan must be kept 
on site and made available to Police or Council Officers, or Special 
Investigator upon request. 

(29) SHOPPING TROLLEY MANAGEMENT PLAN - MINOR 

A management plan must be submitted to and approved by Council prior to 
the use of trolleys associated with the supermarket at basement 01 level. The 
management plan is to detail the proposed method of retaining trolleys on site, 
trolley tracking and trolley recovery. Trolleys must remain and be contained 
within the boundary of the shopping centre and car park. The management 
plan must be implemented at all times during the use of shopping trolleys and 
is to be reviewed on an as needed basis or annually whichever is sooner. Any 
changes to the plan are to be approved by Council in writing prior to the 
amendment of the plan. 

(30) NO SPEAKERS OR MUSIC OUTSIDE 

Speakers and/or noise amplification equipment must not be installed and 
music must not be played in any of the outdoor areas associated with the 
premises including the public domain. Speakers located within the premises 
must not be placed so as to direct the playing of music towards the outdoor 
areas associated with the premises. 

  

133



 

(31) NO SPRUIKING NOISE 

No persons (such as those commonly known as spruikers) or recordings or 
other devices which have the effect of spruiking are to be located on Council 
owned property. Furthermore, the sound level of any spruiking generated 
within privately owned land must not be audible on any adjacent property with 
a shared boundary. 

(32) NOISE FROM GLASS REMOVAL 

Glass must not be emptied or transferred from one receptacle to another 
anywhere in a public place. All glass must be emptied / transferred inside of 
the building on the premises and removed in containers. 

(33) SURVEILLANCE CAMERAS 

(a) CCTV surveillance cameras shall be strategically installed, operated and 
maintained throughout the publicly accessible areas of the site with 
particular coverage to: 

(i) principal entrance/s and exits; 

(ii) all areas within the premise occupied by the public (excluding 
toilets); 

(iii) staircases in multilevel premises; and 

(iv) the area within a 10m radius external to the public entrance(s) to 
the premise. 

(b) Suitable and clearly visible signage shall be displayed at the principal 
entrance(s) to the premise and in a prominent position on each floor 
accessible to the public, in lettering not less than 50mm in height with 
the words “Closed Circuit Television in use on these premises”. 

(c) All CCTV recording equipment and cameras shall be of high grade digital 
quality capable of establishing the population and identification of 
patrons, offenders and incidents within the depth of field view of the 
cameras. In this respect each surveillance camera shall be capable of 
recording a minimum rate of 10 frames per second and at high 
resolution. 

(d) CCTV recording discs or hard drive recordings shall be retained for 28 
days before being re-used, destroyed or deleted. Time and date shall be 
auto recorded on the disc or hard drive. The CCTV recording equipment 
shall be capable of reproducing a CD, DVD, USB or other appropriate 
digital copy of recorded footage on demand of Council or Police Officers 
either immediately or within 12 hours of the request being made. Copy 
discs must be handed to Council, Police Officer or Special Inspectors as 
required. 

  

134



 

(e) All CCTV recording devices and cameras shall be checked daily to 
ensure the equipment is operating correctly. The Licensee shall record 
this daily checking activity in the security/incident register book that 
meets the standards required by the Licensing Police and Council. If it is 
discovered at any time that the equipment is not in full operating order 
all reasonable steps must be taken to repair the system as soon as 
practicable. Where the system will not be functioning in full operating 
order for a period of longer than 24 hours the manager/licensee is to 
notify the relevant Local Area Commander of the NSW Police. 

(f) All CCTV recording devices and cameras shall be operated at all times 
when the premises are open to the public and, where premises do not 
operate 24 hours a day, continuously for at least 1 hour prior to opening 
and closing times of the premises. 

(g) The CCTV recording device shall be secured within the premises and 
only be accessible to senior management personnel so as to maintain 
the integrity of the recorded footage. When the premises is operating 
there must be at least one staff member present at the premises who is 
authorised to access the CCTV system and able to immediately review 
recordings and produce copies. 

(h) Camera views are not to be obstructed by temporary or permanent 
structures, signage or other impediments. 

(34) NO AIR CONDITIONING UNITS TO FACADE OR BALCONIES OF 
BUILDING 

Approval is not granted for the installation of individual air conditioning units to 
the facade or balconies of the building.  

(35) AIR CONDITIONERS GENERALLY 

No air-conditioning equipment is to be visible from the public domain. 
Equipment and associated wiring shall: 

(a) Not be located on awnings or attached to the face of the building 

(b) Not be located on roofs in such a way that it is visible from any street, 
footpath or park 

(c) Be visually screened if located 1.8 metres above ground level in other 
locations 

(d) Wiring shall be fully concealed. 

(36) REFLECTIVITY 

The Principal Certifier must ensure that the visible light reflectivity from building 
materials used on the facade of the building does not exceed 20% prior to 
issue of the Construction Certificate. 

135



 

(37) RODENT TREATMENT PROGRAMME – PRE DEMOLITION AND/OR 
EXCAVATION 

(a) Prior to the commencement of any demolition and/or excavation works, 
a programme of baiting and monitoring of rodent activity is to be put in 
place at the site. 

(b) A licensed Pest Control Operative must carry out all pest control work 
and prepare a report, confirming that there is no evidence of any rodent 
activity at the site prior to the commencement of any works on site.  
The report must be submitted to and be approved/endorsed by 
Council’s Area Coordinator Planning Assessments/Area Planning 
Manager. 

(38) SIGNAGE STRATEGY 

A separate development application is to be submitted seeking approval of a 
signage strategy for the building prior to the erection of any signage. The 
signage strategy development application must include information and scale 
drawings of the location, type, construction, materials and total number of 
signs appropriate for the building. 

(39) SIGNS/GOODS IN THE PUBLIC WAY 

No signs or goods are to be placed on the footway or roadway adjacent to the 
property. 

(40) EXTERNAL LIGHTING 

A separate development application is required to be lodged and approved 
prior to any external floodlighting or illumination of the building or site 
landscaping. 

(41) PUBLIC ART 

(a) A revised public art strategy is to be submitted to, and approved by the 
Council’s Director City Planning, Development and Transport prior to 
the issue of any Construction Certificate. The strategy is to be 
amended as follows: 

(i) Amend the theme “Modern Tradelines re-writing history with 
common grounds for exchange and play” to acknowledge and 
include reference to Aboriginal trade routes prior to modern 
tradelines; 

(ii) Clarification of the procurement process on page 30, including: 

a. The invitation to Artists to develop concepts for various sites 
is to allow for artists to recommend their own sites; and 

b. Selected artists concepts are to be presented to the City of 
Sydney prior to development and submission of detailed 
public art plans to the City.  

  

136



 

(b) Final details of the proposed public art work must be submitted to and 
approved by Council’s Director City Planning, Development and 
Transport prior to issue of any Construction Certificate for above 
ground works. 

(c) Public art work must be installed to the City's satisfaction prior to the 
issue of any Occupation Certificate. 

(d) The public artwork must be in accordance with the Sydney DCP 2012, 
the Public Art Policy, and the Interim guidelines: public art in private 
developments. 

Note: Public Art must be reviewed and endorsed by the City’s Public Art 
Team and/or the Public Art Advisory Panel prior to submission for Council 
approval. Further information is available online at 
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/explore/arts-and-culture/public-art 

Please contact the Public Art Team at 
publicartreferrals@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au for further information. 

(42) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT - RESIDENTIAL 

(a) The Waste and Recycling Management Plan accompanying this 
Development Application has not been approved by this consent.  

(b) A Waste and Recycling Management Plan is to be submitted to and 
approved by Council’s Area Coordinator Planning Assessments prior to 
any Construction Certificate being issued. The plan must comply with the 
Council's Guidelines for Waste Management in New Developments 
2018. All requirements of the approved Waste and Recycling 
Management Plan must be implemented during construction of the 
development. 

(c) The building must incorporate designated areas or separate garbage 
rooms constructed in accordance with Council’s Guidelines for Waste 
Management in New Developments 2018, to facilitate the separation of 
commercial waste and recycling from residential waste and recycling. 

(d) The building must incorporate designated areas or separate garbage 
rooms constructed in accordance with Council's Guidelines for Waste 
Management in New Developments 2018, to facilitate the separation of 
commercial waste and recycling from residential waste and recycling.  

(e) Details are to be provided showing that the chutes used are vertical, and 
without bends or off-sets. 

(f) Details are to be provided showing that waste can be transferred to the 
loading dock (Baptist Street elevation) for collection by a Council waste 
truck. 

  

137

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/explore/arts-and-culture/public-art
mailto:publicartreferrals@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au


 

UPON COMPLETION OF THE DEVELOPMENT 

(g) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued or the use commencing, 
whichever is earlier, the Principal Certifier must obtain Council’s 
approval of the waste and recycling management facilities provided in 
the development and ensure arrangements are in place for domestic 
waste collection by Council. 

(43) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT - COMMERCIAL 

(a) The Waste and Recycling Management Plan accompanying this 
Development Application has not been approved by this consent.  

(b) A Waste and Recycling Management Plan is to be approved by the 
Principal Certifier prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. The 
plan must comply with the Council's Guidelines for Waste Management 
in New Developments 2018. All requirements of the approved Building 
Waste and Recycling Management Plan must be implemented during 
construction of the development. 

UPON COMPLETION OF THE DEVELOPMENT 

(c) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued or the use commencing, 
whichever is earlier, the Principal Certifier must ensure that waste 
handling works have been completed in accordance with: the Waste and 
Recycling Management Plan; other relevant development consent 
conditions; and Council's Guidelines for Waste Management in New 
Developments 2018. 

(44) CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

(a) The Construction Traffic Management Plan accompanying this 
Development Application has not been approved by this consent. 

(b) A Construction Traffic Management Plan must be submitted to and 
approved by Council’s Director City Planning, Development and 
Transport prior to any works commencing, or any Construction 
Certificate being issued (whichever occurs first). 

(45) CONSTRUCTION LIAISON COMMITTEE 

(a) Prior to the commencement of any work, a Construction Liaison 
Committee or an alternative approved in writing by Council’s Director 
City Planning, Development and Transport, is to be established by the 
developer to ensure that demolition and construction related impacts 
(including construction noise and vibration, loading, issues associated 
with construction workers and vehicles, traffic issues and management 
of the construction site) can be dealt with expeditiously and 
cooperatively. 

  

138



 

(b) The Committee is to be comprised of interested parties representing 
potentially affected properties adjacent to and surrounding the site and 
any interested group. A nominated representative of the Council may be 
an observer from time to time. 

(c) The Committee shall meet prior to the commencement of works on the 
site and prior to the submission of the final Construction Management 
Plan to Council to address initial areas of concern, and then at monthly 
intervals or as considered appropriate by the Committee throughout the 
construction process. 

(d) Prior to the commencement of work, the Site Manager is to provide the 
members of the Committee and Council with 24 hour contract details 
(including location of site offices and a 24 hour phone number) to ensure 
that any matters which arise during the construction process are 
addressed immediately. The Site Manager shall be available during 
normal business hours to provide information to the public about 
activities on site and to bring any complaints to the attention of the 
Applicant. 

(e) A register of all complaints shall be kept by the Applicant throughout the 
duration of the project and shall be made available to Council Officers 
on request. 

(f) The Committee meetings are to be recorded/minuted and such 
records/minutes are to be provided to Council within 14 days of the 
meeting. 

(g) The first Committee meeting should establish Terms of Reference, 
including purpose, size and membership, quorum, meeting frequency 
and duration, procedures for meetings, recording/distribution of 
comments and outcomes and the like. 

(h) The initial call for resident/worker nominations to be sent to the adjacent 
and adjoining property owners and tenants must be submitted to and 
approved by the Director City Planning, Development and Transport 
prior to sending. 

(i) The Site Manager is to inform each Committee meeting about the 
construction program, progress reports and impending work. 

(46) WASTE/RECYCLING COLLECTION 

The collection of waste and recycling must only occur between 7:00am and 
8:00pm Mondays to Sundays, and 9:00am to 5:00pm Saturdays and Sundays 
and public holidays, to avoid noise disruption to the surrounding area. Waste 
collection must be undertaken from within the loading dock. 

  

139



 

(47) TREES APPROVED FOR REMOVAL 

(a) All trees detailed in Table 1 below are approved for removal.  

Table 1 – Tree Removal:  

Tree No: Botanical Name / Common Name Location  

2  Liquidambar styraciflua (Sweet Gum) Baptist Street – Street 
tree 

4  Phoenix canariensis (Canary Island Date 
Palm) 

South/east corner of site 

5  Casuarina cunninghamiana  (River She Oak) Baptist Street boundary 

6  Casuarina cunninghamiana  (River She Oak) Baptist Street boundary 
7  Casuarina cunninghamiana  (River She Oak) Baptist Street boundary 
8  Casuarina cunninghamiana  (River She Oak) Baptist Street boundary 
9  Casuarina cunninghamiana  (River She Oak) Baptist Street boundary 
13  Casuarina cunninghamiana (River She Oak) Baptist Street boundary 

15  Casuarina cunninghamiana (River She Oak) Baptist Street boundary 

16  Casuarina cunninghamiana (River She Oak) Baptist Street boundary 

17  
Eucalyptus nicholii (Narrow Leafed 
Peppermint) 

Baptist Street boundary 

18  Casuarina cunninghamiana (River She Oak) Baptist Street boundary 

19  Casuarina cunninghamiana (River She Oak) Baptist Street boundary 

21  Corymbia citriodora (Lemon Scented Gum) Cleveland Street 
boundary 

22  Corymbia citriodora (Lemon Scented Gum) Cleveland Street 
boundary 

23  Corymbia citriodora (Lemon Scented Gum) Cleveland Street 
boundary 

24  Melaleuca quinquenervia (Broad Leafed 
Paperbark) 

Cleveland Street 
boundary 

25  Corymbia citriodora (Lemon Scented Gum) Cleveland Street 
boundary 

26  Corymbia citriodora (Lemon Scented Gum) Cleveland Street 
boundary 

27  Harpephyllum caffrum (Kaffir Plum) Cleveland Street 
boundary 

28  
Eucalyptus nicholii (Narrow Leafed 
Peppermint) 

Marriott Street boundary 

29  Lophostemon confertus (Brush Box) Marriott Street boundary 
30  Corymbia citriodora (Lemon Scented Gum) Marriott Street boundary 
31  Eucalyptus microcorys (Tallowood) Marriott Street boundary 
32  Eucalyptus microcorys (Tallowood) Marriott Street boundary 
36  Corymbia citriodora (Lemon Scented Gum) Coles Loading Dock 

37  Callistemon sp. (Bottlebrush) Marriott Street car park 

38  Casuarina cunninghamiana (River She Oak) Marriott Street car park 
39  Callistemon sp. (Bottlebrush) Marriott Street car park 
40  Casuarina cunninghamiana (River She Oak) Marriott Street car park 
41  Eucalyptus botryoides (Bangalay) Marriott Street car park 
42  Callistemon sp. (Bottlebrush) Marriott Street car park 
43  Callistemon sp. (Bottlebrush) Marriott Street car park 
44  Callistemon sp. (Bottlebrush) Marriott Street car park 
45  Casuarina cunninghamiana (River She Oak) Marriott Street car park 

140



 

Tree No: Botanical Name / Common Name Location  

46  Casuarina cunninghamiana (River She Oak) Marriott Street car park 
47  Eucalyptus microcorys (Tallowood) Marriott Street car park 
48  Casuarina cunninghamiana (River She Oak) Marriott Street car park 
58  Melaleuca quinquenervia (Broad Leafed 

Paperbark) 
Marriott Street car park 

NOTE: Reference should be made to the Arboricultural Impact Assessment Report 
prepared by Redgum dated 22 September 2019 ‘Revised’ for tree numbering and 
locations  

(b) Tree removal must not occur until the Construction Certificate has been 
issued. 

(c) All tree removal works must be carried out by a qualified Arborist, with a 
minimum Level 3 AQF in arboriculture and in accordance with 
WorkCover’s Code of Practice – Amenity Tree Industry.  

(48) TREES THAT MUST BE RETAINED 

(a) The existing trees detailed in Table 2 below must be retained and 
protected in accordance with the conditions of consent throughout the 
construction and development. 

Table 2 – Tree Retention: 

Tree 
No 

Botanical/Common Name Location 

1  Liquidambar styraciflua (Sweet Gum) Baptist Street – Street tree 

3  
Corymbia citriodora (Lemon Scented 
Gum) 

South/east corner of site 

10  Liquidambar styraciflua (Sweet Gum) Baptist Street – Street tree 

11  Liquidambar styraciflua (Sweet Gum) Baptist Street – Street tree 

12  Liquidambar styraciflua (Sweet Gum) Baptist Street – Street tree 

14  Liquidambar styraciflua (Sweet Gum) Baptist Street – Street tree 

15a Liquidambar styraciflua (Sweet Gum) 
Baptist Street – Street tree (young 
tree) 

20  
Melaleuca quinquenervia (Broad Leafed 
Paperbark) 

Cleveland Street – Street tree 

49  Eucalyptus microcorys (Tallowood) Cooper Street – Street tree 

50  Lophostemon confertus (Brush Box) Cooper Street – Street tree 

51  
Eucalyptus sideroxylon (Flowering 
Ironbark) 

Cooper Street – Street tree 

52  
Corymbia citriodora (Lemon Scented 
Gum) 

Marriott Street Reserve  

52a Caesalpinia ferrea (Leopard Tree) Marriott Street Reserve 

52b Caesalpinia ferrea (Leopard Tree) Marriott Street Reserve 

53  
Melaleuca quinquenervia (Broad Leafed 
Paperbark) 

Marriott Street Reserve 

54  
Melaleuca quinquenervia (Broad Leafed 
Paperbark) 

Marriott Street Reserve 

55  
Eucalyptus sideroxylon (Flowering 
Ironbark) 

Marriott Street Reserve 

141



 

Tree 
No 

Botanical/Common Name Location 

56  Corymbia citriodora (Lemon Scented 
Gum) 

Marriott Street car park 
 

61 Liquidambar styraciflua (Sweet Gum) 
Baptist Street – Street tree (young 
tree) 

NOTE: Reference should be made to the Arboricultural Impact Assessment Report (AIA) 
prepared by Redgum Horticultural dated 22 September 2019 ‘Revised’ for tree 
numbering and locations. Trees 15a, 52a & 52b were not included in the AIA report.  

(49) TREE PROTECTION PLANS  

All detailed architectural, building, engineering (structural, stormwater and 
drainage services) and landscape documentation submitted for the 
Construction Certificate shall clearly show on all drawings the retention of trees 
as required by these conditions of consent, the position of their trunks, full 
diameter of their canopies, Structural Root Zones (SRZs) and Tree Protection 
Zones (TPZs). 

(50) TREE PROTECTION ZONE 

(a) Before the commencement of works, Tree Protection Zones (TPZ) must 
be established around all trees to be retained not less than the distance 
indicated in the TPZ schedule below. 

(b) Tree protection must be installed and maintained in accordance with the 
Australian Standard 4970 Protection of Trees on Development Sites and 
as follows: 

TPZ Schedule 

Tree 
No 

Species Name Location Radius (m) 
From 
Trunk 

3  
Corymbia citriodora 
(Lemon Scented Gum) 

South/east corner of site 
(onsite) 

8.4 

52 
Corymbia citriodora 
(Lemon Scented Gum) 

Marriott Street Reserve 6.0 

52a 
Caesalpinia ferrea 
(Leopard Tree) 

Marriott Street Reserve 2.0 

52b 
Caesalpinia ferrea 
(Leopard Tree) 

Marriott Street Reserve 2.0 

53 
Melaleuca quinquenervia 
(Broad Leafed 
Paperbark) 

Marriott Street Reserve 8.4 

54 
Melaleuca quinquenervia 
(Broad Leafed 
Paperbark) 

Marriott Street Reserve 8.4 

55 
Eucalyptus sideroxylon 
(Flowering Ironbark) 

Marriott Street Reserve 6 

56  Corymbia citriodora 
(Lemon Scented Gum) 

Marriott Street car park 
 

6 

 
NOTE: Reference should be made to the Arboricultural Impact Assessment Report 

142



 

(AIA) prepared by Redgum Horticultural dated 22 September 2019 ‘Revised’ for tree 
numbering and locations. Trees 52a & 52b were not included in the AIA report. 

(c) Tree Protection Fencing must be installed and maintained prior to the 
commencement of any works and in accordance with the following: 

(i) A 1.8 metre high fully supported chainmesh protective fencing, 
secured and fastened to prevent movement shall be installed:  

a. Along the south-western boundary line next Marriott Street 
Reserve, encompassing T52 and T53 Marriott Street 
Reserve frontage along Cooper Street. 

b. Around the dripline of T56 within Marriott Street car park.  

Note: Woody roots must not be damaged or destroyed during the 
establishment or maintenance of the fencing; 

(ii) The area within the fencing shall be mulched to a depth of 75mm 
and kept free of weeds and grass for the duration of works 

(iii) Tree Protection Signage shall be attached facing outwards in a 
visible position identifying the name and contact details of the site 
Arborist. All signs must remain in place throughout all work on site. 

(iv) Tree Protection Fencing must not be relocated unless written 
approval is obtained from the Site Arborist and a copy is provided 
to Council which outlines alternate protection measures required 
to ensure all trees remain viable and confirmation that the 
relocation of the fencing will not impacted the trees. 

(d) The ground surface protection must be installed if construction access is 
required through any TPZ and part (g)(i) of this condition has been 
approved: 

(i) Protected with boarding (i.e. scaffolding board or plywood sheeting 
or similar material), placed over a layer of mulch to a depth of at 
least 75mm and geotextile fabric; 

(ii) The protective boarding must be left in place for the duration of the 
construction and development. 

(e) The following works must be excluded from within any TPZs: 

(i) Excavation; 

(ii) Soil cut or fill including trenching; 

(iii) Soil cultivation, disturbance or compaction; 

(iv) Stockpiling, storage or mixing of materials; 

(v) The parking, storing, washing and repairing of tools, equipment 
and machinery; 

(vi) The disposal of liquids and refuelling; 

143



 

(vii) The disposal of building materials; 

(viii) The siting of offices or sheds; 

(ix) Any action leading to the impact on tree health or structure.  

(f) Any trenching works for services / hydraulics / drainage etc. must not be 
undertaken within any Tree Protection Zone (TPZ). Alternative 
installation methods for services, such as directional boring/drilling, or 
redirection of services shall be employed. 

(g) All work undertaken within or above the TPZ must be: 

(i) Carried out in accordance with a work methodology statement 
prepared by an Arborist (minimum AQF Level 5) and written 
approval is obtained from Council’s Tree Management Officer 
before its implementation; and 

(ii) Supervised by a qualified Consultant Arborist (minimum AQF 
Level 5). 

(51)  TREE ROOT PROTECTION 

(a) Structural Root Zone (SRZ) Schedule: 

Tree 
No. 

Botanic / Common Name Tree Location SRZ (m) 
from Trunk 

1 
Liquidambar styraciflua (Sweet 
Gum) 

Baptist Street – Street 
tree 

2.5 

10 
Liquidambar styraciflua (Sweet 
Gum) 

Baptist Street – Street 
tree 

2.5 

11 
Liquidambar styraciflua (Sweet 
Gum) 

Baptist Street – Street 
tree 

2.5 

12 
Liquidambar styraciflua (Sweet 
Gum) 

Baptist Street – Street 
tree 

2.5 

14 
Liquidambar styraciflua (Sweet 
Gum) 

Baptist Street – Street 
tree 

2.5 

15a 
Liquidambar styraciflua (Sweet 
Gum) 

Baptist Street – Street 
tree (young tree) 

2 

20  
Melaleuca quinquenervia 
(Broad Leafed Paperbark) 

Cleveland Street – 
Street tree 

2.5 

49 
Eucalyptus microcorys 
(Tallowood) 

Cooper Street – Street 
tree 

2.6 

50 
Lophostemon confertus (Brush 
Box) 

Cooper Street – Street 
tree 

2.1 

51 
Eucalyptus sideroxylon 
(Flowering Ironbark) 

Cooper Street – Street 
tree 

2.2 

52 
Corymbia citriodora (Lemon 
Scented Gum) 

Marriott Street Reserve 2.5 

53 
Melaleuca quinquenervia 
(Broad Leafed Paperbark) 

Marriott Street Reserve 3 

54 
Melaleuca quinquenervia 
(Broad Leafed Paperbark) 

Marriott Street Reserve 3 

144



 

Tree 
No. 

Botanic / Common Name Tree Location SRZ (m) 
from Trunk 

55 
Eucalyptus sideroxylon 
(Flowering Ironbark) 

Marriott Street Reserve 2.2 

56  Corymbia citriodora (Lemon 
Scented Gum) 

Marriott Street car park 
 

2.2 

61 
Liquidambar styraciflua (Sweet 
Gum) 

Baptist Street – Street 
tree (young tree) 

2 

 

(b) Excavation must not occur within the SRZ. If excavation is proposed 
within this zone, the Council’s Tree Management Officer must be 
contacted immediately and the excavation must be carried out in 
accordance with Council’s direction. 

(c) Without prejudice to clause (b) above, any excavations within the SRZ 
must be undertaken using non-destructive methods (such as by hand or 
with an Airspade) to ensure no tree roots greater than 40mm diameter 
are damaged, pruned or removed. 

(d) Footings shall be relocated / realigned if any tree root greater than 40mm 
in diameter is encounter during excavations. A minimum of 150mm 
clearance shall be provided between the tree root and footing. 

(e) All excavations located within the TPZ must be supervised by a qualified 
Consultant Arborist, who holds the Diploma in Horticulture 
(Arboriculture), Level 5 under the Australian Qualification Framework. 

(f) All root pruning must be undertaken by a qualified Arborist with a 
minimum AQF level 3. 

(52)  TREE PRUNING 

(a) A ‘Pruning Specification Report’ prepared by a qualified Arborist 
(minimum AQF Level 5) must be submitted to and approved by Council’s 
Area Planning Manager prior to the issue of the Construction Certificate. 
The report must include: 

(i) Number of branches and orientation, branch diameter, percentage 
of canopy to be pruned/removed. 

(ii) Photos with individual branches which are recommended for 
pruning/removal to be clearly marked. (Please note reports which 
include photos with a single vertical line as the area recommended 
for pruning will not be accepted). 

(iii) A maximum of 5% canopy removal and maximum of 100mm 
diameter branches will be permitted by Council. 

(iv) Pruning work must be specified in accordance with Australian 
Standard 4373–2007, Pruning of Amenity Trees. 

(v) Tree removal must not be recommended in this report. 

145



 

(b) All approved tree pruning works must be carried out by a qualified 
Arborist, with a minimum Level 3 AQF in arboriculture and in accordance 
with WorkCover’s Code of Practice – Amenity Tree Industry. 

(c) Any pruning works carried out under this consent must not result in the 
death of the tree, the creation of a hazard or in excessive or inappropriate 
amounts of pruning, which result in the overall shape of the tree 
becoming unbalanced and/or unstable. 

(d) This consent does not authorise the applicant, or the contractor engaged 
to do the tree works to enter a neighbouring property. 

(e) All tree works must be undertaken from within the subject property 
unless consent from the neighbour is obtained to enter their property. 

The consent from Council’s Tree Management Officer must be obtained prior 
to the undertaking of any additional tree pruning works or pruning of any tree 
roots greater than 40mm in diameter. 

(53)  STREET TREE REMOVAL 

(a) Any street tree removal which has been approved by Council shall be 
carried out by a qualified Arborist (AQF3), and must be in accordance 
with AS4373 Australian Standards. 

(b) The removal of any street tree approved by Council must include 
complete stump removal and the temporary reinstatement of levels so 
that no trip or fall hazards exist until suitable replanting planting occurs. 
These works must be completed immediately following the trees 
removal.  

(54)  TREE ROOT INVESTIGATION 

(a) Prior to the installation of the driveway crossover and laneway off Baptist 
Street, exploratory root investigations must be undertaken by a qualified 
Arborist (minimum AQF Level 5) along the south eastern alignment. This 
shall consist of carefully removing the asphalt and hand digging a trench 
to expose tree roots to a minimum depth of 500mm below the existing 
grade. An assessment of tree root size, number and condition must be 
provided (including photos) in a report and submitted to Council’s Area 
Planning Manager for approval prior to the issue of a Construction 
Certificate. 

(b) In the event any large structural roots (greater than 40mm diameter) are 
identified as a result of the exploratory root investigation, the design must 
be amended to ensure the tree is not compromised as a result of the 
works; 

(c) Any root pruning which has been approved by Council must be 
undertaken by a qualified Arborist with a minimum AQF level 3. 

  

146



 

(55)  SITE SUPERVISION AND REPORTING 

(a) An Arborist with minimum qualifications in Arboriculture of Level 5 (under 
the Australian Qualification Framework) must oversee various stages of 
work within the Tree Protection Zone of any tree listed for retention. The 
Arborist must certify compliance with each key milestone as detailed 
below: 

(i) Installation of tree protection measures; 

(ii) During demolition of any ground surface materials (paving, 
concrete, grass etc) within the Tree Protection Zone (TPZ) of any 
tree to be retained; 

(iii) During any excavation and trenching which has been approved by 
Council within the TPZ of any tree to be retained; 

(iv) During any Landscape works within the TPZ of any tree to be 
retained. 

(b) An Arboricultural Compliance Report which includes photographic 
evidence and details of the health and condition of trees, must be 
submitted to Council’s Area Planning Manager at each hold-point listed 
below: 

(i) Certification tree protection measures have been installed in 
accordance with the conditions prior to the commencement of 
works; 

(ii) Certification of compliance with each key milestone listed above 
within 48 hours of completion; 

(iii) Quarterly (a report every 3 months) reporting for the duration of 
construction and development within the site; 

(iv) Details of any other works undertaken on any tree to be retained 
or within TPZ/s; 

(v) A final compliance report shall be submitted prior to the issue of 
the Occupation Certificate. 

(56) STREET TREE PROTECTION  

Street trees must be protected in accordance with the Australian Standard 
4970 Protection of Trees on Development Sites. All street trees must be 
protected during the construction works as follows: 

(a) Tree trunk and major limb protection shall be undertaken prior to the 
issuing of the Construction Certificate. The protection shall be installed 
by a qualified Arborist (AQF 2 or 3) and must include;  

(i) An adequate clearance, minimum 250mm, must be provided 
between the structure and tree branches, limbs and trunk at all 
times,  

147



 

(ii) Tree trunk/s and major branches must be protected by wrapped 
hessian or similar material to limit damage, and 

(iii) Timber planks (50mm x 100mm or similar) shall be placed around 
tree trunk/s. The timber planks shall be spaced at 100mm intervals, 
and must be fixed against the trunk with tie wire, or strapping. The 
hessian and timber planks must not be fixed to the tree in any 
instance, or in any fashion. 

(iv) Tree trunk and major branch protection is to remain in place for the 
duration of construction and development works, and shall be 
removed at the completion of the project.  

(b) All hoarding support columns are to be placed a minimum of 300mm 
from the edge of the existing tree pits/setts, so that no sinking or 
damage occurs to the existing tree setts. Supporting columns must not 
be placed on any tree roots that are exposed. 

(c) Materials or goods, including site sheds, must not be stored or placed: 

(i) Around or under the tree canopy; or 

(ii) Within two (2) metres of the trunks or branches of any street trees. 

(d) Protective fencing (1.8 metre chain wire mesh fencing) must be erected 
on top of the hoarding to protect branches during the construction 
works. 

(e) Young street trees shall be protection by installing three (3) wooden 
takes around the edge of the tree pit. Hessian shall be wrapped around 
the stakes. If existing stakes are already in place, these shall suffice as 
tree protection.  

(f) Temporary signs, or any other items, shall not be fixed or attached to 
any street tree. 

(g) Any excavation within in any area known to, or suspected of having 
street tree roots greater than 40mm diameter must be undertaken by 
hand.  

(h) Existing sections of kerbs adjacent to any street tree shall not be 
removed without approval from the Street Tree Coordinator. Removal 
of kerbs adjacent to mature trees can cause trees to become unstable 
and fail.  

(i) Any damage sustained to street tree/s as a result of construction 
activities (including demolition) must be immediately reported to the 
Council's Street Tree Contract Coordinator on 9265 9333. Any damage 
to street trees as a result of construction activities may result in a 
prosecution under the Local Government Act 1993 and/or the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.  

148



 

(57) STREET TREE PLANTING AND MAINTENANCE 

(a) A Public Domain Plan must be submitted and approved by Council’s 
Area Planning Manager prior to the issue of the Construction 
Certificate. The plan must include: 

(i) Street trees must be located and planted in accordance with the 
City’s Street Tree Master Plan (Technical Guidelines).  

(ii) Tree species shall be consistent with the City’s Street Tree Master 
Plan (Refer to relevant precinct plans). The tree species 
designated for The Shareway is to be aligned with Cooper Street 
– Liriodendron Tulipifera (Tulip Tree).  Species substitutes will not 
be accepted; 

(iii) The design must include structural soils or strata cells in 
accordance with the STMP (Technical Guidelines) 

(b) A minimum of three (3) new trees are to be planted in the new park 
adjoining Baptist Lane. The plan must include: 

(i) The tree species, when mature, must attain a minimum height of 
no less than 15 metres and minimum canopy spread of 8 metres 

(ii) Planting locations at an appropriate distance from the rear of the 
private terraces fronting Boronia Street and the proposed 
substation 

(c) The trees must be a minimum container size of 200 litres, at the time of 
planting; 

(d) All new trees must be grown in accordance with the Australian 
Standard 2303:2015 ‘Tree stock for landscape use’ at the time of 
planting. 

(e) Certification from the tree supplier must be submitted to Council’s Tree 
Management Officer, prior to the trees being planting which confirms 
the new trees have been grown and comply with the requirements of 
AS2302. Any new trees that do not conform will be rejected by Council. 

(f) The street tree(s) must be planted: 

(i) by a qualified Arborist or Horticulturist (AQF Level 3); and  

(ii) before the issuing of the final Occupation Certificate. 

(g) All new street trees must be inspected by Council’s Tree Management 
Officer, before and after planting. 

(h) All street trees planted in accordance with the approved Public Domain 
Plan must be maintained by a qualified Horticulturist or Arborist 
(minimum AQF Level 3) for a minimum period of twelve (12) months 
commencing from the date of planting. Maintenance includes, but is not 
limited to, watering, weeding, removal of rubbish from tree base, 
pruning, fertilizing, pest and disease control and any other operations 
to maintain a healthy robust tree. 

149



 

(i) At the end of the twelve (12) month maintenance period, written 
approval must be obtained from Council before hand-over of any street 
tree to Council. 

(j) If a street tree has been replaced due to maintenance deficiencies 
during the twelve (12) month maintenance period, the twelve (12) 
month maintenance period will start again from the date that the street 
tree is replaced. 

(58) ALLOCATION FOR CAR WASH BAYS 

If car wash bays are provided, spaces must not at any time be allocated, sold 
or leased to an individual owner/occupier and must be strictly retained as 
common property by the Owners Corporation for use by all tenants. 

(59) ALLOCATION FOR VISITOR PARKING 

Visitor parking spaces must not at any time be allocated, sold or leased to an 
individual owner/occupier and must be strictly retained as common property 
by the Owners Corporation for use by building visitors. 

All spaces must be clearly marked ‘visitor’ prior to the issue of an occupation 
certificate or the use commencing, whichever is earlier. All signs must be 
maintained in good order at all times. 

(60) ALLOCATION OF ACCESSIBLE CAR PARKING SPACES 

For residential development, accessible car parking spaces for people with 
mobility impairment are only to be allocated as visitor parking or to adaptable 
units. Where allocated to adaptable units, the unit(s) and car spaces must be 
assigned to the unit in any future strata subdivision of the building. 

  

150



 

(61) ALLOCATION OF PARKING 

The number of car parking spaces to be provided for the development shall 
comply with the table below. Details confirming the parking numbers shall be 
submitted to the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of a 
Construction Certificate. 

Car Parking Type Number 

Residential spaces  87 

Accessible residential spaces 24 

Residential visitor spaces 8 

Accessible residential visitor spaces 1 

Office and business parking 33 

Accessible office and business parking 1 

Retail parking 165 

Accessible retail parking 4 

Car share parking 7 

Subtotal  330 

Motorcycle parking 26 

Car wash bay 3 

Service vehicle spaces 9 

Heavy Rigid Vehicle loading dock(s) (to also 
accommodate a Council waste truck) 

1 

Total 369 

 

(a) Number of motorcycle spaces refers to dimensions of 1.2m x 2.5m per 
Australian Standards. Alternatively the proponent may provide standard 
car spaces marked as motorcycle spaces (dimensions of 2.4m x 5.4m 
per Australian Standards). In this case 2 spaces would be required. 

(b) The waste collection area must meet the requirements of DCP12 
Section 3.11.13 (3), namely that vehicle access for collection and 
loading will include (but is not limited to) the following:  

(i) a 9.25m Council garbage truck and a small rigid delivery vehicle;  

(ii) minimum vertical clearance of 4.0 metres for residential 
development or else 3.8m clear of all ducts, pipes and other 
services, depending on the gradient of the access and the type of 
collection vehicle;  

(iii) collection vehicles to be able to enter and exit the premises in a 
forward direction. Where a vehicle turntable is necessary to meet 
this requirement, it is to have a capacity of 30 tonnes;  

(iv) maximum grades of 1:20 for the first 6m from the street, then a 
maximum of 1:8 with a transition of 1:12 for 4m at the lower end;  

(v) a minimum driveway width of 3.6m; and  

(vi) a minimum turning circle radius of 10.5m.  

151



 

(c) The loading dock is to be co-used by the residential, commercial, 
supermarket retail, and other retail uses of the site and is to 
accommodate the delivery needs of each usage.  

(d) Accessible Parking spaces to meet the Australian Standards AS/NZS 
2890.6 including having the shared area located adjacent to the space. 

(62) ASSOCIATED ROADWAY COSTS 

All costs associated with the construction of any new road works including kerb 
and gutter, road pavement, drainage system and footway shall be borne by 
the developer. The new road works must be designed and constructed in 
accordance with the City’s “Sydney Streets Technical Specification” including 
amendments and “Sydney Streets Design Code”. 

(63) BICYCLE PARKING AND END OF TRIP FACILITIES 

(a) The minimum number of bicycle parking spaces and end of trip facilities 
to be provided for the development must comply with the table below. 

Bicycle Parking Type Number Requirements 

Residential 154 Spaces must be a class 2 
bicycle facilities 

Residential visitor 16 Spaces must be Class 3 
bicycle rails 

Non-residential 63 Spaces must be Class 2 
bicycle facilities 

Non-residential visitor  64 Spaces must be Class 3 
bicycle rails 

End of Trip Facility 
Type  

Number  

Showers with change 
area 

8  

Personal lockers 63 
 

 

 

Notes: 

(i) Australian Standard AS 2890.3:2015 refers to class 1 as class ‘A’, 
class 2 as class “B’, and class 3 as class ‘C’. 

(b) The layout, design and security of bicycle facilities must comply with 
the minimum requirements of: 

(i) Australian Standard AS 2890.3:2015 Parking Facilities Part 3: 
Bicycle Parking Facilities,  

(ii) ‘Austroads Bicycle Parking Facilities: Guidelines for Design and 
Installation’, and; 

(iii) Sydney DCP 2012 Section 3.11.3. 

  

152



 

(c) The layout, design and security of bicycle facilities will include (but is 
not limited to) the following: 

(i) Sydney DCP 2012 Section 3.11.3 (6a), access to bike 
parkingareas are to be a minimum of 1.8m wide to allow a 
pedestrian and a person on a bike to pass each.  

(ii) Sydney DCP 2012 Section 3.11.3 (7), bike parking for visitors is to 
be provided in an accessible on-grade location near a major public 
entrance to the development and is to be signposted.  

(iii) Sydney DCP 2012 Section 3.11.3 (4) where bike parking for 
tenants is provided in a basement, it is to be located:  

a. on the uppermost level of the basement;  

b. close to entry/exit points; and  

c. subject to security camera surveillance where such security 
systems exist. 

(d) Details of the required bike parking facilities must be submitted to and 
approved by Council’s Area Coordinator, Planning Assessments prior 
to a Construction Certificate being issued. 

(64) BICYCLE FACILITIES WAY FINDING PLAN 

A way finding parking plan must be submitted showing all the signage to the 
bicycle facilities. This might include illuminated signage where appropriate. 
These plans must be submitted to and approved by Council prior to any 
Construction Certificate being issued. 

(65) CAR SHARE SPACES 

(a) A minimum of 7 car parking spaces for the exclusive use of car share 
scheme vehicles are to be provided. A revised plan showing these 
spaces must be submitted to and approved by Council’s Area 
Coordinator Planning Assessments prior to the issue of a Construction 
Certificate. 

(b) The spaces must be retained as common property of the Owners 
Corporation of the site, and not sold or leased to an individual 
owner/occupier at any time. 

(c) The spaces must be made available to car share operators without a fee 
or charge. 

(d) The spaces must be sign posted for use only by car share vehicles and 
well lit. 

(e) The spaces must be accessible to members of the car share scheme at 
all times. 

(f) The car share spaces are to be available at the same time that the car 
park commences operation. 

153



 

(66) CHANGES TO KERB SIDE PARKING RESTRICTIONS 

A separate submission must be made to the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and 
Traffic Calming Committee via the City Infrastructure and Traffic Operations 
Unit seeking the City’s approval for any changes to kerb side parking 
arrangements. There is no guarantee kerb side parking will be changed, or 
that any change will remain in place for the duration of the development use. 

The submission must include two plans. One showing the existing kerb side 
parking restriction signs and stems, the second showing the proposed kerb 
side parking restriction signs and stems. Both plans must include chainages 
to all signs and stems from the kerb line of the nearest intersection. 

All costs associated with the parking proposal will be borne by the developer. 

Note: It is recommended that the applicant should approach the Area Traffic 
Engineer to discuss the proposal before making a submission. 

(67) COST OF SIGNPOSTING 

All costs associated with signposting for any kerbside parking restrictions and 
traffic management measures associated with the development shall be borne 
by the developer. 

(68) ON SITE LOADING AREAS AND OPERATION 

All loading and unloading operations associated with servicing the site must 
be carried out within the confines of the site, at all times and must not obstruct 
other properties/units or the public way. 

At all times the service vehicle docks, car parking spaces and access 
driveways must be kept clear of goods and must not be used for storage 
purposes, including garbage storage. 

(69) PARKING DESIGN 

The design, layout, signage, line marking, lighting and physical controls of all 
off-street parking facilities must comply with the minimum requirements of 
Australian Standard AS/NZS 2890.1 Parking facilities Part 1: Off-street car 
parking, AS/NZS 2890.2 Parking facilities Part 2: Off-commercial vehicle 
facilities and AS/NZS 2890.6 Parking facilities Part 6: Off-street parking for 
people with disabilities. The details must be submitted to and approved by the 
Principal Certifier prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. 

(70) PARKING ON COMMON PROPERTY AREAS 

No part of the common property, apart from the visitor vehicle spaces which 
are to be used only by visitors to the building, and service vehicle spaces which 
are to be used only by service vehicles, is to be used for the parking or storage 
of vehicles or boats. The strata subdivision of the building is to include an 
appropriate documentary restriction pursuant to Section 88B of the 
Conveyancing Act 1919, so burdening common property, with the Council 
being the authority to release, vary or modify the restriction. 

154



 

(71) SIGNS AT EGRESS 

The following signs must be provided and maintained within the site at the 
point(s) of vehicle egress: 

(a) Compelling drivers to stop before proceeding onto the public way 

(b) Compelling drivers to "Give Way to Pedestrians" before crossing the 
footway; or compelling drivers to "Give Way to Pedestrians and Bicycles" 
before crossing a footway on an existing or identified shared path route. 

(72) SMALL CAR PARKING SPACES AND DIMENSIONS 

The design and layout of all off-street small car parking spaces must comply 
with the minimum requirements of Australian Standard AS/NZS 2890.1 - 2004 
Parking facilities Part 1: Off-street car parking and Council’s Development 
Control Plan.  The details must be submitted to and approved by the Principal 
Certifying Authority prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. 

All small car spaces must be clearly marked and identifiable as small car 
spaces. The signs or line markings must be in place and approved by the 
Principal Certifying Authority prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued 
and must be maintained in good order at all times. 

(73) TRAFFIC WORKS 

Any proposals for alterations to the public road, involving traffic and parking 
arrangements, must be designed in accordance with RMS Technical 
Directives and must be referred to and agreed to by the Local Pedestrian, 
Cycling and Traffic Calming Committee prior to any work commencing on site. 

(74) NOISE – COMMERCIAL PLANT / INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Noise from commercial plant and industrial development must not 
exceed a project amenity/intrusiveness noise level or maximum noise 
level in accordance with relevant requirements of the NSW EPA Noise 
Policy for Industry 2017 (NPfI) unless agreed to by the City’s Area 
Planning Manager. Further: 

(i) Background noise monitoring must be carried out in accordance 
with the long-term methodology in Fact Sheet B of the NPfI unless 
otherwise agreed by the City’s Area Planning Manager. 

(ii) Commercial plant is limited to heating, ventilation, air conditioning, 
refrigeration and energy generation equipment. 

(b) An LAeq,15 minute (noise level) emitted from the development must not 
exceed the LA90, 15 minute (background noise level) by more than 3dB when 
assessed inside any habitable room of any affected residence or noise 
sensitive commercial premises at any time. Further: 

(i) The noise level and the background noise level shall both be 
measured with all external doors and windows of the affected 
residence closed. 

155

https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate-site/resources/noise/17p0524-noise-policy-for-industry.pdf
https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate-site/resources/noise/17p0524-noise-policy-for-industry.pdf
https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate-site/resources/noise/17p0524-noise-policy-for-industry.pdf


 

(ii) Background noise measurements must not include noise from the 
development but may include noise from necessary ventilation at 
the affected premise. 

(c) Corrections in Fact Sheet C of the NPfI are applicable to relevant noise 
from the development measured in accordance with this condition, 
however duration corrections are excluded from commercial noise. 

(75) NOISE - ENTERTAINMENT 

(a) The LA10, 15 minute noise level emitted from the retail tenancies must not 
exceed the background noise level (LA90, 15minute) in any Octave Band 
Centre Frequency (31.5 Hz to 8 kHz inclusive) by more than 5dB 
between the hours of 7.00am and 12.00 midnight when assessed at the 
boundary of any affected residence. 

(b) The LA10, 15 minute noise level emitted from the use must not exceed the 
background noise level (LA90, 15 minute) in any Octave Band Centre 
Frequency (31.5 Hz to 8 kHz inclusive) between the hours of 12.00 
midnight and 7.00am when assessed at the boundary of any affected 
residence. 

(c) Notwithstanding compliance with (a) and (b) above, noise from the use 
when assessed as an LA10, 15 minute enters any residential use through an 
internal to internal transmission path is not to exceed the existing internal 
LA90, 15 minute (from external sources excluding the use) in any Octave 
Band Centre Frequency (31.5 Hz to 8 kHz inclusive) when assessed 
within a habitable room at any affected residential use between the hours 
of 7am and 12midnight. Where the LA10, 15 minute noise level is below the 
threshold of hearing, Tf at any Octave Band Centre Frequency as 
defined in Table 1 of International Standard ISO 226 : 2003- Normal 
Equal-Loudness-Level Contours then the value of Tf corresponding to 
that Octave Band Centre Frequency shall be used instead. 

(d) Notwithstanding compliance with (a), (b) and (c) above, the noise from 
the use must not be audible within any habitable room in any residential 
use between the hours of 12.00 midnight and 7.00am. 

(e) The LA10, 15 minute noise level emitted from the use must not exceed the 
background noise level (LA90, 15 minute) in any Octave Band Centre 
Frequency (31.5 Hz to 8 kHz inclusive) by more than 3dB when 
assessed indoors at any affected commercial premises. 

Note: The LA10, 15 minute noise level emitted from the use is as per the definition 
in the Australian Standard AS1055-1997 Acoustics – Description and 
measurement of environmental noise. The background noise level LA90, 15 minute 
is to be determined in the absence of noise emitted by the use and be 
representative of the noise sensitive receiver. Background noise monitoring 
must be carried out in accordance with the long-term methodology in Fact 
Sheet B of the NPfl unless otherwise agreed by the City’s Area Planning 
Manager. 

156

https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate-site/resources/noise/17p0524-noise-policy-for-industry.pdf


 

(76) DEMOLITION, EXCAVATION AND CONSTRUCTION NOISE AND 
VIBRATION MANAGEMENT PLAN 

A site specific noise management plan shall be submitted to and approved by 
Council’s Area Coordinator, Planning Assessments prior to issue of any 
Construction Certificate. 

The Plan must be prepared by a suitably qualified person who possesses the 
qualifications to render them eligible for membership of the Australian Acoustic 
Society, Institution of Engineers Australia or the Australian Association of 
Acoustic Consultants. 

The plan must include but not be limited to the following:- 

(a) Identification of noise sensitive receivers near to the site. 

(b) A prediction as to the level of noise impact likely to affect the nearest 
noise sensitive receivers from the use and proposed number of high 
noise intrusive appliances intended to be operated onsite. A statement 
should also be submitted outlining whether or not predicted noise levels 
will comply with the noise criteria stated within the City of Sydney 
Construction Hours /Noise Code of Practice 1992 for the typical 
construction hours of 07.00am to 7.00pm. Where resultant site noise 
levels are likely to be in exceedance of this noise criteria then a suitable 
proposal must be given as to the duration and frequency of respite 
periods that will be afforded to the occupiers of neighbouring property. 

(c) A representative background noise measurement (LA90, 15 minute) should 
be submitted, assessed in the vicinity of any potentially affected receiver 
locations and measured in accordance with AS 1055:1.2.1997. 

(d) Confirmation of the level of community consultation that has/is and will 
be undertaken with Building Managers/ occupiers of the main adjoining 
noise sensitive properties likely to be most affected by site works and 
the operation of plant/machinery particularly during the demolition and 
excavation phases. 

(e) Confirmation of noise monitoring methodology that is to be undertaken 
during the main stages of work at neighbouring noise sensitive 
properties in order to keep complaints to a minimum and to ensure that 
noise from site works complies with the noise criteria contained within 
City's Construction Noise Code. 

(f) What course of action will be undertaken following receipt of a complaint 
concerning offensive noise. 

(g) Details of any noise mitigation measures that have been outlined by an 
acoustic consultant or otherwise that will be deployed on site to reduce 
noise impacts on the occupiers of neighbouring noise sensitive property 
to a minimum. 

  

157



 

(h) What plant and equipment is to be used on site, the level of sound 
mitigation measures to be undertaken in each case and the criteria 
adopted in their selection taking into account the likely noise impacts on 
the occupiers of neighbouring property and other less intrusive 
technologies available. 

(77) COMPLIANCE WITH DEMOLITION, EXCAVATION & CONSTRUCTION 
NOISE AND VIBRATION MANAGEMENT PLAN 

(a) All works conducted on site which form part of this development must be 
carried out in accordance with the Demolition, Excavation and 
Construction Management Plan, once it is approved by Council’s Area 
Coordinator, Planning Assessments. 

(b) Where all such control measures have been implemented and the 
resultant noise and/ or vibration levels at any sensitive receiver still 
exceed the council’s applicable criteria stated in the Construction 
Hours/Noise Code 1992 and are giving rise to sustained complaints then 
the contractor must provide regular, appropriate and sustained periods 
of respite in consultation with Council’s Health and Building unit. 
Approval to vary the authorised noise and vibration levels must be 
received in writing by the proponent from Council prior to activities being 
undertaken that exceed sanctioned emission levels. (Use where respite 
periods not specified under the approved DEC NMP) 

(c) Such periods must be set and agreed to by Council’s Health and Building 
Unit. 

(78) USE OF INTRUSIVE APPLIANCES – NOT APPROVED 

This development consent does not extend to the use of appliances which emit 
noise of a highly intrusive nature (such as pile - drivers and hydraulic 
hammers) or are not listed in Groups B, C, D, E or F of Schedule 1 of the City 
of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992”. 

A separate Section 4.55 application must be submitted to the Council for the 
use of any equipment of a  highly intrusive nature (such as pile - drivers and 
hydraulic hammers) or are not listed in Groups B, C, D, E or F of Schedule 1 
of the City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992. 

(79) COMPLIANCE WITH THE ACOUSTIC REPORT PRIOR TO 
CONSTRUCTION AND OR OCCUPATION CERTIFICATES 

(a) All relevant performance parameters (including but not limited to 
requirements, engineering assumptions and recommendations) in the 
DA Acoustic Report prepared by Renzo Tonin & Associates, dated 4 
September 2018, ref TK382-01F02 DA Acoustic Assessment (r3), titled 
‘Surry Hills Shopping Village DA Acoustic Assessment’, Council Ref 
2018/493799 must be implemented in the development prior to the 
commencement of its use. 

  

158



 

(b) Prior to the issue of any relevant Construction Certificate, the final 
construction drawings and final construction methodology must be 
assessed and reported to be in accordance with the requirements of the 
DA Acoustic Report in (a) above, with reference to relevant 
documentation. This must be done by a Suitably Qualified Acoustic 
Consultant* (see definition below).  This work will be to the satisfaction 
of the certifier. 

(c) Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, a Suitably Qualified 
Acoustic Consultant* is to provide a written Acoustic Verification Report 
to the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier/Principal certifying Authority 
that the development complies with the requirements set out in the 
Report and in (a) and (b) above. 

Note: Suitably Qualified Acoustic Consultant means a consultant who 
possesses the qualifications to render them eligible for membership of 
the Australian Acoustics Society, Institution of Engineers Australia or the 
Association of Australian Acoustic Consultants at the grade of member. 

(d) All physical aspects of the building’s structure installed in order to meet 
performance parameters in accordance with this condition must be 
maintained at all times. 

 

  

159



 

SCHEDULE 1B 

PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE/COMMENCEMENT OF WORK/HEALTH 
AND BUILDING 

(80) BUILDING WORKS TO COMPLY WITH BCA – HERITAGE BUILDINGS OR 
BUILDINGS WITHIN CONSERVATION AREA 

Any building works required to ensure compliance with the BCA or new 
building standards not specified in the submitted/approved plan must not 
damage existing fabric and building features. If such upgrading works have 
impact or potentially have impact on existing fabric and features, details of the 
works must be submitted and approved by Council’s Area Coordinator 
Planning Assessments / Area Planning Manager prior to issue of any 
Construction Certificate. 

(81) DISPOSAL OF SURPLUS SALVAGED MATERIALS 

Salvaged traditional building materials surplus to the requirements of this 
project including timber doors, windows, bricks, structural timber, staircases, 
and joinery are to be sold to an established dealer in second hand heritage 
building materials. Documentation of the salvage methodology must be 
submitted for the approval of Council’s Area Coordinator Planning 
Assessments prior to the commencement of demolition. 

(82) GENERAL HERITAGE 

(a) The proposed works are to be carried out in a manner that minimises 
demolition, alterations and new penetrations/fixings to the significant 
fabric of the existing building which is listed as a Heritage Item. 

(b) The fabric and features to be retained by the proposal must be properly 
protected during the process of demolition and construction. The 
protection measures are to be specified in the construction management 
plan. 

(c) All conservation and adaptation works are to be in accordance with the 
Articles of the Australian ICOMOS Burra Charter 2013. 

(d) New services are to be surface mounted rather than chased-in to existing 
walls to minimise impact on heritage fabric. 

(e) Appropriately qualified tradespersons (as appropriate) are to be 
commissioned who are skilled in traditional building and engineering 
trades to carry out the proposed scope of works. 

(f) The new windows and doors on the existing building must match the 
original material, which is timber joinery 

(g) The face brickwork/stone/tiles must not be rendered, painted or coated. 

(h) Where internal partitions meet external walls they must abut window 
mullions, columns or other such building elements and not glazing. 

160



 

(83) MATERIALS FOR MAKING GOOD 

New materials for making good and repairs, are to match the existing in terms 
of colours, finishes, sizes, profile and properties. 

(84) HERITAGE ITEMS - WORKS TO BE CONSISTENT WITH CMP OR HIS 

(a) A conservation work schedule detailing methodologies for 
implementation of the recommendations of the Heritage Impact 
Statement prepared by Urbis and dated 15 May 2019 must be submitted 
to and approved by Council’s Area Coordinator Planning Assessments, 
prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. 

(b) The conservation work schedule must detail how the recommendations 
will be undertaken, and include detailed drawings and outline 
specifications of works required to support any schedule of conservation 
works. 

The work schedule must be implemented to the satisfaction of Council’s Area 
Coordinator Planning Assessments / Area Planning Manager prior to the issue 
of the Occupation Certificate. 

(85) SALVAGE, REUSE AND RECYCLING OF TRADITIONAL BUILDING 
MATERIALS 

Stone, bricks, roof tiles, joinery and decorative architectural elements to be 
demolished, which include stairs, windows and doors, chimney pieces and 
ceiling roses must be salvaged and where possible reused on the project. 

Salvaged building materials surplus to the project must either be stored on site 
for future reuse, or transferred to an established second building material 
dealer for recycling. 

(86) STRUCTURAL INTEGRITY OF RETAINED BUILDING ELEMENTS 

Prior to a commencement of demolition, excavation or construction work, a 
report or certification from a practicing structural engineer experienced in 
dealing with heritage buildings must be submitted to and approved by 
Council’s Area Coordinator Planning Assessments / Area Planning Manager. 
The report must explain how the retained building elements, such as building 
facades or chimneys are to be retained, supported and not undermined by the 
proposed development and give details of any intervention or retrofitting 
needed. 

(87) PHOTOGRAPHIC ARCHIVAL DOCUMENTATION (MAJOR WORKS) 

Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued, an archival photographic 
recording of the former Bank of NSW Building is to be prepared to Council's 
satisfaction, and submit to and approved by Council’s Area Coordinator 
Planning Assessments. The recording is to be in digital form, prepared in 
accordance with the NSW Heritage Division of the Department of Environment 
and Heritage guidelines titled "Photographic Recording of Heritage Items using 
Film or Digital Capture". One copy of the record is to be submitted to Council 
to be lodged with Council's Archives. 

161



 

Procedure 

For buildings or structures with heritage significance, the archival 
documentation, and the number and type of selected enlarged photographs 
required will be determined by the significance and quality of the building or 
structure. For a scope of work, refer to Council’s Heritage Specialist to 
determine the particular architectural/design features of the building/site that 
may need to be recorded. 

For buildings or structures with no heritage significance the archival 
documentation requirements are less comprehensive, and may just be limited 
to contextual and exterior photographs only. However, this will depend upon 
the type, complexity and significance of the building, and should be confirmed 
with Council’s Area Coordinator Planning Assessments / Area Planning 
Manager, and if necessary Council’s Urban Design and Heritage Manager. 

Because significant fabric may remain concealed and only be exposed during 
construction works, the archival recording is to be undertaken in stages, prior 
to the removal of any significant building fabric or furnishings from the site, 
during the removal of fabric on site that exposes significant building fabric or 
furnishings, and after work has been completed on site, as considered 
appropriate by the conservation architect commissioned for the project, and 
submitted as two parts as follows. 

(a) The first submission of the archival recording of significant building fabric 
or furnishings is to be prior to the removal of any significant building 
fabric or furnishings from the site, and must be submitted to and 
approved by Council’s Area Coordinator Planning Assessments prior to 
the commencement of any work on site and prior to a Construction 
Certificate being issued. 

(b) The second submission of the archival recording is of significant building 
fabric or furnishings that is exposed during demolition or construction 
and after work has been completed on site, and must be submitted to 
and approved by Council’s Area Coordinator Planning Assessments 
prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued. 

The form of recording is to be a photographic documentation of the site and its 
context, and the exteriors and interiors of the existing building(s) 
photographed, where appropriate, using a camera/lens capable of 
‘perspective correction’. The photographic recording is to be in digital form, 
prepared in accordance with the NSW Heritage Division of the Department of 
Environment and Heritage guidelines titled ‘Photographic Recording of 
Heritage Items using Film or Digital Capture’. One copy of the record is to be 
submitted to Council to be lodged with Council’s Archives. 

(c) For each of the two submissions listed above in (a) and (b), the digital 
form of the recording is to be as follows: 

(i) The Development Application number and the Condition of 
Consent number must be noted. 

(ii) Include a summary report detailing the project description, date 
and authorship of the photographic record, method of 
documentation and limitations of the photographic record. 

162



 

(iii) The electronic images are to be taken with a minimum 8 megapixel 
camera, saved as JPEG TIFF or PDF files with a size of 
approximately 4-6MB, and cross referenced to the digital 
catalogue sheets and base plans. Choose only images that are 
necessary to document the process, and avoid duplicate images. 

(iv) Include written confirmation, issued with the authority of both the 
applicant and the photographer that the City of Sydney is granted 
a perpetual non-exclusive licence to make use of the copyright in 
all images supplied, including the right to make copies available to 
third parties as though they were Council images. The signatures 
of both the applicant and the photographer must be included. 

(v) The report can be submitted on a USB, CD or DVD, in PDF/A 
format (created directly from the digital original), with a digital 
catalogue of images with the following data for each: DOS title, 
image subject/description and data photograph taken. 

(88) ARCHAEOLOGICAL INVESTIGATION 

(a) Should any relics be unexpectedly discovered in any areas of the site 
not subject to an excavation permit, then all excavation or disturbance to 
the area is to stop immediately and the Heritage Council of NSW should 
be informed in accordance with section 146 of the Heritage Act 1977. 

(b) Should any Aboriginal objects be unexpectedly discovered then all 
excavation or disturbance of the area is to stop immediately and NSW 
Government Office of Environment and Heritage is to be informed in 
accordance with Section 89A of the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974; 

(c) Should any archaeological remains or Aboriginal objects be discovered, 
a copy of recording of the finds and the final archaeological summary 
report is to be submitted to, and approved by Council’s Area Coordinator 
Planning Assessments / Area Planning Manager prior to issue of an 
Occupation Certificate. 

(89) SITE WIDE LANDSCAPE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

A site wide landscape management plan is to be submitted to, and approved 
by Council’s Area Coordinator, Planning Assessments addressing, but not 
limited to, public and private areas (private courtyards and balconies) at 
ground and on slab, communal open spaces at ground and rooftops, green 
roof areas, and demonstrating who is responsible for each landscaped area 
and how the landscape features will be installed, as well as the costs and 
responsibility of ongoing maintenance of the landscaping. 

(90) ASBESTOS REMOVAL WORKS 

(a) All works removing asbestos containing materials must be carried out by 
a suitably licensed asbestos removalist duly licensed with Safework 
NSW, holding either a Friable (Class A) or a Non- Friable (Class B) 
Asbestos Removal Licence which ever applies. 

A copy of the relevant licence shall be made available to any authorised 
Council officer on request within 24 hours. 

163



 

(b) Five days prior to the commencement of licensed asbestos removal, 
Safework NSW must be formally notified of the works. All adjoining 
properties and those opposite the development must be notified in 
writing of the dates and times when asbestos removal is to be conducted. 
The notification must identify the licensed asbestos removal contractor 
and include a contact person for the site together with telephone number 
and email address. 

(c) All work must be carried out in accordance with the Work Health and 
Safety Regulation 2011 and the NSW Government and Work Cover 
document entitled How to manage and control asbestos in the work 
place: Code of Practice (Safework NSW) December 2011 and the City 
of Sydney Managing Asbestos Policy dated 21 October 2013 and 
associated guidelines. 

(d) The asbestos removalist must use signs and barricades to clearly 
indicate the area where the asbestos removal work is being performed. 
Signs must be placed in positions so that people are aware of where the 
asbestos removal work area is and should remain in place until removal 
is completed and clearance to reoccupy has been granted. 
Responsibilities for the security and safety of the asbestos removal site 
and removal must be specified in the asbestos removal control plan 
(where required). This includes inaccessible areas that are likely to 
contain asbestos. 

(e) Warning signs must be placed so they inform all people nearby that 
asbestos removal work is taking place in the area. Signs must be placed 
at all of the main entry points to the asbestos removal work area where 
asbestos is present. These signs must be weatherproof, constructed of 
light-weight material and adequately secured so they remain in 
prominent locations. The signs must be in accordance with AS 1319 -
1994 Safety Signs for the Occupational Environment for size, 
illumination, location and maintenance. 

(f) Asbestos waste must only be transported and disposed of at an EPA 
licensed waste facility. 

(g) No asbestos products are to be reused on the site (i.e. packing pieces, 
spacers, formwork or fill etc). 

(h) No asbestos laden skips or bins are to be left in any public place without 
the written approval of Council. 

(i) A site notice board must be located at the main entrance to the site in a 
prominent position and must have minimum dimensions of 841mm x 
594mm (A1) with any text on the notice to be a minimum of 30 point type 
size. 

The site notice board must include the following: 

(i) contact person for the site; 

(ii) telephone and facsimile numbers and email address; and 

(iii) site activities and time frames. 

164



 

(91) CLASSIFICATION OF WASTE 

Prior to the exportation of waste (including fill or soil) from the site, the waste 
materials must be classified in accordance with the provisions of the Protection 
of the Environment Operations Act 1997 and the NSW DECC Waste 
Classification Guidelines, Part1: Classifying Waste (July 2009). The 
classification of the material is essential to determine where the waste may be 
legally taken. The Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 provides 
for the commission of an offence for both the waste owner and the transporters 
if the waste is taken to a place that cannot lawfully be used as a waste facility 
for the particular class of waste. For the transport and disposal of industrial, 
hazardous or Group A liquid waste advice should be sought from the EPA. 

(92) DISCHARGE OF CONTAMINATED GROUNDWATER 

Contaminated groundwater shall not be discharged into the City’s stormwater 
drainage system. 

Options for the disposal of groundwater include disposal to sewer with prior 
approval from Sydney Water or off-site disposal by a liquid waste transporter 
for treatment/disposal to an appropriate waste treatment/processing facility. 

(93) IMPORTED FILL MATERIALS 

All fill imported onto the site shall be validated to ensure the imported fill is 
suitable for the proposed land use from a contamination perspective. Fill 
imported on to the site shall also be compatible with the existing soil 
characteristic for site drainage purposes. 

The City may require details of appropriate validation of imported fill material 
to be submitted with any application for future development of the site. Hence 
all fill imported onto the site should be validated by either one or both of the 
following methods during remediation works: 

(a) Imported fill should be accompanied by documentation from the supplier 
which certifies that the material is not contaminated based upon 
analyses of the material for the known past history of the site where the 
material is obtained; and/or  

(b) Sampling and analysis of the fill material shall be conducted in 
accordance with NSW EPA (1995) Sampling Design Guidelines. 

(94) LAND REMEDIATION (Where Site Auditor engaged) 

The site is to be remediated and validated in accordance with the Remedial 
Action Plans prepared by Benviron Group dated April 2019, 16 September and 
10 October 2019, ‘Remediation Action Plan’; ‘Re: Surry Hills Shopping Village 
Scope for Voluntary Planning Agreement Area (VPA)’; and Re: Surry Hills 
Shopping Village Addendum Remediation Action Plan (AdRAP)’ and the 
Letters of Interim Advice prepared by NSW Environment Protection Authority 
accredited Site Auditor Marc Salmon of Easterly Point Environmental dated 12 
August and 16 October 2019 and references 18042L04-ISAA04 and 
18042L05-ISAA05. All remediation work carried out shall be conducted in 
accordance with the guidelines in force from time to time under the 
Contaminated Land Management Act 1997. 

165



 

Any new information which comes to light during remediation, demolition or 
construction works which has the potential to alter previous conclusions about 
site contamination must be immediately notified to the Council's Area Planning 
Manager, the Site Auditor and the Principal Certifier. 

Any variations to the approved Remediation Action Plan shall be approved in 
writing by the Site Auditor and Council's Area Coordinator Planning 
Assessments / Area Planning Manager prior to the commencement of such 
work. 

Any proposed EMP must be reviewed and approved by the Council's Health 
and Building Unit in writing through the Council’s Area Coordinator / Area 
Planning Manager before the Site Audit Statement is issued. 

(95) NOTIFICATION – NEW CONTAMINATION EVIDENCE 

Any new information which comes to light during remediation, demolition or 
construction works which has the potential to alter previous conclusions about 
site contamination and/or acid sulphate soils shall be notified to Council’s Area 
Planning Manager and the Principal Certifier. 

(96) SITE AUDIT STATEMENT 

Prior to the issue of a construction certificate associated with the built form of 
the development (excluding building work directly related to remediation), a 
Section A Site Audit Statement must be obtained from a NSW Environment 
Protection Authority accredited Site Auditor and submitted to, and approved 
by the Council's Area Planning Manager at email address:- 

hbapplications@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au 

The Site Audit Statement must confirm that the site has been remediated in 
accordance with the approved Remedial Action Plan and clearly state that site 
is suitable for the proposed use. 

(a) In circumstances where the Site Audit Statement is subject to conditions 
that require ongoing review by the Auditor or Council, these must be 
reviewed and must be approved by the Council's Health and Building 
department in writing through the Area Planning Manager before the Site 
Audit Statement is issued. 

(b) In circumstances where the Site Audit Statement conditions (if 
applicable) are not consistent with the consent, the development must 
not proceed until the inconsistency has been resolved to the satisfaction 
of Council (such as via a S4.55 modification of the consent pursuant to 
the provisions of the Environmental Planning & Assessment Act 1979). 

(c) No Occupation Certificate is to be issued by the Principal Certifier 
unless a Site Audit Statement has been submitted to and approved by 
Council in accordance with this condition. 

166

mailto:hbapplications@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au


 

(97) LAND DEDICATION – NO LONG-TERM ENVIRONMENTAL 
MANAGEMENT PLAN 

Any land that is to be dedicated to the City as part of the associated VPA must 
not be encumbered by an Environmental Management Plan or Long-Term 
Environmental Management Plan.  

(98) HAZARDOUS MATERIALS SURVEY REQUIRED 

A Hazardous Materials Survey Report must be prepared by a certified 
Occupational Hygienist (Australia Institute of Occupational Hygienists) and 
submitted to the satisfaction of Council’s Area Coordinator Planning 
Assessments / Area Planning Manager prior to any demolition / refurbishment 
work commencing at the site.  The report must identify and record the type, 
location and extent of any hazardous materials on the site and make 
recommendations as to their safe management and/or removal to ensure the 
site is made safe for demolition, construction and future use/occupation. 

(99) STOCKPILES 

(a) No stockpiles of soil or other materials shall be placed on footpaths or 
nature strips unless prior approval has been obtained from the City’s 
Construction Regulation Unit. 

(b) All stockpiles of soil or other materials shall be placed away from 
drainage lines, gutters or stormwater pits or inlets. 

(c) All stockpiles of soil or other materials likely to generate dust or odours 
shall be covered. 

(d) All stockpiles of contaminated soil shall be stored in a secure area and 
be covered if remaining more than 24 hours 

(100) CAR PARK VENTILATION 

The car park must be ventilated in accordance with the Building Code of 
Australia and, where necessary, Australian Standard AS1668, Parts 1 and 2. 
Ventilation must be controlled by carbon monoxide monitoring sensors to 
ensure compliance with occupant health requirements. 

(101) FUTURE FOOD USE - MECHANICAL VENTILATION PROVISION 

Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, the mechanical exhaust 
systems and/or shafts must be designed to allow for the discharge of effluent 
air above roof level and must be designed with capacity to accommodate 
exhaust ducts and mechanical ventilation systems for all commercial 
tenancies proposed with the potential to become a food premises in future. 
Systems must be designed in accordance with AS1668.2 – The Use of 
Ventilation and Air-conditioning in Buildings – Mechanical Ventilation in 
Buildings, and AS1668.1 – The Use of Mechanical Ventilation and Air-
Conditioning in Buildings – Fire and Smoke Control in Multi-compartment 
Buildings. 

167



 

(102) MECHANICAL VENTILATION 

(a) The premises must be ventilated in accordance with the Building Code 
of Australia and AS1668.1 and 2 - 2012. The Use of Ventilation and Air-
Conditioning in Buildings - Mechanical Ventilation in Buildings. 

(b) Details of any mechanical ventilation and/or air conditioning system 
complying with AS1668.1 and 2 – 2012 The Use of Ventilation and Air-
Conditioning in Buildings - Mechanical Ventilation in Buildings, the 
Building Code of Australia and relevant Australian Standards must be 
prepared by a suitably qualified person and certified in accordance with 
Clause A2.2 (a) (iii) of the Building Code of Australia, to the satisfaction 
of the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate. 

(c) Prior to issue of an Occupation Certificate and following the completion, 
installation, and testing of all the mechanical ventilation systems, a 
Mechanical Ventilation Certificate of Completion and Performance in 
accordance with Clause A2.2 (a) (iii) of the Building Code of Australia, 
must be submitted to the Principal Certifier. 

(103) MICROBIAL CONTROL IN WATER SYSTEMS 

The installation, operation and maintenance of water-cooling or warm water 
systems installed on the premises must comply with AS/NZS 3666:3:2011 - 
Air-handling and water systems of buildings-Microbial Control Part 3: 
Performance based maintenance of cooling water systems. 

Note:  The occupier of premises at which a water-cooling system is installed, 
must notify the council in writing on the prescribed form, of the installation of 
all water-cooling tower systems within the premises - Public Health Act 2010. 

Notification forms are available on Council’s website 
www.cityofsyndey.nsw.gov.au 

(104) INSTALLATION OF DUAL-FLUSH TOILETS 

All toilets installed within the development must be of water efficient dual-flush 
or other water-saving capacity with at least a 4-star rating under the Water 
Efficiency and Labelling Scheme (WELS). The details must be submitted for 
the approval of the Principal Certifier, prior to a Construction Certificate being 
issued. 

(105) INSTALLATION OF WATER EFFICIENT TAPS 

All taps and shower heads installed must be water efficient with at least a 4-
star rating under the Water Efficiency and Labelling Scheme (WELS). The 
details are to be submitted for the approval of the Principal Certifier, prior to an 
Occupation Certificate being issued. 

  

168

http://www.cityofsyndey.nsw.gov.au/


 

(106) INSTALLATION OF WATER EFFICIENT URINALS 

New urinal suites, urinals and urinal flushing control mechanisms must use 
waterless technology. Where it is submitted that this is not feasible, it must be 
demonstrated that products have been selected with at least a 4-star rating 
under the Water Efficiency and Labelling Scheme (WELS). Systems must 
include "smart controls" to reduce unnecessary flushing. Continuous flushing 
systems are not approved. Details are to be submitted to and approved by the 
Principal Certifier, prior to a Construction Certificate being issued.  

(107) INTERNAL LIGHTING SYSTEM 

The proposed internal lighting system for the commercial office spaces must 
be designed to provide for the efficient use of energy including the use of 
energy efficient light fittings, zoned lighting and controls and sensors to ensure 
automatic switch off during non-working hours. Details of the internal lighting 
system must be submitted to and approved by the Principal Certifier prior to a 
Construction Certificate being issued. 

(108) ALIGNMENT LEVELS – MAJOR DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Proposed building floor levels, basement levels, basement car park 
entry levels and ground levels shown on the approved Development 
Application plans are indicative only and have not been approved by 
this consent. 

(b) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for any excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), excluding 
approved preparatory or demolition work,  alignment levels for the 
building and site frontages must be submitted to and approved by 
Council. The submission must be prepared by a Registered Surveyor 
and designed by a suitably qualified engineer, must be in accordance 
with the City of Sydney's Public Domain Manual and must be submitted 
with a completed Levels and Gradients Approval Application form 
(available on the City’s website). 

(c) These alignment levels, as approved by Council, are to be incorporated 
into the plans submitted with the application for a Construction 
Certificate for any civil, drainage and public domain work as applicable 
under this consent. If the proposed detailed design of the public domain 
requires changes to any previously approved Alignment Levels, then 
an amended Alignment Levels submission must be submitted to and 
approved by Council to reflect these changes prior to a Construction 
Certificate being issued for public domain work. 

(109) PHOTOGRAPHIC RECORD / DILAPIDATION REPORT - PUBLIC DOMAIN 

Prior to an approval for demolition being granted or a Construction Certificate 
being issued, whichever is earlier, a photographic recording of the public 
domain site frontages is to be prepared and submitted to Council's satisfaction. 

The recording must include clear images of the building facade adjoining the 
footpath, the footpath, nature strip, kerb and gutter, driveway crossovers and 
laybacks, kerb ramps, road carriageway, street trees and plantings, parking 
restriction and traffic signs, and all other existing infrastructure along the street. 

169



 

The form of the recording is to be as follows:- 

(a) A PDF format report containing all images at a scale that clearly 
demonstrates the existing site conditions; 

(b) Each image is to be labelled to identify the elements depicted, the 
direction that the image is viewed towards, and include the name of the 
relevant street frontage; 

(c) Each image is to be numbered and cross referenced to a site location 
plan; 

(d) A summary report, prepared by a suitable qualified professional, must 
be submitted in conjunction with the images detailing the project 
description, identifying any apparent existing defects, detailing the date 
and authorship of the photographic record, the method of 
documentation and limitations of the photographic record; 

(e) Include written confirmation, issued with the authority of both the 
applicant and the photographer that the City of Sydney is granted a 
perpetual non-exclusive license to make use of the copyright in all 
images supplied, including the right to make copies available to third 
parties as though they were Council images. The signatures of both the 
applicant and the photographer must be included. 

Any damage to the public way including trees, footpaths, kerbs, gutters, road 
carriageway and the like must immediately be made safe and functional by the 
applicant. Damage must be fully rectified by the applicant in accordance with 
the City’s standards prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued for Public 
Domain Works or before an Occupation Certificate is issued for the 
development, whichever is earlier. 

(110) PRESERVATION OF SURVEY MARKS 

All works in City streets must ensure the preservation of existing permanent 
survey marks (a brass bolt, or a lead plug holding a brass tack, covered by a 
cast iron box). At least forty-eight hours prior to the commencement of any 
works in the public way within 1 metre of a permanent survey mark contact 
must be made with the City's Project Manager Survey / Design Services to 
arrange for the recovery of the mark. 

Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, a survey plan, clearly showing 
the location of all permanent survey marks fronting the site and within 5 metres 
on each side of the frontages must be submitted to Council. 

At least forty-eight hours prior to the commencement of any works in the public 
way within 1 metre of a permanent survey mark contact must be made with 
the City’s Senior Surveyor to arrange for the recovery of the mark. 

A fee must be paid to the Council for the replacement of any permanent survey 
mark removed or damaged in accordance with the City's Schedule of Fees 
and Charges (Reinstatement of Survey Box). 

170



 

(111) PROTECTION OF SURVEY INFRASTRUCTURE 

Prior to the commencement of any work on site, a statement prepared by a 
Surveyor registered under the Surveying and Spatial Information Act 2002 
must be submitted to Council verifying that a survey has been carried out in 
accordance with the Surveyor General’s Direction No. 11 – Reservation of 
Survey Infrastructure. Any Permanent Marks proposed to be or have been 
destroyed must be replaced, and a "Plan of Survey Information" must be 
lodged at the NSW Land Registry Services. 

Reason: To ensure that the survey control infrastructure and cadastral 
framework are preserved for the public benefit and in accordance with the 
Surveying and Spatial Information Act 2002. 

(112) PUBLIC DOMAIN PLAN 

(a) A detailed Public Domain Plan must be prepared by a suitably qualified 
architect, urban designer, landscape architect or engineer and must be 
lodged with Council’s Public Domain Section and be approved by 
Council prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for public 
domain work or above ground building work, whichever is later.  

(b) The Public Domain Plan must document all works required to ensure 
that the public domain complies with the City of Sydney’s Public 
Domain Manual, Sydney Streets Code and Sydney Streets Technical 
Specification, including requirements for road pavement, bus shelters 
on Cleveland and Baptist Streets, traffic measures, footway pavement, 
kerb and gutter, drainage, vehicle crossovers, pedestrian ramps, 
lighting, street trees and landscaping, signage and other public domain 
elements. If an Alignment Levels condition applies to the development, 
the Public Domain Plan submission must incorporate the approved 
Alignment Levels. If the proposed detailed design of the public domain 
requires changes to any previously approved Alignment Levels, then 
an amended Alignment Levels submission must be submitted to and 
approved by Council to reflect these changes prior to a Construction 
Certificate being issued for public domain work. 

(c) The works to the public domain are to be completed in accordance with 
the approved Public Domain Plan and Alignment Levels plans and the 
Public Domain Manual before any Occupation Certificate is issued in 
respect of the development or before the use commences, whichever is 
earlier. 

(d) A Public Domain Works Deposit will be required for the public domain 
works, in accordance with the City of Sydney’s adopted fees and 
charges and the Public Domain Manual. The Public Domain Works 
Deposit must be submitted as an unconditional bank guarantee in 
favour of Council as security for completion of the obligations under this 
consent. 

(e) Council's Public Domain section must be contacted to determine the 
guarantee amount prior to lodgement of the guarantee. The guarantee 
must be lodged with Council prior to a Construction Certificate being 
issued. 

171



 

(f) The Bank Guarantee will be retained in full until all Public Domain 
works are completed and the required certifications, warranties and 
works-as-executed documentation are submitted and approved by 
Council in writing. On satisfying the above requirements, 90% of the 
total securities will be released. The remaining 10% will be retained for 
the duration of the specified Defects Liability Period. 

(113) STORMWATER AND DRAINAGE - MAJOR DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Prior to an approval or Construction Certificate being issued for  
excavation, civil construction, drainage or building work (whichever is 
earlier), excluding approved preparatory or demolition work a detailed 
drainage engineering design, calculations and design for the 
stormwater overland flow path for the development must be: 

(i) prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic or civil engineer to show 
the proposed method of collection and disposal of stormwater; and  

(ii) prepared in accordance with the City of Sydney’s Stormwater 
Drainage Manual, technical specifications, standards and policies, 
as amended from time to time; and 

(iii) Submitted to and be approved by the City of Sydney and a copy of 
the City’s letter of approval must be provided to the Principal 
Certifying Authority.   

(b) For approval of a connection into the City of Sydney’s drainage system 
an “Application for Approval of Stormwater Drainage Connections" 
must be submitted to the City, together with an application fee in 
accordance with the City of Sydney’s adopted Schedule of Fees and 
Charges.   

(i) The application must be approved by the City of Sydney prior to 
an approval or Construction Certificate being issued for 
excavation, civil construction, drainage or building work (whichever 
is earlier), excluding approved preparatory or demolition work. 

(ii) All proposed connections to the City's underground drainage 
system require the owner to enter into a Deed of Agreement with 
the City of Sydney and obtain registration on Title of a Positive 
Covenant prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued, including 
an Interim Occupation Certificate. 

On-site Detention 

(c) The requirements of Sydney Water with regard to the on-site detention 
of stormwater must be ascertained and complied with.  

(i) Evidence of the approval by Sydney Water of the detailed design 
of the on-site detention must be submitted to and be accepted by 
the City of Sydney and a copy of the City’s letter of acceptance 
must be provided to the Principal Certifying Authority prior to a 
Construction Certificate being issued, excluding for any approved 
preparatory, demolition or excavation works. 

172



 

(ii) Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, including an Interim 
Occupation Certificate, a Positive Covenant must be registered on 
the property title for all drainage systems involving On-Site 
Detention (OSD) to ensure maintenance of the approved OSD 
system regardless of the method of connection. 

 

Stormwater Quality Assessment 

(d) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for any excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), but 
excluding approved preparatory or demolition work, a stormwater 
quality assessment must be undertaken and must be approved by City 
of Sydney and a copy of the City’s letter of approval must be provided 
to the Principal Certifying Authority. 

The stormwater quality assessment must: 

(i) Be prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer with 
experience in Water Sensitive Urban Design; 

(ii) Use modelling from an industry-standard water quality model (e.g. 
MUSIC Model or equivalent); and 

(iii) Demonstrate through reports, design plans and calculations, what 
water sensitive urban design and other drainage measures will be 
used to ensure that the development will achieve the following 
post-development pollutant loads: 

a. reduce the baseline annual pollutant load for litter and 
vegetation larger than 5mm by 90%; 

b. reduce the baseline annual pollutant load for total suspended 
solids by 85%; 

c. reduce the baseline annual pollutant load for total 
phosphorous by 65%; 

d. reduce the baseline annual pollutant load for total nitrogen 
by 45%. 

(iv) Include certification from a suitably qualified practicing 
professional that the requirements of parts d) (I), (ii) and (iii) of this 
condition have been met. 

Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, maintenance schedules 
of the proposed water sensitive urban design and drainage measures 
must be submitted to and be approved by the Principal Certifying 
Authority and a copy provided to the City of Sydney. 

Completion / Works-as-Executed Documentation 

(e) Prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued by the City of Sydney 
for stormwater drainage works:  

173



 

(i) All works for the disposal of stormwater and drainage are to be 
implemented in accordance with the approved plans, City of 
Sydney technical specifications. Standards and policies, approval 
letters and the requirements of this consent.   

(ii) A Works-As-Executed survey, prepared, signed and dated by a 
Registered Surveyor, must be submitted to and be accepted by the 
City of Sydney.  The plan must be overlaid on a copy of the 
approved stormwater drainage plans issued with the Construction 
Certificate, with variations to locations, dimensions, levels and 
storage volumes clearly marked. 

(iii) Electronic works-as-executed (as-built) details, certifications, 
warranties, inspection reports (including Closed Circuit Television 
reports) and associated documentation for the completed work 
must be prepared and certified by a suitably qualified hydraulic 
engineer, in accordance with the requirements of the City of 
Sydney’s technical specifications, the Public Domain Manual, the 
Stormwater Drainage Manual, the conditions of this consent and 
all letters of approval issued by the City of Sydney for works in the 
public domain, and must be submitted to and be accepted by the 
City of Sydney. 

(114) DEFECTS LIABILITY PERIOD – PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS 

All works to the City’s public domain, including rectification of identified defects, 
are subject to a 12 month defects liability period from the date of final 
completion. The date of final completion will be nominated by Council on the 
Certificate of Completion for public domain works. 

(115) DRAINAGE AND SERVICE PIT LIDS 

Drainage and service pit lids throughout the public domain shall be heel guard 
and bicycle safe, finish flush with the adjacent pavement to avoid trip hazards 
and be clear of obstructions for easy opening and cleaning. Pit lids shall be in 
accordance with the City of Sydney’s Sydney Streets Design Code and 
Sydney Streets Technical Specification. Details of drainage and service pit lids 
shall be submitted and approved by Council prior to a Construction Certificate 
being issued for the relevant stage of work. 

(116) FLOOD PLANNING FLOOR LEVELS FOR BUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES 

The level difference between ground floor building levels and the adjacent 
public footpath shall not exceed 1200mm. Detailed plans demonstrating 
compliance with this requirement must be submitted to and approved by 
Council as part of the Alignment Levels application prior to the issue of a 
Construction Certificate for any excavation, construction work or building work 
(whichever is earlier), excluding any approved preparatory or demolition work. 

The following performance criteria shall apply to the design of buildings and 
structures on the site: 

(a) All proposed habitable residential floor levels, ground floor levels, 
basement car park entry levels and lift wells within the site shall be set 
500mm above design 1% AEP flood levels; and 

174



 

(b) All proposed retail and commercial floor levels are to be at or above the 
1% AEP flood level.  

The relevant Flood Planning Levels are as determined by BMT Eastern 
Australia Pty Ltd in their report dated 30 August 2018. 

A design certification report prepared by a Civil Engineer stating that the 
proposed  floor levels of buildings and entrance points to below ground 
basement areas are at or above the required Flood Planning Levels, shall be 
submitted to the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of a Construction 
Certificate. 

A design certification report prepared by a Registered Surveyor/Civil Engineer 
stating that the as built floor levels of buildings and entrance points to below 
ground basement areas are at or above the required Flood Planning Levels, 
shall be submitted to the Principal Certifier prior to the issue of an Occupation 
Certificate. 

(117) PROTECTION OF STONE KERBS 

(a) The existing stone kerbs on the Cleveland/Baptist Street intersection of 
the site are to be retained and properly protected during excavation 
and construction works. 

(b) To avoid damage to stone kerbs during excavation and construction 
works for the development, temporary removal and storage of the 
stone kerbs may be approved by Council. Removed, serviceable stone 
kerbs (i.e. those that are in good condition as agreed by Council 
officers) must be re-installed in accordance with the City of Sydney’s 
standard details and specifications after the construction works have 
been completed. Note: A temporary concrete kerb will need to be 
constructed to retain the footpath until the stone kerbs can be 
reinstalled. The removed stone kerbs are to be reinstalled prior to the 
issue of an Occupation Certificate. Note: all costs associated with the 
works are to be at no cost to the Council. 

(c) Damaged kerbs are to be replaced to match existing to Council’s 
satisfaction or as otherwise advised by Council officers.  

(d) Where new crossings or temporary crossings are to be constructed to 
access the property, the affected kerb stones should be salvaged and 
reused wherever possible. 

(e) All new driveway laybacks and kerbs are to be constructed with stone 
kerbs to match existing stones or as specified by City officers. All 
unused stone kerbs are to be salvaged and returned to the City’s store. 

(f) Council approval is required before kerbs are removed. 

(g) Council approval is required prior to the cutting of existing stone kerbs 
for stormwater kerb outlets. 

175



 

(118) PUBLIC DOMAIN DAMAGE DEPOSIT  

A Public Domain Damage Deposit calculated on the basis of 8 lineal metres 
of concrete site frontage must be lodged with Council in accordance with the 
City of Sydney’s adopted Schedule of Fees and Charges. The Public Domain 
Damage Deposit must be submitted as an unconditional bank guarantee in 
favour of Council as security for repairing any damage to the public domain 
in the vicinity of the site.  

The guarantee must be lodged with Council prior to an approval for 
demolition being granted or a Construction Certificate being issued, 
whichever is earlier.  

The Bank Guarantee will be retained in full until the final Occupation 
Certificate has been issued and any rectification works to the footway and 
Public Domain are completed to Council’s satisfaction. On satisfying the 
above requirements 90% of the total securities will be released, with the 
remaining 10% to be retained for the duration of the 12 months Defect 
Liability Period.  

(119) PUBLIC DOMAIN LIGHTING 

(a) Prior to a Construction Certificate for public domain works or above 
ground building works being issued, whichever is later, a detailed 
Public Domain Lighting Plan for pedestrian and street lighting in the 
public domain must be prepared by a suitably qualified, practicing 
lighting engineer or lighting designer and must be submitted to and 
approved by Council. The Lighting Plan must be prepared in 
accordance with the City of Sydney’s Sydney Lights Design Code, 
Sydney Streets Code, Sydney Streets Technical Specification and 
Public Domain Manual and must include the following: 

(i) Vertical and horizontal illuminance plots for the public domain 
lighting design to demonstrate compliance with all relevant 
Australian Standards and to meet the lighting categories and 
requirements specified by the City; 

(ii) The location, type and category of existing and proposed lights, 
including details of luminaire specifications, required to ensure 
compliance with City policies and Australian Standards; 

(iii) Footing locations and structural details; 

(iv) Location and details of underground electrical reticulation, 
connections and conduits; 

(v) Certification by a suitably qualified, practicing lighting engineer or 
lighting designer to certify that the design complies with City 
policies and all relevant Australian Standards including AS 1158, 
AS 3000 and AS4282; 

(vi) Structural certification for footing designs by a suitably qualified, 
practicing engineer to certify that the design complies with City of 
Sydney policies and Australian Standards. 

176



 

(b) The public domain lighting works are to be completed in accordance 
with the approved plans and the City of Sydney's Public Domain 
Manual before any Occupation Certificate is issued in respect of the 
development or before the use commences, whichever is earlier. 

(120) ACCESS AND FACILITIES FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES 

The building must be designed and constructed to provide access and facilities 
for people with a disability in accordance with the Building Code of Australia. 

If, in complying with this condition, amendments to the development are 
required, the design changes must be submitted to and approved by Council 
prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. 

(121) ADAPTABLE HOUSING 

Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued, information from an 
appropriately qualified access consultant is to be submitted to the Principal 
Certifier: 

(a) Confirming that the required number of residential units are able to be 
adapted for people with a disability in accordance with the Building Code 
of Australia. 

(b) Demonstrating (in a checklist) compliance with Australian Standard 
AS4299. 

(122) ANNUAL FIRE SAFETY STATEMENT FORM 

An annual Fire Safety Statement must be given to Council and the NSW Fire 
Brigade commencing within 12 months after the date on which the initial 
Interim/Final Fire Safety Certificate is issued or the use commencing, 
whichever is earlier. 

(123) BASIX CERTIFICATE – DETAILS TO BE LODGED WITH A CC 

A copy of the required completed BASIX certificate accepted as part of this 
Development Consent with respect to the proposed residential building works, 
must be lodged with an application for a construction certificate and the items 
nominated as part of the subject BASIX certificate must be specified on the 
plans submitted with the construction certificate application. – See Note. 

IMPORTANT NOTE: 

Any requirement detailed in the accompanying BASIX Certificate, MUST be 
included as a specific notation or inclusion on any future Construction 
Certificate plans and specification in accordance with Part 3 of Schedule 1 of 
the EP&A Regulation, 2000. 

(124) PHYSICAL MODELS 

Prior to a final Occupation Certificate being issued, an accurate 1:500 scale 
model of the development as constructed must be submitted to and 
approved by Council’s Area Coordinator Planning Assessments/Area 
Planning Manager for the City Model in Town Hall House. 

177



 

Note: 

(a) The models must be constructed in accordance with the Model 
Specifications available online at 
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-
guide/application-process/model-requirements Council’s modellers 
must be consulted prior to construction of the model.  

(b) The models are to comply with all of the conditions of the Development 
Consent. 

(c) The models must be amended to reflect any further modifications to the 
approval (under Section 4.55 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act) that affect the external appearance of the building. 

(125) SUBMISSION OF ELECTRONIC CAD MODELS PRIOR TO OCCUPATION 
CERTIFICATE 

(a) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued, an accurate 1:1 
electronic CAD model of the completed development must be submitted 
to and approved by Council’s Area Coordinator Planning 
Assessments/Area Planning Manager for the electronic Visualisation 
City Model. 

(b) The data required to be submitted within the surveyed location must 
include and identify: 

(i) building design above and below ground in accordance with the 
development consent; 

(ii) all underground services and utilities, underground structures and 
basements, known archaeological structures and artefacts; 

(iii) a current two points on the site boundary clearly marked to show 
their Northing and Easting MGA (Map Grid of Australia) 
coordinates, which must be based on Established Marks 
registered in the Department of Lands and Property Information’s 
SCIMS Database with a Horizontal Position Equal to or better than 
Class C. 

The data is to be submitted as a DGN or DWG file on a Compact Disc. 
All modelling is to be referenced to the Map Grid of Australia (MGA) 
spatially located in the Initial Data Extraction file. 

(c) The electronic model must be constructed in accordance with the City’s 
3D CAD electronic model specification. The specification is available 
online at http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-
guide/application-process/model-requirements Council’s Modelling staff 
should be consulted prior to creation of the model. The data is to comply 
with all of the conditions of the Development Consent. 

  

178

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-guide/application-process/model-requirements
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-guide/application-process/model-requirements
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-guide/application-process/model-requirements
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/development/application-guide/application-process/model-requirements


 

(126) DILAPIDATION REPORT – MAJOR EXCAVATION/DEMOLITION 

(a) Subject to the receipt of permission of the affected landowner, 
dilapidation report/s, including a photographic survey of properties 2-38 
Marriott Street, Redfern (19 properties); 56-70 Boronia Street, Redfern 
(8 properties); and 40-54 Baptist Street, Redfern (8 properties) are to be 
prepared by an appropriately qualified structural engineer prior to 
commencement of demolition/excavation works. A copy of the 
dilapidation report/s together with the accompanying photographs must 
be given to the above property owners, and a copy lodged with the 
Principal Certifier and the Council prior to the issue of a Construction 
Certificate. 

 

UPON COMPLETION OF EXCAVATION/DEMOLITION 

(b) A second Dilapidation Report/s, including a photographic survey must 
then be submitted at least one month after the completion of 
demolition/excavation works. A copy of the second dilapidation report/s, 
together with the accompanying photographs must be given to the above 
property owners, and a copy lodged with the Principal Certifier and the 
Council prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate. 

Any damage to buildings, structures, lawns, trees, sheds, gardens and the like 
must be fully rectified by the applicant or owner, at no cost to the affected 
property owner. 

Note: Prior to the commencement of the building surveys, the applicant/owner 
must advise (in writing) all property owners of buildings to be surveyed of what 
the survey will entail and of the process for making a claim regarding property 
damage. A copy of this information must be submitted to Council. 

(127) DEMOLITION, EXCAVATION AND CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT 

(a) Prior to the commencement of demolition and/or excavation work the 
following details must be submitted to and be approved by the Principal 
Certifier: 

(i) Plans and elevations showing distances of the subject building 
from the location of adjoining and common/party walls, and (where 
applicable) the proposed method of facade retention. 

(ii) A Demolition Work Method Statement prepared by a licensed 
demolisher who is registered with the Work Cover Authority. (The 
demolition by induced collapse, the use of explosives or on-site 
burning is not permitted.) 

(iii) An Excavation Work Method Statement prepared by an 
appropriately qualified person. 

(iv) A Waste Management Plan for the demolition and or excavation of 
the proposed development. 

179



 

(v) Plans and elevations showing the location, construction and 
installation of temporary site fencing and any temporary structures 
used in connection with the construction of the development. 

 Note: Temporary structures, including hoardings and scaffolding, 
proposed for erection on City-owned and controlled land (footways and 
roadways), must comply with the City’s Guidelines for Hoardings and 
Scaffolding and be approved by Council under the provisions of the 
Local Government Act 1993 and the Roads Act 1993 prior to installation. 

(b) Such statements must, where applicable, be in compliance with AS2601-
2001 Demolition of Structures, the Work, Health and Safety Act 2011 
and Regulation; Council’s Policy for Waste Minimisation in New 
Developments 2005, the Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Act 
2001, and all other relevant acts and regulations and must include 
provisions for: 

(i) A Materials Handling Statement for the removal of refuse from the 
site in accordance with the Waste Avoidance and Resource 
Recovery Act 2001. 

(ii) The name and address of the company/contractor undertaking 
demolition/excavation works. 

(iii) The name and address of the company/contractor undertaking off 
site remediation/disposal of excavated materials. 

(iv) The name and address of the transport contractor. 

(v) The type and quantity of material to be removed from site. 

(vi) Location and method of waste disposal and recycling. 

(vii) Proposed truck routes, in accordance with this development 
consent. 

(viii) Procedures to be adopted for the prevention of loose or 
contaminated material, spoil, dust and litter from being deposited 
onto the public way from trucks and associated equipment and the 
proposed method of cleaning surrounding roadways from such 
deposits. (Note: With regard to demolition of buildings, dust 
emission must be minimised for the full height of the building. A 
minimum requirement is that perimeter scaffolding, combined with 
chain wire and shade cloth must be used, together with continuous 
water spray during the demolition process. Compressed air must 
not be used to blow dust from the building site). 

(ix) Measures to control noise emissions from the site. 

(x) Measures to suppress odours. 

(xi) Enclosing and making the site safe. 

(xii) Induction training for on-site personnel. 

180



 

(xiii) Written confirmation that an appropriately qualified Occupational 
Hygiene Consultant has inspected the building/site for asbestos, 
contamination and other hazardous materials, in accordance with 
the procedures acceptable to Work Cover Authority. 

(xiv) An Asbestos and Hazardous Materials Clearance Certificate by a 
person approved by the Work Cover Authority. 

(xv) Disconnection of utilities. 

(xvi) Fire Fighting. (Fire fighting services on site are to be maintained at 
all times during demolition work. Access to fire services in the 
street must not be obstructed). 

(xvii) Access and egress. (Demolition and excavation activity must not 
cause damage to or adversely affect the safe access and egress 
of the subject building or any adjacent buildings). 

(xviii) Waterproofing of any exposed surfaces of adjoining buildings. 

(xix) Control of water pollution and leachate and cleaning of vehicles 
tyres (proposals must be in accordance with the Protection of the 
Environmental Operations Act 1997). 

(xx) Working hours, in accordance with this development consent. 

(xxi) Any Work Cover Authority requirements. 

(c) The approved work method statements and a waste management plan 
as required by this condition must be implemented in full during the 
period of construction. 

(128) EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL - MORE THAN 2,500SQM 

Prior to the commencement of any works on site, including, but not limited to 
demolition, excavation or construction work, a Soil and Water Management 
Plan (SWMP) must be submitted to and be approved by the Principal Certifier. 

(a) The SWMP must identify and respond to all items for Erosion and 
Sediment Control Plans listed in the condition above, as well as: 

(i) existing site contours; 

(ii) location and diagrammatic representation of all necessary erosion 
and sediment control systems or structures used to mitigate or 
prevent pollution to stormwater; 

(iii) Location and engineering details with supporting design 
calculations for all necessary sediment basins, constructed 
wetlands, gross pollutant traps, trash racks or biofiltration swales 
(as relevant). 

  

181



 

(129) ROAD OPENING PERMIT 

A separate Road Opening Permit under Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 
must be obtained from Council prior to the commencement of any: 

(a) Excavation in or disturbance of a public way, or 

(b) Excavation on land that, if shoring were not provided, may disturb the 
surface of a public road (including footpath). 

(130) TEMPORARY GROUND ANCHORS, TEMPORARY SHORING AND 
PERMANENT BASEMENT/RETAINING WALLS AFFECTING THE ROAD 
RESERVE 

For temporary shoring including ground anchors affecting the road reserve, a 
separate application under Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 must be lodged 
with Council. 

(131) CAR PARK VENTILATION 

The car park must be ventilated in accordance with the Building Code of 
Australia and, where necessary, Australian Standard AS1668, Parts 1 and 2. 
Ventilation must be controlled by carbon monoxide monitoring sensors to 
ensure compliance with occupant health requirements. 

(132) FLOOR TO CEILING HEIGHT 

Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued, the Principal Certifier must 
ensure that all living rooms and bedrooms in sole occupancy units must have 
a minimum finished floor to ceiling height of not less than 2.7 metres. 

(133) NUMBER OF ADULTS PER ROOM 

(a) No more than two adult people shall permanently occupy any bedroom 
and no bedroom shall contain more than two beds. This excludes 
children and children’s beds, cots or bassinets. 

(b) The total number of adults residing in one unit shall not exceed twice the 
number of approved bedrooms. 

(134) REDUCTION OF NOISE FROM EXTERNAL SOURCES (RESIDENTIAL 
AND SERVICED APARTMENTS) 

(a) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued, an acoustic assessment 
report prepared by a suitably qualified acoustic consultant must be 
submitted to and approved by the Principal Certifier demonstrating 
compliance with the requirements of the Sydney DCP 2012 in relation to 
acoustic privacy. The approved drawings and specifications for 
construction are to be in accordance with the requirements of the DCP. 

(b) In the preparation of the report: 

(i) The environmental noise monitoring at the site of the proposed 
development must be undertaken for not less than 3 week days, 
or not less than 2 weeks where the site is affected by noise from 
part-time operations; 

182



 

(ii) The repeatable maximum LAeq (1 hour) for the daytime period 
(0700-2200 hours) and for the night time period (2200-0700 hours) 
is to be identified, and 

(iii) The LAeq (1 hour) noise levels within living rooms and bedrooms 
with windows and doors both open and closed must be shown. 

(c) Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued, a Compliance Certificate 
from a qualified, practicing acoustic engineer must be submitted to the 
satisfaction of the Principal Certifier, certifying compliance with the 
condition. 

(135) APPLICATION FOR HOARDINGS AND SCAFFOLDING INSTALLED ON 
OR ABOVE A PUBLIC ROAD AND OPERATING HOISTING DEVICES 
INCLUDING BUILDING MAINTENANCE UNITS OVER A PUBLIC ROAD 

(a) A separate application under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 
1993 and Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 is to be made to Council to 
erect a hoarding and/or scaffolding (temporary structures) on or above a 
public road (footway and/or roadway). 

(b) Where an approval (Permit) is granted allowing the placement of 
temporary structures on or above a public road the structures must 
comply fully with Council’s Hoarding and Scaffolding Policy; Guidelines 
for Hoardings and Scaffolding; and the conditions of approval (Permit) 
granted including: 

(i) maintaining a current and valid approval for the full duration that 
the temporary structure/s is in place; 

(ii) maintaining temporary structure/s in a structurally sound and 
stable condition for the full duration of installation (Clause 2.11.1); 

(iii) bill posters and graffiti being removed within 24 hours of their 
placement (Clause 2.11.2); 

(iv) maintaining temporary structures and the public place adjoining 
the work site in a clean and tidy condition including repainting 
and/or repair of graphics (Clauses 2.11.1, 2.11.4, 2.14.1 and 
3.9.3); 

(v) maintaining a watertight deck (Type B hoardings) to prevent liquids 
including rainwater, falling onto the footway/roadway surfaces 
(Clauses 3.9.1 and 3.9.4); 

(vi) approved site sheds on the decks of a Type B hoarding being fully 
screened from the public place (Clause 3.9.5); 

(vii) material and equipment not being placed or stored on the deck of 
Type B hoardings, unless specifically approved by Council (Clause 
3.9.4); 

(viii) providing and maintaining operational artificial lighting systems 
under Type B hoardings including at high-bay truck entry points 
(Clause 3.9.9); and 

183



 

(ix) ensuring all required signage is provided and maintained (Clauses 
3.9.3, 3.9.6, 3.9.8, 3.10.1 and 4.2). 

If it is proposed to operate a hoisting device including a building maintenance 
unit above a public road which swings, hoists material/equipment and/or slews 
any part of the device over the public road, a separate application under 
Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 and Section 138 of the Roads 
Act 1993 must be made to Council to obtain approval. 

Note: 'Building maintenance unit' means a power-operated suspended 
platform and associated equipment on a building specifically designed to 
provide permanent access to the faces of the building for maintenance (Work 
Health and Safety Regulation 2011). 

(136) INSTALLATION OF GRAPHICS AND ARTWORK ON SCAFFOLDING 
(BUILDING / CONSTRUCTION WRAPS) 

(a) Where scaffolding is to be installed to undertake the proposed 
development an approved graphic / artwork installation must be provided 
on the scaffolding system to shield the development from the public 
place and to minimise adverse visual impacts on the locality. 

(b) The graphic installation must be printed, installed and maintained in 
accordance with Council's Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding. 
Details of the proposed graphic must be submitted to and approved by 
Council prior to the installation of any scaffolding. 

(137) TEMPORARY STRUCTURES (HOARDINGS, SCAFFOLDING AND OTHER 
STRUCTURES) INSTALLED ON PUBLIC ROADS THAT REQUIRE 
DEVELOPMENT CONTENT 

The following forms of temporary structures (hoardings, scaffolding and other 
structures) proposed for installation on public roads and in connection with the 
construction of the approved development require Council approval 
(development consent): 

(a) Type B hoardings that span over roads such as laneways; 

(b) Type B hoardings that propose more than a single storey of site sheds 
installed on a hoarding deck; 

(c) Type A and Type B hoardings with or without scaffolding that project 
beyond the side boundaries of adjoining properties; 

(d) fenced work compounds at roadway/footway level; 

(e) hoardings/scaffolding associated with works on heritage-listed buildings; 
or 

(f) any other large and/or potentially high environmental impact temporary 
structures, as determined by Council. 

A separate development application must be submitted and approved by 
Council prior to the installation of any temporary structure listed above. 

184



 

(138) WORKS REQUIRING USE OF A PUBLIC PLACE 

Where construction/building works require the use of a public place including 
a road or footpath, approval under Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 is to be 
obtained from Council prior to the commencement of work. Details of any 
barricade construction, area of enclosure and period of work are required to 
be submitted to the satisfaction of Council. 

(139) EXTERNAL WALLS AND CLADDING FLAMMABILITY 

The external walls of the building including attachments must comply with the 
relevant requirements of the National Construction Code (NCC). Prior to the 
issue of a Construction Certificate and Occupation Certificate the Principal 
Certifier must: 

(a) Be satisfied that suitable evidence is provided to demonstrate that the 
products and systems proposed for use or used in the construction of 
external walls including finishes and claddings such as synthetic or 
aluminium composite panels comply with the relevant requirements of 
the NCC; and 

(b) Ensure that the documentation relied upon in the approval processes 
include an appropriate level of detail to demonstrate compliance with the 
NCC as proposed and as built. 

(140) LAND SUBDIVISION – SEPARATE DA REQUIRED 

Any proposal for land subdivision will require a separate application to Council 
to obtain development consent and the subsequent approval of the plan of 
subdivision and issue of a Subdivision Certificate under Section 6.15 of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

(141) STRATA SUBDIVISION – DEVELOPMENT CONSENT 

Any proposal for strata subdivision will require development consent and 
therefore the lodgement of a separate development application or complying 
development application and subsequent approval from Council, or an 
accredited certifier, of the Strata Plan – and issue of a Strata Certificate, under 
the Strata Schemes Development Act 2015. 

(142) TELECOMMUNICATIONS IN NEW DEVELOPMENTS 

Prior to the issue of the Subdivision or Construction Certificate in connection 
with a development, the developer (whether or not a constitutional corporation) 
is to provide evidence satisfactory to the Principal Certifier that arrangements 
have been made for: 

(a) the installation of fibre-ready facilities to all individual lots and/or 
premises in a real estate development project so as to enable fibre to be 
readily connected to any premises that is being or may be constructed 
on those lots. Demonstrate that the carrier has confirmed in writing that 
they are satisfied that the fibre ready facilities are fit for purpose; and  

185



 

(b) the provision of fixed-line telecommunications infrastructure in the fibre-
ready facilities to all individual lots and/or premises in a real estate 
development project demonstrated through an agreement with a carrier. 

Note: real estate development project has the meanings given in section 372Q 
of the Telecommunications Act. 

(143) TELECOMMUNICATIONS PROVISIONS 

(a) Appropriate space and access for ducting and cabling is to be provided 
within the plant area and to each apartment within the building within for 
a minimum of three telecommunication carriers or other providers of 
broad-band access by ground or satellite delivery. The details must be 
submitted for the approval of the Principal Certifier prior to a Construction 
Certificate being issued. 

(b) A separate DA must be submitted prior to the installation of any external 
telecommunication apparatus, or the like. 

(144) UTILITY SERVICES 

To ensure that utility authorities are advised of the development: 

(a) Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate a survey is to be carried 
out of all utility services within and adjacent to the site including relevant 
information from utility authorities and excavation if necessary, to 
determine the position and level of services. 

(b) Prior to the commencement of work the applicant is to obtain written 
approval from the utility authorities (e.g. Energy Australia, Sydney Water, 
and Telecommunications Carriers) in connection with the relocation 
and/or adjustment of the services affected by the construction of the 
underground structure. Any costs in the relocation, adjustment or 
support of services are to be the responsibility of the developer. 

(145) WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION CONTRACT 

Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued and/or commencement of the 
use, whichever is earlier, the building owner must ensure that there is a 
contract with a licensed contractor for the removal of all waste. No garbage is 
to be placed on the public way, e.g. footpaths, roadways, plazas, reserves, at 
any time. 

186



 

SCHEDULE 1C 

DURING CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO OCCUPATION/COMPLETION 

(146) OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE TO BE SUBMITTED 

An Occupation Certificate must be obtained from the Principal Certifier and a 
copy submitted to Council prior to commencement of occupation or use of the 
whole or any part of a new building, an altered portion of, or an extension to 
an existing building. 

(147) HOURS OF WORK AND NOISE 

The hours of construction and work on the development must be as follows: 

(a) All work, including building/demolition and excavation work, and 
activities in the vicinity of the site generating noise associated with 
preparation for the commencement of work (eg. loading and unloading 
of goods, transferring of tools etc) in connection with the proposed 
development must only be carried out between the hours of 7.30am and 
5.30pm on Mondays to Fridays, inclusive, and 7.30am and 3.30pm on 
Saturdays, with safety inspections being permitted at 7.00am on work 
days, and no work must be carried out on Sundays or public holidays. 

(b) All work, including demolition, excavation and building work must comply 
with the City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 
1992 and Australian Standard 2436 - 2010 Guide to Noise Control on 
Construction, Maintenance and Demolition Sites. 

(c) Notwithstanding the above, the use of a crane for special operations, 
including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and 
erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which warrant the on-
street use of mobile cranes outside of above hours can occur, subject to 
a permit being issued by Council under Section 68 of the Local 
Government Act 1993 and/or Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993. 

Note: Works may be undertaken outside of hours, where it is required to avoid 
the loss of life, damage to property, to prevent environmental harm and/or to 
avoid structural damage to the building. Written approval must be given by the 
Construction Regulation Unit, prior to works proceeding 

The City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 allows 
extended working hours subject to the approval of an application in 
accordance with the Code and under Section 4.55 of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

(148) BASIX 

All commitments listed in each relevant BASIX Certificate for the development 
must be fulfilled prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued. 

  

187



 

(149) SITE NOTICE OF PROJECTS DETAILS AND APPROVALS 

A site notice is to be prominently displayed at the boundary to each frontage 
of the site for the purposes of informing the public of appropriate project details 
and relevant approvals. The notice(s) is to satisfy all of the following 
requirements: 

(a) Minimum dimensions of the notice are to measure 841mm x 594mm (A1) 
with any text on the notice to be a minimum of 30 point type size; 

(b) The notice is to be durable and weatherproof and is to be displayed 
throughout the construction period; 

(c) A copy of the first page of the development approval, building approval 
(including any modifications to those approvals) and any civic works 
approvals is to be posted alongside the notice in weatherproof casing; 

(d) The approved hours of work, the Principal Certifier including contact 
address and certification details, the name of the site manager, the 
responsible managing company, its address and 24 hour contact phone 
number for any enquiries, including construction/noise complaint, and 
the estimated date of completion of the project are to be displayed on 
the site notice; 

(e) The notice(s) is to be mounted at eye level on the perimeter hoardings 
and is also to state that unauthorised entry to the site is not permitted. 

(f) All notices and signs must be displayed in locations as specified in the 
City’s Guidelines for Hoardings and Scaffolding. 

(150) ENCROACHMENTS – PUBLIC WAY 

No portion of the proposed structure, including gates and doors during opening 
and closing operations, shall encroach upon Council’s footpath area. 

(151) SURVEY 

All footings, walls and floor slabs adjacent to a boundary must be set out by a 
registered surveyor. On commencement of brickwork or wall construction a 
survey and report, prepared by a Registered Surveyor, must be submitted to 
the Principal Certifier indicating the position of external walls in relation to the 
boundaries of the allotment. Any encroachments by the subject building over 
adjoining boundaries or roads must be removed prior to continuation of 
building construction work. 

(152) EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL 

The Soil and Water Management Plan (SWMP) or Erosion and Sediment 
Control Plan (ESCP) which has been approved by the Principal Certifier must 
be implemented in full during the construction period. 

During the construction period; 

(a) erosion and sediment controls must be regularly inspected, repaired and 
maintained in working order sufficient for a 10 year Average Recurrence 
Interval (ARI) rainfall event; 

188



 

(b) erosion and sediment control signage available from Council must be 
completed and attached to the most prominent structure visible at all 
times when entering the site for the duration of construction; and 

(c) building operations and stockpiles must not be located on the public 
footway or any other locations which could lead to the discharge of 
materials into the stormwater system. 

(153) HAZARDOUS AND INDUSTRIAL WASTE 

Hazardous and/or industrial waste arising from the demolition/operational 
activities must be removed and/or transported in accordance with the 
requirements of the NSW Work Cover Authority pursuant to the provisions of 
the following: 

(a) Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 

(b) Protection of the Environment Operations (Waste) Regulation 2005 

(c) Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Act 2001 

(d) Work Health and Safety Act 2011 

(e) Work Health and Safety Regulation 2011. 

(154) VEHICLE CLEANSING 

Prior to the commencement of work, suitable measures are to be implemented 
to ensure that sediment and other materials are not tracked onto the roadway 
by vehicles leaving the site. It is an offence to allow, permit or cause materials 
to pollute or be placed in a position from which they may pollute waters. 

(155) COVERING OF LOADS 

All vehicles involved in the excavation and/or demolition process and departing 
the property with demolition materials, spoil or loose matter must have their 
loads fully covered before entering the public roadway. 

(156) STREET NUMBERING – MAJOR DEVELOPMENT 

Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued, street numbers and the 
building name must be clearly displayed at either end of the ground level 
frontage in accordance with the Policy on Numbering of Premises within the 
City of Sydney. If new street numbers or a change to street numbers is 
required, a separate application must be made to Council. 

(157) NON-ROAD FRONTAGE SHOP NUMBERING - EASE OF IDENTIFICATION 

Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued, shop numbers must be clearly 
visible at the front of the premises, for ease of identification. Numbering must 
be maintained so that identification can be made at all times. 

  

189



 

(158) SYDNEY WATER CERTIFICATE 

A Section 73 Compliance Certificate under the Sydney Water Act 1994 must 
be obtained from Sydney Water Corporation. 

Application must be made through an authorised Water Servicing Coordinator. 
Please refer to the Building Developing and Plumbing section on the web site 
www.sydneywater.com.au then refer to “Water Servicing Coordinator” under 
“Developing Your Land” or telephone 13 20 92 for assistance. 

Following application a “Notice of Requirements” will advise of water and 
sewer infrastructure to be built and charges to be paid. Please make early 
contact with the Coordinator, since building of water/sewer infrastructure can 
be time consuming and may impact on other services and building, driveway 
or landscape design. 

The Section 73 Certificate must be submitted to Council or the Principal 
Certifier prior to an Occupation Certificate or subdivision/strata certificate 
being issued. 

(159) ACCESS DRIVEWAYS TO BE CONSTRUCTED 

Approved driveways are to be constructed for all vehicular access to the 
construction site in accordance with the requirements of Council's “Driveway 
Specifications” to the satisfaction of Council. 

(160) LOADING AND UNLOADING DURING CONSTRUCTION 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) All loading and unloading associated with construction activity must be 
accommodated on site, where possible. 

(b) If, it is not feasible for loading and unloading to take place on site, a 
Works Zone on the street may be considered by Council. 

(c) A Works Zone may be required if loading and unloading is not possible 
on site. If a Works Zone is warranted an application must be made to 
Council at least 8 weeks prior to commencement of work on the site. An 
approval for a Works Zone may be given for a specific period and certain 
hours of the days to meet the particular need for the site for such facilities 
at various stages of construction. The approval will be reviewed 
periodically for any adjustment necessitated by the progress of the 
construction activities. 

(d) Where hoisting activity over the public place is proposed to be 
undertaken including hoisting from a Works Zone, a separate approval 
under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 must be obtained. 

  

190



 

(161) NO OBSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WAY 

The public way must not be obstructed by any materials, vehicles, refuse, skips 
or the like, under any circumstances. Non-compliance with this requirement 
will result in the issue of a notice by Council to stop all work on site. 

(162) USE OF MOBILE CRANES 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) Mobile cranes operating from the road must not be used as a method of 
demolishing or constructing a building. 

(b) For special operations including the delivery of materials, hoisting of 
plant and equipment and erection and dismantling of on site tower 
cranes which warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes, permits must 
be obtained from Council for the use of a mobile crane. The permits must 
be obtained 48 hours beforehand for partial road closures which, in the 
opinion of Council will create minimal traffic disruptions and 4 weeks 
beforehand in the case of full road closures and partial road closures 
which, in the opinion of Council, will create significant traffic disruptions. 

(c) The use of a crane for special operations, including the delivery of 
materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and erection and dismantling 
of on site tower cranes which warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes 
outside of approved hours of construction can occur, subject to a permit 
being issued by Council under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 
1993 and/or Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993. 

191



 

SCHEDULE 1D 

(163) AUSGRID CONDITIONS 

(a) Underground Cables 

There are existing underground electricity network assets in Cleveland 
St and Baptist St. Special care should also be taken to ensure that 
driveways and any other construction activities within the footpath area 
do not interfere with the existing cables in the footpath. Ausgrid cannot 
guarantee the depth of cables due to possible changes in ground levels 
from previous activities after the cables were installed. Hence it is 
recommended that the developer locate and record the depth of all 
known underground services prior to any excavation in the area. 

Should ground anchors be required in the vicinity of the underground 
cables, the anchors must not be installed within 300mm of any cable, 
and the anchors must not pass over the top of any cable. Safework 
Australia – Excavation Code of Practice, and Ausgrid’s Network 
Standard NS156 outlines the minimum requirements for working around 
Ausgrid’s underground cables. 

(b) Substation 

There are existing electricity substation assets within proposed 
development. 

The substation ventilation openings, including substation duct openings 
and louvered panels, must be separated from building air intake and 
exhaust openings, natural ventilation openings and boundaries of 
adjacent allotments, by separation distances which meet the 
requirements of all relevant authorities, building regulations, BCA and 
Australian Standards including AS 1668.2: The use of ventilation and air-
conditioning in buildings - Mechanical ventilation in buildings. 

In addition to above, Ausgrid requires the substation ventilation 
openings, including duct openings and louvered panels, to be separated 
from building ventilation system air intake and exhaust openings, 
including those on buildings on adjacent allotments, by not less than 6 
metres. 

Any portion of a building other than a BCA class 10a structure 
constructed from non-combustible materials, which is not sheltered by a 
non-ignitable blast-resisting barrier and is within 3 metres in any direction 
from the housing of a kiosk substation, is required to have a Fire 
Resistance Level (FRL) of not less than 120/120/120. Openable or fixed 
windows or glass blockwork or similar, irrespective of their fire rating, are 
not permitted within 3 metres in any direction from the housing of a kiosk 
substation, unless they are sheltered by a non- ignitable blast resisting 
barrier. 

The development must comply with both the Reference Levels and the 
precautionary requirements of the ICNIRP Guidelines for Limiting 
Exposure to Time-varying Electric and Magnetic Fields (1 HZ – 100 kHZ) 
(ICNIRP 2010). 

192



 

For further details on fire segregation requirements refer to Ausgrid's 
Network Standard 141. 

Existing Ausgrid easements, leases and/or right of ways must be 
maintained at all times to ensure 24 hour access. No temporary or 
permanent alterations to this property tenure can occur without written 
approval from Ausgrid. 

For further details refer to Ausgrid’s Network Standard 143. 

(164) ROADS AND MARITIME SERVICES CONDITIONS 

(a) Roads and Maritime raises no objection on property grounds provided 
all buildings and structures (other than pedestrian footpath awnings), 
together with any improvements integral to the future use of the site are 
wholly within the freehold property (unlimited in height or depth), along 
the Cleveland Street boundary. 

(b) The developer is to submit design drawings and documents relating to 
the excavation of the site and support structures to Roads and Maritime 
for assessment, in accordance with Technical Direction GTD2012/001. 

(c) The developer is to submit all documentation at least six (6) weeks 
prior to commencement of construction and is to meet the full cost of 
the assessment by Roads and Maritime. Details should be forwarded 
to: suppiah.thillai@rms.nsw.gov.au. 

(d) If it is necessary to excavate below the level of the base of the footings 
of the adjoining roadways, the person acting on the consent shall 
ensure that the owner/s of the roadway is/are given at least seven (7) 
day notice of the intention to excavate below the base of the footings. 
The notice is to include complete details of the work. 

(e) Should the post development storm water discharge from the subject 
site into the Roads and Maritime system exceed the pre-development 
discharge, detailed design plans and hydraulic calculations of any 
changes are to be submitted to Roads and Maritime for approval, prior 
to the commencement of works on site. Details should be submitted to 
Suppiah Thillai: suppiah.thillai@rms.nsw.gov.au 

(f) A plan checking fee will be payable and a performance bond may be 
required before Roads and Maritime approval is issued. 

(g) All works/signposting associated with the subject development 
(including public utility adjustment/relocation works) shall be at no cost 
to Roads and Maritime. 

(h) The northern section of Baptist Lane (north of Boronia Street) should 
become a shared zone to fit into the existing shared zone being 
proposed for the proposed development. Roads and Maritime is 
responsible for the setting and signposting of safe and appropriate 
speed limits in accordance with the NSW Speed Zoning Guidelines. 

193

mailto:suppiah.thillai@rms.nsw.gov.au


 

(i) Vegetation and proposed landscaping/fencing must not hinder driver 
sight lines on Cleveland Street to other road users and critical road 
infrastructure. 

(j) A Construction Traffic Management detailing construction vehicle 
routes, number of trucks, hours of operation, access arrangements and 
traffic control should be submitted to Council prior to the issue of a 
Construction Certificate. 

(k) All demolition and construction vehicles are to be contained wholly 
within the site (or on local road) and vehicles must enter the site before 
stopping. 

(l) A Road Occupancy Licence should be obtained from Transport 
Management Centre for any works that may impact on traffic flows on 
Cleveland Street during construction activities. 

(m) A construction zone will not be permitted on Cleveland Street. 

(165) SYDNEY WATER CONDITIONS 

(a) Sydney Water Servicing 

A Section 73 Compliance Certificate under the Sydney Water Act 1994 
must be obtained from Sydney Water. 

The proponent is advised to make an early application for the certificate, 
as there may be water and wastewater pipes to be built that can take 
some time. This can also impact on other services and buildings, 
driveways or landscape designs. 

Applications must be made through an authorised Water Servicing 
Coordinator. For help either visit www.sydneywater.com.au > Plumbing, 
building and developing > Developing > Land development or telephone 
13 20 92. 

(b) Building Plan Approval 

The approved plans must be submitted to the Sydney Water Tap in™ 
online service to determine whether the development will affect any 
Sydney Water sewer or water main, stormwater drains and/or easement, 
and if further requirements need to be met. 

The Sydney Water Tap in™ online self-service replaces our Quick 
Check Agents as of 30 November 2015. 

The Tap in™ service provides 24/7 access to a range of services, 
including: 

• building plan approvals 

• connection and disconnection approvals 

• diagrams 

• trade waste approvals 

194



 

• pressure information 

• water meter installations 

• pressure boosting and pump approvals 

• changes to an existing service or asset, e.g. relocating or moving 
an asset. 

Sydney Water’s Tap in™ online service is available at: 
https://www.sydneywater.com.au/SW/plumbing-building-
developing/building/sydney-water-tap- in/index.htm 

(c) Requirements For Business Customers For Commercial And Industrial 
Property Developments. Trade Wastewater Requirements 

If this development is going to generate trade wastewater, the property 
owner must submit an application requesting permission to discharge 
trade wastewater to Sydney Water’s sewerage system. You must obtain 
Sydney Water approval for this permit before any business activities can 
commence. It is illegal to discharge Trade Wastewater into the Sydney 
Water sewerage system without permission. 

The permit application should be emailed to Sydney Water’s Business 
Customer Services at businesscustomers@sydneywater.com.au 

A Boundary Trap is required for all developments that discharge trade 
wastewater where arrestors and special units are installed for trade 
wastewater pre-treatment. 

If the property development is for Industrial operations, the wastewater 
may discharge into a sewerage area that is subject to wastewater reuse. 
Find out from Business Customer Services if this is applicable to your 
development. 

(d) Backflow Prevention Requirements 

Backflow is when there is unintentional flow of water in the wrong 
direction from a potentially polluted source into the drinking water supply. 

All properties connected to Sydney Water's supply must install a testable 
Backflow Prevention Containment Device appropriate to the property's 
hazard rating. Property with a high or medium hazard rating must have 
the backflow prevention containment device tested annually. Properties 
identified as having a low hazard rating must install a non-testable 
device, as a minimum. 

Separate hydrant and sprinkler fire services on non-residential 
properties, require the installation of a testable double check detector 
assembly. The device is to be located at the boundary of the property. 

Before you install a backflow prevention device: 

(i) Get your hydraulic consultant or plumber to check the available 
water pressure versus the property’s required pressure and flow 
requirements. 

195

https://www.sydneywater.com.au/SW/plumbing-building-developing/building/sydney-water-tap-%20in/index.htm
https://www.sydneywater.com.au/SW/plumbing-building-developing/building/sydney-water-tap-%20in/index.htm


 

(ii) Conduct a site assessment to confirm the hazard rating of the 
property and its services. Contact PIAS at NSW Fair Trading on 
1300 889 099. 

For installation you will need to engage a licensed plumber with backflow 
accreditation who can be found on the Sydney Water website: 
http://www.sydneywater.com.au/Plumbing/BackflowPrevention/ 

(e) Water Efficiency Recommendations 

Water is our most precious resource and every customer can play a role 
in its conservation. By working together with Sydney Water, business 
customers are able to reduce their water consumption. This will help your 
business save money, improve productivity and protect the environment. 

Some water efficiency measures that can be easily implemented in your 
business are: 

• Install water efficiency fixtures to help increase your water 
efficiency, refer to WELS (Water Efficiency Labelling and 
Standards (WELS) Scheme, http://www.waterrating.gov.au/ 

• Consider installing rainwater tanks to capture rainwater runoff, 
and reusing it, where cost-effective. Refer to 
http://www.sydneywater.com.au/Water4Life/InYourBusiness/RWT
Calculator.cfm 

• Install water-monitoring devices on your meter to identify water 
usage patterns and leaks. 

• Develop a water efficiency plan for your business. 

It is cheaper to install water efficiency appliances while you are 
developing than retrofitting them later. 

  

196



 

(f) Contingency Plan Recommendations 

Under Sydney Water's customer contract Sydney Water aims to provide 
Business Customers with a continuous supply of clean water at a 
minimum pressure of 15meters head at the main tap. This is equivalent 
to 146.8kpa or 21.29psi to meet reasonable business usage needs. 

Sometimes Sydney Water may need to interrupt, postpone or limit the 
supply of water services to your property for maintenance or other 
reasons. These interruptions can be planned or unplanned. 

Water supply is critical to some businesses and Sydney Water will treat 
vulnerable customers, such as hospitals, as a high priority. 

Have you thought about a contingency plan for your business? Your 
Business Customer Representative will help you to develop a plan that 
is tailored to your business and minimises productivity losses in the event 
of a water service disruption. 

For further information please visit the Sydney Water website at: 
http://www.sydneywater.com.au/OurSystemsandOperations/TradeWast
e/ or contact Business Customer Services on 1300 985 227 or 
businesscustomers@sydneywater.com.au. 

197



 

SCHEDULE 2 
 
PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS 

The prescribed conditions in accordance with Division 8A of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 apply: 

Clause 98  Compliance with Building Code of Australia and insurance requirements 
under the Home Building Act 1989 

Clause 98A Erection of signs 

Clause 98B Notification of Home Building Act 1989 requirements 

Clause 98C Conditions relating to entertainment venues 

Clause 98D Conditions relating to maximum capacity signage 

Clause 98E Conditions relating to shoring and adequacy of adjoining property 

Refer to the NSW State legislation for full text of the clauses under Division 8A of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. This can be accessed at: 
http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au 

 

198



 

SCHEDULE 3 

TERMS OF APPROVAL 

The Terms of Approval for Integrated Development as advised by Water NSW are as 
follows: 

(166) A Water Supply Work Approval from WaterNSW must be obtained prior to 
commencing dewatering activity on the proposed site. Please complete an 
Application for approval for water supply works, and/or water use. 

(167) An application for a Water Supply Works Approval will only be accepted upon 
receipt of supporting documentation, and payment of the applicable fee (see 
Application fees for New or amended Works and/or Use Approvals). The 
information required for the processing of the water supply work application 
may include preparation of a dewatering management plan. Please refer to 
checklist attached. 

(168) If approved, the Approval will be issued for a period of up to 24 months to cover 
the dewatering requirements during the construction phase. It will include 
conditions to ensure that impacts are acceptable and that adequate monitoring 
and reporting procedures are carried out. The Approval will be issued subject 
to the proponent meeting requirements of other agencies and consent 
authorities. For example, an authorisation by either Sydney Water or the local 
Council, depending where the water will be discharged. If contaminants are 
likely, or are found to be present in groundwater, and are being discharged to 
stormwater, including high salinities, a discharge licence under the Protection 
of the Environment Operations Act 1997 (NSW) may also be required. 

(169) WaterNSW prefers “tanking” (ie. total water proofing below the seasonal high 
water table) of basement excavations, and avoids the ongoing extraction of 
groundwater after the initial construction phase. It is also advised to adopt 
measures to facilitate movement of groundwater post construction (eg. a 
drainage blanket behind the water-proof membrane). 

(170) If the basement is not “tanked”, the proponent will require a Water Access 
Licence (WAL) and need to acquire groundwater entitlements equivalent to the 
yearly ongoing take of groundwater. Please note: Acquiring groundwater 
entitlements could be difficult, and may cause delay in project completion. If a 
WAL is required, please complete an Application for a new water access 
licence with a zero share component. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

199

http://www.water.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/547042/form_licence_wmaf011_new_wal_zero_share.pdf
http://www.water.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/547042/form_licence_wmaf011_new_wal_zero_share.pdf
http://www.water.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/547042/form_licence_wmaf011_new_wal_zero_share.pdf


Attachment B1 

Selected Architectural Drawings 

 

  

 

200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



Attachment B2 

Selected Architectural Drawings 

 

  

 

221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



Attachment C 

Clause 4.6 Variation Request –  
Height of Buildings 

 

  

 

239



  

 Amended Clause 4.6 Variation Request 

 

2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, 

Redfern  

 

Height of buildings development standard 

 

Submitted to City of Sydney  

On behalf of Surry Hills Project Pty Ltd 

 

11 October 2019 | 218365 

  

 

 

 

240



 

 

 

 

CONTACT  

James Harrison Director jharrison@ethosurban.com  9956 6962 

Reproduction of this document or any part thereof is not permitted without prior written permission of Ethos Urban Pty Ltd. 

  

  

    

Reproduction of this document or any part thereof is not permitted without written permission of Ethos Urban Pty Ltd. Ethos Urban operates under a Quality Management System. This 
report has been prepared and reviewed in accordance with that system.  If the report is not signed, it is a preliminary draft. 

VERSION NO. 1 DATE OF ISSUE:   

A 10 SEPT 2018   

B (AMENDED) 20 SEPT 2019   

C (AMENDED) 11 OCT 2019   

 

 Ethos Urban Pty Ltd 

ABN 13 615 087 931. 
www.ethosurban.com 

173 Sussex Street, Sydney  
NSW 2000  t 61 2 9956 6952 

 

241



Contents 

Ethos Urban   
 

 

242



Contents 

Ethos Urban   
 

243



Contents 

Ethos Urban   
 

 

1.0 Introduction 2 

2.0 Background 4 

3.0 Development Standard to be Varied 5 
3.1 Height of Buildings Development Standard 5 
3.2 Extent and Nature of the Variation 7 

4.0 Justification for Contravention of the 

Development Standard 8 
4.1 Clause 4.6(3)(a): Compliance with the development 

standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the 

circumstances of the case 9 
4.2 Clause 4.6(3)(b): Environmental planning grounds 

to justify contravening the development standard 11 
4.3 Clause 4.6(4)(a)(ii): In the public interest because it 

is consistent with the objectives of the zone and 

development standard 13 
4.4 Other Matters for Consideration 15 

5.0 Conclusion 15 
 

 

 

Figures 

Figure 1 Aerial Map 4 
Figure 2 Proposed Building Layout 5 
Figure 3 Excerpt of Height of Buildings Map 6 
Figure 4 Through Site link long Section 7 
Figure 5 Sydney LEP Podium level height non-compliances 7 
Figure 6  Building C and G DCP envelope (left) and Building 

C and G proposed (right) - 9:00am 12 
Figure 7   Building C and G DCP envelope (left) and Building 

C and G proposed (right) - 10:00am 13 
 

 

Tables 

Table 1 - Proposed heights across the site 8 
Table 2 - Sydney LEP Podium Height Control 8 
 

 

 

 

244



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern  | Clause 4.6 Variation Request – Height of Buildings | 11 October 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  218365  2 
 

1.0 Introduction  

This clause 4.6 variation request has been prepared by Ethos Urban on behalf of Surry Hills Project Pty Ltd. It is 

submitted to the City of Sydney Council (the Council) in support of a development application (DA) for the mixed-

use development at 2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern (the site). 

 

Clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP) enables Council to grant consent for 

development even though the development contravenes a development standard. The clause aims to provide an 

appropriate degree of flexibility in applying certain development standards to achieve better outcomes for and from 

development. 

 

This clause 4.6 variation request relates to the height of buildings development standard under clause 4.3 of the 

Sydney LEP and should be read in conjunction with the Statement of Environmental Effects (SEE) prepared by 

Ethos Urban dated September 2018 including supporting documentation.  

 

The site is subject to seven different height standards and through the design excellence process has achieved a 

10% variation to those standards. The development complies with all the height standards with the exception of part 

of the development, being the southern portion of Building C.  

 

This clause 4.6 variation request deals with those minor variations and demonstrates that compliance with the 

height of buildings development standard is unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances of the case and 

that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravention of the standard. 

 

This clause 4.6 variation request demonstrates that: 

 The proposed development achieves the objectives of the height of buildings development standard because: 

− the height of development is appropriate to the condition of the site and its context; 

− the height of the development appropriately transitions to the heritage item located on the site and buildings 

in the adjacent heritage conservation area; 

− the development does not result in any public or private view loss. 

 The objectives of the height development standard would be thwarted if compliance was required as the 

proposed building height enables efficient use of the land commensurate to the density envisaged for the site. 

The resulting height variation is a result of distributing the available GFA to the upper levels of the building 

which offers an improved overall planning outcome for the site. 

 There are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify the contravention of the height development 

standard including the following: 

− The proposed development is of a suitable height given the site’s unique setting and the specific design 

response which results in minimal visual impact when viewed from the public domain; 

− The proposed development will not adversely impact on the understanding of the heritage item located on 

the site nor the adjacent conservation area or nearby heritage items;  

− The proposed development is within the substantive maximum height of buildings development standard for 

the site, demonstrating that the development as a whole is of a desirable scale for the site;  

− The proposed development results in a superior planning outcome for the site and provides enhanced 

amenity to the public through the site link and residential apartments within the development; and 

− The proposed development appropriately manages the site’s sensitivities and constraints through 

innovative urban design and architectural solutions. 

 The proposed development is consistent with the objectives of the B2 Local Centre zone as it: 

− Enables a mix of retail and business uses to be accommodated on the site that will directly service the 

needs of people who live in, work in and visit the local area; 

245



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern  | Clause 4.6 Variation Request – Height of Buildings | 11 October 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  218365  3 
 

− Provides a mix of commercial premises including retail and office premises which will provide direct and 

indirect employment opportunities;  

− Provides employment generating uses in an accessible location;  

− Provides bicycle storage facilities to encourage cycling; 

− Provides a through site link to optimise accessibility and walkability; and 

− Includes appropriate residential uses so as to support the vitality of the locality. 

Therefore, the DA may be approved with the variations as proposed in accordance with the flexibility allowed under 

clause 4.6 of the Sydney LEP. 

  

246



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern  | Clause 4.6 Variation Request – Height of Buildings | 11 October 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  218365  4 
 

2.0 Background 

The site’s setting in relation to surrounding development is illustrated in Figure 1. 

 

 

Figure 1 Aerial Map 

Source:  Nearmaps and Ethos Urban 

 

The site has been the subject of a recent Planning Proposal (PP_2017_SYDNE_005_00) which was gazetted on 24 

August 2018.  

 

The Planning Proposal was supported by a site-specific development control plan (DCP) prepared in accordance 

with clause 7.20 of the Sydney LEP. The site specific DCP can be found under Section 6.2.8 of the Sydney 

Development Control Plan 2012 (Sydney DCP). 

 

A competitive design alternatives process was conducted for the project in May 2018. This process was conducted 

in accordance with the endorsed Design Excellence Strategy for the site, the City of Sydney Competitive Design 

Policy 2013 and the Competitive Design Alternative Brief, dated March 2018.   The competitive process included 

four (4) invited competitors, being partnerships of architectural firms, to prepare design alternatives in response to 

the Brief. 

 

The Selection Panel was of the opinion that the SJB, Architect Prineas and Aspect Studio scheme was capable of 

achieving design excellence and was selected as the winner of the design alternatives process (see Section 1.2.2 of 

the Statement of Environmental Effects). 

 

The SJB, Architect Prineas and Aspect Studio submission presented a modified building massing to that envisaged 

under the DCP and the Brief. The alternative envelope projects into the central open space area to create three 

distinct internal courtyard areas instead of a single central open space as shown in the DCP. The redistribution of 

building mass also enabled a lower frontage to Marriott Street which better suited the scale of the existing terraces. 

The Selection Panel noted that while the scheme departs from the DCP envelopes, it displays the most merit and is 

worthy of Council’s support. 

247



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern  | Clause 4.6 Variation Request – Height of Buildings | 11 October 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  218365  5 
 

The proposed development comprises two distinct components – a vibrant and active base comprising 

predominately public aspects including retail and communal open space and a residential/commercial upper.  

 

The proposed built form consists of seven (7) new individual building elements (identified as Building A to Building 

G). Buildings A to F are positioned with vertical elements, fronting Baptist and Marriot Streets. Building elements are 

also positioned more centrally within the site, creating distinct open spaces rather than a single, large communal 

area that lacks identity.  

 

Upper portions of each building element are staggered and provide varied heights to maximise roof terraces, rooftop 

gardens as well as reducing perceived height, bulk and scale.  

 

The remaining building, Building G, is positioned adjacent to the Former Bank of NSW heritage item (Building H), 

orientated east west fronting Cleveland Street. Building G will reflect a single mass yet will be articulated with shop 

fronts and be separated from the remainder of the site by the proposed pedestrian through site link which will 

connect Marriott Street and Baptist Street, refer to Figure 2.  

 

 

Figure 2 Proposed Building Layout 

Source: SJB  

3.0 Development Standard to be Varied 

3.1 Height of Buildings Development Standard 

This clause 4.6 variation request seeks to justify contravention of the height of buildings development standard set 

out in clause 4.3 of the Sydney LEP. Clause 4.3 provides that: 

 

(1)  The objectives of this clause are as follows: 

(a)  to ensure the height of development is appropriate to the condition of the site and its 

context, 

(b)  to ensure appropriate height transitions between new development and heritage items 

and buildings in heritage conservation areas or special character areas, 

(c)  to promote the sharing of views, 

(d)  to ensure appropriate height transitions from Central Sydney and Green Square Town 

Centre to adjoining areas, 

(e)  in respect of Green Square: 

(i)  to ensure the amenity of the public domain by restricting taller buildings to only part of 

a site, and 

(ii)  to ensure the built form contributes to the physical definition of the street network and 

public spaces. 

248



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern  | Clause 4.6 Variation Request – Height of Buildings | 11 October 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  218365  6 
 

(2)  The height of a building on any land is not to exceed the maximum height shown for the 

land on the Height of Buildings Map. 

 

Clause 6.39 sub clause (5) of the Sydney LEP provides that “development consent must not be granted to 

development that results in a building on the land identified as “Area 9” on the Height of Buildings Map being higher 

than an incline plane extending from RL 34.5 along the land’s western boundary to RL 35.65 along the land’s 

eastern boundary”. 

 

An excerpt of the Height of Buildings Map, identifying the maximum building height applying to the site is shown in 

Figure 3 and the height plane relevant to Area 9 in Figure 4. The maximum building height applying to the site 

ranges between 9m and 25m without design excellence. 

 

Clause 6.21(7) of Sydney LEP makes provision for the project to be eligible for an additional 10% in building height 

above that shown on the height of buildings map. As the project has completed a design alternatives process in 

accordance with the Competitive Design Policy 2013 and the winning scheme is considered to exhibit design 

excellence, the maximum permissible building height applied to the project ranges from 9.9m-27.5m above existing 

ground level. 

 

 
 

Figure 3 Excerpt of Height of Buildings Map  

Source:  Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
 
 
 

249



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern  | Clause 4.6 Variation Request – Height of Buildings | 11 October 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  218365  7 
 

 

Figure 4 Through Site link long Section 

Source: DCP 2012  

3.2 Extent and Nature of the Variation 

The maximum building 9m (9.9m with the design excellence) height zone is shown in blue in Figure 5. This 

maximum height does not apply evenly across the entirety of the roof area of all buildings. The area of the built form 

which exceeds the maximum building height limit is shown in green in Table 1 and Table 2.  

 

  

Figure 5 Sydney LEP Podium level height non-compliances 

Source: SJB 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

250



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern  | Clause 4.6 Variation Request – Height of Buildings | 11 October 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  218365  8 
 

Table 1 - Proposed heights across the site 

Building Street Wall 

Height 

Proposed 

Street Wall 

height 

Variation Height Proposed 

Overall 

Height 

Variation 

A 9.9m 10.1m 2% 27.5m 26.6m 0% 

B 9.9m 8.5m 0% 27.5m 26.2m 0% 

C (north) 9.9m 10.3m 4% 27.5m 27.5m 0% 

C (south) 9.9m 10.3m 4% 25.3m 25.3m 0% 

D 9.9m 8.2m 0% 19.8m 18.7m 0% 

E 9.9m 9.4m 0% 19.8m 18.9m 0% 

F 9.9m 11.2m 13% 19.8m 18.4m 0% 

G 9.9m 23.7m 139% 24.2m 23.7m 0% 

H Not relevant Not relevant Not relevant 12m 10.8m 0% 

Table 2 - Sydney LEP Podium Height Control 

Sydney LEP Podium Height Control 

View from North West Corner View from South West Corner 

  

4.0 Justification for Contravention of the Development Standard 

Clause 4.6(3) of the Sydney LEP provides that: 

4.6  Exceptions to development standards 

(3)  Development consent must not be granted for development that contravenes a development standard 

unless the consent authority has considered a written request from the applicant that seeks to justify the 

contravention of the development standard by demonstrating: 

(a)  that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the 

circumstances of the case, and 

(b)  that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the development 

standard. 

Further, clause 4.6(4)(a) of the Sydney LEP provides that: 

(4)  Development consent must not be granted for development that contravenes a development standard 

unless: 

(a)  the consent authority is satisfied that: 

251



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern  | Clause 4.6 Variation Request – Height of Buildings | 11 October 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  218365  9 
 

(i)  the applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters required to be 

demonstrated by subclause (3), and 

(ii)  the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent with the 

objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development within the zone in 

which the development is proposed to be carried out, and 

(b)  the concurrence of the Secretary has been obtained. 

Assistance on the approach to justifying a contravention to a development standard is also to be taken from the 

applicable decisions of the NSW Land and Environment Court and the NSW Court of Appeal including: 

1. Bates Smart Pty Ltd v Council of the City of Sydney [2014] NSWLEC 1001; 

2. Wehbe v Pittwater Council [2007] NSWLEC 827;  

3. Four2Five Pty Ltd v Ashfield Council [2015] NSWLEC 1009; and  

4. Initial Action Pty Ltd v Woollahra Municipal Council [2018] NSWLEC 118.  

The relevant matters contained in clause 4.6 of the Sydney LEP, with respect to the height of buildings development 

standard, are each addressed below, including with regard to the above decisions of the Court. 

4.1 Clause 4.6(3)(a): Compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 

in the circumstances of the case 

In Wehbe, Preston CJ of the Land and Environment Court identified five ways in which it could be shown that a 

variation to a development standard was unreasonable or unnecessary. However, His Honour in that case (and 

subsequently in Initial Action) confirmed that the types of ways that it could be shown that compliance with a 

development standard was unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of the case was not limited to the 

five ways identified in Wehbe.  

 

While Wehbe related to objections made pursuant to State Environmental Planning Policy No. 1 – Development 

Standards (SEPP 1), the analysis is applicable to variations made under clause 4.6 where subclause 4.6(3)(a) uses 

the same language as clause 6 of SEPP 1 (see Four2Five at [61] and [62]). 

 

As the language used in subclause 4.6(3)(a) of the Sydney LEP is the same as the language used in clause 6 of 

SEPP 1, the principles contained in Wehbe are applicable to this clause 4.6 variation request. 

 

The five methods outlined in Wehbe include: 

 The objectives of the standard are achieved notwithstanding non-compliance with the standard (First Method). 

 The underlying objective or purpose of the standard is not relevant to the development and therefore 

compliance is unnecessary (Second Method). 

 The underlying object or purpose would be defeated or thwarted if compliance was required and therefore 

compliance is unreasonable (Third Method). 

 The development standard has been virtually abandoned or destroyed by the Council's own actions in granting 

consents departing from the standard and hence compliance with the standard is unnecessary and 

unreasonable (Fourth Method). 

 The zoning of the particular land is unreasonable or inappropriate so that a development standard appropriate 

for that zoning is also unreasonable and unnecessary as it applies to the land and compliance with the standard 

would be unreasonable or unnecessary.  That is, the particular parcel of land should not have been included in 

the particular zone (Fifth Method). 

 

Of particular relevance in this matter, in establishing that compliance with the height development standard is 

unreasonable or unnecessary is the First Method and Third Method. 

4.1.1 The underlying objectives or purposes of the development standard 

The objectives of the building height development standard contained in clause 4.3 of the Sydney LEP are: 

252



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern  | Clause 4.6 Variation Request – Height of Buildings | 11 October 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  218365  10 
 

(a)  to ensure the height of development is appropriate to the condition of the site and its 

context, 

(b)  to ensure appropriate height transitions between new development and heritage items and 

buildings in heritage conservation areas or special character areas, 

(c)  to promote the sharing of views, 

(d)  to ensure appropriate height transitions from Central Sydney and Green Square Town 

Centre to adjoining areas, 

(e)  in respect of Green Square: 

(i)  to ensure the amenity of the public domain by restricting taller buildings to only part of a 

site, and 

(ii)  to ensure the built form contributes to the physical definition of the street network and 

public spaces. 

4.1.2 The objectives of the standard are achieved notwithstanding non-compliance with the standard 

Objective (a): to ensure the height of development is appropriate to the condition of the site and its context 

The proposed development, whilst exceeding the maximum building street wall height (9m or 9.9m with design 

excellence), complies with the maximum building heights of between 12m and 25m (plus 10% for design 

excellence) that apply to the significant majority of the site which ensures that the development is of an appropriate 

scale to the condition of the site and its context within the Cleveland Street locality.  

 

The development has been designed to respond to the unique setting of the immediate surroundings. The variations 

to the 9m (9.9m with design excellence) maximum street wall height are minor and result from the design response 

which articulates the façade with some elements pushing forward and others pulled back. This is considered to be a 

positive feature (and a superior planning outcome) and was supported in the Design Excellence process.  

 

Strict compliance with the maximum street wall height development standard would result in less articulation and a 

weaker design response. Notwithstanding the variation to the maximum street wall height development standard, 

the proposed development achieves the desired character of the Cleveland Street Precinct.   

 

In addition, the height variation does not result in any adverse impacts to the Precinct for the following reasons:  

 All proposed buildings align to their respective street frontage. Terrace housing along Marriott Street and retail 

outlets along Marriott and Baptist Street will provide street activation; 

 A range of building heights across the site are provided. Heights along Marriott Street are proposed to be lower 

than those along Baptist Street to ensure greater sympathy and retain amenity for the existing low scale 

residential terraces to the west; and 

 Deliberate design development and materiality responds to and complements the existing heritage item on the 

site (as discussed further below in relation to objective (b)).  

 

It is therefore considered that the proposed building height is appropriate to the condition of the site and its context.  

Objective (b): to ensure height transitions between new development and heritage items and buildings in 

heritage conservation areas or special character areas 

 Deliberate design development and materiality responds to and complements the existing heritage items on and 

surrounding the site and the conservation area. Specifically, the proposed development: 

− Retains and restores the existing heritage item (Former Bank of NSW, Building H) located on the corner of 

the site. Where new development abuts the heritage item that development complies with the relevant 

development standard ensuring an appropriate scale in relation to the item;   

− Uses materiality which responds to Surry Hills predominant masonry-built fabric;  

− Uses upper level setbacks which are recessed inwards from the street, reducing the perceived bulk and 

scale of development to the existing surrounding terrace housing, shop fronts and laneways within the 

surrounding Baptist Street heritage conservation area;  

253



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern  | Clause 4.6 Variation Request – Height of Buildings | 11 October 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  218365  11 
 

 Provides sufficient separation and transition in built form from the site to the surrounding heritage items; and 

 Does not result in any adverse impacts from the height exceedance. 

Objective (c): to promote the sharing of views 

That part of the development that departs from the height standard has no impact on existing public or private 

views. The proposed built form ensures internal privacy and view sharing for the future residents of the 

development. 

Objective (d): to ensure appropriate height transitions from Central Sydney and Green Square Town Centre 

to adjoining areas 

The site is not located in the transition areas surrounding Central Sydney and Green Square Town Centre. This 

objective is not applicable. 

4.1.3 The object or purpose would be defeated or thwarted if compliance was required 

The Cleveland Street area is a precinct which is currently undergoing a transition from a low-quality built form to a 

more vibrant mixed-use neighbourhood. This is evident in the objectives of the B2 Local Centre land use zone and 

the site-specific planning provisions that apply to the site. The proposed development is consistent with this 

transition and has been specifically designed to respond to the unique site context.  

 

The proposed building height enables efficient use of the land commensurate to the density envisaged for the site. 

The resulting height variation is a result of distributing the available GFA to the upper levels of the building.  As 

such, the proposal offers an improved planning outcome for the site which is also consistent with the objectives of 

the standard and therefore this outcome would be thwarted if compliance with the standard was required. 

Accordingly, Method 1 is considered to be met.  

4.1.4 Conclusion on clause 4.6(3)(a) 

Strict compliance with the maximum building height prescribed under clause 4.3 of the Sydney LEP is considered 

unreasonable and unnecessary in the specific circumstances for the following reasons: 

 The underlying objectives of the standard are achieved, notwithstanding the non-compliances with the 

numerical control as: 

− The proposed building height is considered suitable given the site’s unique setting and the specific design 

response; 

− The proposal will not adversely impact on any items of heritage, specifically the heritage item located on the 

site and will not impact on the understanding of heritage items located away from the site; and 

− The proposed built form, notwithstanding the exceedances of the maximum building height, has no impact 

on existing public or private views and provides enhanced internal and external amenity. 

 The objectives of the standard would be defeated or thwarted if compliance was required. 

4.2 Clause 4.6(3)(b): Environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the development 

standard 

4.2.1 Ground 1: Reduced visual impact 

The built form seeks to minimise the bulk and scale of the proposed development when viewed from Baptist Street, 

Cleveland Street and Marriot Street. The extent of visual impact as a result of the height variation to the street wall 

height is not of discernible scale. The building has been appropriately modulated (by recessing the upper levels) at 

the streetscape interface. This will minimise visual bulk and scale when viewed from the streetscape and the park at 

the south. Further, the building materiality and landscaping will serve to screen the upper levels and reduce visual 

prominence. Overall, the proposed development results in a positive visual impact when viewed from the public 

domain.  

254



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern  | Clause 4.6 Variation Request – Height of Buildings | 11 October 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  218365  12 
 

4.2.2 Ground 2 – Impacts on surrounding development 

The development has the potential to impact on the existing low scale residential terraces directly to the south of 
Building C, along Baptist Street and the terraces on the western side of Marriott Street from Building G. To 
determine any additional impact on these terraces, the built form of the building has been compared to the impacts 
which would otherwise occur if the building was designed in accordance with the site-specific DCP.  
 
Overshadowing  
 
SJB has prepared a shadow analysis for the proposed development (refer to Appendix A and Section 4.7 of the 
SEE). The study demonstrates the shadow impacts generated from the development as proposed, and the shadow 
impacts generated from the development if it were to be developed in accordance with the site-specific DCP.  
The analysis has been undertaken in one-hour intervals between 9:00am and 3:00pm on the most recent winter 
solstice (21 June).  
 
The analysis demonstrates that the existing residential terraces along Baptist Street to the south of the site are 
subject to overshadowing between 9:00am and 10:00am (refer to Figure 6). This occurs regardless of whether 
Building C was to be developed as proposed, or in accordance with the site-specific DCP.  
 

 
 

Figure 6  Building C and G DCP envelope (left) and Building C and G proposed (right) - 9:00am 

Source: SJB 

 Building C will front the existing residential development south of the site. It has been appropriately setback at 

the lower and upper level, almost entirely consistent with the site specific DCP controls. The height and 

setbacks to Building C have been further improved since the development was awarded design excellence;  

 The perceived bulk and scale of Building C is also modulated by the physical separation provided from the 
landscaped setback and 9m public share way.  
 

 The variation to the height standard on Building C does not cause any additional amenity impacts on 
surrounding properties and, as now proposed, better responds to those properties than a compliant scheme.  

 
It is recognised that Building G (as proposed) would cause a similar but slightly increased extent of overshadowing 
to the northern most terraces along Marriott Street at 9:00am. The overshadowing is gone by 10:00am however 
when the shadow falls largely on the street (refer to Figure 7).  
 

255



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern  | Clause 4.6 Variation Request – Height of Buildings | 11 October 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  218365  13 
 

 
Figure 7   Building C and G DCP envelope (left) and Building C and G proposed (right) - 10:00am 

Source:  SJB 

 

There is no material change to the amenity impacts to the northern most terraces whose solar access after 10.00am 

on the shortest day of the year will be unaffected.  

4.2.3 Ground 3: Increased amenity and accessibility to the through site link and residential 

development 

The proposed massing on the site has been revised from the massing in the competitive design process to increase 

the level of solar access to both the through site link within the development and maximise the number of 

apartments receiving at least two hours of direct sunlight. Overall, the proposed development achieves 2 hours 

direct sunlight to 60.5% of apartments within the development on 21 June between 9am and 3pm. If the 

development was to measure from 8:45am to 3pm the development would achieve 87%. 

 

This is achieved by redistributing the bulk away from the building edges and towards the centre of the site. The 

stepping provides a more sympathetic interface to Baptist and Marriott Street and Cooper Lane while maximising 

amenity along the public plaza and open space areas within the site.    

4.2.4 Conclusion on clause 4.6(3)(b) 

In summary, the environmental planning grounds which justify the proposed variation to the maximum building 

height include: 

 Reduced visual impact on Baptist Street, Marriot Street and Cooper Street; and  

 A better articulated built form which better integrates with the surrounding area. 

4.3 Clause 4.6(4)(a)(ii): In the public interest because it is consistent with the objectives of the zone 

and development standard 

4.3.1 Consistency with objectives of the development standard 

The proposed development is consistent with the objectives of the height of buildings development standard, for the 

reasons discussed in Sections 4.1.2 to 4.1.5 of this report. 

4.3.2 Consistency with objectives of the zone 

The proposed development has been assessed against the objectives for the B2 – Local Centre zone as outlined 

below. The departures from the height of building development standards do not result in any inconsistencies with 

the objectives of the zone.  

 

Objective (a): To provide a range of retail, business, entertainment and community uses that serve the 

needs of people who live in, work in and visit the local area 

256



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern  | Clause 4.6 Variation Request – Height of Buildings | 11 October 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  218365  14 
 

 The proposed development provides a mix of uses that will directly service the needs of people who live, work 

and visit the local area. 

 The proposed development also provides a range of retail outlets and a dedicated Coles supermarket. These 

uses will directly serve the residents of the proposed development and existing residents in the locality. The 

proposed development will better serve the retail needs of people who live, work and visit the local area without 

the need for outbound commuting. 

Objective (b): To encourage employment opportunities in accessible locations 

 The proposed development will contain enhanced commercial floor space, including retail and office premises. 

These uses will provide direct and indirect employment opportunities on the site on both a permanent and part-

time basis. 

 The site is also located in an accessible location: 

− It is in walking distance (1.5km) of Redfern and Central Railway Station, located west and north west of the 

site, respectively. Both stations provide adjoining bus routes, forming a transport cluster. Central Station 

also provides a connection to the Sydney Light Rail Network;  

− Two bus stops (route 355 and the Metrobus route M50) are located along Cleveland Street, directly in front 

of the site’s primary frontage. Route 355 provides connections from Marrickville to Bondi via Moore Park 

and Erskineville while the M50 provides a metro service from Coogee to Drummoyne via Rozelle and 

Randwick;  

− Two bus stops (route 302 and 303) are located along Baptist Street, along the eastern frontage of the site. 

Route 301 provides access from Eastgardens to Circular Quay via Kingsford while route 303 provides 

access from Sans Souci to Circular Quay;  

− The future South East Light Rail Link will include a light rail stop approximately 550m north of the site, on 

the corner of Marlborough and Devonshire Streets;  

− The future Waterloo Station, forming part of Sydney Metro, will be located approximately 1.6km south west 

of the site; and  

− The site is easily accessible by bicycle via the existing road network. It is noted the proposed development 

will provide end of trip facilities for all the commercial uses onsite to encourage active transport uses.  

Objective (c): To maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling 

The proposed development provides bicycle parking and end of trip facilities for both the residential and commercial 

uses for the site. This will encourage residents and employees to utilise active forms of transport such as walking 

and cycling.  

 

As detailed above, the site is located in walking distance to a number of existing and future public transport options. 

This will help maximise the use of public transport patronage to and from the site. 

Objective (d): To allow appropriate residential uses so as to support the vitality of local centres 

The proposed development provides a total of 157 residential units. The residential population on the site will 

provide a suitable level of permanent critical mass to support the Surry Hills located centre. Residents will increase 

local expenditure which will likely improve the trading viability and profitability for businesses along Cleveland Street 

and Crown Street. 

4.3.3 Overall public interest 

The proposed development is considered to be in the public interest as the proposed development: 

 Will contribute to the local community by providing additional services and amenities to Redfern and Surry Hills; 

 Will complement the transition of the existing shopping centre into a vibrant mixed use neighbourhood by 

providing local services and new homes with a high level of amenity; and 

 Will contribute and enhance the local urban ecology by introducing a park. 

257



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern  | Clause 4.6 Variation Request – Height of Buildings | 11 October 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  218365  15 
 

4.4 Other Matters for Consideration 

Under clause 4.6(5), in deciding whether to grant concurrence, the Secretary must consider the following matters: 

(5)  In deciding whether to grant concurrence, the Secretary must consider: 

(a) whether contravention of the development standard raises any matter of significance for State or 

regional environmental planning, and 

(b) the public benefit of maintaining the development standard, and 

(c) any other matters required to be taken into consideration by the Secretary before granting 

concurrence. 

These matters are addressed in detail below. 

4.4.1 Clause 4.6(5)(a): Whether contravention of the development standard raises any matter of 

significance for State or regional environmental planning 

The variation of the height of buildings development standard does not raise any matter of significance for State or 

regional planning. We note that the proposal is consistent with the most recent metropolitan plan for Sydney, A 

Metropolis of Three Cities in that it: 

 Provides accommodation and services to meet the needs of the local population, both at the present time and in 

the future as Sydney’s population grows and ages; 

 Allows for the use of the site to continue to provide local employment opportunities; 

 Will provide for an exemplary environmental outcome for the site through carbon and water sensitive design; 

 Will provide increased services and amenities to Redfern, including services that will encourage cycling and 

active transport within the local area; and 

 Does not adversely affect any heritage items or conservation areas. 

4.4.2 Clause 4.6(5)(b): The public benefit of maintaining the development standard 

As demonstrated above, there is no public benefit in maintaining the development standard in terms of State and 

regional planning objectives. As noted in the preceding sections, the proposed variation would not give rise to any 

unacceptable adverse environmental impacts. 

 

It is not considered that there would be any public benefit for the proposed building height to be reduced so as to 

bring the development into compliance with the standard, particularly where key planning issues deriving from 

height, such as visual impact, have been resolved through architectural design.  

4.4.3 Clause 5.6(5)(c): Any other matters required to be taken into consideration by the Secretary 

before granting concurrence. 

There are no other relevant matters. 

5.0 Conclusion 

The assessment above demonstrates that compliance with the height of buildings development standard contained 

in clause 4.3 of the Sydney LEP is unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances of the case and that the 

justification is well founded. It is considered that the variation allows for the orderly and economic use of the land in 

an appropriate manner, whilst also allows for a better outcome in planning terms. 

 

This clause 4.6 variation demonstrates that, notwithstanding the non-compliance with the height of building 

development standard:  

 The proposed development achieves the objectives of the height of buildings development standard because: 

− the height of development is appropriate to the condition of the site and its context; 

258



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern  | Clause 4.6 Variation Request – Height of Buildings | 11 October 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  218365  16 
 

− the height of the development appropriately transitions to the heritage item located on the site and buildings 

in the adjacent heritage conservation area; and 

− the development does not result in any public or private view loss. 

 The objectives of the height development standard would be thwarted if compliance was required as the 

proposed building height enables efficient use of the land commensurate to the density envisaged for the site. 

The resulting height variation is a result of distributing the available GFA to the upper levels of the building 

which offers an improved overall planning outcome for the site. 

 There are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify the contravention of the height development 

standard including the following: 

− The proposed development is of a suitable height given the site’s unique setting and the specific design 

response which results in minimal visual impact when viewed from the public domain; 

− The proposed development will not adversely impact on the understanding of heritage item located on the 

site nor the adjacent conservation area or nearby heritage items;  

− The proposed development is within the substantive maximum height of buildings development standard for 

the site, demonstrating that the development as a whole is of a desirable scale for the site;  

− The proposed development results in a superior planning outcome for the site and provides enhanced 

amenity to the public through the site link and residential apartments within the development; and 

− The proposed development appropriately manages the site’s sensitivities and constraints through 

innovative urban design and architectural solutions. 

 The proposed development is consistent with the objectives of the B2 Local Centre zone as it: 

− Enables a mix of retail and business uses to be accommodated on the site that will directly service the 

needs of people who live in, work in and visit the local area; 

− Provides a mix of commercial premises including retail and office premises which will provide direct and 

indirect employment opportunities;  

− Provides employment generating uses in an accessible location;  

− Provides bicycle storage facilities to encourage cycling; 

− Provides a through site link to optimise accessibility and walkability; and 

− Includes appropriate residential uses so as to support the vitality of the locality. 

 The proposed development is in the public interest in light of the numerous positive social, ecological, design 

and economic impacts it will deliver for the site.  

 

Therefore, the DA may be approved with the variation as proposed in accordance with the flexibility allowed under 

clause 4.6 of the Sydney LEP. 

 

 

259



Attachment D 

Clause 4.6 Variation Request –  
Floor Space Ratio 

 

  

 

260



 

 Amended Clause 4.6 Variation 

 

2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, 

Redfern 

 

Floor Space Ratio Development Standard 

 

Submitted to City of Sydney 

On behalf of Surry Hills Project Pty Ltd 

 

11 October 2019 | 218365 

  

 

 

 

261



 

 

 

 

CONTACT  

Michael Rowe Director mrowe@ethosurban.com  D9956 6962 

Reproduction of this document or any part thereof is not permitted without prior written permission of Ethos Urban Pty Ltd. 

This document has been prepared by: This document has been reviewed by: 

  

ARCANGELO ANTONIAZZI  

 

15.5.19 MICHAEL ROWE  15.5.19 

Reproduction of this document or any part thereof is not permitted without written permission of Ethos Urban Pty Ltd. Ethos Urban operates under a Quality Management System. This 
report has been prepared and reviewed in accordance with that system.  If the report is not signed, it is a preliminary draft. 

VERSION NO. DATE OF ISSUE REVISION BY APPROVED BY 

A 16 05 19 AA / MR  MR 

B 11 10 19 AA / MR  MR 

  

Ethos Urban Pty Ltd 

ABN 13 615 087 931. 
www.ethosurban.com 

173 Sussex Street, Sydney  
NSW 2000  t 61 2 9956 6952 

 

262



Contents 

Ethos Urban   
 

 

1.0 Introduction 2 

2.0 Background 4 

3.0 Development Standard to be Varied 5 

4.0 Justification for Contravention of the 

Development Standard 6 
4.1 Clause 4.6(3)(a): Compliance with the development 

standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the 

circumstances of the case 6 
4.2 Clause 4.6(3)(b): Environmental planning grounds 

to justify contravening the development standard 11 
4.3 Clause 4.6(4)(a)(ii): In the public interest because it 

is consistent with the objectives of the zone and 

development standard 16 
4.4 Other Matters for Consideration 17 

5.0 Conclusion 19 
 

Figures 

Figure 1 Subject of this clause 4.6 variation request (in red 

outline) 4 
Figure 2 Extract from the Floor Space Ratio Map (Sheet 

FSR_016) 5 
Figure 3 Building G DCP envelope (left) and Building G 

proposed (right) – 9:00am 12 
Figure 4 Building G DCP envelope (left) and Building G 

proposed (right) – 10:00am 13 
Figure 5 Building G DCP envelope (left) and Building G 

proposed (right) – 11:00am 13 
Figure 6 Building G DCP envelope (left) and Building G 

proposed (right) – 12:00pm 14 
Figure 7 Building G DCP envelope (left) and Building G 

proposed (right) – 1:00pm 14 
 

Tables 

Table 1 Commercial Rentals in Surry Hills and Redfern 

(December 2015 – August 2018) 11 
Table 2 Location Opportunities for Businesses in 

Professional Services 11 
 

Appendices 

A Social and Economic Benefit Statement 

Ethos Urban

263



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 2 
 

1.0 Introduction  

This clause 4.6 variation request has been prepared by Ethos Urban on behalf of Surry Hills Project Pty Ltd. It is 

submitted to the City of Sydney Council (Council) in support of a Development Application (DA) for a mixed-use 

development at 2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern (the site).  

 

Clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (SLEP 2012) enables Council to grant consent for 

development even though the development contravenes a development standard. The clause aims to provide an 

appropriate degree of flexibility in applying certain development standards to achieve better outcomes for and from 

development. 

 

This clause 4.6 variation request relates to the Floor Space Ratio (FSR) development standard under clause 4.4 of 

the SLEP 2012. It should be read in conjunction with the Statement of Environmental Effects (SEE) prepared by 

Ethos Urban dated September 2018 and the Addendum SEE prepared by Ethos Urban dated May 2019.  

 

This clause 4.6 variation request demonstrates that compliance with the FSR development standard is 

unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances of the case and that there are sufficient environmental 

planning grounds to justify contravention of the standard. 

 

It is important to note that the variation relates to additional GFA in the commercial building (Building G) and the 

FSR of the remaining buildings on the site otherwise comply with the LEP maximum. It is considered that the 

variation allows for the orderly and economic use of the land in an appropriate manner, whilst also allowing for a 

better outcome in planning terms. It will help to reduce a significant gap in commercial office floor space within the 

Surry Hills / Redfern area and contribute to the retention of business within the locality.  

 

This clause 4.6 variation request demonstrates that, notwithstanding the non-compliance with the FSR development 

standard: 

 The proposed development achieves the objectives of clause 4.4 – Floor Space Ratio in the SLEP 2012, as: 

− It will make a significant contribution to the provision of sufficient floor space to meet anticipated 

development needs for the foreseeable future, particularly medium sized commercial floor space within 

Surry Hills;  

− It will have an appropriate density, built form and land use intensity;  

− It will not generate an unacceptable amount of additional vehicle and pedestrian traffic; 

− The proposed floor space and intensity of the development, is commensurate with, and can be 

accommodated on the site without unreasonably impacting, existing and planned infrastructure (including 

from vehicle and pedestrian traffic generated by the development) particularly considering the proximity of 

the site to public transport options including busses, future light rail and Central and Redfern train stations;  

− The built form reflects the desired character of the locality; and  

− It minimises adverse impacts on the locality including in terms of overshadowing, visual impact, and loss of 

privacy.  

 The underlying object or purpose of the FSR development standard would be defeated or thwarted if 

compliance was required as it would reduce the diversity of commercial and retail uses sought in the locality 

statement for Cleveland Street and would specifically fail to achieve objective (a) and objective (d) of the 

development standard. 

 There are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify the contravention of the FSR development 

standard including the following: 

− The variation to the FSR development standard enables commercial floor areas of between 650m² and 

950m² to be provided on the site in circumstances where there is a demonstrated lack of supply of 

floorspace of that size and, consequently, a strong demand for tenancies of that size; 

264



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 3 
 

− The proposed supply of commercial floor space between 650m² and 950m² in Building G can assist in the 

retention of existing established and medium sized businesses (of around 40 to 70 employees) in the 

locality which are currently struggling to find office space of the appropriate scale; 

− The additional FSR only gives rise to nominal additional overshadowing with the impact limited to the 

northern most terraces along Marriott Street and it only occurs between 9:00am and 10:00am. 

− Building G provides an appropriate separation and remains sympathetic to the existing heritage item on the 

site notwithstanding the fact that it exceeds the FSR development standard. Building G does not adversely 

affect the scale of the heritage item, ensuring its strong presence and prominent corner position is not lost. 

− The development of Building G for a commercial building rather than a residential building removes a 

habitable interface from the Marriott Street frontage and ensures that Building G does not cause any 

potential visual privacy impacts to the residential terraces to the west. 

− If residential units were to front Cleveland Street (as was proposed under the competitive design process) 

they would experience a lower level of residential amenity, caused from the ongoing traffic and activity 

along the street front. 

− The use of Building G for commercial (office) purposes (rather than residential) will improve the number of 

economic and social benefits associated with the proposed development. 

− The amount of commercial floor space proposed within Building G is appropriate to the site’s zoning and 

highly accessible location within the Surry Hills Town Centre, being walking distance to a range of existing 

and future transport options. 

− The reduction in the area of floor plates within Building G so as to bring the development into compliance 

with the FSR development standard would have ramifications for the commercial viability of that building 

and may result in it reverting back to a residential use, which is considered to be a poorer planning outcome 

than that which is now proposed. 

 The proposed development is consistent with the objectives of the B2 Local Centre Zone, as it; 

− Enables a mix of retail and business uses to be accommodated on the site that will directly service the 

needs of people who live in, work in and visit the local area; 

− Provides a mix of commercial premises including retail and office premises which will provide direct and 

indirect employment opportunities;  

− Provides employment generating uses in an accessible location;  

− Provides bicycle storage facilities to encourage cycling; 

− Provides a through site link to optimise accessibility and walkability; and 

− Includes appropriate residential uses so as to support the vitality of the locality. 

 The proposed development provides additional employment generating land uses which are in line with the 

forecast growth of Surry Hills / Redfern and are consistent with the relevant local and State strategic plans; and 

 The proposed development (including the proposed variation to the FSR development standard) is in the public 

interest.  

 

Therefore, the DA may be approved with the variation as proposed in accordance with the flexibility allowed under 

clause 4.6 of the SLEP 2012.  
  

265



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 4 
 

2.0 Background 

The site has been subject to a Planning Proposal, site specific Development Control Plan (DCP) and a design 

excellence process which has led to the development of a scheme that presents a genuine understanding and 

thoughtful response to the character of the area. 

 

As part of the Design Excellence process, the Selection Panel recommended that the proponent clarify the 

appropriateness of a residential use fronting Cleveland Street where it would likely experience a lower level of 

amenity arising from heavy traffic and extended retail activity. This recommendation started a process to investigate 

replacing the east west orientated residential building fronting Cleveland Street (Building G) with an office building 

(refer to Figure 1).  

 

This potential change of use is also contemplated under clause 14 of the site-specific DCP for the site.  

 

 

Figure 1 Subject of this clause 4.6 variation request (in red outline) 

Source: SJB 

 

In addition to addressing concerns regarding residential amenity, the introduction of office uses was identified as an 

opportunity to provide significant positive economic and employment benefits to Surry Hills consistent with the intent 

of the relevant local and State strategic plans and the objectives of the B2 Local Centre zone.  

 

A Social and Economic Benefit Statement was prepared to identify what office uses were best suited to the location. 

The statement identified a shortage in office floor plates of between 650m² and 950m² in the Surry Hills / Redfern 

area (refer to Appendix A).  

 

Building G provides floor plates of this size and provides opportunities for an office product which can sufficiently 

accommodate existing and growing small businesses, and retain medium sized business in the area, reducing their 

need to relocate outside the locality (refer to Section 4.2.1).  

 

The ‘planning envelope’ for the site and by inference the FSR, was predicated on a residential building being 

located along the Cleveland Street frontage. The residential envelope is not suitable to accommodate a standalone 

commercial building of this nature or the scale of floorplates necessary to assist in the retention of growing local 

businesses.  

 

To accommodate an appropriate commercial building which delivers a clearly better planning outcome than that 

anticipated in the Planning Proposal and subsequent LEP controls, results in a variation to the maximum floor space 

ratio (2:1) development standard.  

 

266



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 5 
 

This request satisfies the statutory tests set out under Clause 4.6 and demonstrates that the variation to the 

maximum FSR standard will result in a better planning outcome. 

3.0 Development Standard to be Varied 

This clause 4.6 variation request seeks to justify contravention of the FSR development standard under Clause 4.4 

of the SLEP 2012.  

 

Clause 4.4 of the SLEP 2012 allocates the site a maximum FSR of 2:1 (refer to Figure 2). The area of the site is 

12,244m² and the proposed development provides a total Gross Floor Area (GFA) of 26,698m². This equates to an 

FSR of 2.18:1 and a 9% variation from the development standard.   

 

The additional GFA that results in the variation to the standard occurs entirely within Building G and from its change 

from a residential to a commercial building.  

 

 

Figure 2 Extract from the Floor Space Ratio Map (Sheet FSR_016) 

Source: Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012  

267



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 6 
 

4.0 Justification for Contravention of the Development Standard 

Clause 4.6(3) of the SLEP 2012 provides that: 

4.6  Exceptions to development standards 

(3)  Development consent must not be granted for development that contravenes a development standard 

unless the consent authority has considered a written request from the applicant that seeks to justify the 

contravention of the development standard by demonstrating: 

(a)  that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the 

circumstances of the case, and 

(b)  that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the development 

standard. 

Further, clause 4.6(4)(a) of the SLEP 2012 provides that: 

(4)  Development consent must not be granted for development that contravenes a development standard 

unless: 

(a)  the consent authority is satisfied that: 

(i)  the applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters required to be 

demonstrated by subclause (3), and 

(ii)  the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent with the 

objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development within the zone in 

which the development is proposed to be carried out, and 

(b)  the concurrence of the Secretary has been obtained. 

Assistance on the approach to justifying a contravention to a development standard is also to be taken from the 

applicable decisions of the NSW Land and Environment Court and the NSW Court of Appeal in: 

1. Bates Smart Pty Ltd v Council of the City of Sydney [2014] NSWLEC 1001; 

2. Wehbe v Pittwater Council [2007] NSW LEC 827;  

3. Four2Five Pty Ltd v Ashfield Council [2015] NSWLEC 1009; and  

4. Initial Action Pty Ltd v Woollahra Municipal Council [2018] NSWLEC 118.  

The relevant matters contained in clause 4.6 of the SLEP 2012 with respect to the FSR development standard, are 

each addressed below, including with regard to these decisions. 

4.1 Clause 4.6(3)(a): Compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary 

in the circumstances of the case 

In Wehbe, Preston CJ of the Land and Environment Court identified five ways in which it could be shown that a 

variation to a development standard was unreasonable or unnecessary. However, His Honour in that case (and 

subsequently in Initial Action) confirmed that the types of ways that it could be shown that compliance with a 

development standard was unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of the case was not limited to the 

five ways identified in Wehbe.  

 

While Wehbe related to objections made pursuant to State Environmental Planning Policy No. 1 – Development 

Standards (SEPP 1), the analysis is applicable to variations made under clause 4.6 where subclause 4.6(3)(a) uses 

the same language as clause 6 of SEPP 1 (see Four2Five at [61] and [62]). 

 

As the language used in subclause 4.6(3)(a) of the SLEP 2012 is the same as the language used in clause 6 of 

SEPP 1, the principles contained in Wehbe are applicable to this clause 4.6 variation request. 

 
  

268



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 7 
 

The five ways outlined in Wehbe include: 

 The objectives of the standard are achieved notwithstanding non-compliance with the standard (First Method). 

 The underlying objective or purpose of the standard is not relevant to the development and therefore 

compliance is unnecessary (Second Method). 

 The underlying object or purpose would be defeated or thwarted if compliance was required and therefore 

compliance is unreasonable (Third Method). 

 The development standard has been virtually abandoned or destroyed by the Council's own actions in granting 

consents departing from the standard and hence compliance with the standard is unnecessary and 

unreasonable (Fourth Method). 

 The zoning of the particular land is unreasonable or inappropriate so that a development standard appropriate 

for that zoning is also unreasonable and unnecessary as it applies to the land and compliance with the standard 

would be unreasonable or unnecessary.  That is, the particular parcel of land should not have been included in 

the particular zone (Fifth Method). 

 

Of particular relevance in this matter, in establishing that compliance with the FSR development standard is 

unreasonable or unnecessary are the first and third Methods. 

4.1.1 The underlying objectives or purposes of the development standard 

The objectives of the development standard contained in clause 4.4 of the SLEP 2012 are: 

(a) to provide sufficient floor space to meet anticipated development needs for the foreseeable future 

(b) to regulate the density of development, built form and land use intensity and to control the generation of 

vehicle and pedestrian traffic, 

(c) to provide for an intensity of development that is commensurate with the capacity of existing and planned 

infrastructure, 

(d) to ensure that new development reflects the desired character of the locality in which it is located and 

minimises adverse impacts on the amenity of that locality. 

4.1.2 The objectives of the standard are achieved notwithstanding non-compliance with the standard 

Objective (a): To provide sufficient floor space to meet anticipated development needs for the foreseeable 

future 

The anticipated development needs in the foreseeable future for the Surry Hills area will be influenced by forecast 

job growth, a growing local population and low vacancy rates within the Sydney CBD (refer to Appendix A). 

Specifically: 

 The site is located within the Chippendale and Surry Hills Statistical Area 2 (SA2). This area will experience job 

growth in the foreseeable future and is forecast to provide an additional 24,480 jobs by 2036. This equates to an 

average annual growth rate of 2.1%, exceeding the average annual growth rate for the City of Sydney (1.4%); 

 The population within the SA2 area will increase from 37,480 residents in 2016 to 56,390 residents by 2036. 

This represents an average annual growth rate of 2.1% which exceeds the average annual growth rate for the 

City of Sydney (2.0%) and Greater Sydney (1.5%); and  

 Demand for commercial floor space within the SA2 will be driven by a growing local population and ongoing low 

office vacancy rates within the Sydney CBD (CBD), increasing the demand for floor space in the fringe CBD, 

which includes areas such as Redfern and Surry Hills.  

 

The proposed development will provide commercial floor space to help accommodate the development needs 

generated from the job and population growth expected for the area in the foreseeable future.  

 

The job and population growth detailed above will also likely increase demand for residential floor space within the 

SA2 as employees and employers look to collocate jobs and homes. The proposed development also provides a 

269



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 8 
 

significant amount of residential floor space to help meet any additional residential demand within the SA2 within the 

foreseeable future.  

 

The residential floor space proposed will also improve housing choice within the SA2. The terrace style, one, two 

and three storey units above ground, can accommodate individual and family compositions, contributing to a more 

diverse residential population, ensuring the SA2 can absorb a greater number of residential needs.  

 

The residential floor space proposed will also assist to meet the broader residential needs of Eastern Sydney 

anticipated within the foreseeable future: Specifically, it will: 

 Contribute to the additional 157,500 homes needed within the Eastern City District under the Eastern City 

District Plan; and  

 Contribute to the diversity and choice of housing. Specifically: 

− One-bedroom units proposed will support housing for single person households, expected to increase by 

61,100 in the Eastern City District by 2036. It is noted that the greatest proportional increase in single 

person housing will be within the City of Sydney; and  

− Two and three-bedroom units proposed will support housing for couple-only households, expected to 

increase by 31,750 in the Eastern City District by 2036.  

Objective (b): To regulate the density of development, built form and land use intensity and to control the 

generation of vehicle and pedestrian traffic 

The density of development proposed is considered reasonable and appropriate, given the location 

and circumstances of the site in a local centre close to public transport, and given the proposed development 

creates no unreasonable impacts even though it seeks to vary the FSR development standard. In particular: 

 There will be no significant additional overshadowing impacts to the existing residential terraces to the west of 

the site as a result of the additional floor space proposed for Building G (refer to Section 4.2.2 and Section 5.0 

of the Addendum SEE); 

 The Traffic Impact Assessment has determined that the traffic generation from the proposed development will 

not have a significant adverse impact on the surrounding road network and intersections (refer to Section 4.10 

and the SEE); 

 The FSR proposed for the site is accommodated within the site’s maximum height limit (27.5m) and is generally 

consistent with the requirements of the site-specific DCP applicable to the site. Therefore, the proposed 

development, even though it exceeds the FSR development standard, is reasonably scaled in line with the 

envisioned environmental capacity of the site. The proposed development also achieves substantive 

compliance with the Apartment Design Guide amenity controls; 

 A number of design measures have been included to regulate the density of the proposed development and 

ensure the achievement of a design outcome which is consistent with the existing character and built form of the 

neighbourhood. These include: 

− A two storey architecturally designed podium. The podium directly responds to the existing low-density 

scale of development surrounding the site, both in terms of materiality and height 

− Upper level building setbacks to reduce the perceived bulk and scale of development (refer to proposed 

setback and storey plan within Section 4.1 of the Architectural Design Report at Appendix A of the SEE); 

and  

− Distribution of residential floor space between six (6) individual building elements, reducing an unsightly 

‘blank wall’ effect along the Baptist Street and Marriott Street streetscape (refer to Site Layout Plan at 

Figure 1).   

  

270



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 9 
 

Objective (c): To provide for an intensity of development that is commensurate with the capacity of existing 

and planned infrastructure 

The increased floor space proposed for the site can be accommodated on the site without any undue impact on the 

capacity of existing and planned infrastructure. Any future infrastructure planned in the vicinity of the site would 

need to be considered and/or accommodated by the proposed development irrespective of the proposed FSR. 

Further, the site is in a highly accessible location, being walking distance (1.5km) from Central and Redfern Station. 

Two bus stops (route 355 and the Metrobus route M50) are also located along Cleveland Street directly in front of 

the site.  

 

These stations provide transport infrastructure in dense clusters with adjoining bus and light rail connections. The 

site will also be in close proximity to the future South East Light Rail Link which will include a light rail stop 

approximately 550m north of the site, as well as Waterloo Station, part of Sydney Metro. 

 

The intensity of development is therefore considered suitable for the site as the majority of visitors, employees and 

residents of the site will use public transport for their daily mode of travel. This is mode of transport will further be 

encouraged by the bicycle storage facilities and end of trip facilities provided by the proposed development.  

Objective (d): To ensure that new development reflects the desired character of the locality in which it is 

located and minimises adverse impacts on the amenity of that locality 

The site is located within the Cleveland Street Precinct (refer to Section 2.13.1 of the City of Sydney DCP 2012). 

The locality statement for the Cleveland Street Precinct is place specific and informs a series of principles to guide 

future development in the precinct. The locality statement and principles combined, ensure new development 

reflects the desired character of the locality and minimises the adverse impacts on the existing amenity of that 

locality.  

 

The additional floor space proposed for Building G does not cause the proposed development overall, to become 

inconsistent with the Cleveland Street Precinct locality statement and the principles of the locality statement 

continue to be achieved notwithstanding the contravention of the FSR development standard. Specifically: 

 Building G continues to provide ground floor retail along Cleveland Street and does not reduce the amount of 

residential floor space on the site or the number of residents that can be accommodated on the site to the point 

where there is no consistent critical mass to support the viability of the retail uses along Cleveland Street;  

 Deliberate design development and materiality responds to, and continues to complement the existing 

surrounding heritage items surrounding the site. Specifically, the proposed development: 

− Retains and restores the existing heritage item (Former Bank of NSW) located on the corner of the site. The 

adaptive reuse of the heritage item will reinstate its original integrity and reflect more broadly, the ongoing 

commitment to conserving the heritage character of the locality;   

− Provide street landscaping to confirm to the existing pattern of street planting in the locality;  

− Uses materiality which responds to Surry Hills predominately masonry-built fabric; and  

− Uses upper level setbacks which are recessed inwards from the street, reducing the perceived bulk and 

scale of development when compared to the existing surrounding terrace housing, shop fronts and 

laneways within the surrounding Baptist Street heritage conservation area.  

 All proposed buildings align to their respective street frontage. Terrace housing along Marriott Street and retail 

outlets along Marriott and Baptist Street will provide street activation. 

 A range of building heights across the site are provided. Heights along Marriott Street are proposed to be lower 

than those along Baptist Street to ensure greater sympathy and retained amenity for existing low scale 

residential terraces to the west (refer to Setback and Storey Plan within Section 4.1 of the amended 

Architectural Design Report at Attachment A of the Addendum SEE.) 

 

The proposed development, notwithstanding the contravention with the Floor Space Ratio development standard, 

remains consistent with the Cleveland Street Precinct locality statement and guiding principles. This ensures the 

development appropriately conforms to the desired character of the locality and reduces impacts to its existing 

271



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 10 
 

amenity. Th desired future character of the locality and how the proposed development conforms to this is 

demonstrated in Section 4.1.3. 

4.1.3 The underlying object or purpose would be defeated or thwarted if compliance was required 

and therefore compliance is unreasonable  

In addition to the First method, it is considered that the underlying object of the development standard (refer to 

Section 4.1.1) would be defeated if strict compliance with the development standard was sought.  

 

Strict compliance with the standard would likely result in Building G being reverted back to a residential use, above 

the ground floor retail, or smaller commercial floor plates which would not align to the identified demand (refer to 

Section 4.2.1).  

 

The locality statement for Cleveland Street in Section 2.13.1 of the City of Sydney DCP 2012 relevantly states: 

 

“Cleveland Street will continue as a major east-west traffic route with an enhanced function as a 

place for people. Positive aspects of the streetscape to be retained and reinforced include 

existing corner commercial buildings, older warehouses and consistent terrace rows.  

 

The diversity of commercial and retail uses are to be increased to support a greater pedestrian 

focus, while retaining the residential component to sustain those uses. A series of identifiable 

nodes or activity clusters that straddle the street and break-down the traffic barrier are 

encouraged with the aim of linking Redfern to Surry Hills. The Bourke Street retail area offers 

opportunities to serve the local community and provide dining.” 

 

Strict compliance with the development standard would reduce the diversity of commercial and retail uses sought in 

the locality statement for Cleveland Street and would specifically fail to achieve objective (a) and objective (d) of the 

development standard.  

 

Reducing the opportunities for residents to live and work locally would likely increase the need for more trips outside 

the area. This would inevitably increase the number of vehicle and pedestrian movements which is contrary to 

objective (b) of the development standard.  

 

As has been demonstrated within objective (b), the SEE and supporting documentation submitted with the DA, 

including the Traffic and Parking Impact Assessment and Infrastructure Services Statement, the capacity of existing 

and planned infrastructure can support the intensity of development proposed with manageable impacts consistent 

with objective (c).  

4.1.4 Conclusion on clause 4.6(3)(a) 

The underlying purpose of the development standard is to control the bulk, scale and density of buildings in order to 

minimise adverse environmental effects, ensure compatibility with the existing and desired future character of the 

area and regulate the density of development.  

 

The preceding assessment demonstrates that despite the variation to the FSR development standard, the variation 

will not have any adverse environmental effects in terms of built form or density and will result in a development that 

is consistent with what was envisioned for the site and that the First and Third methods identified in Wehbe are 

applicable and met in this instance.  

 

For the above reasons, it is considered that compliance with the FSR development standard is unreasonable and 

unnecessary in the circumstances of the case. 
  

272



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 11 
 

4.2 Clause 4.6(3)(b): Environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the development 

standard 

The following matters are environmental planning grounds which are considered to justify the contravention of the 

FSR development standard. Each relate specifically to Building G, the element of the proposed development which 

causes the contravention of the development standard.  

4.2.1 Ground 1 – Demand for commercial floor space within Surry Hills  

Section 4.1.2 of this report has demonstrated that the site is within an area forecast to experience significant job 

growth. This will be driven by a growing local population and ongoing low office vacancy rates within the CBD. 

Building G will provide employment generating land uses which will assist to accommodate this forecast growth.  

 

Building G provides floor plates which are between 650m² and 950m². An examination of the historical and current 

rental listings between 2015 and 2018 illustrates a gap in the market for offices with these size floor plates in the 

Surry Hills and Redfern area (Refer to Appendix A).  

 

This trend is demonstrated in Table 1.  

Table 1 Commercial Rentals in Surry Hills and Redfern (December 2015 – August 2018) 

Floorspace (sqm) Number Proportion (%) Average sqm Days listed 

< 200 188 39.09 109 143 

200 – 650 152 31.60 348 150 

650 – 950 42 8.73 800 132 

> 950 99 20.58 2020 146 

 

Table 2 (which comprises data extracted from Appendix A) demonstrates a lack of supply for floorspace of between 

650m² and 950m² as commercial rentals for this floor space accounted for only 8.7% of all commercial properties 

being leased in the Redfern and Surry Hills area. 

 

Table 1 also demonstrates that, aligned with the lack of supply for floorspace of between 650m² and 950m², is a 

strong demand for tenancies of this size, with this size floorspace having the lowest average number of days listed 

on the market.  

 

The proposed supply of floor space between 650m² and 950m² in Building G can also assist in the retention of 

existing established and medium sized businesses (of around 40 to 70 employees) in the locality which are currently 

struggling to find office space of appropriate scale (refer to Table 2 which comprises data extracted from Appendix 

A). 

Table 2 Location Opportunities for Businesses in Professional Services 

Business type Floorspace (sqm) Approximate size of firm Location opportunities 

Micro / emerging < 200 < 13 workers Balanced 

Small 200 – 650 13 – 43 workers Balanced 

Established / medium 650 – 950 43 – 63 workers Constrained 

Established / large > 950 >63 Balanced 

 

Although small businesses currently have balanced location opportunities, for expansion, they may be unable to find 

suitable office floor space within Surry Hills / Redfern, forcing their relocation outside the area. The proposed 

provision of commercial floor space within Building G will assist to improve the level of appropriately sized floor 

space for these small businesses as well as existing established, and medium sized businesses.  

 

If Building G were to provide smaller floor plates, the proposed development could comply with the FSR 

development standard, but it would not meet the strong market demand for commercial floor space between 650m² 

and 950m². The benefits associated with providing in demand yet undersupplied floorspace and retaining existing 

business within the Surry Hills / Redfern area would however be lost.  

 

273



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 12 
 

On balance, these benefits are considered to provide a better planning outcome for the site and the Surry Hills / 

Redfern area and cater to specific demand which would otherwise not be achieved with a compliant floor space of 

2:1. 

4.2.2 Ground 2 – Impacts on surrounding development 

The primary matters for consideration are the existing low scale residential terraces directly to the west of Building 

G, along Marriott Street. To determine any additional impact on these terraces from Building G, the built form of the 

building has been compared to the impacts which would otherwise occur if the building was designed in accordance 

with the site-specific DCP.  

Overshadowing impacts of Building G 

SJB has prepared a shadow analysis for the proposed development (refer to Appendix A and Section 3.0 of the 

Addendum SEE). The study demonstrates the shadow impacts generated from Building G as proposed, and the 

shadow impacts generated from Building G if it were to be developed in accordance with the site-specific DCP. 

 

The analysis has been undertaken in one-hour intervals between 9:00am and 3:00pm on the most recent winter 

solstice (21 June). 

 

The analysis demonstrates that the existing residential terraces along Marriott Street are subject to overshadowing 

between 9:00am and 10:00am (refer to Figure 3 and Figure 4). This occurs regardless of whether Building G was to 

be developed as proposed, or in accordance with the site-specific DCP.  

 

It is recognised that Building G (as proposed) does increase the extent of overshadowing to the northern most 

terraces along Marriott Street at 9:00am. It is gone by 10:00am however when the shadow falls largely on the street 

(refer to Figure 4 ). 

 

This causes a shadow only slightly larger than that which would be created under the site-specific DCP, lasts only 

for one hour, and is considered on balance to be a nominal additional adverse impact in terms of overshadowing to 

the terraces along Marriott Street.  

 

From 10:00am, the existing residential terraces to the west of the site along Marriott Street are not subject to any 

overshadowing by the proposed development (refer to Figure 5 to Figure 7).  

 

 

Figure 3 Building G DCP envelope (left) and Building G proposed (right) – 9:00am 

Source: SJB 

  

274



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 13 
 

 

Figure 4 Building G DCP envelope (left) and Building G proposed (right) – 10:00am 

Source: SJB 

 

The significant positive economic and employment benefits associated within the size of the floor plates is 

considered to provide a positive outcome for the site and on balance is considered to outweigh the minor additional 

overshadowing cast to the west between 9:00am and 10:00am.  

 

Building G also provides an improved solar outcome (from 12:00pm) for the western portion of the retail laneway of 

the site, compared to that which would be otherwise be provided under the site-specific DCP.  

 

 

Figure 5 Building G DCP envelope (left) and Building G proposed (right) – 11:00am 

Source: SJB 

 

 

275



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 14 
 

 

 

Figure 6 Building G DCP envelope (left) and Building G proposed (right) – 12:00pm 

Source: SJB 

 

 

Figure 7 Building G DCP envelope (left) and Building G proposed (right) – 1:00pm 

Source: SJB 

Visual privacy and intrusion  

Under the site-specific DCP and competitive design process for the site, Building G was envisioned to 

accommodate residential units. Following ongoing design development and the recommendation of the design 

excellence panel, Building G is now proposed for a non-residential (commercial) land use.  

 

This will remove a habitable interface from the Marriott Street frontage and ensure Building G does not cause any 

potential issues associated with visual privacy to the residential terraces to the west.  

Heritage conservation  

Building G is adjacent the Former Bank of NSW. The building provides appropriate separation and remains 

sympathetic to the existing heritage item notwithstanding the fact that it exceeds the FSR development standard. 

Building G and does intrude into the footprint of the remnant sections of the heritage building. This ensures:  

 The scaling and detail of Building G does not dominant the heritage item;  

 Sightlines to the Heritage building are not impeded from Cleveland Street; and  

 The sense of scale of the heritage item is not lost, and its strong street presence, addressing its prominent 

corner location, is not diminished. 

276



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 15 
 

4.2.3 Ground 3 – Improved residential amenity  

As detailed in Section 2.0, under the competitive design process for the site, Building G was envisioned for 

residential use. A recommendation from the Design Excellence Panel, inter alia, was to reconsider the use of 

Building G due to its location directly adjacent Cleveland Street.  

 

The recommendation triggered further design development which determined that a non-residential use would be 

more appropriate for Building G. If residential units were to front Cleveland Street (as was proposed under the 

competitive design process) they would experience a lower level of residential amenity, caused from the ongoing 

traffic and activity along the street front. 

 

Cleveland Street is identified as a State Road, being a main vehicular thoroughfare connecting the Princess 

Highway to the west and South Dowling Street to the east. Two bus stops (route 355 and the Metrobus route M50) 

are also located along Cleveland Street directly in front of the site. Finally, strip retailing, containing a range of 

convenience, retail, food and beverage outlets likely to be active during weekdays and weekends is located along 

Cleveland Street in close proximity to the site. 

 

The commercial use of Building G is considered a better planning outcome, separating residents from Cleveland 

Street. This provides residents overall within an improved outcome which better responds to the constraints of 

Cleveland Street. 

4.2.4 Ground 4 – Social and economic benefits  

The use of Building G for commercial (office) purposes will improve the number of economic and social benefits 

associated with the proposed development. 

 

The floor plates proposed for Building G will help to reduce the current undersupply of office floor space within the 

fringe CBD and improve employment opportunities within Surry Hills / Redfern. The floor plates proposed for 

Building G are of a specific size to help address a significant gap in commercial floor space within Surry Hills / 

Redfern (as discussed above). 

 

This will provide an opportunity to deliver an office product which allows emerging and small business to evolve 

within Surry Hills / Redfern and provide opportunities for medium-sized business to remain in the area (refer to 

Section 4.2.1). This could not be achieved if the floor plates for Building G were reduced to below 650m² to ensure 

a development compliant with the FSR development standard.  

 

More broadly: 

 Building G will improve the number of employment options within the Surry Hills / Redfern area and increase the 

number of permanent office jobs on the site;  

 Building G will accommodate jobs most likely related to Professional, Scientific and Technical Services industry 

in an area with a relatively high proportion of highly educated workers;  

 Building G will provide significant pedestrian and site activation to the Marriott Street and Baptist Street 

frontage;  

 Building G will accommodate jobs in a highly accessible, amenity rich location;  

 The workforce created from Building G will contribute to critical mass on the site and increase local expenditure 

available to the local area; and  

 Building G provides additional environmentally sustainable design enhancements over and above those 

required under the site-specific VPA. These include a cross laminated timber construction methodology and 

provision of additional solar panels (refer to Section 4.24 of the SEE) and represents best practice 

environmentally sustainable design.  

4.2.5 Ground 5 – Site suitability  

The amount of commercial use within Building G is appropriate to the site’s zoning and location within the Surry 

Hills Town Centre. The site is highly accessible, in walking distance to a range of existing and future transport 

277



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 16 
 

options (refer to Section 4.3.2). The commercial use proposed for Building G will be consistent with the existing 

commercial land use pattern running east and west along Cleveland Street.  

4.2.6 Conclusion on clause 4.6(3)(b) 

The preceding environmental planning grounds relate specifically to Building G, the element of the proposed 

development which causes contravention to FSR development standard. They demonstrate that Building G 

contributes to a significantly better planning outcome for the site and is suitable to the locality.  

4.3 Clause 4.6(4)(a)(ii): In the public interest because it is consistent with the objectives of the zone 

and development standard 

4.3.1 Consistency with objectives of the development standard 

The proposed development is consistent with the objectives of the FSR development standard, for the reasons 

discussed in Section 4.1.2 of this report. 

4.3.2 Consistency with objectives of the zone 

The proposed development is consistent with the objectives of the B2 Local Centre Zone, as demonstrated below. 

Objective (a): To provide a range of retail, business, entertainment and community uses that serve the 

needs of people who live in, work in and visit the local area 

The proposed development provides a mix of uses that will directly service the needs of people who live, work and 

visit the local area. Building G in particular will provide floor space for business, and employment opportunities for 

people who work in the local area (refer to Section 4.2.1).  

 

The proposed development also provides a range of retail outlets and a dedicated Coles supermarket. These uses 

will directly serve the residents of the proposed development and existing local residents in the locality. The site 

provides a concentration of retail services in one location due to the number and variation and different retail outlets 

proposed. The site can therefore service a greater number of retail needs for people who live, work and visit the 

local area without the need for ongoing commuting. 

Objective (b): To encourage employment opportunities in accessible locations 

The proposed development will contain enhanced commercial floor space, including retail and office premises. 

These uses will provide direct and indirect employment opportunities on the site on both a permanent and part-time 

basis. 

 

The site is also located in an accessible location: 

 It is in walking distance (1.5km) of Redfern and Central Railway Station, located west and north west of the site, 

respectively. Both stations provide adjoining bus routes, forming a transport cluster. Central Station also 

provides a connection to the Sydney Light Rail Network;  

 Two bus stops (route 355 and the Metrobus route M50) are located along Cleveland Street, directly in front of 

the site’s primary frontage. Route 355 provides connections from Marrickville to Bondi via Moore Park and 

Erskineville while the M50 provides a metro service from Coogee to Drummoyne via Rozelle and Randwick;  

 Two bus stops (route 302 and 303) are located along Baptist Street, along the eastern frontage of the site. 

Route 301 provides access from Eastgardens to Circular Quay via Kingsford while route 303 provides access 

from Sans Souci to Circular Quay;  

 The future South East Light Rail Link will include a light rail stop approximately 550m north of the site, on the 

corner of Marlborough and Devonshire Streets;  

 The future Waterloo Station, forming part of Sydney Metro, will be located approximately 1.6km south west of 

the site; and   

 The site is easily accessible by bicycle via the existing road network. It is noted the proposed development will 

provide end of trip facilities for all the commercial uses onsite to encourage active transport uses. 

278



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 17 
 

Objective (c): To maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling 

The proposed development provides bicycle parking and end of trip facilities for both the residential and commercial 

uses for the site. This will encourage residents and employees to utilise active forms of transport such as walking 

and cycling.  

 

As detailed above, the site is located in walking distance to a number of existing and future public transport options. 

This will help maximise the use of public transport patronage to and from the site. 

Objective (d): To allow appropriate residential uses so as to support the vitality of local centres 

The proposed development provides a total of 157 residential units. The residential population on the site will 

provide a suitable level of permanent critical mass to support the Surry Hills located centre. Residents will increase 

local expenditure which will likely improve the trading viability and profitability for businesses along Cleveland Street 

and Crown Street. 

4.3.3 Conclusion on clause 4.6(4)(a)(ii) 

The proposed development, notwithstanding the variation to the FSR development standard, is in the public interest 

because it remains consistent with the objectives of the standard and the objectives of the B2 Local Centre.  

4.4 Other Matters for Consideration 

Under clause 4.6(5), in deciding whether to grant concurrence, the Director-General must consider the following 

matters: 

(5)  In deciding whether to grant concurrence, the Secretary must consider: 

(a) whether contravention of the development standard raises any matter of significance for State or 

regional environmental planning, and 

(b) the public benefit of maintaining the development standard, and 

(c) any other matters required to be taken into consideration by the Secretary before granting 

concurrence. 

These matters are addressed in detail below. 

4.4.1 Clause 4.6(5)(a): Whether contravention of the development standard raises any matter of 

significance for State or regional environmental planning 

The variation of the FSR development standard does not raise any matter of significance for State or regional 

planning. We do note, however, that the proposed development is consistent with the most recent metropolitan plan 

for Sydney, A Plan for Growing Sydney in that it: 

 Provides accommodation and services to meet the needs of the local population, both at the present time and in 

the future as Sydney’s population grows and ages;  

 Improves the site’s capability to provide local employment opportunities, both in the short and long term; and  

 Is well located next to an array of public transport options. 

4.4.2 Clause 4.6(5)(b): The public benefit of maintaining the development standard 

There is no public benefit in maintaining the FSR development standard on the site. Strict adherence to the FSR 

development standard would require Building G to provide smaller floor plates which does would not align to the 

current demand and significant gap in floor space between 650m² and 950m² identified in the Surry Hills / Redfern 

area (refer to Section 4.2.1), or would revert the building to a residential use which will reduce the diversity and 

amenity of the site and surrounding area. 

 

Maintaining and enforcing the development standard in this case would prevent Building G being developed to a 

point where it provides the most economic benefit to the local area.  

279



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 18 
 

4.4.3 Clause 5.6(5)(c): Any other matters required to be taken into consideration by the Secretary 

before granting concurrence. 

There are no other matters required to be taken into account by the Secretary.  
  

280



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 19 
 

5.0 Conclusion 

This assessment demonstrates that compliance with the Floor Space Ratio development standard contained in 

clause 4.4 of the SLEP 2012 is unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances of the case and that there are 

sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify the variation to the standard.  

 

It is considered that the variation allows for the orderly and economic use of the land in an appropriate manner, 

whilst also allowing for a better outcome in planning terms. The proposed development will help to reduce a 

significant gap in commercial office floor space within the Surry Hills / Redfern area and contribute to the retention 

of business within the locality which is consistent with the desired character of the area.  

 

This clause 4.6 variation request demonstrates that, notwithstanding the non-compliance with the FSR development 

standard: 

 The proposed development achieves the objectives of clause 4.4 – Floor Space Ratio in the SLEP 2012, as: 

− It will make a significant contribution to the provision of sufficient floor space to meet anticipated 

development needs for the foreseeable future, particularly medium sized commercial floor space within 

Surry Hills;  

− It will have an appropriate density, built form and land use intensity;  

− It will not generate an unacceptable amount of additional vehicle and pedestrian traffic; 

− The proposed floor space and intensity of the development, is commensurate with, and can be 

accommodated on the site without unreasonably impacting, existing and planned infrastructure (including 

from vehicle and pedestrian traffic generated by the development) particularly considering the proximity of 

the site to public transport options including busses, future light rail and Central and Redfern train stations; 

and  

− The built form reflects the desired character of the locality; and 

− It minimises adverse impacts on the locality including in terms of overshadowing, visual impact, and loss of 

privacy.  

 The underlying object or purpose of the FSR development standard would be defeated or thwarted if 

compliance was required as it would reduce the diversity of commercial and retail uses sought in the locality 

statement for Cleveland Street and would specifically fail to achieve objective (a) and objective (d) of the 

development standard. 

 There are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify the contravention of the FSR development 

standard including the following: 

− The variation to the FSR development standard enables commercial floor areas of between 650m² and 

950m² to be provided on the site in circumstances where there is a demonstrated lack of supply of 

floorspace of that size and, consequently, a strong demand for tenancies of that size; 

− The proposed supply of commercial floor space between 650m² and 950m² in Building G can assist in the 

retention of existing established and medium sized businesses (of around 40 to 70 employees) in the 

locality which are currently struggling to find office space of the appropriate scale; 

− The additional FSR only gives rise to nominal additional overshadowing with the impact limited to the 

northern most terraces along Marriott Street and it only occurs between 9:00am and 10:00am. 

− Building G provides an appropriate separation and remains sympathetic to the existing heritage item on the 

site notwithstanding the fact that it exceeds the FSR development standard. Building G does not adversely 

affect the scale of the heritage item, ensuring its strong presence and prominent corner position is not lost. 

− The development of Building G for a commercial building rather than a residential building removes a 

habitable interface from the Marriott Street frontage and ensures that Building G does not cause any 

potential visual privacy impacts to the residential terraces to the west. 

− If residential units were to front Cleveland Street (as was proposed under the competitive design process) 

they would experience a lower level of residential amenity, caused from the ongoing traffic and activity 

along the street front. 

281



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Clause 4.6 Variation | 16 May 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  11 October 2019 20 
 

− The use of Building G for commercial (office) purposes (rather than residential) will improve the number of 

economic and social benefits associated with the proposed development. 

− The amount of commercial floor space proposed within Building G is appropriate to the site’s zoning and 

highly accessible location within the Surry Hills Town Centre, being walking distance to a range of existing 

and future transport options. 

− The reduction in the area of floor plates within Building G so as to bring the development into compliance 

with the FSR development standard would have ramifications for the commercial viability of that building 

and may result in it reverting back to a commercial use, which is considered to be a poorer planning 

outcome than that which is now proposed. 

 The proposed development is consistent with the objectives of the B2 Local Centre Zone as it; 

− Enables a mix of retail and business uses to be accommodated on the site that will directly service the 

needs of people who live in, work in and visit the local area; 

− Provides a mix of commercial premises including retail and office premises which will provide direct and 

indirect employment opportunities;  

− Provides employment generating uses in an accessible location;  

− Provides bicycle storage facilities to encourage cycling; 

− Provides a through site link to optimise accessibility and walkability; and 

− Includes appropriate residential uses so as to support the vitality of the locality. 

 The proposed development provides additional employment generating land uses which are in line with the 

forecast growth of Surry Hills / Redfern and are consistent with the relevant local and State strategic plans; and 

 The proposed development (including the proposed variation to the FSR development standard) is in the public 

interest.  

 

Therefore, the DA may be approved with the variation as proposed in accordance with the flexibility allowed under 

clause 4.6 of the SLEP 2012.  

 

 

 

 

282



Attachment E 

Competitive Design Alternatives Report – 
14 June 2018 

 

  

 

283



 

 Competitive Design Alternatives Report 
 

2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, 
Redfern 

Surry Hills Shopping Village 

 

Submitted to City of Sydney 

On behalf of Surry Hills Project Pty Limited 

 

14 June 2018 | 15453 

  

 
 
 

284



285



Contents 

Ethos Urban   
 

 

1.0 Introduction 2 
2.0 Competitive Process 2 
2.1 Competitors 2 
2.2 Competitive Process Manager 2 
2.3 Technical Advisors 2 
2.4 Selection Panel 3 
2.5 City of Sydney Observers 3 
2.6 Recommendation Process 3 

3.0 Chronology of Events 4 
4.0 Design Alternatives Considered 5 
4.1 Competitor Submissions 5 

5.0 Selection Panel Recommendation 12 
6.0 Conclusion 13 
 
 
 

Figures 
Figure 1 Bates Smart Proposed Scheme 6 
Figure 2 Photomontage viewed from Cleveland Street 6 
Figure 3 Woods Bagot Proposed Scheme 7 
Figure 4 Photomontage viewed from Cleveland Street 8 
Figure 5 DKO Proposed Scheme 9 
Figure 6 Photomontage viewed from Cleveland Street 9 
Figure 7 SJB Photomontage of the scheme 11 
Figure 8 Photomontage viewed from Cleveland Street 11 
 
 

Tables 
Table 1 Chronology of Competition Events 4 
 
 

Appendices 

 
 A  Competitive Design Alternatives Process Brief  

Toga 
 
 B  Notification of result letters to competitors  

Toga

286



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Competitive Design Alternatives Report | 5 June 2018 

 

Ethos Urban  |  15453  2 
 

1.0 Introduction 

This Competitive Design Alternatives Report has been prepared by Ethos Urban for Toga Project Services Pty Ltd 
(Toga) (Proponent’s Representative) on behalf of Surry Hills Project Pty Limited (Proponent) in respect of the 
competitive design process undertaken for the Surry Hills Shopping Village (the site) also referred to as 2-38 Baptist 
Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern. This report summarises:  

 The competitive process;  

 The alternatives presented; and  

 The Selection Panel’s deliberations and recommendation.  

 
This report should be read in conjunction with the Competitive Design Alternatives Process Brief (the Brief), dated 
March 2018, a copy of which is provided at Appendix A.  
 
The competitive process was conducted in accordance with the Brief, which was endorsed by the City of Sydney 
Council (the City) and issued to the competitors at the commencement of the competitive process. 

2.0 Competitive Process 

The competitive process for the Surry Hills Shopping Village was conducted in accordance with the protocols for 
Competitive Design Alternatives Processes as outlined in the City of Sydney Competitive Design Policy 2013 (as 
amended) (the Competitive Design Policy). 

2.1 Competitors 

The Proponent invited four (4) competitors, being a partnership of architectural firms, to prepare design alternatives 
in response to the Brief. The competitors who were invited to participate in the process were selected based on their 
reputation and experience for high quality design. The four selected competitors were (in alphabetical order): 
 

 Bates Smart, Chenchow Little and Luchetti Krelle; 

 DKO, Archer Office, Hames Sharley, Tribe and Aspect Studio; 

 SJB, Architect Prineas and Aspect Studio; and 

 Woods Bagot, Alexander & Co and Christopher Owen Landscape Design. 

2.2 Competitive Process Manager 

Toga were engaged by the Proponent to act as the Competitive Process Manager. 

2.3 Technical Advisors 

The Proponent made available the following Technical Advisors to both competitors and the Selection Panel: 

 Planning (Ethos Urban); 

 Cost Planning (Toga Development & Construction); 

 Structural Engineer (Robert Bird Group); 

 Building and Construction (Toga Development & Construction); and 

 Services Engineer (Building Services Engineer). 

 

287



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Competitive Design Alternatives Report | 5 June 2018 

 

Ethos Urban  |  15453  3 
 

At the midpoint review, the technical advisors provided comment on competitors’ works in progress and responded 
to questions from the competitors.  The technical advisors sent through formal advice to the Competition Manager 
on potential issues raised. 

 

2.4 Selection Panel 

The Selection Panel chosen by the Proponent, in consultation with the City, comprised the following members: 

 Two (2) panel members nominated by the Proponent: 

1.  Fabrizio Perilli; and  

2.  Jeffrey Klein.  

 Two (2) independent experts nominated by the City of Sydney:  

1.  Darlene van der Breggen (chair); and 

2.  Paul Berkemeier. 

 

Importantly, the Selection Panel members all have expertise and experience in the design and construction industry 
(including two registered architects with urban design expertise). Each Selection Panel member agreed at the 
commencement of the competitive process to fulfil the following obligations: 

 Have no contact with any of the Competitors or Proponent in relation to the site and the Competition from their 
time of appointment until the completion of the process other than during presentations of the submissions;  

 Evaluate entries promptly in accordance with the timetable; 

 Abide by the requirements of the Brief; 

 Consider planning or other technical advice provided by the City of Sydney; and 

 Refrain from introducing irrelevant considerations in addition to, or contrary to those described in the Brief, or 
contrary to the statutory framework relevant to the site.  

The substantial breadth and depth of experience across the Selection Panel ensured there was considerable 
debate and rigour applied during the deliberation and recommendation process.  

2.5 City of Sydney Observers 

In accordance with the Competitive Design Policy, the following Council staff were present as observers during 
different points of the competitive design alternatives process:  

 Anita Morandini, Design Excellence Manager, City Planning Development & Transport; 
 Ben Chamie, Design Excellence Co-ordinator, City Planning Development & Transport 

 Marie Ierufi, Planner, Strategic Planning & Urban Design; and 

 Christopher Ashworth, Senior Planner, Planning Assessments. 

2.6 Recommendation Process 

The recommendation process was based on the written material supplied (including drawings), as well as the 
presentations given to the Selection Panel by each competitor. Consideration was given to the planning, 
commercial, land-use design objectives set out in Section 8.0 to 11.0 of the Brief.  
 
The Selection Panel reached a unanimous decision in recommending a preferred winner of the competitive design 
process which was SJB, Architect Prineas and Aspect Studio. 
 
An overview of the design alternatives presented and the recommendations of the Selection Panel, is outlined in the 
following sections of this report.  
 

288



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Competitive Design Alternatives Report | 5 June 2018 

 

Ethos Urban  |  15453  4 
 

 
 

3.0 Chronology of Events 

The competitive process has involved a series of briefings, meetings, and presentations, which have helped the 
competitors in the creation of their schemes and assisted the Selection Panel and the Proponent in their review of 
the four design alternatives presented.  
 
The chronology of the key events is outlined in Table 1. 

Table 1 Chronology of Competition Events 

Date Competition Event  

Friday 9 March 2018  Commencement Date  

Tuesday 13 March 2018  Briefing Session and Site Visit  

Wednesday 4 April 2018  Progress Submission Lodgement Date  

Thursday 11 April 2018  Progress Session Date  

Tuesday 1 May 2018  Final Submissions Lodgement Date 

Thursday 2 May – Wednesday 9 May 
2018  

Technical Advisor Review  

Tuesday 8 May 2018  Presentation Material Lodgement Date  

Thursday 14 May 2018  Presentation Date  

Thursday 14 May 2018 Decision Date 

Wednesday 16 May 2018 (Within 14 days 
of Decision Date) 

Competitors were notified of the result 

Within 21 days of Decision Date  Competitive Design Alternatives Report  

 

289



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Competitive Design Alternatives Report | 5 June 2018 

 

Ethos Urban  |  15453  5 
 

 

4.0 Design Alternatives Considered 

4.1 Competitor Submissions 

4.1.1  Bates Smart + Chenchow Little + Luchetti Krelle 

The Bates Smart, Chenchow Little and Luchetti Krelle submission retained the site planning specified in the Sydney 
Development Control Plan 2012 (SDCP) and was consistent with the Brief.  
 
The Selection Panel considered that the Cleveland Street building was one of the strengths of the proposal and that 
it was well resolved but noted the façade would need further work.  
 
The Selection Panel considered that the retail component was very good in terms of the scale and configuration of 
the spaces and “makes you want to go shopping”. 
 
The Selection Panel thought that the proposed 3 storey community building marking the Cooper Street frontage had 
great potential and was well located. The Selection Panel thought that in this instance, excess height in this location 
could be considered as the community building would be publicly accessible and would need to be more highly 
visible from external approaches.  
 
In terms of the residential buildings, there were two clearly identifiable entries which were generous. However, there 
is an overall disparity of architectural strategies across the site – with the Baptist Street buildings having a very 
different style to the Marriott and Cooper Street buildings.  The geometry of the terrace frontages was overly 
complex, not just in terms of internal planning efficiency but also in its suitability for the understated character of 
Marriott Street. The resolution of terrace frontages on Cooper Street was similarly unsuited to the purpose and 
setting with an irregular balcony and column configuration that could have been much simplified. 
 
The Selection Panel noted that the basements were very well planned with no dead ends and well-coordinated with 
lifts and column grids. It was the most convenient and user-friendly basement layout of the four proposals. 
 
The Selection Panel noted that the proposal had the “bones” of a good scheme. The Bates Smart, Chenchow Little 
and Luchetti Krelle submission is presented in Figures 1 and 2. 

290



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Competitive Design Alternatives Report | 5 June 2018 

 

Ethos Urban  |  15453  6 
 

 
Figure 1 Bates Smart Proposed Scheme 
Source: Bates Smart +Chenchow Little 
 

 

Figure 2 Photomontage viewed from Cleveland Street 
 Source: Bates Smart +Chenchow Little 

291



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Competitive Design Alternatives Report | 5 June 2018 

 

Ethos Urban  |  15453  7 
 

 

4.1.2  Woods Bagot Alexander & Co Christopher Owen Landscape Design 

The submission prepared by Woods Bagot, Alexander & Co Christopher Owen Landscape Design was the most 
consistent with the massing prescribed by the SDCP and the Brief.  
 
The Selection Panel noted the proposal had an interesting and strong narrative to support the retail strategy but did 
not feel that it was successfully carried through to the design for the remaining uses. The main through site link had 
potential but would require additional work to ensure that the commercial spaces were suitably activated.  
 
The proposal included a glazed feature element to mark the Cleveland Street entry and to provide transparency 
from Cleveland Street into the new retail laneway.  Its shape and use of materials was considered inappropriate 
especially considering the character of the adjacent historic building.  As the levels of this link were also not fully 
resolved it was thought that this element would require significant modification. 
 
The form and materiality of the Cleveland Street commercial building was unconvincing both as a landmark for the 
site and in the context of the Cleveland Street corridor.   
 
The Panel felt that the design of the residential component was sound, although not especially progressive. Further 
details would be required for solar access and natural cross ventilation to ensure compliance with SEPP 65 and the 
ADG. 
 
There was concern that there was little setback or scale transition of the Marriott Street frontage to mediate with the 
lower scale of terraces opposite.  
 
Overall, the Selection Panel considered that the Woods Bagot submission was not a convincing architectural 
strategy for the site. The Woods Bagot submission is presented in Figures 3 and 4. 

 

Figure 3 Woods Bagot Proposed Scheme 
Source: Woods Bagot Alexander & Co Christopher Owen Landscape Design 

 

292



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Competitive Design Alternatives Report | 5 June 2018 

 

Ethos Urban  |  15453  8 
 

 

Figure 4 Photomontage viewed from Cleveland Street 
Source: Woods Bagot Alexander & Co Christopher Owen Landscape Design 
 

4.1.3  DKO+ Archer Office + Tribe + Aspect Studios + Hames Sharley 

The DKO, Archer Office, Tribe, Aspect Studios and Hames Sharley submission presented an alternative building 
massing to that of the SDCP and the Brief.  
 
The proposal reconfigured Building B to be positioned perpendicular to Baptist Street to create a new civic space - 
Baptist Square. The Selection Panel acknowledged the advantages of re-locating Building B, but felt that it did not 
provide a good sense of enclosure to the retail space and would be unpleasant in poor weather.   
 
The submission also proposed a commercial building to Cleveland Street which was a timber framed construction 
enclosed by a metal louvre system. The Selection Panel considered the materials and overall form to be 
unsympathetic to the site and the surrounding context, due to the clash of materiality with the heritage item and the 
architectural character of the building.  
 
The Selection Panel noted there was diversity in architectural language however the buildings were too disparate 
and seemed to lack a coherent theme or narrative. The proposed Cooper Street building featured an extensive 
blank frontage that did not engage with the streetscape.  Some of the materials, such as the perforated metal 
claddings, were considered unsuitable.   The Baptist Street frontage was not well resolved.  
 
The Selection Panel considered that this was probably the most buildable scheme due to the structural regularity of 
the basement and apartment layouts. 
 
Overall, the Selection Panel considered that the DKO + Archer Office + Tribe + Aspect Studios + Hames Sharley 
submission did not present a coherent architectural strategy for the site. The DKO + Archer Office + Tribe + Aspect 
Studios + Hames Sharley submission is presented in Figures 5 and 6. 
 

293



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Competitive Design Alternatives Report | 5 June 2018 

 

Ethos Urban  |  15453  9 
 

 

Figure 5 DKO Proposed Scheme 
Source: DKO+Archer Office+Tribe+Aspect Studios+Hames Sharley 

 
Figure 6 Photomontage viewed from Cleveland Street  
Source: DKO+Archer Office+Tribe+Aspect Studios+Hames Sharley 
 

294



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Competitive Design Alternatives Report | 5 June 2018 

 

Ethos Urban  |  15453  10 
 

4.1.4 SJB + Architect Prineas +Aspect Studios 

The SJB, Architect Prineas and Aspect Studio submission presented an alternative building massing to that of the 
SDCP and the Brief.  
 
The alternative envelope projects into the central open space area to create three distinct internal courtyard areas 
instead of a single central open space as in the SDCP.  The redistribution of building mass also enabled a lower 
frontage to Marriott Street which better suited the scale of the existing terraces.  
 
The Selection Panel noted that the proposal had a different but interesting approach to the making of public space 
in terms of public and private use and that the intimacy of the space was to be commended. The Selection Panel 
noted that while the scheme departs from the SDCP envelopes, it has the most merit and which would require 
Council’s support. The Selection Panel also considered that thought and care had gone into the design of the open 
spaces with the same level of design thinking as for the internal spaces - such as provision of places to sit, furniture 
storage locations etc.  
 
The separation of the residential component from retail uses worked well in terms of managing incompatible 
impacts such as noise and odours. The Selection Panel also noted that the design of the Cleveland Street corner 
was clever because it celebrates the corner and ideally enables retention of the existing trees.  
 
The Selection Panel also noted that the scheme included delightfully whimsical elements that provided a distinctive 
identity and character. There was a genuine understanding of the character of the area and a lot of thought had 
gone into the design of the apartments, even down to the uniquely shaped windows.  The planning strategy that 
enabled apartments to be no more than one stair flight from communal garden areas was also commendable.  
 
There was considerable thought to materiality and detailing, with more intricacy and articulation to the lower levels 
and street frontages, supporting upper levels with less variety in material or colour.  The design is also potentially 
suited to modularisation, although this would require further investigation.  
 
The proposed Marriott Street sunken apartments were considered, to have potential to add to the diversity of 
residential options on site, but a further review of light, ventilation and security would be required as the design is 
developed.  
 
The Selection Panel had concerns with the long corridors within the residential component of the development and 
recommended that these should be considered in more detail.  
 
The Selection Panel considered that the response to site planning and the benefits to residential amenity and public 
domain, combined with the level of design resolution in this submission were the key factors in selecting SJB, 
Architect Prineas and Aspect Studio as the winner. The SJB submission is presented in Figure 7 and 8. 
 

295



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Competitive Design Alternatives Report | 5 June 2018 

 

Ethos Urban  |  15453  11 
 

 

Figure 7 SJB Photomontage of the scheme 
Source: SJB + Architect Prineas +Aspect Studios 
 

 

Figure 8 Photomontage viewed from Cleveland Street  
Source: SJB + Architect Prineas +Aspect Studios

296



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Competitive Design Alternatives Report | 5 June 2018 

 

Ethos Urban  |  15453  12 
 

 

5.0 Selection Panel Recommendation 

The SJB + Architect Prineas +Aspect Studios scheme was recommended as the preferred proposal by the 
Selection Panel. This recommendation was accepted by the Proponent. The Selection Panel noted that this scheme 
has the most potential for design excellence for the following reasons:  
 

 The proposal is of very high quality and demonstrates a thorough and thoughtful understanding of the area; 

 There is a diverse range of unique apartment types and a “delightfully whimsical” architectural language;  

 Sophisticated thinking in the relationship of public and private spaces, with well thought-out concepts for the 
courtyards that provided both intimate and communal spaces;  

 The separation of residential from retail was well resolved; 

 Internal residential and retail layouts were the best resolved. The Coles brick arch entry concept was interesting 
and will require further studies;  

 The redistribution of building envelope to reduce the scale of the Cooper and Marriott Street buildings was 
supported;  

 The robustness of the design lends itself to ‘push and pull’ adjustments to ensure ADG compliance; 

 Good apartment layouts with light to living areas were provided;  

 Celebrating the Cleveland Street corner is clever urban design, ideally providing an opportunity to try and retain 
the existing mature trees;  

 The strategy for apartments being one flight of stairs from communal garden areas is commended; and 

 The simple external façades provide opportunities for innovative solutions such as modular construction.   

 
The Selection Panel noted that there are areas requiring further clarification and resolution, however, these could be 
resolved through design development. These matters are outlined below. 
 
 Further development and promotion of innovative technologies (e.g. modularisation);  

 Ensure GFA/FSR compliance is in accordance with City of Sydney’s Gross Floor Area definition in the Sydney 
Local Environmental Plan 2012; 

 Revise/confirmed drawings demonstrating SEPP 65 and ADG compliance, with particular attention to natural 
ventilation, natural cross ventilation and achieving suitable acoustic amenity within apartments;  

 Design measures to avoid noise transfer within and from the courtyards; 
 The suitability of the residential building fronting Cleveland Street; 

 Further consideration of another layer of texture/colour/materiality to upper level facades; 

 Review corridor lengths;  

 Review ground plane and common areas;  

 A clear statement on public vs private needs to be made to ensure that the residential communal spaces don’t 
intersect with public circulation and to avoid over-use of gating within communal spaces 

 Demonstrate deep soil zones and design detail to achieve ambitious landscaping/greening vision; and  

 Demonstrate sunken terraces have good security and access to light and air.  

 
The Selection Panel identified items to be retained throughout design and development including the following:  

 Greening of roof gardens and landscaping;  

297



2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern | Competitive Design Alternatives Report | 5 June 2018 

 

Ethos Urban  |  15453  13 
 

 Masonry elements at ground plane;  

 Innovation can be explored at tower level facades (e.g. Equitone, GRC, precast etc.);  

 Subtle changes to the retail component may be developed;  

 Celebration of Cleveland /Marriott Street corner;  

 Trees, particularly those on the corner of Cleveland and Marriott Streets, to be maintained where possible for 
community benefit; and  

 Expressiveness of the masonry bases particularly the chimney elements on the Marriott Street terraces.  

The above recommendations will be taken into consideration during the design development ahead of lodging a 
development application to the City of Sydney seeking consent for the construction of the buildings at Surry Hills 
Shopping Village. 

6.0 Conclusion 

This competitive design alternatives process has been carried out in a professional and thorough manner in 
accordance with the Brief, the Design Excellence Strategy and the Competitive Design Policy. This Competitive 
Design Alternatives Report documents the competitive process, provides an overview of the design alternatives 
presented, and confirms the Selection Panel’s recommendation of SJB, Architect Prineas and Aspect Studios as the 
successful architects.  
 
The Selection Panel considers that subject to the recommendations outlined in this report, and further design 
development in consultation with Council, the SJB, Architect Prineas and Aspect Studios design demonstrates an 
urban form that responds to the immediate and wider context of the site and is best able to achieve design 
excellence.  
 
Overall, the significant efforts made by all competitors are recognised and the Selection Panel and Proponent wish 
to thank SJB, Architect Prineas, Aspect Studios, DKO, Archer Office, Tribe, Hames Sharley, Woods Bagot, 
Alexander & Co, Christopher Owen Landscape Design, Bates Smart, Chenchow Little and Luchetti Krelle for their 
participation. 

298



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Development Application: 194 & 196-204 Pitt Street, Sydney – D/2018/1246 

File No.: D/2018/1246 

Summary 

Date of Submission: 17 October 2018, amended 17 June 2019 

Applicant: Chairman of City Tattersall's Club 

Architect/Designer: Francis-Jones Morehen Thorp Pty Ltd 

Developer: Innovative Construction & Development Pty Ltd 

Owner: Chairman of City Tattersall's Club 

Cost of Works: $271,763,760 

Zoning: Zone B8 Metropolitan Centre 

Proposal Summary: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Approval is sought for a concept building envelope up to a 
height of approximately 168 metres (50 storeys) for a 
future mixed use building including: 

 in-principle demolition of 196 Pitt Street; 

 partial demolition, conservation of significant fabric 
and adaptive re-use of the heritage items at 194, 
198-200 and 202-204 Pitt Street; and  

 excavation for five basement levels for bicycle 
parking, loading, storage and building services, 
accessed from Pitt Street. 

The indicative mix of uses proposed on the site include 
retail premises, the City Tattersall's Club (a registered 
club) and hotel accommodation in existing heritage 
buildings and a podium envelope, with the proposed tower 
form above accommodating residential apartments. The 
indicative concept design scheme submitted with the 
application shows that 245 apartments could be 
accommodated in the tower. 

 

1

Item 5.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The application is referred to the Central Sydney Planning 
Committee for determination as the proposal is “major 
development” for the purposes of the City of Sydney Act, 
1988. 

The proposed height complies with the Hyde Park West 
sun access plane controls applicable under Clause 6.17 of 
the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 
2012). 

A maximum Floor Space Ratio (FSR) of 13.4:1 is permitted 
under Clauses 4.4 and 6.4 of the Sydney LEP 2012, based 
upon the proportions of the proposed mix of indicative 
uses, with a further bonus of up to 10% available for any 
subsequent detailed building design, resulting from a 
design competition process demonstrating design 
excellence. The application is accompanied by an 
indicative concept design scheme demonstrating an 
envelope accommodating the maximum permitted Gross 
Floor Area (GFA), including the additional design 
excellence bonus. 

A competitive design process is proposed prior to the 
lodgement of a detailed design development application. 
This will seek up to an additional 10% floor space 
accommodated in the building envelopes, under Clause 
6.21(7) of the Sydney LEP 2012. 

The development site contains three heritage items. The 
exterior of the buildings and many of the internal features 
are of high significance. While the proposal will result in 
extensive works on the site, the heritage impacts are 
generally acceptable, subject to conditions. 

The proposal was amended on 17 June 2019 to address 
concerns raised by the City's Design Advisory Panel and 
Council staff. These concerns related to heritage 
conservation, transport, traffic and servicing, compliance 
with the State Environmental Planning Policy No 65—
Design Quality of Residential Apartment Development 
(SEPP 65) and the Apartment Design Guide (ADG), the 
design excellence strategy, Ecologically Sustainable 
Development (ESD) targets, flooding and landscape 
concept design. 

 

 

 

 

 

2



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

The original proposal was notified and advertised for a 
period of 28 days between 31 October 2018 and 29 
November 2018 and the amended application was notified 
and advertised for a period of 28 days between 24 June 
2019 and 23 July 2019. As a result of the notification of the 
original and amended proposals, there were a total of 
three submissions received, with two in support of the 
proposal and one which raised issues relating to building 
separation and setbacks, views, future connections to 
adjoining sites and impacts relating to traffic, parking, site 
servicing and pedestrian movements along Pitt Street. 

As a result of the design modifications made to the concept 
design and subject to conditions, the amended proposal 
presents an improved outcome and comprises a 
satisfactory response to the conditions of the site and 
locality. It is generally compliant with the relevant planning 
controls, and results in a form and scale that achieves the 
desired future character of the area. 

Summary Recommendation: The development application is recommended for 
approval, subject to conditions. 

Development Controls: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(i) Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 

(ii) Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 
2000 

(iii) City of Sydney Act 1988 

(iv) Roads Act 1993 

(v) Airports Act 1996 

(vi) Airports (Protection of Airspace) Regulations 1996 

(vii) State Environmental Planning Policy No.55—
Remediation of Land (SEPP 55) and the Managing 
Land Contamination Planning Guidelines (SEPP 55 
Guidelines) 

(viii) State Environmental Planning Policy No 65—Design 
Quality of Residential Apartment Development 
(SEPP 65) and the Apartment Design Guide (ADG) 

(ix) State Environmental Planning Policy (Building 
Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004 (BASIX SEPP) 

(x) State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 
2007 (Infrastructure SEPP) 

(xi) Sydney Harbour Regional Environmental Plan 
(Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005 

3



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(xii) Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 
2012) 

(xiii) Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 (Sydney 
DCP 2012) 

(xiv) Sydney Landscape Code Volume 2: All Development 
Except for Single Dwellings 

(xv) City of Sydney Interim Floodplain Management 
Policy 

(xvi) City of Sydney Guidelines for Waste Management in 
New Developments (Waste Guidelines) 

(xvii) City of Sydney Public Art Policy  

(xviii) City of Sydney Competitive Design Policy 

(xix) Central Sydney Development Contributions Plan 
2013 

Attachments: A. Recommended Conditions of Consent 

B. Building Envelope Drawings 

C. Indicative Demolition Drawings 

D. Indicative Concept Drawings 

E. Design Excellence Strategy 

 

  

4



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) consent be granted to Development Application No. D/2018/1246 subject to the 
conditions set out in Attachment A to the subject report; and 

(B) the ‘Concept Development Application Design Excellence Strategy’ for 194-204 Pitt 
Street, Sydney, prepared by Ethos Urban Pty Ltd and dated September 2019, as 
shown in Attachment E to the subject report, be approved pursuant to Section 3.3.1 of 
the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 and Section 1.2 of the Competitive 
Design Policy. 

Reasons for Recommendation 

The application is recommended for approval for the following reasons: 

(A) The proposal satisfies the objectives of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act, 1979, in that, subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions as recommended, 
it achieves the objectives of the planning controls for the site for the reasons outlined 
in the report to the Central Sydney Planning Committee. 

(B) The proposal generally satisfies the objectives and provisions of Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012. 

(C) The proposal is consistent with the objectives of the B8 Metropolitan Centre zone. 

(D) The indicative concept design scheme accompanying the application demonstrates 
that the envelope can accommodate a building which complies with the maximum floor 
space ratio development standard in Clause 4.4 of the Sydney Local Environmental 
Plan 2012. 

(E) The proposed development will conserve the significance of the heritage items 
contained on the site in accordance with Clause 5.10 of the Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012, including the removal of intrusive fabric, restoration and 
conservation of significant fabric and the continuation of the historic City Tattersall's 
Club use of the site. 

(F) The proposed building envelope complies with the Hyde Park West sun access plane 
in Clause 6.17 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

(G) Subject to compliance with the design excellence strategy, the undertaking of a 
competitive design process and the recommended conditions of consent, the 
proposed development will provide a building envelope capable of accommodating a 
future building which can exhibit design excellence in accordance with Clause 6.21 of 
the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

(H) The indicative concept design scheme accompanying the application demonstrates 
that the proposed development is generally consistent with the provisions of the State 
Environmental Planning Policy No 65—Design Quality of Residential Apartment 
Development (SEPP 65) and the Apartment Design Guide (ADG). 

5



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(I) The proposed development has a height and form suitable for the site and its context, 
satisfactorily addresses the heights and setbacks of neighbouring developments, is 
appropriate in the streetscape context and broader locality. 

(J) Subject to the recommended conditions of consent, the proposed development will 
provide a building envelope capable of accommodating a future building which can 
achieve acceptable amenity for future residents for solar access, natural ventilation, 
private open space and privacy. 

(K) The proposed building envelope can accommodate the proposed uses and does not 
result in any significant adverse environmental or amenity impacts on surrounding 
properties, the public domain and the broader Sydney Central Business District, 
subject to conditions on the subsequent detailed design development application. 

(L) The public interest is served by the approval of the proposal, as amendments to the 
development application have addressed the matters raised by the City and the 
community, subject to recommended conditions imposed relating to heritage 
conservation, setbacks, views, privacy, transport, servicing and parking. 

  

6



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Background 

The Site  

1. The subject site contains two allotments, identified as Lot 1 in DP 945729 and Lot 1 in 
DP 600465, and are commonly known as 194 Pitt Street and 196-204 Pitt Street, 
Sydney. 

2. The site is located in the Sydney Central Business District and the broader City of 
Sydney Local Government Area, directly to the south of Pitt Street Mall, to the east of 
the Queen Victoria Building and to the west of Hyde Park North. 

3. The site is on the eastern side of Pitt Street, between Market Street to the north and 
Park Street to the south. It is irregular in shape and has an area of 2,336.5 square 
metres. It has a combined western street frontage width of 49.69 metres to Pitt Street 
and adjoins four private properties on its other boundaries to the north, east and south. 

4. The site is identified on the plan in Figure 1 and aerial photographs in Figure 2 and 3 
below, showing the location of the site and its context. 

 

Figure 1: Plan image of subject site in blue and surrounding area (subterranean Sydney Metro 
corridors and QVB - Sydney Central Plaza link shown hatched). 

7



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 2: Aerial photograph of the subject site in blue and surrounding area. 

 

Figure 3: Oblique photograph of the subject site in blue and surrounding area. 

5. The site contains four buildings, ranging in height from 3 to 7 storeys. The buildings 
currently accommodate the City Tattersall's Club. 

8



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

6. All buildings on the site currently have no off-street car parking, loading facilities or 
vehicular access. 

7. 194 Pitt Street is occupied by a 7 storey commercial building with a single basement 
level, listed as a heritage item (Item I1927 – former Symonds’ building including 
interior, local significance) under Schedule 5 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 
2012 (Sydney LEP 2012). While the ground and basement floors are used in 
conjunction with the City Tattersall's Club, the upper floors are largely vacant or used 
for storage by the Club. 

8. 196-204 Pitt Street contains three interconnected buildings, including: 

(a) A 5 storey building with two basement levels at 196 Pitt Street, which has no 
heritage listing; 

(b) A 5 storey building with a single basement level at 198-200 Pitt Street, listed as a 
heritage item (Item I1928 – City Tattersall’s Club including interior, local 
significance) under Schedule 5 of the Sydney LEP 2012; and 

(c) Aa 3-storey building with a partial basement at 202-204, listed as a heritage item 
(Item I1929 – City Tattersall’s Club including interior) under Schedule 5 of the 
Sydney LEP 2012. 

9. These three buildings are utilised by the City Tattersall's Club and comprise the 
following levels: 

(a) Lower basement: Men’s fitness centre; 

(b) Basement: Men’s fitness centre pool, spa, change rooms, lockers and showers, 
cellar and keg room, cool room, store room, laundry, garbage store and plant; 

(c) Ground: Lobby, gaming lounges and lower lounge bar; 

(d) Ground mezzanine: Snooker room, TAB lounge and Keno lounge; 

(e) First: Celebrity lounge, kitchens, restaurants and bars; 

(f) First mezzanine: Lounge bar and dance studio; 

(g) Second: Administration offices, studio, cafe and function rooms; 

(h) Third: Women’s fitness centre; 

(i) Fourth: Women’s fitness centre pool, spa, sauna, cardio equipment, hair salon 
and beauty treatment rooms; and 

(j) Fifth: Staff facilities, maintenance workshop, plant. 

10. Figures 4 to 8 show the existing development on the site. 

9



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

   

Figure 4: Front elevation of 194 Pitt St.  Figure 5: Front elevation of 196 Pitt St. 

   

Figure 6: Front elevation of 198-200 Pitt St.  Figure 7: Front elevation of 202-204 Pitt St. 

10



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 8: The existing buildings on the site at 194, 196, 198-200 and 202-204 Pitt St, from left to 
right, outlined in red. 

The Locality 

11. The surrounding area is characterised by a mixture of office, retail, food and drink 
premises, hotel accommodation and residential accommodation uses, serviced by 
busy city streets. 

12. To the north of the site is a 7 storey commercial building at 192-192A Pitt Street, listed 
as a heritage item (Item I1926 – former Fay’s Chambers, exterior only, local 
significance) under Schedule 5 of the Sydney LEP 2012, and a 13 storey commercial 
building at 61-63 Market Street. 

13. Further to the north, on the opposite side of Market Street, is the Westfield Sydney 
retail and commercial complex and Sydney Tower at 188 Pitt Street, which includes a 
7 storey podium, three commercial towers and two listed heritage items (Item I1695 – 
Commercial building facade and Item I1696 – Former Bank of NSW facade, both with 
local significance) under Schedule 5 of the Sydney LEP 2012.  

14. To the north-west, on the northern side of Market Street, is the Pitt Street Mall and a 
number of buildings at 432-450 George Street, which include the Sydney Central 
Plaza retail and commercial complex, the Myer department store, the Swissotel Hotel, 
a residential flat building and five listed heritage items (Item I1784 – Former Crystal 
Hotel facade, Items I1785 and I1786 – Former Farmer & Co department store facades, 
Item I787 – Former Way Building facade and awning and Item I1788 – Former Central 
Pitt building facade, all with local significance) under Schedule 5 of the Sydney LEP 
2012. 

15. Adjoining the site to the east, and partially to the north, is the David Jones Market 
Street store at 65-77 Market Street. This building is listed as a heritage item (Item 
I1888, local significance) under Schedule 5 of the Sydney LEP 2012.  

11



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

16. To the south, at 133-145 Castlereagh Street, is a commercial building known as the 
Piccadilly Centre, which consists of a 3 storey retail podium with both a 13 storey 
commercial office tower and a 31 storey commercial office tower above. 

17. To the west of the site, on the opposite side of Pitt Street, is a 20 storey commercial 
office building at 55 Market Street. A pedestrian footbridge over Pitt Street connects 
the podium of 55 Market Street with the Piccadilly Centre development. 

18. Also located to the west of the site, on the opposite side of Pitt Street, is an 8 storey 
commercial building at 249-251 Pitt Street, known as the Simpson’s House. This 
building is listed as a heritage item (Item I1932, local significance) under Schedule 5 of 
the Sydney LEP 2012. 

19. To the south-west of the site, on the western side of Pitt Street is a 3 storey 
commercial building at 253 Pitt Street and the Hilton Hotel at 259 Pitt Street, which 
includes a 5 storey podium, 44 storey tower and a listed heritage item (Item I1934 – 
The Marble Bar interior, local significance) under Schedule 5 of the Sydney LEP 2012. 

20. Figures 9 to 18 show the existing development in the vicinity of the site. 

   

Figures 9 and 10: Former Fay’s Chambers at 192-192A Pitt St, the existing building at 61-63 Pitt St 
and the David Jones Market St store at 65-77 Market St. 

12



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

   

Figures 11 and 12: Westfield Sydney at 188 Pitt St and the Sydney Central Plaza, Myer department 
store, Swissotel and residential flat building at 432-450 George St. 

 

Figure 13: Pitt St Mall. 

13



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

   

Figure 14: Existing building at 55 Market St.  Figure 15: Simpson’s House at 249-251 Pitt St. 

   

Figure 16: Existing building at 253 Pitt St.  Figure 17: Hilton Hotel at 259 Pitt St. 

14



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 18: The Piccadilly Centre at 133-145 Castlereagh St.  

Proposal 

21. The subject development application, as amended on 17 June 2019, seeks concept 
development consent pursuant to Section 4.22 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act, 1979 for the redevelopment of the City Tattersall’s Club at 194-204 
Pitt Street, Sydney. 

22. Specifically, the application seeks conceptual, in-principle approval for the following: 

(a) Retention of the heritage facade and adaptive reuse of the internal parts of the 
building at 194 Pitt Street; 

(b) Demolition of existing building at 196 Pitt Street and construction of a new 
facade and podium to match the street frontage height of the immediately 
adjoining buildings at 194 and 198-200 Pitt Street; 

(c) Adaptive reuse and conservation of significant heritage fabric of the building at 
198-200 Pitt Street, including retention of the lower bar; 

(d) Adaptive reuse and conservation of substantial heritage fabric of the building at 
202-204 Pitt Street including the western lantern of that building; 

(e) Basement excavation to provide five basement levels providing bicycle parking, 
loading, storage and building services, with no car parking spaces; and 

15



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(f) A building envelope for a mixed-use building with: 

(i) A tower with a maximum height of RL 187.376 (AHD), approximately 168 
metres from ground level, with a southern cantilever over the podium and 
heritage buildings below; 

(ii) A podium height of RL 68.860 (AHD); 

(iii) A basement with the lowest floor level being RL 0.900 (AHD); 

(iv) Vehicular access from Pitt Street; and 

(v) Capacity for 34,455.4 square metres of Gross Floor Area (GFA), including: 

(i) 21,767 square metres of residential GFA; 
 

(ii) 8,904 square metres of hotel GFA; 
 

(iii) 497 square metres of retail GFA; and 
 

(iv) 3,287 square metres of club GFA. 

23. The application is accompanied by indicative concept design scheme drawings and 
documentation. This shows a building in the proposed building envelope which, as 
amended, provides for the following indicative uses: 

(a) Basement levels 1 to 5 inclusive: bicycle parking, plant, storage and services; 

(b) Ground: club, retail premises, hotel and residential lobbies; 

(c) Level 1: club; 

(d) Levels 2 to 13: club and hotel accommodation (113 rooms); 

(e) Levels 14 to 46: residential (245 apartments); and 

(f) Levels 47 to 49: plant. 

24. No physical demolition or other development works are proposed as part of the 
amended concept plan. 

25. Selected axonometric, elevation, section and plan drawings of the proposed 
development are provided in Figures 19 to 30 below.  

26. These are included with the revised concept drawings, indicative demolition drawings 
and indicative concept design scheme drawings at Attachments B, C and D to this 
assessment report. 

16



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 19: Envelope axonometric views, looking south-west (left) and north-east (right). 

 

Figure 20: Envelope axonometric podium view, looking north-east. 

17



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 21: Envelope elevation to Pitt St. 

 

Figure 22: Envelope elevation to Market St showing sun access plane compliance. 

18



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 23: Envelope elevation to Castlereagh St. 

 

Figure 24: Envelope section west-east through lantern showing sun access plane compliance. 

19



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 25: Envelope plan of ground floor level. 

 

Figure 26: Envelope plan of level 1. 

20



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 27: Envelope plan of level 2. 

 

Figure 28: Typical envelope plan of level 3 to 7. 

21



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 29: Envelope plan of level 14 podium roof. 

  

Figure 30: Envelope plan of tower roof. 

22



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

History Relevant to the Development Application 

History of the site 

194 Pitt Street 

27. The Former Symonds Building at 194 Pitt Street was built in 1914, in the Federation 
Free Classical style of masonry construction. It is 7 storeys in height, with a single 
basement level. The statement of significance for the Former Symonds Building, as 
detailed in the Conservation Management Plan for the site, is reproduced below. 

The former Symonds building at 194 Pitt Street is of heritage significance 
at the local level for its historic, associative, aesthetic and representative 
values. 

The former Symonds Building situated at 194 Pitt Street has historical 
significance as it provides evidence of the former Victorian subdivision and 
an insight to the commercial development of early 20th century Sydney. As 
part of the family business Symonds’ Furnishing Ltd., it provides evidence 
of the important role played by Jewish-run businesses in commercial 
Sydney. 

It is also historically significant for its occupation as “Merivale & Mr John” 
for almost three decades. The landmark House of Merivale revolutionised 
the Australian fashion scene and was the first specialty fashion boutique in 
Australia. 

It is associated with architect, Gordon McKinnon who is credited with the 
design of the building c.1914. 

The former Symonds Building has aesthetic and representative 
significance as a fine example of a Federation Free style building that 
contributes to the character of the commercial streetscape of Pitt Street. 

196 Pitt Street 

28. The infill building at 196 Pitt Street was constructed in 1962 for the City Tattersall's 
Club of rendered concrete construction. It is 5 storeys in height, with two basement 
levels and does not have any heritage listing. 

198-200 Pitt Street 

29. The City Tattersall's Club building was built in 1924, in the Inter-War Commercial 
Palazzo style of plastered masonry, steel and concrete construction. It is 5 storeys in 
height, with a single basement level. Key parts of the statement of significance for the 
City Tattersall's Club Building, as detailed in the Conservation Management Plan for 
the site, are reproduced below. 

…The City Tattersalls Club at 198-200 Pitt Street was purpose built for the 
Club in 1924 and has been in continuous use as such for almost a century. 
This is the longest association of any club in Sydney with one building. The 
Club has been associated with bookmaking and gambling since 1924.The 
site has connections with the former City Tattersalls Club at 249 Pitt Street 
and most significantly the Former Tattersalls Club 202-204 Pitt Street. 

  

23



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

As such, it reflects the importance that this section of Pitt Street has 
contributed to the bookmaking and gambling precinct since the mid 
nineteenth century. The choice and use of the site also reflects the rivalry 
between the organisations. 

The City Tattersalls Building at 198 – 200 Pitt Street is associated with the 
work of the architect, E.L. Thompson. The City Tattersalls Club building is 
of aesthetic significance as a fine example of the Inter-War Commercial 
Palazzo style and contributes to the streetscape of Pitt Street. 

…City Tattersalls Club 198-200 Pitt Street has high significance for its 
ability to demonstrate the importance of horse racing in Australian popular 
culture. The CTC building has been in continuous use for the club for 
almost a century and is the oldest continuously operating club building in 
Sydney. As such, the significant building and the Lower Bar hold social 
significance for members. 

The Club Bar of City Tattersalls Club 198-200 Pitt Street has high 
significance and is rare as a surviving and largely intact example of an Art 
Deco bar interior by Sidney Warden… 

202-204 Pitt Street 

30. The Tattersall's Club was built in 1891, in the Victorian Free Classical style of 
sandstone masonry construction. It is 3 storeys in height, with a part basement level. 
The statement of significance for the Tattersall's Club, as detailed in the Conservation 
Management Plan for the site, is reproduced below.  

The former Tattersalls Club is of heritage significance at the local level for 
its historical, associative, aesthetic, social and representative values and 
for its rarity.  

The former Tattersalls Club at 202 – 204 Pitt Street is a rare surviving 
example of a city club. The building was purpose built for the Tattersalls 
Club (completed in 1891) who operated at the site for 37 years. The 
building is a reflection of the importance of the Tattersalls Club which was 
established in 1858. The Tattersalls Club building is also associated with 
the City Tattersalls Club, who purchased the site in 1975 and who have 
operated at the site since. The building is likely to have social significance 
for the members of both of these organisations.  

The Former Tattersalls Club 202-204 Pitt Street (1891) is associated with 
the high-quality work of the prominent practices of Sheerin & Hennessy 
who designed the building, and Robertson & Marks who undertook 
alterations and additions, most notably the rear ballroom (1914).  

The building has high aesthetic and representative significance as a high-
quality example of a Free Classical style facade at a period of transition 
from the late Victorian to early Federation period. The interior of the 
Former Tattersalls Club 202-204 Pitt Street has high significance for two 
spaces being the former Saloon Room (1891) and the former Billiard 
Room (1914).  

  

24



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

The facade of the Former Tattersalls Club has high significance as a rare 
example of excellent craftsmanship in stonemasonry and compositional 
proportions remaining as a relatively intact form, in the Free Classical 
style. 

History of development applications and consents 

31. The site has been the subject of numerous development applications and consents, 
which are summarised below. 

194 Pitt Street 

32. The relevant development history of the property at 194 Pitt Street is as follows: 

(a) Development consent D/2008/1186 was granted on 21 November 2008 for a 
change of use, shopfront alterations and fit out of the ground floor of the 
premises for use in conjunction with the existing club. This consent was modified 
three times for BCA upgrades and hours of operation. 

(b) Development consent D/2018/154 was granted on 29 March 2018 for a change 
of use of a club gaming lounge to a shop, including fit out. 

196-204 Pitt Street 

33. The relevant development history of the property at 196-204 Pitt Street is as follows: 

(a) Development consent D/1971/533 was granted on 1 September 1971 for 
alterations to the premises for use as a club. 

(b) Development consent D/1973/566 was granted on 28 September 1973 for an 
extension of the existing club tavern. 

(c) Development consent D/1977/80 was granted on 21 April 1977 for the addition of 
a ladies swimming pool to level 4. 

(d) Development consent D/1991/649 was granted on 3 April 1992 for conversion of 
retail premises to club amenities. 

(e) Development consent D/1995/51 was granted on 17 February 1995 for 
refurbishment of the buffet and kitchen areas. 

(f) Development consent D/1995/242 was granted on 28 April 1995 for the 
refurbishment of the first floor and external poker machine area. 

(g) Development consent D/1996/131 was granted on 21 March 1996 for 
refurbishment of the first floor casino lounge. 

(h) Development consent D/1997/44 was granted on 17 February 1997 for the use 
and fit out for a cafe on level 1, including kitchen and servery. 

(i) Development consent D/1997/724 was granted on 13 November 1997 for 
signage for the existing club. 

(j) Development consent D/1998/274 was granted on 5 June 1998 for alterations to 
the first floor, including installation of windows, new ceilings and the fit out of a 
dining room. 

25



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(k) Development consent D/1998/5305 was granted on 24 December 1998 for the 
extension of the existing mezzanine floor, installation of escalators, new bar and 
new toilets. 

(l) Development consent D/2003/152 was granted on 28 April 2003 for extensive 
alterations and renovations to the existing first floor kitchen areas. 

(m) Development consent D/2003/273 was granted on 28 April 2003 for extensive 
renovation and refurbishment of the ground, first, mezzanine and second floor 
levels in conjunction with the continued use for club purposes. 

(n) Development consent D/2003/425 was granted on 15 October 2003 for provision 
of entertainment in the ground floor lounge bar and first floor celebrity lounge and 
dining room. 

(o) Development consent D/2004/901 was granted on 16 September 2004 for 
extensive refurbishment of the basement level cellar area, including the upgrade 
of the existing plant and equipment areas, cool rooms and storage areas. 

(p) Development consent D/2004/902 was granted on 16 September 2004 for 
extensive refurbishment work to the ladies gym area located on the third and 
fourth floor levels. 

(q) Development consent D/2004/1282 was granted on 8 December 2004 for 
refurbishment of the existing Games Room snack bar located on the second 
floor of the club. 

(r) Development consent D/2006/1631 was approved on 24 January 2007 for 
alterations to the ground and first floor level of 202-204 Pitt Street, including the 
reconfiguration of the entry area and fire escape exits and stairs and the 
construction of air locks, in conjunction with its continued use for club purposes. 
This consent was modified once to amend conditions relating to noise and patron 
capacity. 

(s) Development consent D/2006/1633 was granted on 24 January 2007 for the use 
of the ground floor tenancy area of 196 Pitt Street for club purposes, involving 
alterations to the existing ground floor street elevation to accommodate a new 
external courtyard and the construction of a wall opening to the club entry lobby. 
This consent was modified once for minor modifications to the approved works.  

(t) Development consent D/2006/1762 was granted on 7 March 2007 for alterations 
and additions on first and second floor, including renovation of the first floor 
celebrity lounge and second floor games room, provision of an outdoor smoking 
courtyard and installation of escalators. 

(u) Development consent D/2007/1273 was granted on 5 September 2007 for the 
removal of an equine sculpture located on a parapet at the top of the building 
facade and replacement with a facsimile sculpture. 

(v) Development consent D/2008/1959 was approved on 10 February 2009 for a 
Place of Public Entertainment Licence (POPE) renewal for the existing club. 

  

26



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(w) Development consent D/2010/1500 was granted on 24 November 2010 for 
demolition of the ground level entrance and construction of a relocated entrance 
to the club, new double height foyer, glazed shopfronts, alfresco gaming area, 
alterations to the existing awning and the expansion of the existing terrace in a 
glass fin enclosure. This consent was modified once to allow for staging of 
lodging footpath damage bank guarantee. 

History of development applications and consents on adjoining properties 

65-77 Market Street 

34. The relevant development history of the adjoining property at 65-77 Market Street is as 
follows: 

(a) Development consent D/2017/167 was granted on 30 November 2017 for a 
concept building envelope with a height of up to 124.16 metres (RL 144.35 or 
approximately 32 storeys), with in-principle approval for conservation and 
refurbishment of the existing 10 storey heritage listed David Jones building, 
retention of the existing basement structures and alterations to t car parking and 
servicing areas and retention and widening of the vehicular access via 
Castlereagh Street.  

(b) Development application D/2019/263 was lodged with the City on 19 March 2019 
and is currently under assessment. The proposal is for retention and alteration of 
the existing retail/commercial building on the site and the construction of a 22 
storey residential tower above (32 storeys total), including retail and commercial 
uses within the existing building, 101 residential apartments within the tower and 
108 car parking spaces within the basement. An axonometric view of the 
currently proposed development is reproduced in Figure 31 below. 

27



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 31: Axonometric view extract of the detailed design of the currently proposed development at 
65-77 Market St, looking south-west. 

History of previous relevant development applications on the site 

35. Development application D/2014/913 for a concept mixed-use building envelope, 
comprising retail, club, hotel and residential land uses, was submitted to the City on 27 
June 2014. The application was withdrawn by the applicant on 30 April 2015. 

36. Development application D/2015/1214 for a concept mixed-use building envelope, 
comprising retail, club, hotel and residential land uses, was submitted to the City on 25 
August 2015.  

37. Class 1 appeal proceedings against the 'deemed refusal' of this application were 
commenced on 31 May 2016 with the Land and Environment Court of New South 
Wales.  

38. The appeal was dismissed by the Court on 30 May 2017, with the judgement finding 
the development having detrimental impacts on the heritage significance of the site. 

28



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

History of the subject development application 

39. The City Tattersall’s Club occupies the four amalgamated buildings on the site at 194, 
196, 198-200 and 202-204 Pitt Street. They have been the subject of extensive 
refurbishment and upgrades over time. 

40. The Club expresses an aim of undertaking a comprehensive and coordinated 
redevelopment of the site to refresh and renew club facilities and has entered into a 
development management agreement with ICD SB Pitt Street Pty Ltd to fulfil this aim.  

41. The proposed hotel, retail tenancies and residential uses are intended to fund the 
ongoing commercial operations of the Club and retention of the historical club use on 
the site. 

42. Following the Court's dismissal of the appeal to the deemed refusal of development 
application D/2015/1214, the applicant held a series of pre-development application 
workshops with, and prepared documentation for Council staff, relating to key matters 
arising from the Court proceedings. These were as follows: 

(a) Heritage workshop 1: 20 November 2017 

(b) Heritage workshop 2: 27 November 2017 

(c) Heritage workshop 3: 1 February 2018 

(d) Heritage significance mapping: 27 February 2018 

(e) Heritage workshop 4: 12 March 2018 

(f) Traffic workshop 1: 4 April 2018 

(g) Heritage workshop 5: 5 April 2018 

(h) Traffic workshop 2: 26 April 2018 

(i) Heritage policy: 4 May 2018 

(j) Traffic workshop 3: 15 May 2018 

(k) Traffic correspondence: 4 June 2018 

(l) Buildability report: 6 June 2018 

(m) Heritage policy feedback: 22 June 2018 

(n) Pre-development application workshop: 9 August 2018 

43. The applicant also held stakeholder briefings on 10 and 11 September 2018, inviting 
key stakeholders, including: 

(a) Stockland (owner of Piccadilly Shopping Centre); 

(b) Investa (former part owner of Piccadilly Shopping Centre); 

(c) Mirvac (55 Market Street); 

29



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(d) CBUS and Scentregroup (David Jones); and 

(e) Landowners of the residential apartment tower at 68-70 Market Street. 

44. The subject development application was subsequently lodged with the City on 17 
October 2018. 

45. The application was presented to the City's Design Advisory Panel (DAP) on 13 
December 2018. The DAP raised concerns relating to the proposed extent of the 
competitive design process, the relationship, interface and separation between podium 
and tower envelopes and the heritage buildings, setbacks and overshadowing of the 
adjoining properties and recommended further design investigations. 

46. On 12 February 2019, a preliminary request for information sought an amended design 
excellence strategy, amended public art strategy, amended ESD report, concept 
landscape strategy, flooding report and information to address concerns raised by 
Sydney Metro. 

47. On 19 March 2019, a detailed request for an amended application was made to the 
applicant, raising concerns with regard to the following matters: 

(a) The high level of risk and cost associated with the construction of footings and 
columns for the proposed tower in very confined light wells; 

(b) Impacts relating to the form, scale and width of the proposed podium and tower 
envelopes, including a cantilever over the highly significant fabric of the building 
at 202-204 Pitt Street;  

(c) Traffic generation, freight and servicing impacts associated with the proposed 
mix of land uses; 

(d) Impacts arising as a result of non-compliant setbacks to the development to the 
sites to north and north-east of the site; 

(e) Solar access and overshadowing to the approved and proposed development at 
65-77 Market Street; and 

(f) Acoustic privacy and natural ventilation issues. 

48. On 17 June 2019, the applicant submitted an amended application to address 
concerns raised by the City's DAP and Council officers. 

49. The amended application was also referred to external stakeholders, including Sydney 
Metro and Transport for New South Wales for comment. 

50. The assessment provided below in this assessment report is based on the amended 
drawings and documents submitted to the City on 17 June 2019, in conjunction with 
ongoing discussions and meetings with, and detailed advice from external New South 
Wales State government agencies. 

  

30



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

City of Sydney Act 1988 

51. Section 51N of the City of Sydney Act, 1988 requires the Central Sydney Planning 
Committee to consult with the Central Sydney Traffic and Transport Committee 
(CSTTC) before it determines a development application that will require, or that might 
reasonably be expected to require, the carrying out of road works or traffic control 
works likely to have a significant impact on traffic and transport in the Sydney Central 
Business District.  

52. A full extract of this Section is provided below. 

"51N Planning proposals having a significant impact on traffic and 
transport in the Sydney CBD 

(1) The Planning Committee must consult the CSTTC before it exercises a 
function under Part 4 that will result in the making of a decision that will 
require, or that might reasonably be expected to require, the carrying out of 
road works or traffic control works that are likely to have a significant 
impact on traffic and transport in the Sydney CBD. 

(2) The Planning Committee must take into consideration any 
representations made by the CSTTC within the period of 21 days (or such 
other period as is agreed to by the CSTTC and the Planning Committee in 
a particular case) after consultation takes place. 

(3) The Planning Committee may delegate to a subcommittee of the 
Planning Committee, or the general manager or another member of the 
staff of the City Council, any of its functions under this section other than 
this power of delegation. A delegation can be given subject conditions. A 
delegation does not (despite section 38) require the approval of the 
Minister administering that section. 

(4) The failure of the Planning Committee to comply with this section does 
not invalidate or otherwise affect any decision made by the Planning 
Committee." 

53. The Director City Planning Development and Transport is the delegate of the Planning 
Committee and formed the view that the project may have significant impact on traffic 
in the CBD and required consultation with the CSTTC. Transport for New South 
Wales, as the delegate of the CSTTC, was consulted. Submissions received by the 
City from Transport for New South Wales are considered in the assessment of the 
application and the recommended conditions are included in Attachment A to this 
report. 

Economic, Social and Environmental Impacts 

54. The application is assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act, 1979, including consideration of the following matters: 

(a) Environmental Planning Instruments and Development Control Plans 

State Environmental Planning Policy No 55—Remediation of Land (SEPP 55) 

55. The aim of SEPP 55 is to ensure that a change of land use will not increase the risk to 
health, particularly in circumstances where a more sensitive land use is proposed. 

31



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

56. A Preliminary Site Investigation report was submitted with the development application 
and reviewed by City staff during the assessment of the proposal.  

57. The City’s Health and Building Unit is satisfied that, subject to conditions, the site can 
be made suitable for the proposed use in accordance with Clause 7 of SEPP 55 and 
the SEPP 55 Guidelines. 

State Environmental Planning Policy No 65—Design Quality of Residential Apartment 
Development (SEPP 65) 

58. SEPP 65 applies to the proposal as any subsequent detailed development application 
will comprise residential flat buildings of three or more floors and containing four or 
more apartments. 

59. Clause 70B of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation, 2000 provides 
that design verification required under Clause 50(1A) of the Regulation is not required 
for concept development applications unless the development application contains 
detailed proposals for a residential flat building. 

60. Detailed development works are not sought and, as a result, no design verification 
statement was submitted with the application. 

61. The proposed development is for conceptual building envelope and indicative land 
uses only, and no physical building works are sought, or recommended for approval, 
as part of this application. In the event that the subject application is approved, the 
detailed design of the development will be the subject of both a competitive design 
process and further detailed design development application. 

62. SEPP 65 provides that the consent authority take into consideration a number of 
matters relating to design quality. These include whether the proposed building 
envelopes and indicative land uses have the ability to achieve the 9 design quality 
principles set out in Schedule 1 of SEPP 65.  

63. A further more detailed assessment of SEPP 65 will be undertaken in relation to any 
subsequent development application for the detailed design of the proposed 
development. 

64. The principles are summarised and addressed with regard to the concept building 
envelope as follows: 

(a) Principle 1: Context and Neighbourhood Character 

(i) The site is centrally located in the Sydney Central Business District, 
amongst buildings of similar height and scale and in proximity to existing 
and planned public transport infrastructure, including multiple bus routes, 
bicycle lanes and light, heavy and metro rail stations. The proposal will 
contribute to the vitality of the locality and the broader City of Sydney Local 
Government Area. 

(ii) It is located in the B8 Metropolitan Centre zone and the proposal is 
generally in accordance with the objectives of the Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 and the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012, 
subject to the recommended conditions. The proposal is also consistent 
with the existing and desired future character of the locality. 

  

32



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(b) Principle 2: Built Form and Scale 

(i) The immediate locality along Pitt Street and Market Street has a diverse 
built form and scale, architectural building styles and land uses. The form 
and scale of development anticipated in the area is consistent with the 
height and typology of the proposal. 

(ii) The proposed building envelope adheres to the provisions of the Sydney 
LEP 2012, including the maximum height prescribed by the Hyde Park sun 
access plane. The proposal responds satisfactorily to the surrounding 
urban renewal context, while achieving a suitable form and scale, subject 
to the recommended conditions. 

(iii) The proposal maintains the existing street wall height of the heritage item 
facades on the site. 

(c) Principle 3: Density 

(i) The proposed density of development in the indicative concept design 
scheme drawings demonstrates that the envelope accommodates a 
building which complies with the maximum Floor Space Ratio development 
standard in Clause 4.4 and accommodation floor space available under 
Clause 6.4 of the Sydney LEP 2012. 

(ii) It is consistent with the desired future character envisaged in the locality of 
the Sydney Central Business District and the broader City of Sydney Local 
Government Area. 

(d) Principle 4: Sustainability 

(i) The proposal is accompanied by an indicative concept design scheme 
showing compliance with the minimum solar access and natural cross 
ventilation requirements of SEPP 65 and the Apartment Design Guide 
(ADG).  

(ii) The competitive design process phase for the detailed design of the 
development is required to achieve sustainable development targets and to 
optimise opportunities for ecologically sustainable development (ESD) and 
best practice environmental performance, including low running costs in 
relation to water and energy use.  

(iii) Any subsequent detailed design development application must also be 
accompanied by a BASIX Certificate to demonstrate that the NSW 
Government’s sustainability requirements are met. 

  

33



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(e) Principle 5: Landscape 

(i) The existing building footprint is constructed to the site boundaries. 
Accordingly, there is no at grade landscaped area. This is acceptable in 
the context of the Sydney Central Business District. 

(ii) A concept landscape statement was submitted with the application, setting 
high level design principles that refer to the potential within the envelope 
for opportunities for landscaping and open space. 

(iii) Conditions are recommended requiring any future detailed design 
development application involving the development of a residential flat or 
mixed use building to provide areas of communal open space and to be 
accompanied by a detailed landscape plan and statement in accordance 
with the concept landscape statement. 

(f) Principle 6: Amenity 

(i) The indicative concept design scheme submitted with the application 
demonstrates that a residential apartment building within the proposed 
tower form is capable of achieving an acceptable level of amenity. 

(ii) The indicative scheme provides compliant levels of solar access, natural 
cross ventilation and apartment sizes. 

(g) Principle 7: Safety 

(i) This is a matter for a future detailed design development application. A 
condition is recommended for a Security Management Plan prepared in 
accordance with the 'Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design' 
(CPTED) principles. 

(h) Principle 8: Housing Diversity and Social Interaction 

(i) The site benefits from its proximity to existing and future retail premises 
(within and outside the site) and commercial, recreational and 
entertainment facilities in the wider locality of the Sydney Central Business 
District. The site is suitable for the proposed indicative residential uses. 

(ii) The indicative concept design demonstrates that there will be a suitable 
mix of dwellings provided in the proposed building envelopes on the site 
and that a future building can be provided with adequate areas of 
communal open space. This will require demonstration in any future 
detailed design development application. 

(i) Principle 9: Aesthetics 

(i) This is a matter for a subsequent detailed design development application. 
A condition is recommended to ensure that the future building provides 
suitable architectural diversity, expression and character in order to 
achieve consistency with this design quality principle. 

65. The proposed envelope is generally acceptable when assessed against the principles  
set out above and the provisions of SEPP 65 generally. 

34



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Apartment Design Guide (ADG) 

66. Clause 28 of SEPP 65 requires consideration of the ADG, which provides additional 
detail and guidance for applying the design quality principles outlined in SEPP 65 to 
residential apartment developments.  

67. Compliance with the guidelines in the ADG, where relevant to the assessment of the 
subject concept development application, is addressed in the table below.  

2E Building Depth Compliance Comment 

12-18 metres (glass to glass) Able to 
comply 

The proposed building envelope has 
a maximum east-west dimension of 
approximately 33 metres and a 
maximum north-south dimension of 
approximately 26.5 metres. 

While this exceeds the maximum 18 
metre requirement, it allows for 
flexibility in terms of building position 
and articulation when designing a 
future building. 

The future detailed design requires 
compliance with the maximum 
building depth criterion. 

 

35



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

2F Building Separation Compliance Comment 

Up to four storeys (approximately 
12 metres): 

 12 metres between habitable 
rooms / balconies 

 9 metres between habitable 
and non-habitable rooms 

 6 metres between non-
habitable rooms 

Five to eight storeys 
(approximately 25 metres): 

 18 metres between habitable 
rooms / balconies 

 12 metres between habitable 
and non-habitable rooms 

 9 metres between non-
habitable rooms 

Not 
applicable 

No indicative residential uses are 
proposed to the first 14 storeys of 
the existing heritage buildings and 
podium envelope. 

Nine storeys and above (over 25 
metres): 

 24 metres between habitable 
rooms / balconies 

 18 metres between habitable 
and non-habitable rooms 

 12 metres between non-
habitable rooms 

No The site has common boundaries 
with adjoining properties to the 
north, east and south. 

The ADG suggests the building 
separation to be shared equally 
between sites. 

The proposed tower form provides 
for indicative residential uses which 
have compliant 12 metre setbacks 
from the eastern and southern 
boundaries of the site. 

The setback of the tower to the 
northern boundary of the site ranges 
between approximately 1.65 and 7 
metres. 

Refer to the further discussion and 
assessment provided below under 
the Issues heading. 

 

36



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

3B Orientation Compliance Comment 

Overshadowing of neighbouring 
properties is minimised during 
midwinter. 

Able to 
comply 

The sun's eye view diagrams 
submitted with the amended 
application submitted to the City on 
17 June 2019 demonstrate that 
overshadowing to neighbouring 
properties, including the proposed 
residential tower at 65-77 Market 
Street (David Jones building), is 
minimised in accordance with the 
design guidance under Objective 
3B-2 of the ADG. 

 

3D Communal and Public Open 
Space 

Compliance Comment 

Communal open space has a 
minimum area equal to 25% of the 
site. 

Able to 
comply 

The ADG requires 584 square 
metres of communal open space on 
the site. The design guidance under 
Objective 3D-1 provides that, where 
developments are unable to achieve 
the design criteria, such as for sites 
in business zones or in dense urban 
areas, they should: 

 provide communal spaces 
such as a landscaped roof top 
terrace or a common room; 

 provide larger balconies or 
increased private open space 
for apartments; and 

 demonstrate good proximity to 
public open space and 
facilities and/or provide 
contributions to public open 
space. 

The indicative concept design 
scheme does not provide any 
communal open space and instead 
provides for: 

 1,200 square metres of space 
termed as 'communal space' 
on levels 3 and 4 of the 
podium, co-located with the 
indicative hotel use; 

37



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

3D Communal and Public Open 
Space 

Compliance Comment 

 large balconies and terraces 
to apartments at levels 43 to 
46 inclusive; and 

 proximity to public open space 
at Hyde Park North. 

Although this does not conform to 
the requirements of the design 
criterion in Part 3D-1 of the ADG, 
there is sufficient space in the 
envelope to provide communal open 
space or alternatives, as envisaged 
by the ADG design guidelines. 

Appropriate conditions are 
recommended to ensure that any 
subsequent competitive design 
process and detailed design 
development application provides 
communal space for exclusive use 
of residents which is not co-located 
or co-mingled with other uses. 

 

3E Deep Soil Zones Compliance Comment 

Deep soil zones are to have a 
minimum area equivalent to 7% of 
the site and have a minimum 
dimension of 6 metres 

No but 
acceptable 

The site is located in the highly 
urbanised environment of the 
Sydney Central Business District, 
where a lack of deep soil zones is 
characteristic of development in the 
locality. 

No deep soil zones are proposed, 
given that opportunities to provide 
them on the site are constrained, as 
the existing and proposed building 
footprint occupies the entirety of the 
site area. 

No objection to the lack of deep soil 
zones is raised and matters relating 
to stormwater management and 
landscape opportunities can be 
investigated and addressed in any 
future detailed design development 
application. 

 

38



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

3F Visual Privacy Compliance Comment 

Up to four storeys (12 metres): 

 6 metres between habitable 
rooms / balconies 

 3 metres between non-
habitable rooms 

Five to eight storeys (25 metres): 

 9 metres between habitable 
rooms / balconies 

 4.5 metres between non-
habitable rooms 

Not 
applicable 

No indicative residential uses are 
proposed to the first 14 storeys of 
the existing heritage buildings and 
podium envelope. 

Nine storeys and above (over 25 
metres): 

 12 metres between habitable 
rooms / balconies 

 6 metres between non-
habitable rooms 

No The site has common boundaries 
with adjoining properties to the 
north, east and south. 

The ADG requires the separation 
distances to be shared equitably 
between neighbouring sites. 

The proposed tower form provides 
for indicative residential uses which 
have compliant 12 metre setbacks 
from the eastern and southern 
boundaries of the site. 

The setback of the tower to the 
northern boundary of the site ranges 
between approximately 1.65 and 7 
metres. 

Refer to the further discussion and 
assessment provided below under 
the Issues heading. 

 

4A Solar and Daylight Access Compliance Comment 

70% of units to receive a minimum 
of two hours of direct sunlight in 
midwinter to living rooms and 
private open spaces. 

Able to 
comply 

The suns eye views submitted with 
the amended application show 
78.8% (193) of the apartments in 
the indicative concept design 
scheme receive compliant solar 
access. 

39



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

4A Solar and Daylight Access Compliance Comment 

Maximum of 15% of apartments in 
a building receive no direct sunlight 
between 9am and 3pm at 
midwinter. 

Able to 
comply 

The suns eye views submitted with 
the amended application 
demonstrate that 11.4% (28) of the 
apartments in the indicative concept 
design scheme receive no direct 
sunlight between 9am and 3pm at 
the midwinter solstice. 

 

4B Natural Ventilation Compliance Comment 

Minimum 60% of apartments in the 
first 9 storeys of the building are 
naturally cross ventilated. 

Able to 
comply 

All of the indicative residential uses 
will be above 9 storeys in height. 

The noise and vibration report 
submitted with the amended 
application requires special 
consideration to address potential 
noise impacts on dwellings in the 
future development on the site. 

Appropriate conditions of consent 
are recommended to ensure that the 
future detailed design of the 
development of the site is capable 
of providing natural ventilation while 
providing acceptable noise levels 
within dwellings. 

 

4C Ceiling Heights Compliance Comment 

Habitable rooms: 2.7 metres Able to 
comply 

The proposed building envelopes 
assume a minimum 3.1 metre floor 
to floor height for indicative 
residential floors.  

This is sufficient to provide a floor to 
ceiling height of 2.7 metres. 

Non-habitable rooms: 2.4 metres Able to 
comply 

As above. 

 

40



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

4D Apartment Size and Layout Compliance Comment 

Minimum unit sizes: 

 Studio: 35 square metres 

 1 bed: 50 square metres 

 2 bed: 70 square metres 

 3 bed: 90 square metres 

Able to 
comply 

The indicative concept design 
scheme submitted with the 
application demonstrates that 
compliant apartment sizes can be 
achieved in the proposed envelope. 

 

4E Private Open Space and 
Balconies 

Compliance Comment 

Studio apartments are to have a 
minimum balcony area of 4 square 
metres with a minimum depth of 1 
metre. 

One bed apartments are to have a 
minimum balcony area of 8 square 
metres with a minimum depth of 2 
metres. 

Two bed apartments are to have a 
minimum balcony area of 10 
square metres with a minimum 
depth of 2 metres. 

Three bed apartments are to have 
a minimum balcony area of 12 
square metres with a minimum 
depth of 2.4 metres. 

Able to 
comply 

The indicative concept design 
scheme submitted with the 
application demonstrates that 
compliant private open space areas 
can be achieved in the proposed 
envelope. 

State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 2007 (Infrastructure SEPP) 

68. The provisions of the Infrastructure SEPP have been considered in the assessment of 
the development application. 

Clause 45 

69. The application is subject to Clause 45 of the Infrastructure SEPP, given that it 
comprises development likely to affect an electricity transmission or distribution 
network.  

70. In accordance with the Clause, the application was referred to Ausgrid for a period of 
21 days. Ausgrid raised no objection to the proposal, subject to the recommended 
conditions in Attachment A to this report. 

 

41



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Clauses 86 and 88A 

71. The application is subject to Clauses 86 and 88A of the Infrastructure SEPP, given that 
it involves indicative excavation above a rail corridor and major development of land 
that is within the Metro Corridor. 

72. In accordance with the Clauses, both the original and amended applications were 
referred to Sydney Metro, each for a period of 21 days. Sydney Metro raised no 
objection to the amended proposal, subject to the recommended conditions in 
Attachment A to this report.  

Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005 (SREP 2005) 

73. The site is located in the designated hydrological catchment of Sydney Harbour and is 
subject to the provisions of the SREP 2005. 

74. The Sydney Harbour Catchment Planning Principles for consideration include: 

(a) Protect and improve hydrological, ecological and geomorphologic processes; 

(b) Consider cumulative impacts of development in the catchment; 

(c) Improve water quality of urban runoff and reduce quantity and frequency of 
urban run-off; and 

(d) Protect and rehabilitate riparian corridors and remnant vegetation. 

75. The site is in the Sydney Harbour Catchment and eventually drains into the Harbour. 
However, the site is not located in the Foreshores Waterways Area or adjacent to a 
waterway and therefore, with the exception of the objective of improved water quality, 
the objectives of the SREP 2005 are not applicable to the proposed development.  

76. The development is consistent with the controls contained in the SREP 2005 

State Environmental Planning Policy (Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004 
(BASIX SEPP) 

77. Any subsequent detailed design development application will be required to satisfy 
BASIX requirements.  

78. A condition is recommended to ensure that it is accompanied by a valid BASIX 
Certificate, in accordance with the provisions of the BASIX SEPP and Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Regulation, 2000. 

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012) 

79. The site is located in the B8 Metropolitan Centre zone. The proposed mix of uses 
(hotel accommodation, registered club, residential apartments and retail premises) are 
all permissible with consent in the zone.  

80. The relevant matters under the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 for the 
proposal are outlined in the compliance tables below. 

42



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

4.3 Height of buildings Not 
applicable 

The site is located in Area 3 on Sheets 
14 and 15 of the Height of Buildings Map 
in the Sydney LEP 2012. No maximum 
height limit is applied in Area 3. 

The maximum height for buildings on 
this land are determined by the sun 
access planes that are taken to extend 
over the land via the operation of Clause 
6.17 of the Sydney LEP 2012 (refer 
below). 

4.4 Floor space ratio (FSR) 

6.4 Accommodation floor 
space 

Able to 
comply 

A maximum FSR of 13.4:1 is permitted 
on the site, based on the proportions of 
the mix of indicative uses proposed 
within the building envelope. 

The indicative concept design scheme 
drawings demonstrate that the proposal 
can achieve compliance with the 
maximum FSR for the subject site. 

A condition is recommended ensuring 
any subsequent detailed design 
development application complies and 
requires the provision of precise 
calculations and details of the 
distribution of Gross Floor Area (GFA) 
and FSR with any such future 
application. 

5.10 Heritage conservation Yes The subject site includes three heritage 
items. The exterior of the items and 
many of the internal features are of high 
significance.  

While the proposal will result in 
extensive works on the site, the impacts 
on the items are generally acceptable, 
subject to conditions. 

Refer to the further discussion and 
assessment provided below under the 
Issues heading. 

 

43



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Part 6 Local Provisions - 
Height and Floor Space  

Compliance Comment 

6.17 Sun access planes Yes The subject site is subject to the Hyde 
Park West Sun Access Plane, which 
results in a maximum height of 
approximately 168 metres above ground 
level.   

The proposed building envelope 
complies with the sun access plane. 

6.21 Design excellence Yes The proposal is for concept building 
envelopes which are capable of 
accommodating future buildings which 
can exhibit design excellence in 
accordance with the objective and 
matters for consideration in Clause 6.21 
of the Sydney LEP 2012. 

A competitive design process is 
proposed, prior to the lodgement of a 
subsequent detailed design 
development application which will seek 
up to an additional 10% exceedance of 
the maximum floor space ratio 
applicable to the site. Demonstration of 
design excellence is required before the 
award of any bonus floor space. 

 

Part 7 Local Provisions - 
General 

Compliance Comment 

Division 1 Car parking ancillary 
to other development 

Able to 
comply 

The maximum number of car parking 
spaces permissible will be dependent on 
the number of apartments proposed in 
any future detailed design development 
application and the quantum of retail, 
hotel and club floor space provided. 

The indicative concept design scheme 
does not propose any car parking 
spaces and the Transport Impact 
Assessment (TIA) and Plan of 
Management (PoM) submitted with the 
amended application do not include on-
site parking and car use as a 
recommended mode of transport for 
staff, residents or visitors of the future 
development.  

44



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Part 7 Local Provisions - 
General 

Compliance Comment 

Appropriate conditions are 
recommended ensuring that this 
strategy is adopted in any future detailed 
design development application. 

7.14 Acid sulfate soils (ASS) Able to 
comply 

The site is located on land identified as 
Class 5 ASS that is within 500 metres of 
land identified as Class 3 ASS. 

It will be determined at the detailed 
design development application stage if 
the ASS provisions of the Sydney LEP 
2012 are triggered by any proposed 
excavation works. 

7.15 Flood planning Able to 
comply 

The site is identified as being flood 
affected.  

The submitted Site Flood Assessment 
sets flood planning levels that accord 
with the City’s Interim Floodplain 
Management Policy.  

In light of the above, the objectives of 
the clause are met by the concept 
proposal.  

Appropriate conditions are 
recommended and included in 
Attachment A to this report in order to 
ensure that any future detailed design 
development application will be required 
to demonstrate that the specific flood 
planning design criteria set out in Clause 
7.15 of the Sydney LEP 2012 are met. 

7.16 Airspace operations Yes The proposed development will 
penetrate the Obstacle Limitation 
Surface (OLS) as shown on the OLS 
Map for the Sydney Airport.  

As discussed below under the Airports 
Act 1996 heading, approval has been 
provided by the Director, Airport 
Safeguarding Aviation and Airports 
Division. 

45



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Part 7 Local Provisions - 
General 

Compliance Comment 

7.20 Development requiring 
preparation of a development 
control plan 

Yes The area of the site is greater than 1,500 
square metres, which triggers the 
requirement for the preparation of a site-
specific development control plan.  

Section 4.23 of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Act, 1979 
allows a concept approval to be lodged 
in lieu of preparing a development 
control plan. 

The matters under Clause 7.20 (4) of the 
Sydney LEP 2012 are satisfied by the 
documentation submitted with the 
application and the recommended 
conditions. 

The proposal satisfactorily sets 
expectations for the form, massing, 
scale, environmental impacts, ESD 
outcomes, access outcomes, interface 
with ground level and landscaping 
outcomes of the development. 

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 (Sydney DCP 2012) 

81. The relevant matters under the Sydney DCP 2012 for the proposed development are 
outlined below. 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.1 Public Domain Elements 

3.1.5 Public art 

 

Able to 
comply 

 

A preliminary Public Art Strategy was 
submitted with the application. The 
strategy was reviewed by Council staff 
and is acceptable with regard to the 
provisions of Section 3.1.5 of the 
Sydney DCP 2012. This strategy is 
recommended to form a part of the 
competitive process design brief to 
inform any future design competition. 

A detailed Public Art Strategy is required 
to be developed for the site in 
accordance the preliminary strategy and 
the City's Public Art Policy and Section 
3.1.5 of the Sydney DCP 2012.  

46



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

Appropriate conditions are 
recommended ensuring that this 
strategy is required to be prepared and 
submitted as part of any future detailed 
design development application. 

3.2 Defining the Public Domain Yes The proposal maintains and improves 
the existing active frontage with 
additional ground level retail and hotel 
activity and maintains the existing 
pedestrian awnings on the site. The 
proposal will make a positive 
contribution to the public domain. 

3.3 Design Excellence and 
Competitive Design Processes 

Yes Any future detailed design development 
application associated with the proposed 
development will be the subject of a 
competitive design process. An 
appropriate condition to this effect is 
recommended and included in 
Attachment A to this report. 

3.5 Urban Ecology Yes The proposed development does not 
involve the removal of any trees and will 
not result in any significant adverse 
impacts upon the local urban ecology. 

An appropriate condition is 
recommended to require street trees 
adjacent to the site are retained and 
protected in any subsequent detailed 
design development application.   

3.6 Ecologically Sustainable 
Development (ESD) 

Able to 
comply 

Conditions are recommended and 
included in Annexure A to this report in 
order to ensure that the relevant ESD 
commitments in the Design Excellence 
Strategy will be carried through the 
competitive design process to the 
detailed design development application. 

Furthermore, a condition is 
recommended to require a valid BASIX 
Certificate to be submitted with any such 
application, in accordance with the 
provisions of the BASIX SEPP and 
Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Regulation, 2000. 

47



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.7 Water and Flood 
Management 

Able to 
comply 

Detailed Site Flood Assessment and 
Building Services reports accompanied 
the development application and are 
acceptable.  

This is discussed above in relation to the 
relevant provisions of the Sydney LEP 
2012. 

3.8 Subdivision, Strata 
Subdivision and Consolidation 

Yes An appropriate condition is 
recommended ensuring the two existing 
lots on the site are consolidated into a 
single allotment in any future detailed 
design development application. 

3.9 Heritage 

3.9.4 Development of sites of 
State heritage significance or 
containing more than one 
heritage item 

Yes The subject site includes three heritage 
items. The exterior of the items and 
many of the internal features are of high 
significance.  

While the proposal will result in 
extensive works on the site, the impacts 
on the item are generally acceptable, 
subject to conditions. 

A heritage committee is required to be 
appointed to examine and advise on the 
merits of the proposal, which is not 
warranted in the circumstances of the 
proposal. 

Refer to the further discussion and 
assessment provided below under the 
Issues heading. 

3.11 Transport and Parking Able to 
comply 

Appropriate conditions of consent are 
recommended and included in 
Attachment A to this report to ensure 
that adequate bicycle parking facilities 
are provided as part of any future 
detailed design development application. 

An amended Transport Impact 
Assessment and Plan of Management 
were submitted with the amended 
application lodged with Council on 17 
June 2019, which propose detailed 
arrangements in relation to transport, 
freight and servicing impacts associated 
with the development. 

48



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

Refer to the further discussion and 
assessment provided below under the 
Issues heading. 

3.12 Accessible Design Able to 
comply 

An appropriate condition is 
recommended and included in 
Attachment A to this report to require an 
Access Report to be submitted with any 
future detailed design development 
application to ensure that the future 
buildings on the site incorporate 
accessible design. 

3.13 Social and Environmental 
Responsibilities 

Able to 
comply 

A condition is recommended and 
included in Attachment A to this report to 
require a Security Management Plan, 
prepared in accordance with the ‘Crime 
Prevention Through Environmental 
Design’ principles, to be submitted with 
any future detailed design development 
application. 

3.14 Waste Able to 
comply 

A condition is recommended and 
included in Attachment A to this report to 
require that a Waste Management Plan 
is submitted with any subsequent 
detailed design development application, 
in accordance with the controls in 
Section 3.14 of the Sydney DCP 2012. 

3.16 Signs and 
Advertisements 

Able to 
comply 

A condition is recommended and 
included in Attachment A to this report to 
require a signage strategy to be 
submitted with any subsequent detailed 
design application, in accordance with 
the requirements of Section 3.16.1 of the 
Sydney DCP 2012. 

 
  

49



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.1 Building height 

4.2.1.2 Floor to ceiling heights 
and floor to floor heights 

 

Able to 
comply 

 

The indicative concept design scheme 
drawings demonstrate that the proposed 
envelopes can accommodate compliant 
floor to ceiling and floor to floor heights. 

4.2.2 Building setbacks Yes The proposal maintains the established 
street frontage height of the existing 
heritage items on the site and provides a 
compliant 10 metre setback to the 
podium and tower envelopes above the 
street wall height. 

These serve to adequately maintain the 
setting of the subject heritage items. 

4.2.3 Amenity Able to 
comply 

The indicative concept design scheme 
drawings demonstrate that a building 
can be constructed within the proposed 
envelope with acceptable levels of 
residential amenity. 

4.2.4 Fine grain, architectural 
diversity and articulation 

Able to 
comply 

The retention of the existing heritage 
items on the subject site maintains the 
existing fine grain built form and varied 
architectural character to Pitt Street. 

The form and scale of the podium and 
tower envelopes above provide 
adequate capacity to ensure appropriate 
facade modulation and articulation to a 
future building proposed in any 
subsequent detailed design 
development application. 

4.2.6 Waste and Recycling 
Management 

Able to 
comply 

The indicative concept design scheme 
drawings have provided areas within the 
building envelope to accommodate 
waste storage and collection facilities.  

A condition is recommended to ensure 
these are provided in any subsequent 
detailed design development application. 

50



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, 
commercial and mixed use 
developments 

Compliance Comment 

4.2.7 Heating and Cooling 
Infrastructure 

Able to 
comply 

The indicative concept design scheme 
drawings have provided areas within the 
building envelope to accommodate plant 
and services, including consolidated 
heating and cooling infrastructure. 

4.2.8 Letterboxes Able to 
comply 

The location of letterboxes can be 
addressed as part of any future detailed 
design development application. 

 

5. Specific Areas 

5.1 Central Sydney 

Compliance Comment 

5.1.1 Street frontage heights No but 
acceptable 

Street frontage heights in Central 
Sydney are required between 20 to 45 
metres. 

The height of the existing heritage items 
for retention on the site ranges between 
approximately 19 to 28 metres and does 
not fully comply with the minimum height 
of the control. 

The non-compliance is acceptable in this 
case however, given the heritage 
significance of the subject items. 

5.1.2 Building setbacks 

5.1.2.1 Front setbacks 

 

5.1.2.2 Side and rear setbacks 

 

Yes 

 

No 

 

The proposal provides a 10 metre 
setback above the heritage items on the 
site. 

The proposal provides compliant 12 
metre setbacks from the eastern and 
southern boundaries. 

The setback of the tower to the northern 
boundary of the site ranges between 
approximately 1.65 and 7 metres. 

51



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

5. Specific Areas 

5.1 Central Sydney 

Compliance Comment 

Refer to the further discussion and 
assessment provided below under the 
Issues heading. 

5.1.5 Building bulk Yes Above a height of 45 metres, tower floor 
plates are restricted to a maximum of 
1,000 square metres, with a maximum 
dimension of 40 metres. 

The proposal provides a maximum floor 
plate of approximately 856 square 
metres and a maximum dimension of 
approximately 33 metres. 

5.1.6 Building exteriors Able to 
comply 

The proposal is for a concept building 
envelope and the architecture and 
materiality of the development will be 
determined as part of any future 
competitive design process and detailed 
design development application. 

5.1.9 Award and allocation of 
heritage floor space  

Able to 
comply  

Accommodation floor space and 
competition floor space will be subject to 
the allocation of heritage floor space in 
any future detailed design development 
application 

Issues 

Heritage conservation 

82. The site includes three heritage items and is located in proximity to numerous heritage 
items, as identified in the map depicted in Figure 32 below.  

52



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 32: Axonometric view extract of the site and heritage items in the locality (site shown in red). 

83. The exterior of the three items (depicted in Figures 4 to 8 above) and many internal 
features are of high heritage significance (depicted in Figures 33 to 35 below). The 
application is therefore subject to the heritage controls contained in the Sydney LEP 
2012 and Sydney DCP 2012. 

 

Figure 33: View of the interior of the former Club Room / Lower Bar at 198-200 Pitt St. 

53



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 34: View north-east across the Celebrity Lounge towards the stage at 198-200 Pitt St. 

 

Figure 35: View west across the mezzanine of the Corinthian Room at 202-204 Pitt St. 

84. In the circumstances of the subject application, the threshold question is whether a 
tower of the proposed form and scale has acceptable impacts on the setting of the 
heritage items on the site. The three significant buildings on the site are relatively low-
scale city buildings with well-proportioned classical facades that are architecturally 
complete.   

54



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

85. The subject application seeks to place a podium and tower on top of the significant 
interiors of the subject heritage items by relying on demolition of an unlisted building 
and partial demolition of less significant interiors to provide for lift core and structural 
support. The tower envelope rises from 198-200 Pitt Street, but also overhangs the 
most significant southern building at 202-204 Pitt Street.  

86. The main concern with the original envelope was that it would produce a tower that 
visually dominated the heritage items and had an unacceptable impact on their setting, 
including views from Pitt Street. The amendments made to the envelope by the 
applicant on 17 June 2019 have generally addressed this concern, as outlined below. 

87. The key heritage considerations for the amended proposal are as follows: 

(a) How does a tower of this scale contribute to the conservation of the heritage 
items? 

(b) Will the form and scale of this envelope result in a tower that has an acceptable 
impact on the setting of the heritage items? 

(c) Does the proposed cantilever over 202-204 Pitt Street have an acceptable 
heritage and aesthetic impact? 

88. The following assessment addresses these relevant heritage considerations: 

Structure 

(a) The proposed new structures and fabric can house services, lifts and fire stairs 
required by contemporary standards and codes that would otherwise have a 
negative heritage impact on retained heritage fabric and spaces. The new tower 
locks in and extends the significant and historic ongoing use of the place. 

(b) 198-200 Pitt Street has had previous major additions and internal changes which 
eroded many of the interiors, changed the roof form and filled in original light 
wells with intrusive services to the extent that they can no longer provide light 
and air to the spaces they originally served, as indicated by the photograph in 
Figure 36 below. 

(c) The structural analysis provided with the application (reproduced in Figure 37 
below) indicates that the proposed steel structure can support the podium and 
tower above, but will require the construction of new footings and columns in the 
confined light wells and addition of a transfer structure above the heritage item. 

55



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 36: The eastern light well at 198-200 Pitt Street partially infilled for a fire stair. 

 

Figure 37: Axonometric view extract of indicative truss structure above the celebrity lounge and 
members bar, looking north-west (truss structure shown in red). 

(d) This is acceptable as the structure in the degraded light wells is outside the 
architectural envelope of the original building, but will entail considerable risk and 
expense, requiring full resolution during any subsequent competitive design 
process and detailed design development application. 

56



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(e) The 13 metre structural set back between the new core and the existing west 
elevation of 198-200 Pitt Street can maintain a deep, stable and characteristic 
section of the original structure and interiors, which is an acceptable heritage 
outcome. 

Effect on the heritage significance of the items 

(a) As discussed above, 198-200 Pitt Street has had major additions and internal 
changes which have removed, disfigured or concealed much of the interior, with 
surviving significant interiors existing in isolation, physically separated by 
intrusive interiors. The existing entrance sequence and majority of the existing 
interiors give no sense of place as a heritage item. 

(b) The proposed demolition and interventions for the tower can facilitate 
conservation of surviving significant interiors, a new entrance sequence, vertical 
circulation and interpretation of 198-200 Pitt Street. 

(c) The proposed tower has no physical impact on 194 Pitt Street or 202-204 Pitt 
Street, but will have an impact on their setting, which is discussed below. 

Services 

(a) Significant spaces in 198-200 Pitt Street, including the lower bar, are marred by 
intrusive services and bulkheads, as indicated in Figure 38 below. Air 
conditioning and other services have intrusive effects throughout the complex. 
202-204 Pitt Street includes intrusive escalators and a mezzanine built in the 
1940s that disrupts the original double height Tattersall's Club room.  

  

Figure 38: View of the former Club Room / Lower Bar, including intrusive bulkhead. 

(b) The proposed new core and tower provide an opportunity to rationalise and 
minimise intrusive services and vertical circulation in the three heritage items.  
The new fabric can serve the old, particularly housing cooling towers and 
compressors, service risers, kitchens, bathrooms and the like. 

57



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(c) The building at 194 Pitt Street was not built for club purposes but was acquired 
and fitted out with uses that complement the other club buildings. The other 2 
heritage items were occupied by the City Tattersall's club for many years.  198-
200 Pitt Street was purpose-built for the club and opened in 1925.  The 
neighbouring 202-204 Pitt Street was purpose-built for the rival Tattersall's Club 
in 1891 and acquired by City Tattersall's Club in 1975.   

(d) The site represents the ongoing use and expansion of a sporting club, 
particularly focussed on horse racing, dating to 1891. This is reflected in the 
features of the significant interiors and exteriors. 198-200 Pitt Street and 202-204 
Pitt Street were commissioned and shaped for club purposes and ongoing club 
occupation is the highest and best use for these buildings.  

(e) The tower presents opportunities to relocate intrusive club uses to the proposed 
new fabric in the tower podium to facilitate optimal conservation of significant 
interiors. It also provides an economic model to support the ongoing occupation 
of the site by the club. This is a potentially positive heritage outcome that can be 
balanced against potential for negative impacts. 

Cantilever to the south over 202-204 Pitt Street 

(a) The amended podium and tower design provides an envelope that is clearly read 
as rising from within 198-200 Pitt and serviced by the new intervention at 196 Pitt 
Street. The resulting north-south dimension to the envelope provides for a better 
relationship to the scale and subdivision pattern, as indicated in Figure 39 and 40 
below.    

(b) The reduced podium width and relatively minor cantilever of the tower element 
occurs at a high elevation have an acceptable heritage impact, subject to a 
condition requiring the podium to be visually recessive and the cantilever design 
to be articulated and finished to minimise any visual impacts to the heritage 
items below. 

Adaptive reuse and conservation of 194 Pitt Street 

(a) The proposed works are acceptable.  This building is of moderate significance 
internally with a high significance Pitt Street elevation. Details for the 
conservation and reuse of this building would require resolution as part of any 
subsequent detailed design development application. 

58



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 39: Envelope axonometric view extract, looking north-east. 

 

Figure 40: Indicative axonometric view extract, looking north-east. 

59



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Demolition and replacement of 196 Pitt Street 

(a) Demolition and replacement of the intrusive building at 196 Pitt Street is 
acceptable provided: 

(i) The use of this part of the site is optimised to reduce heritage impacts on 
the other three buildings in the group; and 

(ii) The detailed design of the Pitt Street facade is of a sandstone/masonry 
character that complements the conserved significant elevations of 194, 
198 and 202-204 Pitt Street. 

198-200 Pitt Street: Building over and under and conservation of significant interiors 

(a) The ground floor Club Room is of high significance and the Celebrity Room 
above has the potential to be conserved to restore its former interior features. 
They must be retained and conserved. 

(b) The structural solution for the proposed tower is to insert new columns into 
existing degraded light wells to the east and west of these spaces to support 
trussed spans that will carry the tower and its podium over these spaces.  

(c) This solution is technically possible and can have an acceptable heritage impact, 
however, it is a high risk and high cost structure and its commercial viability 
requires testing. Any intrusive structural interventions into these significant 
interiors would not be acceptable if proposed in any detailed design development 
application. 

198-200 Pitt Street: Internal demolition of the central section of 198 Pitt Street  

(a) This part of the building is much changed from the original fabric and the interiors 
as largely graded as neutral although the existing structure and columns are 
graded moderate.  

(b) Intervention in this part of the building can deliver services and vertical circulation 
to the more significant interiors of the building.   

202-204 Pitt Street: Internal interventions  

(a) This is one of the most significant heritage items on the site, with the proposed 
demolition and interventions primarily restoring lost or changed high significance 
spaces and fabric, which is acceptable.   

(b) The proposed raising of the former billiard room at the eastern end of this site is 
acceptable as it would retain a high significance structure and interior, while 
improving poor internal circulation.   

External conservation of retained external fabric including building facades 

(a) The full conservation of retained fabric is essential and would require resolution 
and detailed schedules of conservation works in any subsequent detailed design 
development application. 

  

60



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Introduction of new services to all heritage items on the site. 

(a) Detailed resolution of the scope, nature and impacts of new services will be 
required in any subsequent detailed design development application.  As 
discussed above, all new major services lifts, fires stairs and the like must be 
placed in the new structure in order to minimise impacts to the fabric and form of 
the heritage items. 

Conclusion 

(a) The proposed tower envelope has impacts on the fabric of 198-200 Pitt Street 
and to the setting of all three heritage items. It removes a large proportion of the 
original structure of 198-200 Pitt Street and gives rise to structural risk to the 
remaining significant fabric of this building and the adjacent heritage buildings.   

(b) These negative impacts are balanced by potential positive heritage outcomes, 
including: 

(i) Re-construction and conservation of remaining significant interiors and 
exteriors; 

(ii) Conservation of the external form and roof scape of 202-204 Pitt Street; 

(iii) Location of intrusive services and structures outside the heritage items; 
and 

(iv) Continuation of the site’s long-term historic use as the City Tattersall's 
Club. 

(c) A successful resolution of the potential impacts will be dependent on the 
formulation of the design brief for any subsequent design excellence competition 
and detailed design development application. 

89. Although the proposal entails extensive works on the site, on balance it can be 
supported, subject to the range of recommended heritage conditions included in 
Attachment A to this report. 

Heritage committee  

90. The provisions of Section 3.9.4 of the Sydney DCP 2012 require that for a 
development a site containing more than one heritage item a heritage committee 
should be appointed where a development involves: 

(a) Demolition that will result in a reduction of the building envelope of the heritage 
item by more than 35%; 

(b) An increase in the size of the building envelope of the heritage item by more than 
20%; or 

(c) Building over more than 20% of a heritage item’s building footprint within the 
airspace above the item, but not within the airspace next to the item.. 

  

61



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

91. In this instance, a  heritage committee is not required to be established for this 
application in the specific circumstances of the proposal, given: 

(a) A heritage committee was previously established during the assessment of the 
previous development application D/2015/1214 for the concept redevelopment of 
the site, which recommended that: 

(i) A development facilitating the ongoing operation of the City Tattersalls 
Club on the site is supported; and 

(ii) The incorporation of a tower form and a podium on the site is accepted in 
principle; 

(b) There has been an extensive pre-development application process, including 
numerous heritage workshops and public consultation, as detailed elsewhere in 
this report; 

(c) A competitive design process and subsequent detailed design development 
application are required, which will also be subject to the provisions of Section 
3.9.4 of the Sydney DCP 2012 and the relaxation of the controls for the proposal 
will not constrain the appointment of a future heritage committee, where it is 
considered necessary;  

(d) The City's Urban Design and Heritage Manager considers there is little benefit in 
appointing a heritage committee for the proposal, in light of the matters outlined 
above; and 

(e) A written request provided pursuant to Section 1.1 of the Sydney DCP 2012 to 
vary the requirements of Section 3.9.4 of the Sydney DCP 2012 was reviewed 
and is supported by City planning staff.  

Transport, freight and servicing 

92. The subject site is significantly constrained in relation to transport, freight and servicing 
considerations, in light of the following: 

(a) Its location on, and narrow available frontage to Pitt Street, a north-bound one-
way local road in the Sydney Central Business District, which carries 
approximately 4,000 vehicles per day,  

(b) Its location in proximity to the signalised intersection with Market Street, a busy 
west-bound one-way secondary road;  

(c) Existing pedestrian volumes along Pitt Street within the locality ranging between 
peak volumes of up to approximately 1,500 to 2,600 pedestrians per hour, which 
are predicted to appreciably increase with the operation of the future Sydney 
Metro; 

(d) Heritage listings of three of the four buildings described above; 

(e) The location of the Sydney Metro tunnel reserves below and adjacent to the site; 

(f) The lack of any existing on-site loading facilities, with all existing loading 
activities currently occurring on Pitt Street; 

62



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(g) Inability to accommodate on-site pick-up and drop-off or coach parking for the 
indicative hotel use; and 

(h) Inability to provide alternate vehicle access via adjoining sites. 

93. The site is well served by existing and planned public and private transport 
infrastructure in the locality, including on-street parking and loading zones, bus and 
taxi zones, bus routes, bicycle lanes and light, heavy and metro rail stations. 

94. The indicative concept design scheme proposes: 

(a) No general vehicle parking on site; 

(b) 341 bicycle parking spaces; and  

(c) Four loading bays within basement level 1, with ground floor vehicle access from 
Pitt Street from a 4.8 metre wide driveway, facilitated by the demolition of 196 
Pitt Street, as indicated in Figures 41 and 42 below. 

95. The indicative vehicle access will result in the loss of one on-street car space. 

 

Figure 41: Indicative ground floor plan extract, with the driveway and hoist highlighted in red. 

63



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 42: Indicative basement 1 floor plan extract, with proposed loading facilities highlighted in red. 

96. The applicant was asked to provide further information in relation to the proposal on 19 
March 2019, including: 

(a) Estimated traffic generation; 

(b) Estimated freight and servicing requirements;  

(c) A draft plan of management with a particular focus on the transport and logistics 
requirements.  

97. This information was supplied with the amended application submitted to the City on 
17 June 2019. 

98. The following assessment addresses the relevant transport, freight and servicing 
considerations arising from the submitted information: 

(a) The proposed Plan of Management (PoM) creates a framework and 
implementation process for the proactive management of traffic implications from 
the club, hotel, retail and residential uses. 

(b) The PoM provides that the loading facilities and driveway to Pitt Street be open 
only between 7.30pm and 7.30am in order to mitigate impacts on the pedestrian 
and vehicle environment along Pitt and Market Streets and the broader Sydney 
Central Business District. It details various measures to accommodate all long-
term loading within the loading dock and spread short-term loading across the 
day in on-street loading areas. 

64



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(c) This approach is supported in principle, subject to appropriate conditions 
requiring an updated PoM to be submitted with any subsequent detailed design 
development application and noting that the continued provision of on street 
parking zones cannot be guaranteed into the future; 

(d) The proposed hours of operation will preclude Council collection of waste from 
the indicative residential component of the development. The applicant has 
proposed engagement of a private contractor to collect residential waste which is 
acceptable on balance only in the specific circumstances of the subject site, 
given the extremely sensitive nature of the heritage constraints outlined above 
and the need to mitigate against the potential for significant adverse traffic 
impacts during daytime peak periods; 

(e) The indicative hotel use is inconsistent Section 3.11.8 and Schedule 7.8.2 of the 
Sydney DCP 2012 relating to on-site coach / bus parking provision. This is 
acceptable however, given the existing heritage constraints subject to an 
appropriate condition requiring a Plan of Management to be prepared and 
submitted with any subsequent detailed design development application; 

(f) The site does not provide ‘drop off and pick up’ facilities for any of the indicative 
uses and a Freight and Servicing Management Plan must be prepared and 
submitted with any subsequent detailed design development application, 
including reference to the loading restrictions of the building, management of 
removalists and bulky goods (white goods, furniture) delivery, advice around 
delivery of groceries etc.; 

(g) The indicative removal of one on-street car parking bay is not recommended for 
approval as a part of the concept proposal, given that it would require detailed 
design in accordance with Roads and Maritime Services Technical Directives 
and referral to and approval from the City's Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic 
Calming Committee; and 

(h) The indicative bicycle parking facilities are supported in principle, noting that bike 
parking numbers will be assessed in detail with any subsequent detailed design 
development application and an appropriate condition recommended to ensure 
compliance with Section 3.11.3 of the Sydney DCP 2012 and Australian 
Standard AS2890.3:2015. 

Setbacks 

99. The proposed setback of the tower envelope to the northern boundary of the site 
ranges between approximately 1.65 and 7 metres, which deviates substantially from 
the applicable controls in the Sydney DCP 2012 and ADG, as depicted in Figures 43, 
44 and 45 below. 

100. Section 5.1.2.2 of the Sydney DCP 2012 requires a setback of 12 metres from side 
and rear boundaries for residential buildings over 45 metres in height, while the 
controls in the ADG require the following minimum separation distances over 9 storeys 
(over 25 metres) in height: 

(a) Part 2F requires 24 metres separation between habitable rooms and balconies, 
18 metres separation between habitable and non-habitable rooms and 12 metres 
between non-habitable rooms between buildings;  

65



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(b) Part 3F require 12 metres building separation between habitable rooms / 
balconies and 6 metres between non-habitable rooms to side and rear 
boundaries; and 

(c) The required building separations in Part 2F and 3F are to be shared equitably 
between neighbouring sites. 

 

Figure 43: Proposed building envelope setbacks and separation. 

66



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

 

Figure 44: Indicative concept design scheme plan extract at level 14. 

 

Figure 45: Indicative concept design scheme plan extract at level 15. 

67



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

101. The applicant submits that the variance sought is justified in view of the fact that the 
properties to the north at 192-192A Pitt Street and 61-63 Market Street do not have 
any significant development potential, given that they are either: 

(a) Too small; and/or  

(b) Encumbered by a heritage listing.  

102. Furthermore, it is posited that the recent concept approval and current detailed design 
development application for 65-77 Market Street (being the David Jones Market Street 
site) confines the new tower form to the eastern portion of that site. 

103. A review of the survey plans submitted with the application demonstrates that the 
existing building at 61-63 Market Street has not been constructed to its maximum 
potential.  

104. The existing building has 13 storeys, with a maximum height of RL 66.90 (AHD). 
Under the currently applicable height controls, including Clause 6.16 of the Sydney 
LEP 2012, it has the potential to be redeveloped to a height of 55 metres, or RL 
74.37(AHD). This is 7.5 metres higher than the current height.  

105. This would allow for the construction of at least 2 additional storeys, leaving aside any 
potential for an additional 10% height bonus available under Clause 6.21(7) of the 
Sydney LEP 2012. 

106. Furthermore, the concept envelope approved for 65-77 Market Street comprises a 
whole floor addition to the existing building, apart from the new residential tower 
located on the eastern side of that site. This new floor will extend over the northern 
section of the site increasing its height to RL 70.67 (AHD). 

107. Indicative residential uses are proposed within the northern frontage of the proposed 
tower on the subject site from a height of RL 68.86 (AHD). The indicative concept 
design scheme suggests that a number of apartments on Levels 14 and 15 will have 
primary windows and balconies facing the northern boundary.  

108. Given the reduced setback at this side, those apartments risk losing solar access 
when 65-77 Market Street is constructed and the building at 61-63 Market Street is 
redeveloped to take advantage of the permissible height for the site.  

109. This part of the proposal does not comprise a viable design option for two reasons:  

(a) It does not acknowledge the full extent of the approved development at 65-77 
Market Street; and  

(b) It discounts the possibility of the redevelopment of the adjoining site at 61-63 
Market Street to its maximum potential under the current planning controls.   

110. It is evident that in the case that if one or both of these sites to the north are 
redeveloped, apartments at Level 14 and 15 on the northern elevation of the proposed 
tower will be heavily impacted.  

  

68



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

111. An appropriate condition is recommended and included in Attachment A to this report 
to: 

(a) Exclude habitable rooms of any residential apartments from the northern edge of 
Level 14 and Level 15; 

(b) Require apartments in these locations to address the eastern or western 
boundaries of the site, as appropriate; and  

(c) Provide alternate uses, ancillary to residential apartments, such as plant areas 
and storage to these areas. 

Design excellence 

112. A competitive design process is required prior to lodgement of a future detailed 
development application for the proposed development. Three types of competitive 
design processes are open to the applicant, namely: 

(a) An 'open' architectural design competition; 

(b) An 'invited' architectural design competition; or 

(c) An 'invited' competitive design alternatives process. 

113. The applicant has chosen to undertake an 'invited' architectural design competition as 
the competitive design process associated with the development, with six invited 
competitors.  

114. A Design Excellence Strategy was prepared by Ethos Urban Pty. Ltd. on behalf of ICD 
SB Pitt Street Pty. Ltd., a copy of which is included as Attachment E to this 
assessment report. 

115. The competitive process will be undertaken in order to achieve an enhanced urban 
outcome with a building of a high design quality. In particular, the Design Excellence 
Strategy was developed in accordance with the objectives set out in Section 3.3 of the 
Sydney DCP 2012 as follows: 

(a) Ensure high quality and varied design through the use of competitive design 
processes for large and prominent developments; 

(b) Ensure development individually and collectively contributes to the architectural 
and overall urban design quality of the local government area; and 

(c) Encourage variety in architectural design and character across large 
developments to provide a fine grain which enriches and enlivens the City’s 
public realm. 

116. The Design Excellence Strategy requires the selection of architects participating in the 
competitive process to be undertaken in consultation with the City.  

117. Each competitor will be a person, corporation or firm registered as an architect in 
accordance with the NSW Architects Act 2003 or, in the case of interstate or overseas 
competitors, eligible for registration. 

  

69



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

118. It is noted that the Design Excellence Strategy proposes exclusion of the heritage 
component of the development (basement levels to level 5) from the competitive 
design process by providing the indicative concept design scheme for these levels in 
the competition brief. This exclusion is acceptable only in the specific circumstances of 
the subject site, given the extremely sensitive nature of the heritage constraints 
outlined above. 

119. The Design Excellence Strategy is therefore satisfactory and is recommended for 
approval as part of this concept development application. 

Other impacts of the development 

120. The proposal provides a building envelope capable of accommodating a future building 
which can achieve compliance with the Building Code of Australia (BCA). 

121. The proposal will have no unacceptable environmental, social or economic impacts on 
the locality, subject to imposition of the recommended conditions on consent granted 
by the Central Sydney Planning Committee. 

Suitability of the site for the development  

122. The proposal is in keeping with the desired future character for the site and locality. 

123. The site is situated in the Sydney Central Business District, located amongst similar 
uses to that proposed and is suitable for the proposed development.  

Internal Referrals 

124. The application was referred to, or discussed with the following referral officers and 
bodies for review: 

(a) Design Advisory Panel; 

(b) Design Excellence Unit; 

(c) City Model Unit; 

(d) Environmental Projects Unit; 

(e) Cleansing and Waste Services Unit; 

(f) Public Art Unit; 

(g) Urban Design and Heritage Manager; 

(h) Heritage Specialist; 

(i) Urban Design Specialist; 

(j) Building Approvals Unit; 

(k) Health and Building Unit; 

(l) Public Domain Unit; 

70



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

(m) Safe City Unit; 

(n) Specialist Surveyor; 

(o) Transport Planning Unit; 

(p) Tree Management Officer; and 

(q) Landscape Assessment Officer. 

125. The revised concept proposal addresses the issues raised initially and is acceptable, 
subject to the recommended conditions of consent included in Attachment A. 

External Referrals 

126. The application was referred to the following external referral bodies for review: 

(a) Transport for New South Wales (TfNSW); 

(b) Roads and Maritime Services (RMS); 

(c) Sydney Airport; 

(d) Sydney Metro; 

(e) Sydney Trains; 

(f) Sydney Water; 

(g) New South Wales Police Force; 

(h) Ausgrid; and 

(i) A qualified consultant Quantity Surveyor. 

127. Comments from all the relevant external referral requirements are addressed or 
included in the recommended conditions of consent in Attachment A where relevant. 

Notification, Advertising and Delegation  

128. In accordance with Schedule 1 of the Sydney DCP 2012, the proposed development 
requires notification and advertising. As such the original application was notified and 
advertised for a period of 28 days between 31 October 2018 and 29 November 2018.  

129. A total of 325 properties were notified and there were two submissions received. One 
submission was in support of the proposal, with the other submission raising several 
matters of concern. 

130. The amended application was notified and advertised for a period of 28 days between 
24 June 2019 and 23 July 2019.  

131. A total of 325 properties were notified and one submission was received in support of 
the proposal. 

71



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

132. The concerns raised in the objection referred to above are summarised and addressed 
below. 

Future viability of development at 222 Pitt Street (aka Piccadilly Centre) 

(a) It is requested that any impacts of the proposal which may adversely affect the 
future redevelopment of the adjoining site at 222 Pitt Street, Sydney, including 
acknowledging that any new views created to the south-east will be temporary 
and that consideration is given to the impact on viability of certain land uses, 
including appropriate facade treatments and setbacks so as to not unduly 
constrain a larger commercial tower footprint. 

Response - Noted. As discussed elsewhere in this assessment report, the 
proposed setbacks to the new development on the subject site are acceptable 
and the tower form will not unreasonably constrain development on the site 
referred to above, subject to the conditions included in Attachment A. 

Connectivity to adjoining sites 

(b) The indicative concept design scheme includes references to potential future 
connections to the adjoining sites. These connections should not be approved or 
relied upon as a part any development consent granted by the Central Sydney 
Planning Committee and it should be made clear that any connections are only a 
potential. 

Response - Noted. No consent or approval for these potential connections are 
recommended or implied, nor is the indicative concept design scheme 
recommended to form a part of any consent granted by the Central Sydney 
Planning Committee. 

 Deliveries, drop off and pick up and waste arrangements 

(c) The Pitt Street pedestrian and vehicle environment will be impacted by the 
proposal, including drop off and pick up arrangements for hotel visitors and 
guests and by loading and garbage collection arrangements. Appropriate 
consideration should be given to these matters, including the imposition of 
conditions requiring further assessment and appropriate management. 

Response - As discussed elsewhere in this report, appropriate conditions are 
included in Attachment A requiring an updated Plan of Management, Freight and 
Servicing Management Plan, Waste Management Plan and waste facilities, as 
recommended by Transport for New South Wales and the City's Transport 
Planning Unit. 

Airports Act 1996 

133. Section 182 of the Airports Act, 1996 specifies that, amongst other things, constructing 
a building or other structure that intrudes into a prescribed airspace is a 'controlled 
activity'. 

134. Clause 6(1) of the Civil Aviation (Building Control) Regulations 1988 identify that 
'prescribed airspace' includes 'the airspace above any part of either an Obstacle 
Limitation Surface (OLS) or Procedures for Air Navigation Services - Aircraft 
Operations (PANS-OPS) surface for the airport'.  

72



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

135. The Outer Horizontal Surface of the OLS above the subject site is at a height of 156 
metres above the Australian Height Datum (AHD) and the prescribed airspace above 
the site commences at RL156 AHD. At a maximum proposed height of RL 187.4 AHD, 
the building will penetrate the OLS by 31.4 metres and any construction of a building to 
this height constitutes a 'controlled activity'. 

136. Section 183 of the Airports Act, 1996 specifies that controlled activities may not be 
carried out in relation to prescribed airspace unless an approval has been granted. 
Clause 14 of the Civil Aviation (Building Control) Regulations 1988 provides that a 
proposal to carry out a controlled activity must be approved unless carrying out the 
controlled activity interferes with the safety, efficiency or regularity of existing or future 
air transport operations into or out of the airport concerned. Clause 14(1)(b) provides 
that an approval may be granted subject to conditions. 

137. Under the Regulations, the Secretary of the Department is empowered to make 
decisions in relation to the approval of controlled activities, and impose conditions on 
the approval. The Director, Airport Safeguarding Aviation and Airports Division, as the 
delegate of the Secretary for the purposes of the Regulations, provided approval for 
the controlled activity on 7 December 2018. The amended application received by the 
City on 17 June 2019 did not alter the overall height of the envelope and the approval 
continues to apply to the proposal.  

Public Interest 

138. The proposal will have no significant detrimental effect on the public interest, subject to 
the recommended conditions of consent included in Attachment A to the subject 
report. 

Financial Implications 

Section 61 Contributions 

139. The development is exempt from the provisions of Central Sydney (Section 61) 
Contributions Plan 2003 as the proposal is for a concept building envelope. Section 61 
contributions are applicable to any future detailed design development application. 

Relevant Legislation 

140. The Environmental Planning and Assessment Act, 1979. 

141. City of Sydney Act, 1988. 

142. Road Act, 1993. 

143. Airports Act, 1996. 

73



Central Sydney Planning Committee 14 November 2019 
 

Conclusion 

144. The proposed concept development is appropriate in its setting and is generally 
compliant with the relevant planning controls in the Sydney LEP 2012, the Sydney 
DCP 2012, SEPP 65 and the ADG. 

145. Proposed variations to controls in the Sydney DCP 2012 and ADG are generally 
acceptable and identified in the report. The proposal was amended to address 
Council's concerns relating to heritage conservation, transport, traffic and servicing 
and compliance with the ADG and to improve residential amenity. The amended 
proposal is satisfactory, subject to the recommended conditions of consent included in 
Attachment A. 

146. The proposed building envelope is compliant with the applicable height control. The 
envelope does not pose any significant or unreasonable impacts upon the existing or 
likely future development surrounding the site. 

147. The indicative concept design scheme submitted with the application adequately 
demonstrates that an acceptable level of amenity could be achieved for dwellings 
within the proposed tower form. 

148. The potential impacts on the heritage significance of the heritage items located on the 
site are generally acceptable, subject to conditions. 

149. Where the assessment of the subject proposal has identified potential issues for a 
future detailed design development application, such as heritage conservation, vehicle 
access and servicing, these matters are identified in the recommended conditions of 
consent as requiring further consideration. 

150. The proposal will provide for new residential, retail and hotel accommodation uses and 
retention of the existing club use in the Sydney Central Business District, on a site 
which is highly accessible to existing and planned employment, services, public 
transport infrastructure and community facilities. 

151. Subject to the recommendations in this report, and the imposition of the proposed 
conditions, the proposal is capable of accommodating a future detailed design that 
responds to the constraints of the site and contributes to the existing and desired 
future character of the locality. 

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

David Reynolds, Senior Planner 

74



Attachment A 

Recommended Conditions of Consent

 

75



 

 

CONDITIONS OF CONSENT 

SCHEDULE 1A 

APPROVED DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN MODIFICATIONS/USE AND OPERATION 

(1) CONCEPT DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION 

Pursuant to Division 4.4 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act, 
1979, and Clause 100 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Regulation, 2000, this Notice of Determination relates to a concept 
development application, and a subsequent development application 
(detailed design) are required for any work on the site. 

(2) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. 
D/2018/1246 dated 17 October 2018 and the following drawings 
prepared by Francis-Jones Morehen Thorp Pty Ltd: 

Drawing Name Date 

Proposed Envelope - Basement 5 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - Basement 4 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - Basement 3 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - Basement 2 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - Basement 1 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - Ground Floor 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - Ground Floor Mezzanine 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - Level 1 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - Level 1 Mezzanine 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - Level 2 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - Level 3 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - Level 4 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - Level 5 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - Level 6 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - Level 7 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - Level 14 Podium Roof 14 June 2019 

76



 

 

Drawing Name Date 

Proposed Envelope - Tower Roof 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - Pitt Street Elevation 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - Market Street Elevation 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - Castreleagh Street Elevation 14 June 2019 

Proposed Envelope - West-East Section Through 
Lantern 

14 June 2019 

 
and as amended by the conditions of this consent. 

(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and 
supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail. 

(3) MATTERS NOT APPROVED IN CONCEPT PROPOSAL DEVELOPMENT 
CONSENT 

The following matters are not approved and do not form part of this concept 
development consent: 

(a) Any works, including demolition, excavation and/or construction. 

(b) The precise total quantum of floor space. 

(c) The quantum, ratio and distribution of retail, hotel, registered club and 
residential floor space. 

(d) The indicative floor layouts of buildings. 

(e) The number, position and configuration of residential apartments, hotel, 
registered club and retail tenancies. 

(f) The floor levels of each storey. 

(g) The number and configuration of car parking spaces, levels, bicycle 
spaces, car share spaces, service vehicle and truck loading spaces / 
zones. 

(h) The siting and location of a substation. 

(i) The removal or pruning of any tree adjoining the site. 

(j) Any 10% design excellence uplift bonus in floor space ratio or building 
height. 

77



 

 

(4) BUILDING HEIGHT 

The height of the approved envelope must not exceed the sun access plane 
for Hyde Park West established by Clause 6.17(10) of the Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012. 

(5) FLOOR SPACE RATIO  

(a) The Floor Space Ratio for all detailed development applications on the 
site must not exceed the maximum permissible calculated in 
accordance with the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

(b) Notwithstanding (a) above, the proposal may be eligible for up to 10% 
additional floor space pursuant to the provisions of Clause 6.21(7) of 
the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 if the consent authority is 
satisfied that the resulting detailed design development application 
exhibits design excellence and is the result of a competitive design 
process. 

(c) The site area when calculating the additional floor space is limited to 
that area of the site identified in Figure 1 of the ‘Concept Development 
Application Design Excellence Strategy’ for 194-204 Pitt Street, 
Sydney, prepared by Ethos Urban Pty Ltd and dated September 2019. 

(d) Precise calculations and details of the distribution of floor space must 
be provided with any subsequent detailed design development 
application. 

(e) Any floor space ratio in excess of 8:1 shall be subject to a requirement 
to purchase heritage floor space (HFS) in accordance with the 
requirements of Clause 6.11 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 
2012. 

(6) COMPLIANCE WITH CONCEPT ENVELOPE HEIGHTS AND SETBACKS  

Any subsequent detailed design application must comply with the building 
heights and setbacks established by this consent. 

(7) DETAILED DESIGN TO BE CONTAINED WITHIN APPROVED ENVELOPE 

Subject to the other conditions of this consent, the building envelope is only 
approved on the basis that the ultimate detailed design development 
application for the buildings on the site, including articulation, balconies, 
terraces, services, privacy treatments and other projections will be entirely 
contained within the approved building footprint and envelope, and comply 
with the relevant planning controls.  

(8) COMPETITIVE DESIGN PROCESS  

A competitive design process in accordance with the provisions of the 
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 shall be:  

(a) Conducted in accordance with the ‘Concept Development Application 
Design Excellence Strategy’ for 194-204 Pitt Street, Sydney, prepared 

78



 

 

by Ethos Urban Pty Ltd and dated September 2019 (Council reference 
TRIM 2019/477892). 

(b) Conducted prior to the lodgement of any subsequent detailed 
development application for the site.  

The detailed design of the building/s must exhibit design excellence, in 
accordance with Clause 6.21 of Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. 

(9) DETAILED DESIGN OF BUILDINGS 

The competitive design process brief and subsequent detailed design 
development application must incorporate the following requirements: 

(a) The hotel podium must be designed to be visually recessive and 
complementary to the retained heritage fabric.  

(b) The tower cantilever over 202-204 Pitt Street must be visually 
recessive, articulated and finished to minimise any visually overbearing 
impacts to the heritage items below. 

(c) Communal open space or communal spaces must be provided within 
the development in accordance with Part 3D of the Apartment Design 
Guide for the exclusive use of apartment residents, and which is not to 
be co-located or co-mingled with other uses. 

(d) Habitable rooms of any residential apartments are to be excluded from 
the northern edge of Level 14 and Level 15 and apartments in these 
locations are to address the eastern or western boundaries of the site, 
as appropriate. Alternate uses, ancillary to residential apartments, such 
as plant areas and storage are to be provided to these areas. 

(e) Plant and lift overruns must be incorporated into the roof form of 
buildings and either provided within architectural roof features, as 
defined in the Dictionary of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012, 
or located and provided with parapet screening so that they are not 
visible from the public domain or adjoining tower developments. 

(10) DESIGN EXCELLENCE PROCESS TO BE CONSISTENT WITH CMP AND 
CONSERVATION STRATEGY 

(a) The brief for the Design Excellence competitive process for the 
development must include the City Tattersall’s Club Heritage 
Conservation Strategy by Urbis dated 14 June 2019 (Council reference 
TRIM 2019/306465).   

(b) The brief must require reference to and compliance with the policies of 
the Conservation Management Plan City Tattersall’s Club 194-204 Pitt 
Street Sydney NSW 2000 by Urbis dated 17 October 2018 (CMP) 
(Council reference TRIM 2018/536922 and 2018/536925).   

(c) The full text of the CMP is to be made available for all consultants 
involved in the design excellence process. 

79



 

 

(11) COSTED HERITAGE ASSET MAINTENANCE PLAN 

(a) To ensure the continued protection of heritage significance of the 
heritage item and to guide the future maintenance on heritage fabric, a 
costed Heritage Asset Maintenance Plan must be developed for any 
subsequent detailed design development application. The following is to 
apply: 

(i) The Plan is to be based on the NSW Heritage Division of the 
Department of Environment and Heritage publication: ‘Preparing a 
maintenance plan’, and is to be a guide for the effective, 
continuous, protective maintenance of all significant heritage 
fabric for a minimum period of 20 years. 

(ii) The Plan is to include all fabric identified as being of heritage 
significance, specification notes and methodologies based on the 
Articles of the Australian ICOMOS Burra Charter 1999 and best 
conservation practise, and a list of appropriate consultants and 
suppliers together with the projected costing for each item of 
work. 

(iii) The Plan must be prepared by the project Heritage Conservation 
Architect/Consultant. 

(12) CYCLICAL MAINTENANCE PLAN  

A cyclical maintenance plan specifying frequency and methodologies to 
conduct building inspections and maintenance works to building elements 
and services must be submitted as part of any subsequent detailed design 
development application. The maintenance plan must be prepared by a 
suitably qualified heritage consultant and endorsed by the building owner.  

(13) DISPOSAL OF SURPLUS SALVAGED MATERIALS  

Salvaged traditional building materials surplus to the requirements of this 
project including stone, metal work and joinery are to be sold to an 
established dealer in second hand heritage building materials. 
Documentation of salvage methodology must be submitted as part of any 
subsequent detailed design development application. 

(14) HERITAGE CONSERVATION WORKS  

(a) Any subsequent detailed design development application must include 
a schedule of conservation works to be undertaken concurrent with the 
works. 

(b) The schedule must detail the conservation of all fabric identified as 
having a heritage significance including but not limited to the following: 

(i) Facade stonework; 

(ii) Reinstatement of the iconic horse sculpture on the parapet of 
202-204 Pitt Street; 

(iii) Retention of the external roof form of 202-204 Pitt Street, with no 
external services on this roof; 

80



 

 

(iv) Ground floor facade and shop fronts;  

(v) Door and window joinery; 

(vi) Lift car and lift door joinery;  

(vii) Conservation and re-instatement of the significant interiors 
including the Lower Bar (196-200 Pitt) and the Corinthian Room 
(202-204 Pitt);  

(viii) Hardware;  

(ix) Pavements;  

(x) Pavement lights (if any); and 

(xi) Awnings. 

(c) The schedule must be supported by outline specifications, 
methodologies and detailed architectural sections, elevations and plans 
at 1:20 and 1:5 scales. The details should incorporate any structural 
and/or building services design for the building. 

(d) The proposed works are to be carried out in a manner that minimises 
demolition, alterations and new penetrations/fixings to the significant 
fabric of the existing building. 

(e) All conservation and adaptation works are to be in accordance with the 
Articles of the Australian ICOMOS Burra Charter 1999. Appropriately 
qualified contractors and tradespersons are to be commissioned who 
are skilled in traditional building and engineering trades to carry out the 
proposed scope of works within the heritage building. 

(15) HERITAGE IMPACT STATEMENT REQUIREMENTS FOR DETAILED 
DESIGN DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION  

(a) Any subsequent detailed design development application must be 
informed by a detailed Heritage Impact Statement, which includes 
additional heritage assessment and advice to inform such aspects of 
the development including (but not limited to) the detailed design of the 
shopfronts and infill facade of 196 Pitt Street, the treatment of the 
cantilevered tower form, introduction of services and structural design 
etc.  

(b) Archival recording must be undertaken and include recording of the 
Lower Bar and conservation works. Due to the high level of structural 
interventions, the recording must include point-cloud scans of the Pitt 
Street building facades and of the Club Room. A copy of the archival 
recording, including the point cloud CAD models should be retained on 
site and submitted with any subsequent detailed design development 
application.  

81



 

 

(16) HERITAGE INTERPRETATION PLAN  

(a)  An interpretation plan for the heritage items on the site must be 
submitted as part of any subsequent detailed design development 
application. The plan must be prepared by a suitably qualified and 
experienced heritage practitioner or historian.  

(b)  The interpretation plan must detail how information on the history and 
significance of the heritage items on the site will be provided for the 
public and make recommendations regarding public accessibility, 
signage and lighting. Public art, details of the heritage design, the 
display of selected artefacts are some of the means that can be used.  

(c)  The plan must specify the location, type, making materials and contents 
of the interpretation devices being proposed.  

(17) HERITAGE ITEMS - WORKS TO BE CONSISTENT WITH CMP 

(a) A conservation work schedule detailing methodologies for 
implementation of the recommendations of the Conservation 
Management Plan City Tattersall’s Club 194-204 Pitt Street Sydney 
NSW 2000 by Urbis dated 17 October 2018 (CMP) (Council reference 
TRIM 2018/536922 and 2018/536925) must be submitted as part of any 
subsequent detailed design development application. 

(b) The conservation work schedule must detail how the recommendations 
of the CMP will be implemented and include detailed drawings and 
outline specifications of works required to support any schedule of 
conservation works. 

(18) SANDSTONE RECYCLING 

(a) A Geotechnical Report prepared by a suitably qualified geotechnical 
engineer is to be submitted as part of any subsequent detailed design 
development application. The report is to include an investigation of the 
nature of the existing subsurface profile using appropriate investigation 
methodology and borehole testing techniques where feasible. 

(b) The Geotechnical Report is to analyse the quality of the material, 
including contamination, and to assess the suitability of the rock for 
removal by cutting into quarry blocks for use as high quality building 
construction material, including for building conservation.  

(c) Subject to confirmation that the rock is of a suitable quality for reuse in 
other construction, the Geotechnical Report is to include an Excavation 
Work Method Statement with recommendations as to the depth of the 
most suitable profile, details excavation methodologies, cutting methods 
and procedures for the removal of all sandstone material in a useable 
form and size, noise and dust attenuation measures in addition to 
recommendations for monitoring, notifications and review. 

(d) In addition, details of any required storage of material off site must be 
submitted. If the quantity of sandstone material exceeds the needs of 
the site, or if the approved development does not provide for the use of 
any sandstone, or if the material is ‘Yellow Block’ sandstone required 
for conservation of buildings, the material must be stored in an 

82



 

 

appropriate location for later reuse. Storage may be able to be 
facilitated by the Council or the NSW Department of Commerce. Please 
contact the Manager Centenary Stonework Program at the NSW 
Department of Finance and Services on 9372 8526 for further enquiries 
with regard to storage. 

(e) The programming of the works is to take into account, the above 
process. 

(19) SITES IN THE VICINITY OF HERITAGE ITEMS 

(a) A protection strategy for the duration of the construction works, must be 
submitted as part of any subsequent detailed design development 
application. The strategy must detail how the proposed works will 
ensure that the following buildings are to be suitably protected and 
stabilized during the construction process including from any 
construction waste, dust, damp, water runoff, vibration or structural 
disturbance or damage: 

(i) 65-77 Market Street; 

(ii) 192-192A Pitt Street; 

(iii) 194 Pitt Street;  

(iv) 198-200 Pitt Street; and 

(v) 202-204 Pitt Street. 

(b) Additionally the protection strategy must include:  

(i) Details of temporary hydraulic drainage works to ensure that all 
water both in ground and above ground is channelled to the street 
and that no such water is channelled onto the adjacent property 
fabric or interiors.  

(ii) Construction debris on neighbouring properties, in drainage lines 
or in cavities between the boundary walls of the adjacent 
buildings, is to be removed progressively as the works progress.  

(iii) A geotechnical report detailing the investigation of the location 
and depth of footings of the adjacent buildings. This report should 
address details of lateral ground movement, advice of any 
additional boundary offsets that may be required as a result of the 
location of footings and on the suitability of structural engineer's 
proposals for underpinning or other support to adjacent footings.  

(iv) Details of the proposed protection of party walls from damp and 
water ingress during the works.  

83



 

 

(20) STRUCTURAL INTEGRITY OF RETAINED BUILDING ELEMENTS  

As part of any subsequent detailed design development application, a 
detailed report and certification prepared by a practicing structural engineer 
experienced in dealing with heritage buildings must be submitted. The report 
must explain how the retained building elements are to be retained, 
supported and not undermined by the proposed development and give details 
of any intervention or retrofitting needed. 

(21) USE OF HERITAGE CONSULTANT 

(a) An experienced heritage architect / consultant must be commissioned 
to work with the consultant team throughout the design excellence 
process, design development and subsequent detailed design 
development application assessment stages of the project.  

(b) The heritage conservation architect / consultant must be involved in the 
resolution of all matters where existing significant fabric and spaces are 
to be subject to preservation, restoration, reconstruction, adaptive 
reuse, recording and demolition.  

(c) The heritage architect / consultant must be provided with full access to 
the site and authorised by the applicant to respond directly to Council 
where information or clarification is required regarding the resolution of 
heritage issues throughout the project. 

(d) Evidence and details of the above commission on the above terms are 
to be provided to Council with any subsequent detailed design 
development application. 

(22) RESIDENTIAL LAND USE 

(a) The detailed design of the residential component of the development 
must be designed to comply with the principles of State Environmental 
Planning Policy No. 65—Design Quality of Residential Apartment 
Development, the provisions of the Apartment Design Guide (ADG), 
and the provisions of the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
(Sydney DCP 2012). 

In particular, attention is drawn to the following:  

(i) The objectives and design criteria within the ADG relating to the 
size and solar access requirement of communal open space.  

(ii) The objectives and design criteria within the ADG relating to the 
maximum building depths of 18 metres glass line to glass line.  

(iii) The objectives and design criteria within the ADG relating to 
building separation distance and visual privacy.  

(iv) The ADG design criterion for having at least 70% of apartments 
within a development to receive a minimum of two hours of direct 
sunlight between 9am and 3pm on 21 June.  

(v) The minimum floor to floor and floor to ceiling heights as 
stipulated in the ADG and Sydney DCP 2012.  

84



 

 

(vi) The objectives and design criteria within the ADG relating to 
apartment sizes, layout and room dimensions.  

(vii) The objectives and design criteria within the ADG relating to 
private open space sizes and dimensions.  

(viii) The objectives and design criteria within the ADG relating to 
common circulation and spaces. 

(ix) The objectives and design criteria within the ADG relating to 
residential storage size volumes and characteristics; 

(x) The provisions relating to flexible housing and dwelling mix under 
Section 4.2.3.12 of the Sydney DCP 2012.  

(xi) The provisions relating to adaptable dwelling mix under Section 
3.12.2 of the Sydney DCP 2012. 

These requirements must be included in the competition brief for the 
competitive design process. 

(b) A BASIX Certificate in accordance with the requirements of State 
Environmental Planning Policy (Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 
2004 must be submitted with the detailed design Development 
Application. 

(23) RESIDENTIAL ACOUSTIC AMENITY 

A Noise Impact Assessment must be undertaken by a suitably qualified 
acoustic consultant consultant* and submitted with any subsequent 
development application for detailed design and construction of the 
development. The Assessment must demonstrate that the development will 
be capable of achieving adequate levels of acoustic amenity for future 
occupants. The Assessment must consider the following and demonstrate 
that the design will comply with the relevant requirements under the following:  

(a) New South Wales Environment Protection Authority Noise Policy for 
Industry. 

(b) State Environment Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 2007 and the NSW 
Government Department of Planning ‘Development Near Rail Corridors 
and Busy Roads - Interim Guideline’. 

(c) Parts 4B, 4H and 4J of the Apartment Design Guide. 

(d) Section 4.2.3.11 of the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012. 

*Note: “Suitably qualified acoustic consultant” means a consultant who 
possesses the qualifications to render them eligible for membership of the 
Australian Acoustics Society, Institution of Engineers Australia or the 
Association of Australian Acoustic Consultants at the grade of member. 

85



 

 

(24) ARCHAEOLOGICAL ASSESSMENT 

An archaeological assessment undertaken by a suitably qualified 
archaeologist must be must be submitted with any subsequent detailed 
design development application. The report must assess whether the 
proposed works have the potential to disturb any archaeological remains and 
the need for any archaeological investigation prior to commencement of any 
works on site. The report should also recommend measures and 
documentation to be undertaken during the process of demolition and 
excavation work. Should the assessment report suggest the site may contain 
relics and the proposed work may disturb them, council may request the 
applicant to amend the proposal so that the relics are properly protected or 
interpreted. 

(25) DEMOLITION, EXCAVATION AND CONSTRUCTION NOISE AND 
VIBRATION MANAGEMENT PLAN  

Any subsequent detailed design development application must be 
accompanied by a site specific Demolition, Excavation and Construction 
Noise and Vibration Management Plan.  
 
The Demolition, Excavation and Construction Noise and Vibration 
Management Plan must be prepared by a suitably qualified person who 
possesses the qualifications to render them eligible for membership of the 
Australian Acoustic Society, Institution of Engineers Australia or the 
Australian Association of Acoustic Consultants. 
 
The Demolition, Excavation and Construction Noise and Vibration 
Management Plan must include but not be limited to the following: 
 
(a) Identification of noise sensitive receivers near to the site. 

(b) The proposed hours of all construction and work on the development 
including building / demolition and excavation work, and activities in the 
vicinity of the site generating noise associated with preparation for the 
commencement of work (e.g. loading and unloading of goods, 
transferring of tools etc.), in connection with the proposed development. 

(c) A prediction as to the level of noise impact likely to affect the nearest 
noise sensitive receivers from the use and proposed number of high 
noise intrusive appliances intended to be operated onsite. A statement 
should also be submitted outlining whether or not predicted noise levels 
will comply with the noise criteria stated within the City of Sydney 
Construction Hours / Noise Code of Practice 1992 for the typical 
construction hours of 7.00am to 7.00pm. Where resultant site noise 
levels are likely to be in exceedance of this noise criteria then a suitable 
proposal must be given as to the duration and frequency of respite 
periods that will be afforded to the occupiers of neighbouring property. 

(d) A representative background noise measurement (LA90, 15 minute) should 
be submitted, assessed in the vicinity of any potentially affected 
receiver locations and measured in accordance with AS 1055:1.2.1997. 

(e) Confirmation of the level of community consultation that has/is and will 
be undertaken with Building Managers/occupiers of the main adjoining 
noise sensitive properties likely to be most affected by site works and 

86



 

 

the operation of plant/machinery particularly during the demolition and 
excavation phases. 

(f) Confirmation of noise monitoring methodology that is to be undertaken 
during the main stages of work at neighbouring noise sensitive 
properties in order to keep complaints to a minimum and to ensure that 
noise from site works complies with the noise criteria contained within 
City's Construction Noise Code. 

(g) What course of action will be undertaken following receipt of a 
complaint concerning offensive noise. 

(h) Details of any noise mitigation measures that have been outlined by an 
acoustic consultant or otherwise that will be deployed on site to reduce 
noise impacts on the occupiers of neighbouring noise sensitive property 
to a minimum. 

(i) What plant and equipment is to be used on site, the level of sound 
mitigation measures to be undertaken in each case and the criteria 
adopted in their selection taking into account the likely noise impacts on 
the occupiers of neighbouring property and other less intrusive 
technologies available. 

(26) DEMOLITION, EXCAVATION AND CONSTRUCTION NOISE AND 
VIBRATION MANAGEMENT PLAN - USE OF INTRUSIVE APPLIANCES 

Any subsequent detailed design development application must be 
accompanied by a report detailing the use of appliances which emit noise of a 
highly intrusive nature (such as pile - drivers and hydraulic hammers) or are 
not listed in Groups B, C, D, E or F of Schedule 1 of the City of Sydney Code 
of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992”.  

 
At a minimum, the report must specify: 

 
(a) Specific the proposed hours and days of operation;  

(b) The tasks that the equipment will be used for; 

(c) Justify in writing why the intrusive appliance cannot be substituted for a 
lower impact apparatus;  

(d) Provide for how noise will be managed to comply with the above code, 
and if cannot, provide for how it will be managed to the lowest 
reasonable and feasible levels;  

(e) Indicate a timeframe for completion the associated task; and 

(f) Provide details of respite periods which will occur to reduce exposure to 
intrusive noise at sensitive receiving locations. 

(27) ECOLOGICALLY SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Details are to be provided with the subsequent development application 
for the detailed design of the buildings to confirm that the buildings have 
adopted the ESD targets outlined in: 

87



 

 

(i) Section 2.9 of the ‘Concept Development Application Design 
Excellence Strategy’ for 194-204 Pitt Street, Sydney, prepared by 
Ethos Urban Pty Ltd and dated September 2019 (Council 
reference TRIM 2019/477892); and  

(ii) The ‘ESD Targets for 194-204 Pitt Street, Sydney D/2018/1246 – 
Club, Hotel & Residential Apartment Concept Development’, 
prepared by WSP and dated June 2019 (Council reference TRIM 
2019/306499).  

(b) These targets must include, at a minimum: 

(i) For the residential apartment component of the development: 

a. A BASIX energy score of at least 35 points or better;  

b. A BASIX water score of at least 45 points or better; 

(ii) For the hotel component of the development: 

a. A NABERS Energy rating of 4.5 stars or better; and 

b. A NABERS Water rating of 4 stars or better. 

(c) The ESD targets must be included in the competitive design process 
brief and carried through the competitive design process phase, design 
development, construction, and through to completion of the project. 

(28) PUBLIC ART 

(a) The ‘City Tattersalls Public Art Strategy’, revision 5, dated 10 October 
2018 and prepared by FJMT (Council reference TRIM 2019/306531) 
must be incorporated into the competitive design process brief. 

(b) A detailed Public Art Strategy, based upon the preliminary strategy 
referred to in (a) above, must be prepared and submitted with any 
subsequent detailed design development application. 

(29) LANDSCAPING 

(a) Any subsequent detailed design development application must include 
a Landscape Plan and Landscape Statement prepared by a qualified 
landscape architect or landscape designer, which incorporates the 
design principles in the ‘City Tattersalls Club Concept DA Landscape 
Statement’ prepared by Site Image and dated June 2019 (Council 
reference TRIM 2019/477806).  

(b) The Plan and Statement should: 

(i) Identify any landscape constraints, including (but not limited to) 
setbacks, existing street trees, landscape features, 
screening/buffer requirements. 

(ii) Quantify and illustrate compliance with the relevant landscape 
design provisions of Part 4O of the Apartment Design Guide, 

88



 

 

Section 4.2.3.5 of the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
and Sydney Landscape Code Volume 2: All Development Except 
for Single Dwellings.  

(iii) Identify the location of communal open space, planters, water 
sensitive urban design treatments and direct sunlight to 
communal open space. 

(iv) Show any required roof terraces, including (but not limited to) how 
the building design accommodates adequate height for soil build-
up, lift access, shade, safe maintenance and Building Code of 
Australia compliant guarding. 

(v) Set aspirations and principles for each landscape space in order 
to achieve design excellence for the landscape spaces in 
accordance with Clause 6.21 of the Sydney Local Environmental 
Plan 2012. 

(vi) Identify any intended design elements such as green roofs and 
walls, water sensitive landscape design treatments and 
sustainability targets. 

(c) The Plan and Statement should establish a clear commitment to 
designing landscape sustainably and in an integrated manner, and 
demonstrate that the function and aesthetic of both the landscape and 
the building have been considered concurrently in relation to each 
other. 

(d) The requirements noted above in (a) through (c) inclusive must be 
included in the competition brief for the competitive design process. 

(30) SIGNAGE STRATEGY 

A detailed signage strategy developed in accordance with Section 3.16.1 of 
the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 must be submitted with any 
detailed design development application. The signage strategy must include 
information and scale drawings of the location, type, construction, materials 
and total number of signs proposed for the development.  

(31) WIND ASSESSMENT 

(a) Prior to the lodgement of any subsequent detailed design development 
application, the detailed design must be subject to wind tunnel testing to 
ascertain the impacts of the development on the wind environment and 
conditions within the publicly accessible pedestrian space, the 
surrounding streets, neighbouring buildings, and communal external 
areas within the subject development.  

(b) Any recommendations of this wind tunnel testing and wind assessment 
report required by (a) above must be incorporated into and submitted 
with the detailed design development application. 

89



 

 

(32) REFLECTIVITY  

Any subsequent detailed design development application must contain 
sufficient information to demonstrate that that the visible light reflectivity from 
building materials used on the facade of any building does not exceed 20%. 
A reflectivity report that demonstrates compliance with the above criterion 
must be submitted with any subsequent detailed design development 
application. 

(33) ACID SULFATE SOILS – PRELIMINARY SITE ASSESSMENT 

(a) A Preliminary Acid Sulfate Soil Assessment must be prepared and 
submitted with any subsequent detailed design development 
application. The assessment must be carried out by a suitably qualified 
person in accordance with the Acid Sulfate Soils Assessment 
Guidelines (Acid Sulfate Soils Management Advisory Committee 
August 1998).  

(b) Where the preliminary site assessment confirms that the site is subject 
to Acid Sulfate Soils which may affect the integrity of the development, 
then an Acid Sulfate Soils Management Plan must also be prepared 
and submitted with any subsequent detailed design development 
application. 

(34) LAND CONTAMINATION 

Any subsequent detailed design development application must include 
documentation demonstrating that the requirements of State Environmental 
Planning Policy No 55 —Remediation of Land and ‘Managing Land 
Contamination Planning Guidelines SEPP 55–Remediation of Land’ are 
addressed. 

(35) ACCESS AND FACILITIES FOR PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES 

An access report must be prepared by a qualified access consultant and 
submitted with any subsequent detailed design development application to 
demonstrate that the building has been designed and is capable of being 
constructed to provide access and facilities for people with a disability in 
accordance with the Building Code of Australia. 

(36) CRIME PREVENTION THROUGH ENVIRONMENTAL DESIGN 

(a) A Security Management Plan, prepared by an appropriately qualified 
consultant, in accordance with the ‘Crime Prevention Through 
Environmental Design’ principles must submitted with any subsequent 
detailed design development application. 

(b) The recommendations of the Security Management Plan should be 
incorporated into the detailed design of the development proposed with 
any subsequent detailed design development application. 

(37) STREET TREES  

(a) All street trees adjoining the site must be included for retention with any 
subsequent detailed design development application. 

90



 

 

(b) Any design elements (awnings, street furniture, footpath upgrades etc.) 
within the public domain in a subsequent detailed design development 
application must ensure appropriate setbacks are provided from the 
street tree to allow maturity of the tree to be achieved. 

(c) The location of any driveway must ensure that the removal of any 
existing street tree is not required. Any driveway must be appropriately 
setback so as it does not adversely impact on any existing street tree 
both below and above ground. 

(38) BICYCLE PARKING AND END OF JOURNEY FACILITIES 

Any subsequent detailed design development application must include a 
Bicycle Parking Plan, bicycle parking and end of journey facilities must be 
provided in accordance with Section 3.11.3 of the Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012.  

The layout, design and security of bicycle facilities must comply with the 
minimum requirements of Australian Standard AS 2890.3:2015 Parking 
Facilities Part 3: Bicycle Parking Facilities and ‘Austroads Bicycle Parking 
Facilities: Guidelines for Design and Installation’ document 

The details of the location, quantity and class of bicycle parking must be 
included in the architectural drawing set in any subsequent detailed design 
development application. 

Residential bicycle parking can be in the form of class A or B (AS 
2890.3:2015) facilities, and preferably a combination of both. 

Staff bicycle parking (Class B of AS 2890.3:2015) is to be provided at ground 
floor level and is to be in close proximity to end-of-trip facilities.  

Visitor bicycle parking (Class C of AS 2890.3:2015) should preferably be 
provided at ground floor level in an easily accessible and visible location. 
Visitor bicycle parking is not to be provided in any service vehicle parking 
area. 

[Note: Council supports the provision of innovative bicycle parking solutions 
in new development. Should the applicant wish to discuss bicycle parking 
options, please contact the City Access and Transport Unit.] 

(39) DRIVEWAY HOURS OF OPERATION  

(a) Any subsequent detailed design development application must detail 
the hours of operation for any proposed driveway between the site and 
Pitt Street, noting that the concept application proposed that a driveway 
would only be open via pre-booking and only between 7.30 pm and 
7.30 am.  

(b) A further assessment of the hours of operation for any proposed 
driveway between the site and Pitt Street must be submitted with any 
subsequent detailed design development application. This assessment 
must include (but not limited to):  

(i) pedestrian movements and amenity; 

91



 

 

(ii) the operation of the forthcoming Pitt Street North Metro station 
within the vicinity of the site;  

(iii) anticipated loading and driveway access needs of the 
development; 

(iv) the volume and times of on-street loading activity;  

(v) vehicle movements within the vicinity of the site; and  

(vi) other issues as required.  

(40) FREIGHT AND SERVICING MANAGEMENT PLAN  

(a) A freight and servicing management plan, including the operation of any 
loading dock, must to be prepared for the site and must be submitted 
with any subsequent detailed design development application. The 
freight and servicing management plan needs to include the following 
(but is not limited to): 

(i) Arrangements for freight and servicing of the development using 
supply chain consolidation and off-site consolidation in 
conjunction with the development’s on-site loading dock. 

(ii) Anticipated use of the loading dock/s by all users of the building, 
including time and days. 

(iii) The proposed restrictions on delivery and operating times to 
ensure deliveries do not occur during times of peak pedestrian 
movements. 

(iv) Controls over duration of stay. 

(v) Details of procedures for trade workers access and parking. 

(vi) Details of loading and servicing arrangements for any residential 
use, including but not limited to, removalists (moving in and 
moving out arrangements), arrangements for small / parcel 
deliveries,  and other delivery and servicing as required. 

(vii) Details of the management of deliveries. 

(viii) Measures to ensure that there is no queuing of delivery vehicles. 

(ix) Details of alternate loading zones to redirect vehicles if extensive 
queuing at the access to the loading dock occurs, noting that 
kerbside loading is not guaranteed.  

(x) Details of how loading to the site will be managed if kerbside 
loading is removed in the area. 

(b) The freight and servicing management plan must align with the Plan of 
Management. 

(c) A copy of the draft plan referred to in (a) must be submitted to the 
Coordinator General, Transport Coordination within Transport for New 

92



 

 

South Wales for endorsement, prior to lodgement of any subsequent 
detailed design development application.  

(41) LOADING DOCK DESIGN 

The design, layout, signage, line marking, lighting and physical controls of all 
off-street loading dock facilities is to satisfy the Australian Standard AS/NZS 
2890.2 - 2002 Parking facilities Part 2: Off-street commercial vehicle facilities. 
The details should be submitted as part of any subsequent detailed design 
development application.  

(42) PLAN OF MANAGEMENT 

(a) A Plan of Management must be submitted with any subsequent detailed 
design development application. 

(b) The following strategies adopted in the ‘City Tattersalls Club Plan of 
Management’, version A, reference N108334, dated 14 June 2019 and 
prepared by GTA Consultants (Council reference TRIM 2019/306461), 
must be carried through to an updated plan of management for the site 
which must submitted with any subsequent detailed design 
development application: 

(i) No provision of any on-site car parking; 

(ii) Discouragement of the use of cars for travel to/from the site, 
including discouragement of drop off and pick in front of the site.  

(iii) The development of a Green Travel Plan. This plan must be 
prepared in accordance with Section 3.11.1 and Schedule 7.6 of 
the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012. A complete draft 
must be submitted with any subsequent detailed design 
development application. The Green Travel Plan must address 
access to the site and initiatives to promote walking, cycling and 
the use of public transport. This plan must include monitoring and 
implementation. 

(iv) Restrictions on the driveway and loading dock access, including 
times and vehicle size restrictions. 

(v) Principles to minimise loading demands, such as consolidation, 
procurement protocols and coordination of deliveries.  

(vi) Arrangements for secure on-site storage of goods to reduce 
loading dock and driveway use. 

(c) The plan must address arrangements for coach and point to point drop 
off and pick and parking. 

(d) The plan must include details on how the plan will be communicated 
and updated. 

(e) The Plan of Management must align with the Freight and Servicing 
Management Plan. 

93



 

 

(43) SERVICE VEHICLE SIZE LIMIT 

Any subsequent detailed design development application must include swept 
paths for the largest vehicles to access any proposed on-site loading areas 
(including accessing the driveway in and out from the roadway and 
manoeuvring within the loading areas). These will be used to determine a 
condition for the largest vehicle permitted to service the site.  

(44) FLOODING AND STORMWATER 

(a) A flood assessment report, based on the ‘Flood Advice - Proposed 
Development at Tattersall’s Club, 194 - 204 Pitt Street, Sydney, NSW.’  
prepared by Martens Consulting Engineers, reference 
P1705900JR02V03 and dated June 2019 (Council reference TRIM 
2019/306508), must determine the detailed design flood planning level 
(FPL) requirements for the subject site and be submitted with any 
subsequent detailed design development application. 

(b) A stormwater quality design and report for the proposed development 
must be prepared in accordance with Council’s ‘Model for Urban 
Stormwater Improvement Conceptualisation (MUSIC) Link model. The 
certificate/report from the MUSIC Link model and electronic copy of 
MUSIC Model must be prepared and submitted with any subsequent 
detailed design development application. 

(45) LOT CONSOLIDATION 

Any subsequent Development Application is to make provision for all land 
titles within the site to be consolidated into one allotment. If a subsequent 
development application is lodged that includes subdivision of the site or the 
proposed building, the requirement for lot consolidation is waived. 

(46) WASTE MANAGEMENT PLAN AND WASTE FACILITIES 

Any subsequent detailed design development application must include: 

(a) A Waste and Recycling Management Plan prepared in accordance with 
Section 3.14 of the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012; and 

(b) Details of the location, construction and servicing of the waste collection 
facilities for the different components of the development of the 
proposed building.  

(c) The design of waste facilities prepared in accordance with Section 4.2.6 
of the Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 and Council’s 
Guidelines for Waste Management in New Developments. 

94



 

 

SCHEDULE 1B 

CONCURRENCE CONDITIONS 

(47) AUSGRID - CONSULTATION 

(a) Consultation is required with Ausgrid to ensure that technical and 
statutory requirements in regards to the safe and reliable operation and 
maintenance of Ausgrid’s network are maintained. 

(b) Details of consultation undertaken are to be provided with any 
subsequent detailed design development application. 

(48) AUSGRID - PROXIMITY TO EXISTING NETWORK ASSETS - 
UNDERGROUND CABLES 

There are existing underground electricity network assets in Pitt Street. 

Special care should also be taken to ensure that driveways and any other 
construction activities within the footpath area do not interfere with the 
existing cables in the footpath. Ausgrid cannot guarantee the depth of cables 
due to possible changes in ground levels from previous activities after the 
cables were installed. Hence it is recommended that the developer locate and 
record the depth of all known underground services prior to any excavation in 
the area. 

Should ground anchors be required in the vicinity of the underground cables, 
the anchors must not be installed within 300mm of any cable, and the 
anchors must not pass over the top of any cable. 

Safework Australia – Excavation Code of Practice, and Ausgrid’s Network 
Standard NS156 outlines the minimum requirements for working around 
Ausgrid’s underground cables. 

(49) ROADS AND MARITIME SERVICES 

(a) The layout of the proposed loading zone associated with the subject 
development (including, driveways, grades, turn paths and sight 
distance requirements in relation to fencing, aisle widths, aisle lengths, 
and parking bay dimensions) should be in accordance with AS 2890.1- 
2004, AS2890.6-2009 and AS 2890.2 – 2002 for commercial vehicle 
usage. Parking Restrictions may be required to maintain the required 
sight distances at the driveway. 

(b) A Road Occupancy Licence (ROL) should be obtained from Transport 
Management Centre for any works that may impact on traffic flows on 
Pitt Street during construction activities. A ROL can be obtained 
through https://myrta.com/oplinc2/pages/security/oplincLogin.jsf 

(c) A Construction Pedestrian Traffic Management Plan (CPTMP) should 
be submitted in consultation with the Transport for New South Wales 
Sydney Coordination Office (SCO), Roads and Maritime and City of 
Sydney. The CPTMP needs to include, but not be limited to, the 
following: construction vehicle routes, number of trucks, hours of 
operation, access arrangements and traffic control. 

95



 

 

(50) SYDNEY METRO 

As part of the lodgement of any subsequent detailed design development 
application, the applicant must prepare and submit documentation 
demonstrating compliance with the Sydney Metro Underground Corridor 
Protection Guidelines (available from https://www.sydneymetro.info).  

(51) SYDNEY WATER - CONSULTATION 

(a) Consultation is required with Sydney Water to ensure that technical and 
statutory requirements in regards to the safe and reliable operation and 
maintenance of Sydney Water’s assets are maintained. 

(b) Details of the consultation undertaken are to be provided with any 
subsequent detailed design development application. 

(52) SYDNEY WATER - WATER SERVICING 

A Section 73 Compliance Certificate under the Sydney Water Act 1994 must 
be obtained from Sydney Water.  

The proponent is advised to make an early application for the certificate, as 
there may be water and wastewater pipes to be built that can take some time. 
This can also impact on other services and buildings, driveways or landscape 
designs.  

Applications must be made through an authorised Water Servicing 
Coordinator. For help either visit www.sydneywater.com.au > Plumbing, 
building and developing > Developing > Land development or telephone 13 
20 92. 

(53) SYDNEY WATER - BUILDING PLAN APPROVAL 

The approved plans must be submitted to the Sydney Water Tap in™ online 
service to determine whether the development will affect any Sydney Water 
sewer or water main, stormwater drains and/or easement, and if further 
requirements need to be met. 

The Sydney Water Tap in™ online self-service replaces our Quick Check 
Agents as of 30 November 2015. 

The Tap in™ service provides 24/7 access to a range of services, including: 

(a) Building plan approvals. 

(b) Connection and disconnection approvals. 

(c) Diagrams. 

(d) Trade waste approvals. 

(e) Pressure information. 

(f) Water meter installations. 

(g) Pressure boosting and pump approvals. 

96



 

 

(h) Changes to an existing service or asset, e.g. relocating or moving an 
asset. 

Sydney Water’s Tap in™ online service is available at: 
https://www.sydneywater.com.au/SW/plumbing-building-
developing/building/sydney-water-tap-in/index.htm. 

(54) SYDNEY WATER - TRADE WASTEWATER REQUIREMENTS  

If this development is going to generate trade wastewater, the property owner 
must submit an application requesting permission to discharge trade 
wastewater to Sydney Water’s sewerage system. You must obtain Sydney 
Water approval for this permit before any business activities can commence. 
It is illegal to discharge Trade Wastewater into the Sydney Water sewerage 
system without permission.  

The permit application should be emailed to Sydney Water’s Business 
Customer Services at businesscustomers@sydneywater.com.au.  

A Boundary Trap is required for all developments that discharge trade 
wastewater where arrestors and special units are installed for trade 
wastewater pre-treatment.  

If the property development is for Industrial operations, the wastewater may 
discharge into a sewerage area that is subject to wastewater reuse. Find out 
from Business Customer Services if this is applicable to your development. 

(55) SYDNEY WATER - BACKFLOW PREVENTION REQUIREMENTS  

Backflow is when there is unintentional flow of water in the wrong direction 
from a potentially polluted source into the drinking water supply.  

All properties connected to Sydney Water's supply must install a testable 
Backflow Prevention Containment Device appropriate to the property's 
hazard rating. Property with a high or medium hazard rating must have the 
backflow prevention containment device tested annually. Properties identified 
as having a low hazard rating must install a non-testable device, as a 
minimum.  

Separate hydrant and sprinkler fire services on non-residential properties, 
require the installation of a testable double check detector assembly. The 
device is to be located at the boundary of the property.  

Before you install a backflow prevention device:  

(a) Get your hydraulic consultant or plumber to check the available water 
pressure versus the property’s required pressure and flow 
requirements.  

(b) Conduct a site assessment to confirm the hazard rating of the property 
and its services. Contact PIAS at NSW Fair Trading on 1300 889 099.  

For installation you will need to engage a licensed plumber with backflow 
accreditation who can be found on the Sydney Water website:  

97



 

 

http://www.sydneywater.com.au/Plumbing/BackflowPrevention/  

(56) SYDNEY WATER - WATER EFFICIENCY RECOMMENDATIONS 

Water is our most precious resource and every customer can play a role in its 
conservation. By working together with Sydney Water, business customers 
are able to reduce their water consumption. This will help your business save 
money, improve productivity and protect the environment.  

Some water efficiency measures that can be easily implemented in your 
business are:  

(a) Install water efficiency fixtures to help increase your water efficiency, 
refer to WELS (Water Efficiency Labelling and Standards (WELS) 
Scheme, http://www.waterrating.gov.au/  

(b) Consider installing rainwater tanks to capture rainwater runoff, and 
reusing it, where cost effective. Refer to 
http://www.sydneywater.com.au/Water4Life/InYourBusiness/RWTCalcu
lator.cfm  

(c) Install water-monitoring devices on your meter to identify water usage 
patterns and leaks.  

(d) Develop a water efficiency plan for your business.  

It is cheaper to install water efficiency appliances while you are developing 
than retrofitting them later.  

(57) SYDNEY WATER - CONTINGENCY PLAN RECOMMENDATIONS  

Under Sydney Water's customer contract Sydney Water aims to provide 
Business Customers with a continuous supply of clean water at a minimum 
pressure of 15meters head at the main tap. This is equivalent to 146.8kpa or 
21.29psi to meet reasonable business usage needs.  

Sometimes Sydney Water may need to interrupt, postpone or limit the supply 
of water services to your property for maintenance or other reasons. These 
interruptions can be planned or unplanned.  

Water supply is critical to some businesses and Sydney Water will treat 
vulnerable customers, such as hospitals, as a high priority.  

Have you thought about a contingency plan for your business? Your 
Business Customer Representative will help you to develop a plan that is 
tailored to your business and minimises productivity losses in the event of a 
water service disruption. 

For further information please visit the Sydney Water website at: 
http://www.sydneywater.com.au/OurSystemsandOperations/TradeWaste/ or 
contact Business Customer Services on 1300 985 227 or 
businesscustomers@sydneywater.com.au. 

98



 

 

(58) TRANSPORT FOR NEW SOUTH WALES - PLAN OF MANAGEMENT 

The applicant must update the Plan of Management (PoM) in consultation 
with the Sydney Coordination Office of Transport for New South Wales as 
part of any subsequent detailed design development application for the site. 
The plan shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

(a) Freight and Servicing Plan that includes, not be limited to, the following: 

(i) Alternative arrangements to accommodate the development's 
freight and servicing profile, including implementation of supply 
chain consolidation and off-site consolidation; 

(ii) Restrictions on loading dock operating times to ensure deliveries 
do not occur during times of peak pedestrian movements; 

(iii) Management of conflicts between pedestrians walking along Pitt 
Street and freight and service vehicles entering and exiting the 
site; 

(iv) Measures to ensure there is no queuing of freight and service 
vehicles including details of alternative parking locations to 
redirect vehicles if queuing occurs; 

(v) Management of conflicts between freight and service vehicles 
entering and exiting the site simultaneously; 

(vi) Loading bay management details including controls of duration of 
delivery vehicle stay; 

(vii) Management of queuing along Pitt Street as a result of 
malfunction of the proposed truck lift/hoist and/or turntable; 

(viii) Management details to ensure all long-term loading and servicing 
is accommodated within the loading dock; 

(ix) Procedures for trades access and parking; 

(x) Allocation of delivery times of adequate length for residential 
removalists; 

(xi) Provision of space for secure on-site storage of goods both to 
reduce peak demand on loading dock use and to support freight 
consolidation and alternative last mile delivery modes; 

(xii) Details on how the loading area will be managed and used by all 
building tenants; and 

(xiii) Details of a pre-booking system. 

(b) A Green Travel Plan (GTP) that includes: 

(i) Measures to minimise the use of point to point transport, kiss and 
ride and buses/coaches and encourage the use of nearby public 
transport modes by all visitors, workers and residents of the 

99



 

 

development due to the lack of parking facilities on-site and 
limited availability of surrounding off-street parking zones; and 

(ii) Details of a regime to monitor the effectiveness of the GTP 
measures and Implementation Strategy that commits to any 
required changes to improve the effectiveness of the measures 
along with timeframes. 

(c) Measures to ensure that any potential impacts to the operation of the 
road network and pedestrians from passenger pick-up and drop-off 
activities associated with the development are actively identified and 
mitigated, including details of how these activities would be monitored. 

(59) TRANSPORT FOR NEW SOUTH WALES - CONSTRUCTION 
PEDESTRIANS AND TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

The applicant must prepare a draft Construction Pedestrian and Traffic 
Management Plan (CPTMP) in consultation with the Sydney Coordination 
Office within Transport for New South Wales and submit it as part of any 
subsequent detailed design application. The draft CPTMP needs to specify 
matters including, but not limited to, the following: 

(a) A description of the development; 

(b) Location of any proposed work zone(s), 

(c) Details of crane locations; 

(d) Haulage routes; 

(e) Proposed construction hours; 

(f) Predicted number of construction vehicle movements and detail of 
vehicle types, noting that vehicle movements are to be minimised 
during peak periods; 

(g) Construction program and construction methodology; 

(h) Measures to avoid construction worker vehicle movements within the 
Sydney Central Business District; 

(i) Any potential impacts to general traffic, cyclists, pedestrians and light 
rail and bus services within the vicinity of the site from construction 
vehicles during the construction of the proposed works; 

(j) Cumulative construction impacts of projects including Sydney Metro 
City and Southwest. Existing CPTMPs for developments within or 
around the development site should be referenced in the CPTMP to 
ensure that coordination of work activities are managed to minimise 
impacts on the CBD road network; and 

(k) Proposed mitigation measures. Should any impacts be identified, the 
duration of the impacts and measures proposed to mitigate any 
associated general traffic, public transport, pedestrian and cyclist 
impacts should be clearly identified and included in the CPTMP. 

100



 

 

SCHEDULE 2 

PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS 

The prescribed conditions in accordance with Division 8A of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Regulation, 2000 apply to the development. 

 

101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



Concept

144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



Attachment E 

Design Excellence Strategy

178



 

 Concept Development Application 

Design Excellence Strategy 

 

194-204 Pitt Street, Sydney 

The City Tattersall’s Club 

 

 

Submitted to City of Sydney 

On behalf of ICD SB Pitt Street Pty Ltd 

 

September 2019 | 17656 

 

  

 

 

 

179



 

Ethos Urban   
 

 

 

CONTACT  

Clare Swan Director cswan@thosurban.com  9956 6962 

Reproduction of this document or any part thereof is not permitted without prior written permission of ABN 13 615 087 931 Pty Ltd. 

This document has been prepared by: This document has been reviewed by: 

 
 

Samantha Miller 14/06/2019 Clare Swan 14/06/2019 

Reproduction of this document or any part thereof is not permitted without written permission of Ethos Urban Pty Ltd. Ethos Urban operates under a Quality Management System. This report 
has been prepared and reviewed in accordance with that system.  If the report is not signed below, it is a preliminary draft. 

VERSION NO. DATE OF ISSUE REVISION BY APPROVED BY 

    

 

 Ethos Urban 

ABN 13 615 087 931 Pty Ltd.. 
www.ethosurban.com 

173 Sussex Street, Sydney  
NSW 2000  t 61 2 9956 6952 

 

180



 

Ethos Urban   

 

 

1.0 Introduction 2 
1.1 Overview 2 
1.2 Objectives of the Design Excellence Strategy 2 

2.0 Design Excellence Strategy 3 
2.1 Site context 3 
2.2 Competitive Design Process Components 3 
2.3 Type of competitive process 6 
2.4 Selection of competitors 6 
2.5 Establishment of the competition jury 7 
2.6 Competition brief 7 
2.7 Proposed allocation of up to 10% additional floor 

space 7 
2.8 Options for distributing floor space within the building 

envelope 7 
2.9 Sustainable design targets 8 
2.10 Design integrity 8 
 

 

 

 

 

181



194-204 Pitt Street, Sydney  | Design Excellence Strategy  |  September 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  17656 2 

 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 Overview 

This Design Excellence Strategy has been prepared by Ethos Urban on behalf of ICD SB Pitt Street Pty Ltd (the 

proponent) as the applicant for the concept development application (DA) for 194-204 Pitt Street, Sydney (the site). 

This strategy accompanies the Concept DA and has been prepared in accordance with, clause 3.3.2 of the Sydney 

Development Control Plan 2012 (SDCP 2012), and the City of Sydney Competitive Design Policy 2012 (the Policy). 

 

In accordance with clause 1.2 of the Policy and clause 3.3.2 of the SDCP 2012, this strategy defines: 

 The location and extent of each competitive design process; 

 The type of competitive design process(es) to be undertaken: 

− an architectural design competition, open or invited; or 

− the preparation of design alternatives on a competitive basis. 

 The number of designers involved in the process(es); 

 Whether the competitive design process is pursuing additional floor space or height; 

 Options for distributing any additional floor space or height which may be granted by the consent authority for 

demonstrating design excellence through a competitive design process; 

 How architectural design excellence is to be achieved across large sites; and 

 Target benchmarks for ecologically sustainable development. 

The proponent has elected to carry out an invited architectural design competition as the competitive design process 

associated with the development, with six (6) invited competitors. It is envisaged that the competitive process will begin 

as soon as practical after the approval of the concept DA and this strategy, and the endorsement of the competition 

brief by the City of Sydney. 

 

Note: Nothing in this Design Excellence Strategy represents an approval from the consent authority for a departure 

from the relevant SEPPs, SLEP 2012, SDCP 2012 controls or concept development consent. Where there is any 

inconsistency the SEPPs, LEP, DCP and concept DA consent prevail. 

1.2 Objectives of the Design Excellence Strategy  

The objectives of this strategy are to: 

 Establish a methodology for the proponent to implement a competitive design process for the redevelopment of 

the subject site, in accordance with the Policy; 

 Clearly identify which elements of the project the competitive design process relates to; 

 Ensure that the competitive design process works within the framework of this approved Design Excellence 

Strategy; 

 Confirm the number of architectural practices to participate in the competitive process and how these will be 

selected; 

 Establish the process for the selection of a competition jury; 

 Set out the approach for establishing a competition brief that ensures: 

− The Consent Authority’s design excellence requirements are balanced with the Proponent’s objectives, 

− The achievement of design and architectural diversity, 

− Procedural fairness for competitors. 

182



194-204 Pitt Street, Sydney  | Design Excellence Strategy  |  October 2019 
 

Ethos Urban  |  17656 3 
 

 Clarify the rationale for pursuing up to 10% additional floor space under clause 6.21(7)(a) of the Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 (SLEP 2012) having regard to the concept development consent and the relevant SLEP 
2012 and SDCP 2012 controls;   

 Ensure sustainability initiatives and ecologically sustainable development targets are defined and developed 
through the competition, detailed design development and construction phases through to completion of the 
project; and 

 Ensure that design excellence integrity is continued in the subsequent detailed development proposal through 
construction phase to completion of the project. 

2.0 Design Excellence Strategy 

2.1 Site context 

The site is located at 194-204 Pitt Street, Sydney being the existing location of the City Tattersall’s Club (see Figure 
1). The site is comprised of four buildings; 194, 196, 198-200 and 202-204 Pitt Street, Sydney (see Figure 2). The 
buildings range in height from three to seven storeys. 194, 198-200 and 202-204 Pitt Street are heritage items under 
the SLEP 2012. 196 Pitt Street is the only building on the site that is not a heritage item (see Figure 3). 
 
The proposed concept DA relates to significant works to these buildings, including the complete demolition of 196 Pitt 
Street. The concept DA also includes the addition of a podium and tower element, set back above the existing heritage 
buildings and infill development at 196 Pitt Street. 

2.2 Competitive Design Process Components 

The competitive process is constituted of a Heritage Component and a Tower Component, see Figure 4. The Heritage 
Component refers to the heritage buildings and proposed infill building inclusive of basement levels to level 5. The 
Tower Component refers to all areas above level 6.  
 
The competitive process brief must include the Reference Design for the basement levels to level 5 only, which 
constitutes the Heritage Component. For the purposes of the competitive process, competitors must adhere to the 
Reference Design. An independent architect with significant experience in heritage work should be retained for design 
development of the Heritage Component only and is to, following the competitive process work in coordination with the 
winning architect. 
 
The concept DA identifies heritage works consistent with the Conservation Management Plan and the detail of these 
works limits the opportunity for alternative solutions through a competitive process It is therefore considered 
appropriate in this case, to include the Reference Design for the Heritage Component. 
 
Reference Design refers to the Indicative Design prepared by FJMT dated 14.06.2019, limited to the basement levels 
to level 5 documentation only, as submitted in association with the concept development application. 
 

183



194-204 Pitt Street, Sydney  | Design Excellence Strategy  |  September 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  17656 4 

 

 

Figure 1 – Site location 

Source: Nearmaps and Ethos Urban 

 

Figure 2  The site (194, 196, 198-200 and 202-204 Pitt Street, from left to right) 

Source: Ethos Urban 

 

184



194-204 Pitt Street, Sydney  | Design Excellence Strategy  |  September 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  17656 5 

 

 

Figure 3 - The heritage components of the site  

Source: FJMT  

 

 

185



194-204 Pitt Street, Sydney  | Design Excellence Strategy  |  September 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  17656 6 

 

 
 

 

 

Figure 4 Location and extent of competition 

Source: FJMT 

2.3 Type of competitive process 

The proponent has elected to conduct a single invited architectural design competition for the project. The process 

is to be undertaken prior to the lodgement of any subsequent Development Application, in accordance with clause 

1.1(2) of the City of Sydney Competitive Design Policy. The architectural design competition will be conducted in 

accordance with the Policy and Competitive Design Model Brief. 

2.4 Selection of competitors 

The proponent will undertake an Invited Design Competition, inviting six (6) competitors.  The selection of the invited 

competitors will be determined by the proponent, undertaken in consultation with the City of Sydney, as follows: 

 A Competitor may be a single person or firm, or a number of firms working in partnership, constituted of a 

principal/lead architect supported by an executive architect(s). 

 Competitors may include a range of emerging, emerged and established local, interstate or international architects 

or firms. 

Tower component 

Heritage Component 

186



194-204 Pitt Street, Sydney  | Design Excellence Strategy  |  September 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  17656 7 

 

 No more than 50% of Competitors can include international firms as the principal/lead. 

 A Competitor will either be a person, corporation or firm registered as an architect in accordance with the NSW 

Architects Act 2003, or, in the case of interstate or overseas competitors, eligible for registration with their 

equivalent association. 

 A Competitor shall have demonstrated capabilities in design excellence by being the recipient of an Australian 

Institute of Architects award or commendation, or in the case of overseas competitors the same with their 

equivalent professional association. 

The jury will be required to consider a minimum of five (5) competition entries. 

2.5 Establishment of the competition jury 

The competition jury is to comprise a total of six (6) jury members. The jury will be appointed by the proponent and is 
comprised of: 

 Half the members nominated by the consent authority, who have no pecuniary interests in the development 

proposal or involvement in approval processes, one of which must be a City of Sydney Design Advisory Panel 

member; and 

 Half the members nominated by the proponent. 

Jury members are to:  

 Represent the public interest; 

 Be appropriate to the type of development proposed;  

 Include only persons who have expertise and experience in the, design and construction professions and industry; 

and 

 Include a majority of registered architects with urban design expertise. 

The chairperson of the jury will have expertise in architectural design and be a recognised advocate of design 

excellence. 

2.6 Competition brief 

The competition brief (the brief) will be prepared by the proponent who will liaise with City of Sydney for endorsement 

prior to commencement of the competitive process, as per clause 2.3 of the Policy. In establishing the brief, the 

proponent will ensure that: 

 All details regarding the conduct of the competitive process are contained within the brief and only;  

 The brief and appended documents are reviewed and endorsed in writing by the City of Sydney prior to its 

distribution to competitors, competition jury and technical advisors; and 

 The brief is to be generally in accordance with the Competitive Design Model Brief and the City of Sydney 

Competitive Design Policy. 

The competition brief will ensure that the consent authority’s design excellence requirements are balanced with the 

proponent’s objectives, the process will promote design excellence and architectural diversity, and that procedural 

fairness for competitors is achieved. 

2.7 Proposed allocation of up to 10% additional floor space 

The design competition will be pursuing up to 10% additional floor space under clause 6.21(7) of the SLEP 2012 and 

the Policy. The site is affected by the Hyde Park West sun access plane and any additional floor space must be wholly 

located within the building envelope and remain consistent with the sun access plane.  

2.8 Options for distributing floor space within the building envelope 

The concept DA building envelope establishes the maximum parameters for the competitive process and the future 

built form on the site. Any additional floor space awarded under clause 6.21(7) of the SLEP 2012 and the Policy is to 

be located within the approved envelope. The distribution of the maximum permissible floor space will be consistent 

187



194-204 Pitt Street, Sydney  | Design Excellence Strategy  |  September 2019 

 

Ethos Urban  |  17656 8 

 

with the relevant provisions of the SLEP 2012 and SDCP 2012 and any conditions of the concept development 

consent.  

2.9 Sustainable design targets 

The competitive process is to achieve the ecologically sustainable development (ESD) targets as nominated in the 

ESD Targets document prepared by WSP and dated June 2019, via the design measures indicated. 

   

ESD targets and sustainability initiatives will be carried through the competition phase, design development, 

construction, and through to completion of the project to deliver an exemplar of environmentally sustainable 

development. 

2.10 Design integrity 

The architectural firm(s) of the winning scheme, (as chosen via the ‘competitive design process’), is to be appointed as 

the Design Architect for the project and will perform this role until the completion of the project. 

 

The role of the Design Architect will include at a minimum the following: 

 Prepare a Development Application for the preferred design; 

 Prepare the design drawings for a construction certificate for the preferred design; 

 Prepare the design drawings for the contract documentation; and 

 Maintain continuity during the construction phases through to the completion of the project. 

 Through all phases listed above, coordinating the Heritage Component architect, to ensure a coherent and 

integrated design outcome.  

 

The Design Architect may work in association with other architectural practices but is to retain a leadership role over 

design decisions. 

 

 

188



Document is Restricted

189



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

Development Application:  420 & 422-424 Kent Street and 275 & 277 Clarence 
Street, Sydney - D/2018/1577 

File No.: D/2018/1577 

Summary 

Date of Submission: 

Amended and additional 
information:  

19 December 2018 

6 June 2019, 31 July 2019 and 16 September 2019 

Applicant: Venemchlo Pty Ltd 

Architect/Designer: Francis-Jones Morehen Thorp Pty Ltd 

Owner: George Gialouris 

Cost of Works: $82,437,537 

Zoning: B8 Metropolitan Centre zone - 'tourist and visitor 
accommodation'' and 'retail premises' is permissible. 

Proposal Summary: Refurbishment works to the Genesian Theatre, demolition 
and construction of a 19 storey development comprising of:  

 Excavation to a depth of 1.7AHD for two (2) levels of 
basement; 

 Construction of a 199 room hotel development and 
retail uses; 

 Use of the Genesian Theatre as an adaptive 
performance space and additional dining area for the 
hotel's restaurant; 

 Provision of a through-site link between the 
Genesian Theatre and hotel connecting Kent and 
Clarence Street; 

 Landscaping and public domain works; and 

 Zones for future business identification signage.    

 

1

Item 6.



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

The application was notified and advertised for a period of 
28 days between 10 January 2019 and 8 February 2019. 
Two (2) submissions were received raising the following 
matters:  

 Demolition of buildings results in the loss of the 
heritage quality of the Kent and Clarence Street 
Special Character Area; and 

 Potential increased traffic impacts and the safety of 
pedestrians.  

The Genesian Theatre building is identified as an item of 
local heritage significance being the 'former church 
including interiors and front fence' (I1829) under Sydney 
LEP 2012. The application has been amended to address 
issues relating to built form and the degree of cantilever 
that was considered to overwhelm the curtilage of the 
heritage listed building. As such, the amended scheme 
reduced the extent of the cantilever and increased the 
height difference and separation between the underside of 
the cantilever from the apex of the heritage church. This 
resulted in external and internal modifications to the 
development.   

Accordingly, the amended plans were renotified for a 
period of 14 days between 19 September 2019 and 3 
October 2019. One (1) submission was received, seeking 
clarification of the demolition and construction timeframe of 
the development.  

The proposal complies with the maximum permissible 
height and floor space ratio (FSR) development standards 
prescribed in the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012, 
and is generally consistent with the relevant planning 
controls.  

The site is located within the future Central Sydney Rail 
Link corridor and requires concurrence of the relevant rail 
authority pursuant to Clause 88 of SEPP (Infrastructure) 
2007. Transport for NSW have granted concurrence for the 
development, subject to conditions contained in 
Attachment A.  

The proposal adequately responds to surrounding 
development and its Central Sydney context, and achieves 
a high standard of architectural design that is considered 
to demonstrate design excellence.  

Summary Recommendation: The development application is recommended for 
approval, subject to conditions. 

  

2



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

Development Controls: (i) Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

(ii) Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

(iii) State Environmental Planning Policy No. 55 - 
Remediation of Land 

(iv) State Environmental Planning Policy No. 64 - 
Advertising and Signage 

(v) State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 
2007 

(vi) Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney 
Harbour Catchment) 2005; and 

(vii) Central Sydney Development Contributions Plan 
2013 

Attachments: A. Recommended Conditions of Consent 

B. Selected Architectural Drawings 

C. Shadow Diagrams  

  

3



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

Recommendation 

It is resolved that: 

(A) the requirement of Section 51N of the City of Sydney Act 1988 to consult with the 
Central Sydney Traffic and Transport Committee not apply in this instance as the 
proposal does not require, or that might reasonably be expected to require, the 
carrying out of road works or traffic control works that are likely to have a significant 
impact on traffic and transport in the Sydney CBD; 

(B) the requirement under Clause 6.21 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
requiring a competitive design process is unreasonable or unnecessary in the 
circumstances;  

(C) the requirement under Clause 7.20 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
requiring the preparation of a development control plan is unreasonable or 
unnecessary in the circumstances; and 

(D) consent be granted to Development Application No. D/2018/1577 subject to the 
conditions set out in Attachment A to the subject report.  

Reasons for Recommendation 

The application is recommended for approval for the following reasons: 

(A) the proposal satisfies the objectives of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Act 1979; 

(B) the proposal generally satisfies the objectives and provisions of Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012; 

(C) the proposed 'micro-hotel' provides a greater diversity of hotel accommodation in 
Central Sydney with acceptable internal amenity; 

(D) the heritage listed Genesian Theatre will be refurbished and retained as a 
performance space and be re-invigorated; 

(E) the proposed building would not result in adverse environmental impacts; 

(F) the provision of a through-site link that would be accessible 24 hours a day connecting 
Kent and Clarence Streets; and 

(G) the proposal is consistent with the objectives of the B8 Metropolitan Centre and is in 
the public interest.  

 

  

4



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

Background 

The Site and Surrounding Development 

1. The most recent site visit was carried out by staff on 24 September 2019. 

2. The site has a dual frontage to Kent Street to the east and Clarence Street to the west. 
It is located between Druitt and Market Streets and has a total site area of 806.3sqm. 

3. Figure 1 below illustrates the location of the site and provides an aerial photograph of 
the site in its context.  

 

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site and surrounding area. 

4. The subject site comprises of four (4) separate allotments:  

(a) 420 Kent Street has a legal description of Lot 1 DP 782342 and accommodates 
a heritage building of local significance being the 'former church including 
interiors and front fence' (I1829). The building is commonly known as the 
Genesian Theatre and is currently used as an entertainment facility.  

(b) 422-424 Kent Street has a legal description of Lot 20 DP 64289 and 
accommodates a 3 storey brick commercial building. The building is built to the 
northern and southern boundaries and provides vehicular access from Kent 
Street. The allotment does not contain basement levels.   

(c) 275 Clarence Street has a legal description of Lot 1 DP 74422 and 
accommodates a brick 3 storey commercial building. The building is built to the 
northern and southern boundaries and contains one level of basement and a 
small setback from the western boundary.  

5



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

(d) 277 Clarence Street has a legal description of SP 17931 and accommodates a 5 
storey commercial building known as AMPCo House. The building is generally 
built to all boundaries and contains one level of basement.   

5. Photographs of the subject site are provided in Figures 2 to 5 below.   

 

Figure 2: 420 and 422-424 Kent Street, looking east.  

 

6



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

 

Figure 3: 275 and 277 Clarence Street indicated in outline, looking south-west.  

  

7



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

 

Figure 4: Internal condition of the Genesian Theatre viewed from the Level 1 seating area.  

 

Figure 5: Internal condition of the Genesian Theatre viewed from the stage.   

6. The site adjoins heritage buildings of local significance to the north at 414-418 Kent 
Street being the 'former warehouse "Edward Dunlop & Co" including interiors and cart 
dock' (I1828). To the south of the site at 426-430 Kent Street exists the 'former Grace 
House warehouse including interiors' (I2276). The site is not located in a heritage 
conservation area but is located within the York Street Special Character Area 
including Clarence Street and Kent Street.      

7. The locality is characterised by a mix of medium scale commercial buildings of a brick 
warehouse character with ground floor retail.  

8



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

8. Contextual photos of the site and surrounds are provided in Figures 6 and 7 below: 

 

Figure 6: Kent Street streetscape, looking north-east.   

  

9



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

 

Figure 7: Clarence Street streetscape, looking south-west.   

10



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

Proposal 

9. The application seeks consent for the retention and refurbishment of the Genesian 
Theatre located at 420 Kent Street, excavation for two basement levels, demolition of 
structures and construction of a 19 storey hotel development consisting of 199 rooms 
and comprises the following:   

(a) Basement Level 2: 

(i) Bicycle parking for 34 bikes and associated end of journey facilities; 

(ii) Loading dock with combined hoist and turntable; 

(iii) Services and plant; 

(b) Basement Level 1 

(i) Hotel restaurant, amenities and kitchen facilities; 

(ii) Services and plant; 

(c) Lower Ground Floor (Kent Street): 

(i) One retail tenancy with an approximate area of 85.2sqm; 

(ii) Vehicular and servicing access point to basement Level 2; 

(iii) Substation, plant and services; 

(iv) Entry to the Genesian Theatre for use as an adaptive performance space 
and additional dining area for the hotel's restaurant; 

(v) Provision of a through-site link between the Genesian Theatre and hotel; 

(d) Upper Ground Floor (Clarence Street): 

(i) Main hotel lobby and reception area; 

(ii) Hotel lounge; 

(iii) Fire control room;  

(e) Levels 1 - 17 

(i)  Guest rooms ranging from 8 to 13 rooms per level and is determined by the 
varying floor plate as it cantilevers over the Genesian Theatre; 

(f) Level 18 

(i) 6 guests rooms; 

(ii) Plant and equipment rooms.  

10. The proposal has a maximum height of 60 metres, a floor space ratio of 10.4:1 and 
gross floor area (GFA) of 8,360sqm.   

11



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

11. Figures 8 to 12 illustrate the photomontage and elevations of the proposed 
development.  

 

Figure 8: Illustration of the proposal viewed from Kent Street.  

12



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

 

Figure 9: Proposed east elevation (Clarence Street).  

13



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

  

Figure 10: Proposed west elevation (Kent Street).  

  

14



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

 

Figure 11: Proposed north elevation. 

  

15



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

  

Figure 12: Proposed south elevation  

  

16



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

History Relevant to the Development Application 

D/2014/1366 

12. On 29 June 2015, Development Application was approved by Council for the 
demolition of the existing 3 storey building at 422-424 Kent Street and the construction 
of a 15 storey mixed use building comprising one basement level, retail uses on the 
ground floor, commercial uses from Levels 1 to 10 as well as residential uses from 
Levels 11 to 14 with a landscaped roof terrace. This consent was not activated.   

D/2016/853 

13. On 27 March 2017, Development Application was granted a deferred commencement 
approval by Council for the buildings located at 422-424 Kent Street and 275 & 277 
Clarence Street. The proposal involved demolition of structures and construction of a 
part 16 and part 17 storey mixed use building comprising of excavation, ground floor 
retail, 72 hotel rooms and 13 residential apartments. The deferred commencement 
conditions related to amendments to address issues of transport, servicing, parking 
and flooding.  

14. On 23 April 2018, Modification Application (D/2016/853/1) was approved to extend the 
lapse date of the consent for an additional 12 months until 27 March 2020. An 
operative consent has not been issued for the development application.   

D/2017/445    

15. On 1 June 2018, Development Application was approved for the neighbouring heritage 
building at 426-430 Kent Street. The proposal involved internal alterations and 
restoration works as well as construction of a 3 storey addition and use for a 
commercial premises. The addition was approved with a variation to the required 10m 
front of building setback control above a heritage building. The numerical non-
compliance of 5.2 metres to Clarence Street and 5.5 metres to Kent Street was 
considered acceptable as the development achieved the objectives of the front 
setback control in maintaining amenity to the premises, neighbouring buildings and 
public domain. 

History and Amendments to the Development Application 

Pre-Development Application  

16. On 19 September 2018, a meeting was carried out with the applicant and Council 
Officers. It was discussed that the site located at 420 Kent Street, being the Genesian 
Theatre, had been acquired by the owner and advice was sought for a potential new 
development application that improved on the previously approved mixed used 
building approved under D/2016/853.  

  

17



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

17. The applicant presented a 'micro-room' hotel scheme with a built form that cantilevered 
over the Genesian Theatre with the provision of a through-site link that connected Kent 
and Clarence Street. The proposal was generally supported and the applicant was 
requested to further explore materiality of the building with respect to the prevailing 
masonry character of the area and consider the built form and massing to respect the 
heritage significance of the former church.    

Request for Additional Information  

18. The detailed development application was submitted on 19 December 2018. Following 
a preliminary review of the application and including a review by Council's Design 
Advisory Panel (DAP), additional information was requested in written correspondence 
dated 5 April 2019 to address the following issues:  

Heritage  

(a) The degree of cantilever was considered to be excessive and overwhelmed the 
curtilage and significance of the heritage building. It was recommended that the 
outer cantilever mass be amended and therefore, the internal hotel configuration 
be replanned.  

Amenity and Adaptability  

(b) The proposed 2.7m floor to floor height was insufficient in providing adequate 
amenity to the micro-hotel rooms and enable flexible use and future adaptability 
of the building. It was requested that the development be amended to provide 
minimum floor to ceiling heights of 2.7m. 

Through-site link 

(c) The through-site link does not satisfy the requirements of the Disability 
Discrimination Act (DDA) 1992 and the Building Code of Australia (BCA) to 
provide equitable access. It was requested that an easement for Right of Public 
Access be granted to ascertain that the owners of the land consent to the public 
traversing in the through-site link and recognise use of the hotel lobby lifts to 
provide equitable access.  

Flooding 

(d) The development was not designed to the required flood levels prescribed by 
Council's Interim Floodplain Management Policy. It was requested that all access 
to the building and including the through-site link, egress and ventilation to the 
basement fronting Clarence Street must be protected up to the PMF level RL 
18m AHD. Also, all access to the building, egress and ventilation to the 
basement fronting Kent Street must be protected up to the PMF level or 0.3m 
above the road’s gutter level, whichever is the highest. The provision of flood 
gates were requested to be deleted. 

Traffic and Transport 

(e) Additional details relating to the loading dock, truck/hoist/turn table operation as 
well as bicycle parking and end of journey facilities was requested to be 
provided.  

 

18



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

Plan of Management 

(f) Clarification was sought on the submitted Plan of Management (POM) and the 
use of the retail tenancies and restaurant as part of the hotel.  

Waste 

(g) Additional details was requested for the location and areas dedicated to waste 
and recycling storage areas, the nomination of waste collection points, path of 
access for collection vehicles and submission of a Construction and Demolition 
Plan.  

Landscaping  

(h) Clarification was sought as to how the proposed green wall is supported. 

19. On 6 June 2019, the applicant submitted supplementary information to respond to the 
issues raised as follows: 

(a) A cantilever setback study and supporting heritage statement, which 
demonstrated a reduced built form and increased setback of the hotel 
cantilevered wall over the Genesian Theatre to improve the curtilage to the 
heritage building. 

(b) Amended Waste Management Plans, Traffic Statement, Plan of Management 
and Landscape details was submitted.  

(c) A 'Response to the Request for Additional Information', prepared by Urbis was 
submitted, which sought to justify the remaining issues and is summarised as 
follows:  

(i) The 2.7m floor to floor height was acceptable. Effectively, the proposal 
would provide a 2.5m floor to ceiling height and is compliant with the 2.4m 
requirement of the BCA. Due to the constraints of the site in providing 
economic and viable floor plates for commercial use and difficulty to obtain 
compliance with the Apartment Design for residential use, the proposed 
hotel use is the best use for the site. Therefore, future adaptability would 
not be achievable for another use. 

(ii) The creation of a through site link that is made available to the public is a 
significant contribution to the general public, and by virtue of the 24/7 
operation of the hotel enables constant surveillance of the link that 
facilitates a high-quality public space that engenders safe, equitable and 
dignified access for all people. 

(iii) The proposal provides finished floor levels that are consistent with the 
development approved under D/2016/853 to address flooding of the site.      

20. On 31 July 2019, amended plans were submitted relating to a modified cantilever 
design and internal reconfiguration of the hotel rooms.  

  

19



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

Central Sydney Planning Committee (CSPC)  

21. On 5 September 2019, the application was presented to the CSPC. The development 
proposed a modulated cantilever with the greatest extent aligned with the apex of the 
Genesian Theatre. The extent of the modulated cantilever was not supported by the 
Committee. It was considered that the relationship of the development with the 
heritage building could be improved. 

22. Accordingly, the CSPC resolved to defer the determination of the application to enable 
the preparation of an amended proposal that addressed the concerns relating to the 
cantilevered design and distribution of floor space within the tower. The CSPC also 
indicated that they may waive the requirement for a design competition and 
preparation of a site-specific development control plan or Stage 1 application in the 
case that the proposal exceeds 55m in height, provided it does not breach other 
controls.  

23. On 16 September 2019, amended plans were submitted to Council, seeking to 
address the recommendations expressed by the CSPC. The amended plans were 
renotified for a period of 14 days between 19 September 2019 and 3 October 2019.   

City of Sydney Act 1988 

24. Section 51N requires the Central Sydney Planning Committee (the Planning 
Committee) to consult with the Central Sydney Traffic and Transport Committee 
(CSTTC) before it determines a DA that will require, or that might reasonably be 
expected to require, the carrying out of road works or traffic control works likely to have 
a significant impact on traffic and transport in the Sydney CBD. A full extract of this 
Section is provided below. 

"51N Planning proposals having a significant impact on traffic and 
transport in the Sydney CBD 

(1) The Planning Committee must consult the CSTTC before it exercises a 
function under Part 4 that will result in the making of a decision that will 
require, or that might reasonably be expected to require, the carrying out of 
road works or traffic control works that are likely to have a significant 
impact on traffic and transport in the Sydney CBD. 

(2) The Planning Committee must take into consideration any 
representations made by the CSTTC within the period of 21 days (or such 
other period as is agreed to by the CSTTC and the Planning Committee in 
a particular case) after consultation takes place. 

(3) The Planning Committee may delegate to a subcommittee of the 
Planning Committee, or the general manager or another member of the 
staff of the City Council, any of its functions under this section other than 
this power of delegation. A delegation can be given subject conditions. A 
delegation does not (despite section 38) require the approval of the 
Minister administering that section. 

(4) The failure of the Planning Committee to comply with this section does 
not invalidate or otherwise affect any decision made by the Planning 
Committee." 

20



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

25. Having liaised with the City's Access Unit, in this instance, the proposal is not 
considered to have a significant impact on traffic and transport in the CBD, and 
consultation with the CSTTC is not necessary. 

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts 

26. The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning 
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters: 

(a) Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs. 

State Environmental Planning Policy No 55—Remediation of Land 

27. The aim of SEPP 55 is to ensure that a change of land use will not increase the risk to 
health, particularly in circumstances where a more sensitive land use is proposed. 

28. An 'Environmental Management Plan' and a 'Preliminary Contamination Assessment', 
both prepared by Environmental Earth Sciences was submitted with the development 
application. The Council's Health Unit is satisfied that subject to conditions, the site 
can be made suitable for the proposed use. 

State Environmental Planning Policy No 64—Advertising and Signage 

29. The application involves a signage strategy indicating the location, size and 
dimensions of signage zones for business identification as follows:  

(a) Signage zone 1 - Clarence Street  

(i) 1 x vertical projecting wall sign with dimensions of 700mm (width) x 
4000mm (height); 

(ii) 1 x top hamper sign with dimensions of 5400mm (width) x 1200mm 
(height); 

(b) Signage zone 2 - Kent Street  

(i) 2 x signage zones for vertical projecting wall signs with dimensions of 
700mm (width) x 4000mm (height); 

(ii) 1 x top hamper sign with dimensions of 3500mm (width) x 1000mm 
(height);   

(c) Signage zone 3 - South Elevation 

(i) Option A: 1 x vertical top of building sign with dimensions of 3,000mm 
(width) x 10,000mm (height);  

(ii) Option B: 1 x horizontal top of building sign with dimensions of 6,000mm 
(width) x 2,500mm (height); and  

(d) Signage zone 4 - West elevation  

(i) 1 x top of building sign with dimensions of 3,000mm (width) x 10,000mm 
(height).  

21



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

30. SEPP 64 was gazetted on 16 March 2001 and aims to ensure that outdoor advertising 
is compatible with the desired amenity and visual character of an area, provides 
effective communication in suitable locations and is of high quality design and finish. 

31. As proposed, it is considered that the proposed signage strategy has the capability of 
satisfying the relevant aims and assessment criteria of SEPP 64, subject to conditions 
and as discussed in the Issues section of this report.  

32. The application is limited to identifying appropriate zones on each elevation. As such, 
the details and content on the specific zones would be subject to a separate 
development application once the future hotel operators are known and a detailed 
assessment under SEPP 64 can be carried out. A condition is recommended to this 
effect.    

33. Accordingly, the proposal signage strategy would be consistent with the aims and 
objectives of Clause 3 of SEPP 64 and as such, is supported subject to conditions.  

State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 2007 

34. The provisions of SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007 have been considered in the assessment 
of the development application. 

Clause 44 and 45 

35. The application is subject to Clause 44 and 45 (Subdivision 2 Development likely to 
affect an electricity transmission or distribution network) of the SEPP as the 
development involves the penetration of ground to a depth of at least 3m below ground 
level (existing) on land that is within 10m (measured radially) of the centreline of the 
electricity supply corridor. 

36. In accordance with the Clause, the application was referred to Ausgrid for a period of 
21 days who consents to the development, subject to conditions contained in 
Attachment A.  

Clause 88 

37. The application is subject to Clause 88 of the SEPP (Development within or adjacent 
to interim rail corridor). The site is located within the future Central Sydney Rail Link 
corridor, which requires concurrence from the relevant rail authority. 

38. Concurrence was received from Transport for NSW subject to conditions contained in 
Attachment A. 

Sydney Light Rail Project  

39. The application was referred to the CBD Coordination Office with TfNSW as the site is 
within close proximity to the Sydney Light Rail Project and the construction works may 
have an impact on traffic within the Central Sydney.  

40. Recommended conditions of consent were received from TfNSW and are contained in 
Attachment A. 

Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005 (Deemed 
SEPP) 

41. The site is located within the designated hydrological catchment of Sydney Harbour 
and is subject to the provisions of the above SREP. 

22



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

42. The Sydney Harbour Catchment Planning Principles must be considered in the 
carrying out of development within the catchment. The key relevant principles include: 

(a) protect and improve hydrological, ecological and geomorphologic processes; 

(b) consider cumulative impacts of development within the catchment; 

(c) improve water quality of urban runoff and reduce quantity and frequency of urban 
run-off; and 

(d) protect and rehabilitate riparian corridors and remnant vegetation. 

43. The site is within the Sydney Harbour Catchment and eventually drains into the 
Harbour. However, the site is not located in the Foreshores Waterways Area or 
adjacent to a waterway and therefore, with the exception of the objective of improved 
water quality, the objectives of the SREP are not applicable to the proposed 
development. The development is consistent with the controls contained with the 
deemed SEPP. 

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 

44. The site is located within the B8 Metropolitan Centre zone. The proposed use is 
defined as 'tourist and visitor accommodation'' and 'retail premises' and is permissible. 

45. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

Compliance Tables 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

4.3 Height of Buildings Yes A maximum height of 60m is permitted. 

A height of 60m is proposed. 

4.4 Floor Space Ratio 

6.4 Accommodation Floor 
Space  

Yes A base FSR of 8:1 is permitted for the 
site.  

The site is located in Area 3, which 
permits additional floor space of 3:1 if 
the building is used for residential 
accommodation, serviced apartments, 
hotel or motel accommodation, 
community facilities or centre-based 
child care facilities.  

Therefore, a maximum permissible FSR 
of 11:1 and a GFA of 8,896.3sqm is 
permitted.  

 

 

23



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

Development Control Compliance Comment 

A total FSR of 10.4:1 and a GFA of 
8,360sqm is proposed, which includes 
the existing mezzanine area of the 
Genesian Theatre. The proposal is for a 
hotel accommodation and, therefore 
complies with the development 
standard. 

5.10 Heritage conservation Yes The subject site contains a heritage item 
of local significance, being the 'former 
church including interiors and front 
fence' (I1829) and also adjoins other 
heritage items.  

See discussion under the heading 
Issues. 

 

Part 6 Local Provisions - 
Height and Floor Space  

Compliance Comment 

6.4 Accommodation floor 
space 

Yes As discussed above, the development is 
eligible for additional accommodation 
floor space and complies with the 
maximum permitted FSR of 11:1.  

6.11 Utilisation of certain 
additional floor space requires 
allocation of heritage floor 
space 

Yes The site is located in Area 3 on land in 
Central Sydney. Given that the proposal 
seeks to utilise accommodation floor 
space with a height that will exceed 
55m, an amount of heritage floor space 
is required to be allocated to the site.  

Refer to Issues discussion below.    

6.16 Erection of tall buildings 
in Central Sydney  

Yes The proposal presents a height greater 
than 55m for a development in Central 
Sydney, and as such, the provisions of 
this Clause are applicable.  

The tower employs appropriate setbacks 
and floor to ceiling heights that would 
provide acceptable amenity for future 
occupants and neighbouring buildings. 
The tower would not adversely affect the 
amenity of public spaces in terms of 
solar access and wind.  

 

24



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

Part 6 Local Provisions - 
Height and Floor Space  

Compliance Comment 

Further, the development is compatible 
with its heritage and fine grain context, 
allows sunlight to reach the sides of the 
tower as well as to the proposed 
through-site link. The proposal promotes 
ventilation around the building with 
ground floor uses that would activate the 
street frontage. 

Accordingly, the proposal satisfies the 
objectives of tower development in 
Central Sydney.    

6.19 Overshadowing of certain 
public spaces  

(i) Sydney Town Hall Steps 

(j) Sydney Square  

Yes The site is located within close proximity 
to Sydney Town Hall steps and Sydney 
Square and has the potential to 
overshadow these public spaces.  

Shadow diagrams were submitted with 
the application and confirms that the 
development would not result in 
additional overshadowing at any time to 
Sydney Town Hall Steps and Sydney 
Square. Refer to Attachment C.  

The proposed development satisfies the 
requirements of this provision. 

6.21 Design Excellence  Yes The proposal (as amended), achieves a 
high standard of architectural design that 
respects the streetscape and heritage 
building on the site. 

The development is required to undergo 
a competitive design process as the 
proposal presents a height greater than 
55m and is located on land in Central 
Sydney. 

However, the consent authority may 
waive the requirement of a competitive 
design process if they are satisfied that 
such a process would be unreasonable 
or unnecessary in the circumstance of 
the development.  

Refer to the Issues discussion below.   

 
  

25



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

Part 7 Local Provisions - 
General 

Compliance Comment 

Division 1 Car parking ancillary 
to other development 

Yes As a hotel development, the proposal is 
able to provide 1 car parking space for 
every 5 rooms more than 100 rooms 
(maximum 39.8 spaces).  

The proposal provides no parking on the 
site. Having regard to the maximum 
provisions of this Clause and the site's 
proximity to frequent public transport, 
the development achieves the objectives 
of this provision in minimising vehicular 
traffic generation and is acceptable. The 
proposal is supported by Council's 
Traffic Planner, subject to conditions.   

7.14 Acid Sulphate Soils Yes The site is identified as containing class 
5 Acid Sulphate Soil and is located 
within 50m of Class 1 and 2 Acid 
Sulphate Soil.  

Council's Environmental Health Officer 
has reviewed the proposal. The 
proposed excavation may require 
dewatering and trigger the requirements 
for assessment and management of 
Acid Sulphate Soil. Potential issues 
relating to Acid Sulphate Soil can be 
addressed through conditions of 
consent. A condition of consent is 
recommended to this effect.  

7.15 Flood planning Yes  The site is located in the Darling 
Harbour Drainage Catchment and is 
identified as being flood prone. 

The application was referred to Council's 
Engineer who confirms that the 
development has been appropriately 
designed to mitigate flood impacts and 
can be supported, subject to conditions.   

7.16 Airspace operations Yes The proposed development will not 
penetrate the Obstacle Limitation 
Surface as shown on the Obstacle 
Limitation Surface Map for the Sydney 
Airport. 

26



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

Part 7 Local Provisions - 
General 

Compliance Comment 

7.19 Demolition must not result 
in long term adverse visual 
impacts  

Yes  The development involves demolition of 
buildings on the site. However, the site 
will be comprehensively redeveloped 
under the subject development 
application and would not result in 
adverse visual impacts to the 
streetscape and special character area.  

7.20 Development requiring 
preparation of a development 
control plan 

Yes The site is located in Central Sydney. 
The proposal would result in a building 
with a height greater than 55m and is 
therefore development requiring the 
preparation of a development control 
plan or Stage 1 Application.  

However, a development control plan is 
not required to be prepared if the 
consent authority is satisfied that such a 
plan would be unreasonable or 
unnecessary in the circumstance of the 
development.   

Refer to Issues discussion below.  

7.24 Development near Cross 
City Tunnel ventilation stack 

Yes The subject site is located within an area 
identified as being affected by the Cross 
City Tunnel ventilation stack.  

The development would not affect the 
dispersion of emissions of the Cross City 
Tunnel ventilation stack and future 
occupants of the building would not be 
unduly effected by these emissions.  

Refer to DCP discussion below.  

 

  

27



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 

46. The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 
for the proposed development are outlined below. 

2. Locality Statements – York Street (Clarence & Kent Street) Special Character 
Area 

The subject site is located in the York Street Special Character Area, which includes 
Clarence and Kent Street. The proposal satisfactorily responds to the historic warehouse 
and commercial typology by incorporating a brick finish with a street frontage height that is 
consistent with neighbouring buildings. The materials respond to the prevailing masonry 
character of the locality. Overall, the development maintains significant views and vistas to 
the QVB and Sydney Town Hall. 

 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.1 Public Domain 
Elements 

Yes The proposal would make a positive 
contribution to the public domain by 
providing an active frontage to both 
Clarence and Kent Street. This is 
accentuated with the provision of a through-
site link that will provide enhanced 
pedestrian permeability in this part of the 
CBD. 

3.1.2.2 Through-site links Yes  The site is not required to provide a through-
site link in accordance with the 'Through-site 
links map' of Sydney DCP 2012.  

Notwithstanding this, the through-site link is 
a unique addition to the development. Whilst 
it is narrow with a predominant width of 
2.7m, which is below the minimum 4m 
requirement, it provides a height greater 
than 6m with clear lines of sight from Kent 
and Clarence Street.   

The through-site link is clearly distinguished 
from vehicle access ways and includes 
landscaping to soften the site. It is proposed 
to be accessible 24 hours a day with the 
hotel development, in which an easement for 
Right of Public Access will be identified on 
Title. This is imposed as a condition of 
consent.  

 

 

28



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.2 Defining the Public 
Domain 

Yes The proposed development will enhance the 
public domain by ensuring adequate sun 
access is provided to publicly accessible 
spaces.  

3.2.2 Addressing the street 
and public domain 

Yes The provision of a through-site link 
enhances the address of the development to 
the public domain. The use of glazing to the 
facades abutting the through-site link 
provides legible and accessible entries from 
Kent and Clarence Street.  

Access to the basement levels for loading 
and servicing is provided on Kent Street and 
does not protrude above street level or the 
public domain.  

The main hotel lobby is accessed from the 
upper ground floor on Clarence Street. 
Access from Kent Street is provided by the 
through-site link with lift access to the main 
lobby on the upper ground floor. 

3.2.3 Active frontage  Yes  The DCP does not require an active frontage 
to be provided on Kent and Clarence Street.  

Notwithstanding this, the development will 
provide a retail use on the Kent Street 
frontage with the main hotel lobby located 
on the Clarence Street frontage. 

3.2.6 Wind effects  Yes  An 'Environmental Wind Assessment', 
prepared by Arup was submitted with the 
application. 

The report confirms that the development 
would have minimal impact on the local wind 
conditions of the area due to the stepped 
massing as well as its location in a dense 
urban setting. The wind conditions along the 
through-site link would satisfy pedestrian 
wind comfort and would pass the safety 
criterion.  

 

 

 

29



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.2.7 Reflectivity  Yes  A 'Reflectivity Report', prepared by Arup, 
was submitted with the application. The 
report confirms that reflections from the 
development would not result in 
unacceptable glare to surrounding roads, 
traffic, pedestrians and surrounding 
buildings, subject to the external reflectance 
of glazed facades are below 20%. A 
condition of consent is recommended to this 
effect. 

3.6 Ecologically Sustainable 
Development 

Yes A Section J Report, prepared by Windtech, 
was submitted with the application. 

The proposal is capable of achieving the 
relevant energy efficiency requirements of 
Section J of the BCA by targeting a 
NABERS Energy Commitment Agreement at 
a rating of 4.5 stars as well as implementing 
other sustainable measures such as lighting 
and water efficiency. Conditions of consent 
have been imposed, as recommended by 
Council's Sustainability Officer.  

3.7 Water and Flood 
Management 

Yes   The subject site is flood prone. Appropriate 
conditions of consent have been 
recommended relating to flood 
management, as recommended by Council's 
Engineer. 

3.8 Subdivision, Strata 
Subdivision and 
Consolidation 

Yes Appropriate conditions of consent are 
recommended to require the consolidation of 
the site into one allotment and also that the 
hotel cannot be strata subdivided.  

3.9 Heritage Yes The site contains a heritage item of local 
significance.  

Refer to Issues discussion below.  

3.10 Significant 
Architectural Building Types 

Yes The Genesian Theatre was formally a 
church that is recognised as a public and 
community building older than 50 years.  

 

 

 

30



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

The proposal involves retention of the 
building and refurbishment works, which 
seeks to be reused as an adaptive 
performance space and additional dining 
area for the hotel restaurant. Significant 
fabric and building elements would be 
retained and encourages its continual use.   

3.11 Transport and Parking Yes The development proposes an onsite 
loading bay with car hoist and lift for loading 
and servicing of the site to be carried out 
within the basement levels. Access is 
provided from Kent Street. No car parking is 
proposed. A total of 44 bicycle spaces are 
also provided.  

A Traffic Report was submitted with the 
application and was reviewed by Council's 
Traffic Planner. Subject to conditions, the 
proposal would satisfy the objectives of this 
Section in ensuring that the demand for 
transport generated by the development is 
managed appropriately.       

3.11.3 Bike parking and 
associated facilities  

Yes  The proposal provides 44 (34 spaces for 
staff and 10 for customer/visitor) bicycle 
spaces and associated end of journey 
facilities and complies with the requirements 
of the DCP.  

An appropriate condition is recommended to 
ensure that all facilities are provided in 
accordance with the relevant Australian 
Standard.  

3.11.6 Service vehicle 
parking 

Yes  The development provides a loading bay 
hoist and turn table that is accessed from 
Kent Street for a SRV size vehicle with 
dimensions of 6.4m (length) and 3.5m 
(height). Servicing and parking is carried out 
on basement level 2 and is considered 
acceptable.  

A condition is recommended for a Loading 
Management Plan to be submitted to the 
satisfaction of Council prior to the issue of 
Construction Certificate to ensure that 
servicing of the site will be carried out 
without use of on-street facilities.  

31



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.11.8 Bus parking  Acceptable  The development does not (and is not able 
to) provide on-site set down or pick up 
parking for buses and coaches. 

The submitted Traffic Report outlines that 
the absence of bus and coach parking is 
acceptable in this instance as Clarence and 
Kent Street provide sufficient kerbside on-
street 1P/4P parking and loading zones, 
which may be used for picking up and 
setting down passengers as outlined in the 
RMS parking rules. Also, the site is severely 
constrained in terms of width to 
accommodate on-site bus parking.  

Council's Traffic Planner considers this 
acceptable, subject to the submission of a 
'Coach parking and guest pick-up and drop-
off Management Plan' prior to issue of an 
Occupation Certificate. The Plan must 
include details of managing vehicles 
associated with guest arrivals, departures 
and tours and its potential impacts on 
surrounding streets.     

3.11.13 Design and location 
of waste collection points 
and loading areas 

Yes  The proposal allows for waste collection and 
loading to be carried within the basement 
that is accessed from Kent Street via a hoist 
and turn table.  

The proposal was referred to Council's 
Waste Officer, who considers the waste 
collection points and loading areas are 
acceptable, subject to conditions.  

3.12 Accessible Design Yes A condition has been recommended for the 
proposed development to provide 
appropriate access and facilities for persons 
with disabilities in accordance with the DCP 
and the BCA.  

3.13 Social and 
Environmental 
Responsibilities 

Yes The proposed development provides 
adequate passive surveillance and is 
generally designed in accordance with the 
Crime Prevention Through Environmental 
Design (CPTED) principles. 

32



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

3. General Provisions Compliance Comment 

3.13.2 Air quality for 
development near the 
Cross City Tunnel 

Yes  The development proposes a height of 60m. 
The subject site has a distance greater of 
approximately 370m from the Cross City 
Tunnel Ventilation Stack. In consideration of 
the building height relative to the distance 
from the Ventilation Stack, an air quality 
assessment report is not required as the 
proposal is outside the threshold 
requirements of the SDCP 2012. As such, 
the proposal and future occupants would not 
be unduly impacted by emissions. 

3.14 Waste Yes A condition has been recommended for the 
proposed development to comply with the 
relevant provisions of the City of Sydney 
Guidelines for Waste Management in New 
Development. 

3.15 Late Night Trading 
Management 

Yes The site is located in the Late Night 
Management Area and is a Category A - 
High Impact Premises. A Plan of 
Management (POM) has been submitted 
and has been reviewed by Council's 
Licensing Officer. It is considered that the 
POM is acceptable for the use of the hotel 
accommodation and hotel lounge only.  

The hotel would also accommodate ancillary 
food and drink premises that may be 
licensed, in which the details of the use and 
operation are unknown. Accordingly, a 
condition of consent is recommended for the 
fit out and use of the retail areas to be 
subject to a separate application, where 
additional details relating to the operation 
and management of its future use can be 
considered.   

3.16 Signage and 
Advertising 

Yes A condition of consent is recommended to 
require the details of any future signage on 
the site to be subject to a separate 
development application.   

3.16.1 Signage Strategy Yes A signage strategy has been submitted with 
this application. 

Refer to Issues discussion below.  

 

33



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.2 Residential flat, non-
residential and mixed use 
developments  

Compliance Comment 

4.2.1 Building height 

4.2.1.2 Floor to ceiling 
heights and floor to floor 
heights 

Acceptable  Buildings with a commercial or retail use are 
required to have a minimum floor to floor 
height of 4.5m on the first basement floor as 
well as the ground floor. Upper floors for 
mixed use development require a minimum 
floor to ceiling height of 2.7m, which equates 
to a minimum floor to floor height of 3.1m.  

The proposal has a basement floor to floor 
level of 4.5m. A ground floor to floor height 
of 4.5m on Clarence Street and 6.10m on 
Kent Street is provided. The upper floors of 
the development have a floor to floor height 
of 2.75m.  

Refer to Issues discussion below.   

4.2.2 Building Setbacks  Acceptable  The proposal generally complies with the 
DCP setback requirements. This is further 
discussed in Section 5.1.2.2.   

4.2.3.1 Solar Access Yes The shadow diagrams submitted with the 
application, and as contained in Attachment 
C, reveal the development would result in 
some minor additional overshadowing to 
neighbouring buildings on 22 March and 21 
June.  

The most affected properties are to the 
south of the site up to Druitt Street, which 
accommodate commercial uses.  

In consideration of the fine grain subdivision 
pattern of the area and the location of the 
site in a dense commercial block within the 
Central Sydney, overshadowing on 
neighbouring properties is inevitable. 
Notwithstanding this, the neighbouring 
properties would still receive adequate 
sunlight during the winter solstice.  

 

34



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

4. Development Types 

4.4.8 Visitor 
Accommodation 

Compliance Comment 

4.4.8.1 General Yes A Plan of Management (POM) has been 
submitted with the application relating to the 
hotel use and operation.  

The POM outlines that the hotel will operate 
24/7 with a hotel manager on duty at all 
times. Staffing will consist of front 
office/admin, housekeeping, maintenance 
and cleaners with on-site security and 
CCTV.  

The sleeping rooms do not include triple-tier 
bunks or cooking facilities and toilet and 
shower facilities are partitioned off within 
each room.  

4.4.8.3 Additional 
provisions for hotels, private 
hotels and motels 

Yes The development is proposed to be a 'micro-
room' hotel. 

Rooms vary in size with the smallest room 
measuring 19.3sqm and the largest room 
being 59.4sqm.  

The rooms are capable of accommodating 2 
persons staying a maximum of 3 months, 
which satisfies the 11sqm minimum 
requirement of the DCP.  

Storage within the rooms and the absence of 
kitchenettes are considered adequate 
having regard to the micro arrangement of 
the hotel.    

 

5. Specific Areas 

5.1 Central Sydney  

Compliance Comment 

5.1.1 Street frontage 
heights 

Yes New buildings are required to have a street 
frontage height between 20 and 45 metres 
above the site ground level and be aligned 
with the predominant street frontage height 
of adjacent buildings.  

 

 

35



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

5. Specific Areas 

5.1 Central Sydney  

Compliance Comment 

The proposal provides a street frontage 
height of 34.6m on Clarence Street and 
40.37m on Kent Street and is consistent with 
the street frontage heights of neighbouring 
buildings.  

5.1.2 Building setbacks 

5.1.2.2 Side and rear 
setbacks 

Yes  The proposal provides a nil side setback on 
the southern boundary with a varying north 
side set back as the building ascends and 
cantilevers over the Genesian Theatre. The 
proposed through-site link, with a minimum 
width of 2.2m, provides an appropriate 
setback to the Genesian Theatre and 
northern neighbouring property on the 
ground floor. The setback of the tower allows 
for daylight, outlook, ventilation and wind 
mitigation to be provided to the through-site 
link and adjoining buildings. Therefore, the 
proposed setbacks are acceptable having 
regard to the existing streetscape and 
satisfies the objectives in maintaining 
amenity to neighbouring buildings and the 
public domain.  

5.1.3 Street frontage 
heights and setbacks for 
Special Character Areas  

Acceptable  The site is located in the York Street Special 
Character Area and is required to have a 
weighted average 8m setback (minimum 
6m) above street frontage height. 

The proposal provides a setback above 
street frontage height of 5.2m on Clarence 
Street and 5.5m on Kent Street. 
Notwithstanding the numerical non-
compliance, the departure is acceptable, 
given the setback is consistent with the 
setback approved under D/2017/445 for the 
addition above the neighbouring heritage 
building at 426-430 Kent Street. As such, the 
proposal is compatible with its context and 
achieves the objective of the control in 
enhancing and complementing the 
distinctive character of the special character 
area.  

 

 

36



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

5. Specific Areas 

5.1 Central Sydney  

Compliance Comment 

It should be noted that the neighbouring 
heritage building to the north of the site at 
414-418 Kent Street has a 5 storey street 
frontage height. The 6 storey difference of 
the street frontage height is acceptable 
having regard to single storey nature of the 
Genesian Theatre, which breaks up the 
consistency on Kent Street. The proposal 
maintains the prevalent masonry facades of 
the street at the street frontage height.  

5.1.6 Building Exteriors  Yes  The proposal has been appropriately 
designed to consider the street alignment, 
setback and facade proportions of 
neighbouring buildings. The building exterior 
integrates with the masonry character of the 
area with modern materials, which allows the 
building to achieve a horizontal and vertical 
balance.  

Issues 

Heritage 

47. The site contains a heritage item of local significance being the 'former church 
including interiors and front fence' (I1829) under Sydney LEP 2012 and also adjoins 
other heritage items. 

48. The proposal involves retention and refurbishment of the heritage building and 
construction of a hotel development that results in a cantilever over the church. 

49. A 'Conservation Management Plan' (CMP), prepared by Weir Phillips Heritage, was 
submitted with the application and was referred to Council's Heritage Specialist. Whilst 
the adaptive reuse of the former church was supported, it was considered that the 
CMP was deficient in specifying the works and methodologies for restoration and 
reconstruction. The concerns raised can be addressed through the imposition of 
conditions of consent, requiring an updated CMP to be submitted and approved by 
Council. This is contained in Attachment A.       

50. Additionally, the proposal was referred to the Design Advisory Panel (DAP). DAP and 
Council's Heritage Specialist shared the same view in that the extent of the cantilever 
over the church was excessive and overwhelmed the curtilage of the heritage building. 
It was recommended that the modulated cantilever be amended in order to have a 
single consistent cantilever that would be set at the shortest protrusion of the tower.  

  

37



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

51. On 6 June 2019, the applicant submitted a Cantilever Setback Study, which illustrated 
massing options of the cantilever over the church. The option which maintained the 
modulated cantilever with a reduced extent and increased distance from the springing 
point of the cantilever was considered reasonable in striking a balance with the 
architectural form and the heritage curtilage. This scheme was presented to the CSPC. 

52. At the CSPC meeting on 5 September 2019, the panel concurred with the 
recommendations put forward by DAP and Council's Heritage Specialist. 
Consequently, the CSPC resolved to defer the determination of the application to 
enable the preparation of an amended proposal that addressed the concerns relating 
to the cantilevered design in order to improve the heritage curtilage of the 
development.  

53. The amended proposal was submitted to Council on 16 September 2019 and was 
reviewed by City staff. The amended design demonstrates a single cantilever that 
results in a tall, slender tower built form.   

54. The amended proposal is considered to be an improved outcome. The proposal has 
an acceptable heritage impact and would foster a continual use of the building for 
cultural uses. The cantilever allows sufficient visual separation with the existing church 
building and simultaneously, affords hotel rooms in the centre of the new building to 
have access to natural light and views of Kent Street.  

55. In light of the above, the proposal adequately satisfies the objectives and provisions of 
Clause 5.10 - Heritage Conservation of Sydney LEP 2012 and Section 3.9 - Heritage 
of Sydney DCP 2012.   

56. Extracts of the Cantilever Setback Study are illustrated in Figures 13 and 15 below. 

38



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

 

Figure 13: Kent Street elevation and the extent of the modulated cantilever as originally proposed.   

39



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

 

Figure 14: Kent Street elevation and the reduced extent of the modulated cantilever (increasing the 
separation of the underside of the cantilever and realignment of the outer edge with the apex of the 
Genesian Theatre roof), as proposed to the CSPC.   

  

40



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

 

Figure 15: Kent Street elevation with a single consistent cantilever as proposed and recommended 
by the CSPC.  

  

41



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

Waiver for the requirement of a competitive design process and preparation of a 
development control plan  

57. As a consequence of amending the proposal to address the heritage issues, the 
development presents an amended height of 60m.  

58. Clause 6.21 - Design Excellence and Clause 7.20 - Development requiring or 
authorising preparation of a development control plan of Sydney LEP 2012 stipulates 
that development in Central Sydney with a height exceeding 55m must undergo a 
competitive design process and requires preparation of a development control plan. 
Accordingly, the proposal is subject to these provisions.  

59. However, Clause 6.21(6) and Clause 7.20(3) specify that the development is not 
required to undergo a competitive design process and not be required to prepare a 
development control plan if the consent authority is satisfied that such a process would 
be unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstance of the development.   

60. At the meeting on 5 September 2019, the CSPC as the consent authority indicated 
that they may waive the requirement for a design competition and preparation of a 
development control plan in the case that the amended proposal exceeds 55m in 
height, provided it does not breach other controls.  

61. In the case of the subject development, such a process is considered to be 
unreasonable or unnecessary for the following reasons:  

(a) Notwithstanding the exceedance to the 55m height threshold, the proposal is 
compliant with the height and FSR development standards under Sydney LEP 
2012. The development results in a height that is appropriate and compatible for 
the site. The proposal has been designed accordingly with the heritage context 
of the locality in ensuring building elements such as the street frontage height 
and tower form, result in an appropriate height transition with neighbouring 
buildings. The density of the proposal is proportionate with development in the 
locality.    

(b) Shadow diagrams have been submitted with the amended proposal and are 
contained in Attachment C. The additional height exceeding 55m will not result in 
additional overshadowing to certain public spaces, notably Sydney Town Hall 
steps and Sydney Square, as mandated in Clause 6.19 of Sydney LEP 2012. 

(c) Additionally, the proposal is generally compliant with other planning controls 
prescribed in Sydney DCP 2012. The development provides an acceptable 
degree of amenity for future occupants and does not result adversely impact on 
the neighbouring properties and the locality.    

(d) The extension of the building above the 55m height limit has arisen out of the 
desire to address concerns of the consent authority regarding the relationship of 
the new building with the existing heritage item. In this regard there is site-
specific merit in granting a waiver of a competitive design process and 
preparation of a development control plan, that is, protecting the heritage 
curtilage of the Genesian Theatre by transferring the bulk of the development 
away from the theatre as much as possible. 

(e) The proposal satisfies the objectives and provisions of Clause 6.21 - Design 
Excellence of Sydney LEP 2012. 

42



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

(i) Specifically, subclause 6.21(8) refers to development that the consent 
authority cannot grant consent to, notwithstanding other provisions in this 
Clause as follows: 

(8)(a) Development that would result in any building on land projecting 
higher than any sun access plane that is taken to extend over that land by 
operation of Division 3, or 

(b) Development that results in any building causing additional  
overshadowing of a kind specified in Division 3, or 

(c) Development that results in any building on land in Area 1 or Area 2 on 
the Height of Buildings map having a height greater than the height of the 
building that was on the land at the commencement of this Plan.  

(ii) For the case of the development, the site is not situated on land subject to 
the sun access plane. As discussed above, the proposed development 
would not result in additional overshadowing to certain public spaces 
specified in Division 3 of Sydney LEP 2012. Further, the building is not 
located on land in Area 1 or Area 2 of the Height of Buildings map, which 
requires consideration to any additional height to the height of the building 
on the land. Accordingly, the consent authority may grant consent to the 
development.  

(f) The proposal addresses the requirements to be contained in any development 
control plan outlined in Clause 7.20 of Sydney LEP 2012 in that:  

(i) The proposal adequately demonstrates that the built form and external 
appearance does not adversely impact on the quality and amenity of the 
public domain. Rather, the provision of a through-site link enhances the 
public domain to both Kent and Clarence Street.  

(ii) The proposal does not detrimentally impact on view corridors; 

(iii) Overall and as detailed elsewhere in this report, the proposal is suitable for 
the site and context. The development sufficiently addresses the heritage 
constraints with a building bulk and articulation that achieves a satisfactory 
relationship with neighbouring sites. The proposal would have an 
acceptable environment impact that has been addressed in the 
assessment of the subject application.    

62. In light of the above, the proposal sufficiently demonstrates that the requirement to 
undergo a competitive design process and preparation of a development control plan 
is unreasonable and unnecessary. Accordingly, it is recommended that these 
requirements be waived for the circumstance of the development.  

Allocation of Heritage Floor Space  

63. The site is located in Area 3 on land in Central Sydney. Given that the proposal seeks 
to utilise accommodation floor space with a height that will exceed 55m, an amount of 
heritage floor space is required to be allocated to the site in accordance with Clause 
6.11 of Sydney LEP 2012.   

  

43



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

64. Pursuant to Clause 6.11(1)(a), the amount of heritage floor space to be allocated is 
equal to 50% of the accommodation floor space to be utilised. For the case of the 
development, the proposal utilises 2.4:1 (1,935.12sqm) of the 3:1 accommodation floor 
space permitted. Therefore, an amount of 968sqm of heritage floor space is to be 
allocated to the site.   

65. Further, subclause (2)(b) allows the amount of heritage floor space to be reduced by 
up to 50% or 250sqm, whichever is lesser, if the consent authority is satisfied that the 
development includes any covered or partially covered pedestrian route through the 
site at street level and provides a vital publicly accessible link between 2 streets. 

66. The development provides a through-site pedestrian link at street level connecting 
Kent and Clarence Street. The through-site link would be accessible 24 hours a days 
to the public and would positively enhance the public domain to both streets.  

67. Therefore, the total amount of heritage floor space to be allocated to the site is 
718sqm and is calculated on the following basis:  

(a) 1,935.12sqm (accommodation floor space) / 50% = 967.56sqm - 250sqm.  

Floor to Floor Heights 

68. Section 4.2.1.2 - Floor to Ceiling and Floor to Floor Heights of Sydney DCP 2012 
requires mixed-used buildings to have a minimum floor to ceiling height of 2.7m, which 
equates to a minimum floor to floor height of 3.1m. 

69. During the assessment of the application, concern was raised that the proposed floor 
to floor heights of 2.75m would compromise the amenity of the proposed micro-hotel 
rooms that are already narrow and confined in configuration. Concern was also raised 
that the proposal does not promote the flexible use and adaptability of the building as 
required by the DCP control. As such, the applicant was requested to amend the 
proposal to increase the floor to floor heights.    

70. Amendments to address the floor to floor heights of the development was not provided 
to Council. However, the applicant provided the following responses to justify the non-
compliance: 

(a) The submitted DA proposes a floor to ceiling height of 2500mm and 2250mm for 
bathrooms. This is compliant with the BCA, Australian Standards and is typical 
for small format hotels of this type. 

(b) All hotel rooms will have exposed profiled concrete soffits. All services, as is 
typical for hotel rooms will be wall mounted and air conditioning will be side throw 
from above the bathroom pod. 

(c) All rooms will have mixed mode ventilation. 

  

44



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

(d) Given the constrained site and existing overshadowing, and that the peak 
occupation of hotel rooms is during the afternoon/evening, access to direct 
natural light can be optimised through the facade design to include internal blinds 
on all windows. Also, the glazed portion of the facade is to be composed of 
double glazing with a white polyceramic frit pattern to maximise thermal 
performance and minimise solar heat gain. 

(e) Notwithstanding the minor non-compliance with floor to ceiling heights, the 
development overall provides ample internal amenity in terms of natural 
ventilation and light, by virtue of providing generous sized hotel rooms with 
appropriate glazing and numerous other internal communal areas for guests to 
enjoy and relax. 

71. On balance, the justification provided by the applicant is considered acceptable in this 
circumstance given the intended 'micro-room' typology of the hotel development.   

72. Notwithstanding the numerical non-compliance and limited adaptability, the 
development would be consistent with the minimum requirements of the BCA and 
would achieve the objectives of the control in maintaining amenity for the development 
and neighbouring sites as required in Section 4.2.1.2 of Sydney DCP 2012. Conditions 
of consent have been recommended to this effect.         

Signage Strategy  

73. A signage strategy for future business identification signage is proposed as part of this 
application as follows:  

(a) Signage zone 1 - Clarence Street  

(i) 1 x vertical projecting wall signs with dimensions of 700mm (width) x 
4000mm (height); 

(ii) 1 x top hamper sign with dimensions of 5400mm (width) x 1200mm 
(height); 

(b) Signage zone 2 - Kent Street  

(i) 2 x vertical projecting wall signs with dimensions of 700mm (width) x 
4000mm (height); 

(ii) 1 x top hamper sign with dimensions of 3500mm (width) x 1000mm 
(height);   

(c) Signage zone 3 - South Elevation 

(i) Option A: 1 x vertical top of building sign with dimensions of 3,000mm 
(width) x 10,000mm (height);  

(ii) Option B: 1 x horizontal top of building sign with dimensions of 6,000mm 
(width) x 2,500mm (height); and  

(d) Signage zone 4 - West elevation  

(i) 1 x top of building sign with dimensions of 3,000mm (width) x 10,000mm 
(height).  

45



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

74. In consideration of the objectives and provisions of Section 3.16 - Signs and 
Advertisements of Sydney DCP 2012 and in consultation with Council's Urban 
Designer and Heritage Specialist, the proposed signage strategy is acceptable subject 
to the following:  

(a) The scale and location of the top of building signage zones is appropriate and 
responds to the architectural form and vertical language of the building and 
would generally comply with Section 3.16.5.2. Therefore, Option A relating to the 
vertical top of building sign for Signage zone 3 is preferred; 

(b) The scale and dimensions of the proposed vertical projecting wall signs within 
Signage Zones 1 and 2 are excessive and are not compatible with the heritage 
significance of the special character area, as stipulated by the general 
requirements for signage under Section 3.16.3. The signs are not consistent with 
the scale of neighbouring signs and must be reduced to be of a square shape 
and be located no higher than 5m from the ground floor so as to be consistent 
with the general requirements for business identification signs in Section 
3.16.6.1.  

(c) The provision of 2 x signage zones for the vertical projecting wall signs on the 
Kent Street frontage is acceptable to identify the future retail tenant as well as 
the hotel operator; 

75. In light of the above, conditions of consent are recommended for an updated signage 
strategy to be submitted and approved by Council prior to the issue of Construction 
Certificate.  

76. Further, a condition of consent is recommended for the detailed specifications of 
signage on the site to be subject to a separate application.  

Access 

77. It is recommended that disabled access be provided in accordance with the provisions 
of the DCP. An appropriate condition is recommended. 

Other Impacts of the Development 

78. The proposed development is capable of complying with the BCA. 

79. It is considered that the proposal will have no significant detrimental effect relating to 
environmental, social or economic impacts on the locality, subject to appropriate 
conditions being imposed. 

Suitability of the site for the Development  

80. The proposal is of a nature in keeping with the overall function of the site. The 
premises are in a commercial surrounding and amongst similar uses to that proposed. 

Internal Referrals 

Referrals 

81. The conditions of other sections of Council have been included in the proposed 
conditions. 

46



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

82. The application was discussed with the Heritage and Urban Design Specialists; 
Building Services Unit; Environmental Health; Licenced Premises; Public Domain; 
Safe City; Surveyors; Transport and Access; Landscape and Waste Management; who 
advised that the proposal is acceptable subject to the recommended conditions. 

83. Additionally, the amended plans were reviewed by the relevant City Officers who 
maintain support of the amended proposal.  

Design Advisory Panel  

84. The original scheme was referred to the Design Advisory Panel (DAP) in which the 
following comments were made:   

(a) The through-site link, reuse of the theatre and proposed hotel use is supported; 

(b) It was considered that the proposal was an overdevelopment of the site resulting 
in uncomfortable urban form and rooms; 

(c) The degree of cantilever over the adjacent heritage building was excessive and 
consideration should be made to delete the outer cantilever. This would result in 
the reduction and replanning of the hotel rooms; 

(d) The micro-room configuration in terms of width and height of hotel rooms is not 
supported and significantly restricts sunlight and amenity. At a minimum, the 
BCA requirement of 2.4m must be achieved excluding an allowance for services; 

(e) Every second wall between rooms should be non-structural to enable future 
adaptability; 

(f) Servicing on both frontages at ground floor is poor and should be amended for 
better internal amenity and interface with the street. 

85. The concerns raised by DAP has been addressed through amended plans and 
supplementary documentation that has been detailed elsewhere within this report. 

External Referrals 

Referrals  

86. The application was referred to Transgrid, Ausgrid, NSW Office of Water, NSW Police, 
and Transport for NSW.  

87. Concurrence was received from TfNSW on 25 February 2019 for the development in 
accordance with Clause 88 of SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007. Confirmation was received 
on 30 September 2019 from TfNSW advising they maintained concurrence for the 
amended proposal. 

88. TfNSW also confirmed that the proposal would not impact on the works in Central 
Sydney in accordance with Clause 88 of SEPP (Infrastructure) 2007, subject to 
recommended conditions contained in Attachment A.  

  

47



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

89. Written correspondence was received from Ausgrid on 19 February 2019 and 9 
October 2019, noting that there are existing underground electricity network assets in 
Kent and Clarence Street. Subject to conditions, the proposal would not impact on 
existing Ausgrid infrastructure as prescribed under Clause 44 and 45 of SEPP 
(Infrastructure) 2007.   

90. Written correspondence was received from Transgrid on 9 January 2019 and 18 
September 2019, confirming the development would not be affected by a Transgrid 
easement or asset.  

91. No response was received from NSW Office of Water and the NSW Police within the 
nominated timeframe. As such, it is assumed that no issues are raised regarding the 
proposal.    

Notification, Advertising and Delegation (Submissions Received) 

92. In accordance with Schedule 1 the Sydney DCP 2012, the original proposal was 
notified and advertised for a period of 28 days between 10 January 2019 and 8 
February 2019. A total of 1,161 properties was notified and there were 2 submissions 
received raising the following issues:  

(a) The demolition of the warehouse buildings at 277 Clarence Street and 422-
424 Kent Street would be a detrimental loss to the character of the 
neighbourhood and does not address the significance of these buildings to 
the York Street Special Character Area.  

Response - The buildings proposed to be demolished are not identified to be of 
heritage significance. Notwithstanding this, Section 2.1.1 of Sydney DCP sets 
out the character statement and design principles for the York Street Special 
Character Area including Clarence and Kent Street.  

The proposal is considered to satisfactorily reference the prevailing masonry 
character of the York Street Special Character Area by providing a masonry 
interface to both the Clarence and Kent Street frontages up to the street wall 
height. The proposal maintains the historic warehouse and commercial typology 
by emulating the scale and form of neighbouring buildings in the locality. The 
proposal does not compromise significant views to Darling Harbour, to the QVB 
and Sydney Town Hall. Therefore, the proposal is consistent with the principles 
of the special character area.  

(b) The proposal would potentially increase traffic and impact on the safety of 
pedestrians, particularly students. A comprehensive Construction Traffic 
Management Plan (CTMP) should consider the volume of pedestrian traffic, 
including student pedestrian traffic as well as use of heavy construction 
vehicles. It is requested that the CTMP be available for review prior to 
implementation.  

Response - The application has been reviewed by Council's Traffic Planner as 
well as Transport for NSW (TfNSW). A condition of consent is recommended that 
requires a detailed CTMP to be prepared in consultation with the Sydney 
Coordination Office and Sydney Light Rail Team within TfNSW, which must be 
approved by Council prior to the issue of Construction Certificate. 

  

48



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

The CTMP must include details that are not limited to the potential impacts on 
pedestrians, the cumulative impacts on surrounding development, identification 
of mitigation measures to minimise impacts on the Central Sydney road network 
as well as provide details on the construction program and estimated 
construction vehicle movements.  

The details required to be addressed in the CTMP are considered to be 
adequate in ensuring that the proposed development would not impact on the 
safety of pedestrians during construction and use of the building.  

93. The amended plans were renotified for a period of 14 days between 19 September 
2019 and 3 October 2019. One (1) submission was received:   

(a) Clarification is sought on what development would be carried out over the 
next year and the works to no. 422-424 Kent Street. 

Response - The construction timeframe of the development is not considered or 
known during the assessment stage. However, should development consent be 
granted, the proponent has 5 years to carry out the approved works from the 
date of determination in accordance with Clause 4.53 - Lapsing of Consent 
under the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

The works proposed to be carried out on 422-424 Kent Street involve demolition 
of existing structures to accommodate the new development.   

Public Interest 

94. It is considered that the proposal will have no detrimental effect on the public interest, 
subject to appropriate conditions being proposed. 

S61 Contribution 

95. The cost of the development is in excess of $200,000.  The development is therefore 
subject to a levy under the Central Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2013.  A 
condition relating to this levy has been included in the recommended conditions of 
consent.  The levy is to be paid prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate. 

Relevant Legislation 

96. The Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979. 

Conclusion 

97. The proposal seeks consent for the retention and refurbishment of the Genesian 
Theatre and construction of a 19 storey hotel development, providing 199 rooms with 
servicing and loading to be carried out within the basement levels.  

98. The proposal provides a through-site link that will connect Clarence and Kent Street 
and is considered to be a worthy contribution in Central Sydney.  

49



Central Sydney Planning Committee 24 October 2019 
 

99. The development has a maximum height of 60m, a floor space ratio of 10.4:1 and a 
gross floor area totalling 8,360sqm, which is consistent with the maximum permissible 
height and floor space ratio controls prescribed for the site under the Sydney LEP 
2012.  

100. The proposal is generally consistent with the relevant planning controls contained in 
Sydney LEP 2012 and Sydney DCP 2012. The development has been appropriately 
designed to respond to the characteristics of the site and surrounding development 
and exhibits design excellence.   

101. Whilst the proposal presents a height greater than 55m, the requirement to undergo a 
competitive design process under Clause 6.11 as well as the requirement for 
preparation of a development control plan under Clause 7.20 in accordance with 
Sydney LEP 2012 is unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstance of the 
development.  

GRAHAM JAHN, AM 

Director City Planning, Development and Transport 

Reinah Urqueza, Specialist Planner  

50



Attachment A  

Recommended Conditions of Consent 

51



 

SCHEDULE 1A 

APPROVED DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN MODIFICATIONS/COVENANTS AND 
CONTRIBUTIONS/USE AND OPERATION 

Note:  Some conditions in Schedule A are to be satisfied prior to issue of a Construction 
Certificate and some are to be satisfied prior to issue of Occupation Certificate, where 
indicated. 

(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. 
D/2018/1577 dated 19 December 2018 and the following drawings prepared 
by Francis-Jones Morehen Thorp Pty Ltd: 

Drawing Number Drawing Name Date 

DA2000, Revision 

03 

General Arrangement Plan 

Basement 2 

16 September 

2019 

DA2001, Revision 

02 

General Arrangement Plan 

Basement 1 

16 September 

2019 

DA2002, Revision 

13 

General Arrangement Plan 

Lower Ground – Kent Street 

4 October 2019 

DA2003, Revision 

02 

General Arrangement Plan 

Upper Ground – Clarence 

Street  

16 September 

2019 

DA2004, Revision 

03 

General Arrangement Plan 

Level 1 

16 September 

2019 

DA2005, Revision 

03 

General Arrangement Plan 

Level 2 

16 September 
2019 

DA2006, Revision 

03 

General Arrangement Plan 

Level 3 

16 September 
2019 

DA2007, Revision 

03 

General Arrangement Plan 

Level 4 

16 September 
2019 

DA2008, Revision 

03 

General Arrangement Plan 

Level 5-10  

16 September 
2019 

DA2009, Revision 

03 

General Arrangement Plan 

Level 11-17 

16 September 
2019 

DA2010, Revision 

03 

General Arrangement Plan 

Level 18 Hotel and Plant 

16 September 
2019 

DA2011, Revision 

03 

General Arrangement Plan 

Roof 

16 September 
2019 

DA2100, Revision 

01 

Demolition Plan 17 December 

2018 

DA3000, Revision 

03 

East Elevation (Clarence St) 16 September 

2019 

DA3001, Revision 

03 

West Elevation (Kent Street)  16 September 

2019 

52



 

Drawing Number Drawing Name Date 

DA3002, Revision 

03 

North Elevation 16 September 

2019 

DA3003, Revision 

03 

South Elevation  16 September 

2019 

DA4000, Revision 

02 

Sections North-South 16 September 

2019 

DA4001, Revision 

02 

Sections North-South 16 September 

2019 

DA4002, Revision 

02 

Sections North-South 16 September 

2019 

DA4003, Revision 

02 

Sections East-West looking 

South 

16 September 

2019 

DA4004, Revision 

02 

Sections East-West looking 

North 

16 September 

2019 

DA4005, Revision 

02 

Public Domain Sections 16 September 

2019 

DA4006, Revision 

02 

Public Domain Sections 16 September 

2019 

DA5001, Revision 

13 

Materials and Finishes 

Board 

4 October 2019 

DA6003, Revision 

01  

Adaptive Performance 

Space and Foodservice 

Venue  

17 December 

2018 

DA6004, Revision 

01 

Heritage Interpretation Wall 17 December 
2018 

DA8000, Revision 

01 

Public Domain Finishes and 

Fixtures Schedule 

17 December 
2018 

DA8001, Revision 

01 

Public Domain Plan 17 December 
2018 

DA8002, Revision 

01 

Public Domain Plan 1:50 17 December 
2018 

DA8003, Revision 

01 

Public Domain Elevation 

1:50 

17 December 
2018 

 
and as amended by the conditions of this consent. 

(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and 
supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail. 

(2) SECTION 61 CONTRIBUTIONS PAYABLE - REGISTERED QUANTITY 
SURVEYOR'S DETAILED COST REPORT - SUBMITTED AND VERIFIED 
PRIOR TO ISSUE OF CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE 

A cash contribution comprising 1% of the total cost of the development is payable 
to the City of Sydney pursuant to section 61 of the City of Sydney Act 1988 and 
the Central Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2013 in accordance with the 
following: 

53



 

(a) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued, evidence must be provided 
of Council’s written verification of the amount of the contribution as required 
in (b) below, and then that the levy has been paid to the Council in 
accordance with this condition. Payment may be by EFTPOS (debit card 
only), CASH or a BANK CHEQUE made payable to the City of Sydney. 
Direct debit, personal or company cheques will not be accepted. 

(b) The contribution must not be paid to the City of Sydney until it is 
accompanied by separate written verification by the City of Sydney of the 
specific amount payable. In order to obtain such verification, the “City of 
Sydney Registered Quantity Surveyor's Detailed Cost Report” indicating the 
itemised cost of the development must be completed and submitted to 
Council by the Principal Certifier, together with copies of the plans the 
subject of the application for the Construction Certificate. A copy of the 
required format for the “City of Sydney Registered Quantity Surveyor's 
Detailed Cost Report” may be obtained from the City of Sydney One Stop 
Shop, any of the Neighbourhood Service Centres and the City of Sydney’s 
website (www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au). 

(c) The Council will consider the documentation submitted under subclause (b) 
and determine the cost of the proposed development having regard to the 
information submitted and to such other matters as it considers appropriate 
and will notify the Principal Certifier accordingly. 

(d) The items to be included in the calculation of the cost of development are 
demolition works, site remediation including decontamination, excavation 
and site preparation, construction costs, fit out, professional fees as part of 
the design (including design competitions) documentation and 
implementation process, fixed building machinery, equipment and 
appliances, kitchens and bar areas, car parking, air conditioning plant and 
equipment, services (fire, mechanical ventilation, electrical, hydraulic), 
ceilings, fire protection devices, installation of services (power, water, sewer, 
telephone), lifts and other essential machinery, floor coverings, Building 
Code of Australia compliance works, replacement of existing materials, 
fixtures and fittings, construction related insurance, assessment and 
construction related fees, charges and GST and any other matter not 
expressly excluded in (e) below.  Any item for which an exemption has been 
granted is still to be included in the total cost of development, together with 
an itemised value to enable the City to calculate the value of the exemption. 

(e) The items to be excluded in the calculation of the cost of development are 
the cost of land, marketing expenses (excluding display suites etc), finance 
and interest, building insurance after practical completion, drapery, 
commercial stock inventory, loose furniture, loose equipment, loose 
electrical appliances, minor maintenance of existing retained fixtures 
(patching, repainting) and stamp duty. 

Please contact Council's Planning Administration staff at 
Planningsystemsadmin@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au to confirm the amount payable, 
prior to payment. 

(3) BUILDING HEIGHT 

(a) The height of the building: 

(i) Must not exceed RL 75.920 (AHD) to the top of the building; 

54

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/
mailto:Planningsystemsadmin@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au


 

(ii) Must not exceed RL 52.28 (AHD) at the street frontage height of the 
building at Clarence Street; and 

(iii) Must not exceed RL 52.28 (AHD) at the street frontage height of the 
building at Kent Street.  

(b) Prior to any Occupation Certificate being issued, a Registered Surveyor 
must provide certification that the height of the building accords with (a) 
above, to the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier. 

(4) FLOOR SPACE RATIO - CENTRAL SYDNEY 

The following applies to Floor Space Ratio: 

(a) The Floor Space Ratio of the proposal must not exceed 10.4:1 calculated in 
accordance with the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012. For the 
purpose of the calculation of FSR, the Gross Floor Area of the approved 
development is 8,360sqm. 

(b) Prior to any Occupation Certificate being issued, a Registered Surveyor 
must provide certification of the total and component Gross Floor Areas (by 
use) in the development, utilising the definition under Sydney Local 
Environmental Plan 2012 applicable at the time of development consent, to 
the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier. 

(c) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued, Council’s written verification 
must be obtained, confirming that 718sqm of heritage floor space was 
allocated (purchased and transferred) to the development, being that gross 
floor area in excess of 8:1 as specified in the Sydney Local Environmental 
Plan 2012. 

(5) HOURS OF OPERATION – HOTEL ACCOMMODATION 

The hours of operation of the hotel accommodation are 24 hours, seven days a 
week. 

(6) EASEMENT FOR PUBLIC ACCESS 

(a) Prior to the issue of any Occupation Certificate for the development, a 
documentary Easement for Public Access, limited in stratum if so desired, is 
to be created and registered on the Title of the development site. The 
Easement is to be defined over the strip of land, of variable width (and limited 
in height if so desired) extending from the eastern alignment of Kent Street 
to the Western alignment of Clarence Street, passing between the Genesian 
Theatre and the proposed hotel generally over the paved walkway and stairs 
as shown on the approved plan (DA2003 Rev 01 prepared by FJMT) for the 
development. The Easement will also include foyer areas and lifts within the 
hotel. The Easement is to be created appurtenant to Council in terms 
granting unrestricted rights for public pedestrian access, without vehicles, 
exclusive of wheelchairs for the disabled, to Council’s satisfaction, 

(b) Prior to the issue of any Occupation Certificate for the development, a 
documentary Positive Covenant is to be created and registered on the Title 
of the development site, appurtenant to Council. The Positive Covenant is to 
be created in terms indemnifying Council against any claims and damages 
arising from the use of the Right of Public Access, and is to require the 

55



 

maintenance of a $20,000,000 public indemnity insurance policy and is to 
require the maintenance, upkeep and repair of the Right of Public Access in 
accordance with Council’s requirements and to the satisfaction of Council. 

(7) RESTRICTION ON STRATA SUBDIVISION  

Any strata subdivision of the hotel to create individual lots for hotel rooms is not 
permitted. 

(8) APPROVED DESIGN ROOF - TOP PLANT 

All roof-top plant and associated equipment must be located within the approved 
building envelope. 

(9) USE - SEPARATE DA REQUIRED 

(a) No consent is granted or implied for the fit out or specific use of each of the 
individual retail tenancies of the development. 

(b) No consent is granted for the specific use of the Genesian Theatre as an 
adaptive performance space and food service venue.   

(c) A development consent or Complying Development Certificate (as 
appropriate) is required to be obtained for the fit out and use of each retail 
tenancy, including use of the Genesian Theatre building, prior to that fit out 
or use commencing. 

(10) DESIGN MODIFICATIONS – SIGNAGE STRATEGY 

The signage zones forming part of the signage strategy for the building, must be 
modified as follows: 

(a) Signage Zone 1 – Clarence Street  

(i) The signage zone for a projecting wall sign must be no higher than 5m 
above ground level and must be reduced to be square in shape with 
dimensions no greater than 1,000mm x 1,000mm.  

(b) Signage Zone 2 – Kent Street  

(i) The 2 x signage zones for projecting walls signs must be no higher 
than 5m above ground level and must be reduced to be square in 
shape with dimensions no greater than 1,000mm x 1,000mm.  

(c) The following Top of Building Signs are approved as part of the signage 
strategy for the building:  

(i) Signage Zone 3 on the south elevation – Vertical signage zone with 
dimensions of 3,000mm (length) x 10,000mm (height); and 

(ii) Signage Zone 4 on the west elevation– Vertical signage zone with 
dimensions of 3,000mm (length) x 10,000mm (height). 

The modifications are to be submitted to and approved by Council’s Manager 
Urban Design and Heritage prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate. 

56



 

(11) SIGNS - SEPARATE DA REQUIRED 

A separate development application for any proposed signs additional to those 
approved as part of this consent (other than exempt or complying signs must be 
submitted to and approved by Council prior to the erection or display of any such 
signs. 

(12) DESIGN MODIFICATIONS – HERITAGE 

(a) The southern wall of the Genesian Theatre at 420 Kent Street, including its 
face brickwork, lost buttresses and boarded-up windows, is to be reinstated. 
The reinstated buttresses and stain glass windows are to form significant 
features along the through-site link. 

(b) A set of 1:50 or 1:20 scale plans showing all new works and conservation 
works to the Genesian Theatre at 420 Kent Street, including ground level 
plan, mezzanine level plan, reflective ceiling plan, west elevation, south 
elevation and east-west cross section and north-south sections, are to be 
provided and approved by Council’s Director Planning Development and 
Transport prior to the issue of Construction Certificate.  

(13) MODIFCATIONS TO THE HERITAGE CONSERVATION MANAGEMENT PLAN 

The Conservation Management Plan (CMP), prepared by Weir Phillips Heritage is 
to be amended to address the following:  

(a) The policies of the CMP (Section 7 Conservation Policies) are to be 
expanded to specify how the policies are to be applied to the subject 
building. 

(b) Site components rating should separate fabric rating and space rating. This 
is particularly important to the interior of the church. A lower ranked space 
may contain highly significant fabric, and vice versa. 

(c) The southern wall of the church should have a higher rating than being 
moderate. It is likely the main body of the wall is original and its structural 
role in supporting the roof. 

(d) Reinstatement of southern wall buttresses and stain glass windows is to be 
added to the Policies; 

(e) Joinery (wall cladding) and plaster roses should be separately ranked; 

(f) Significance ratings of internal elements roof purlins, ceilings, wall finishes 
and floors, and external elements palisade fence, existing signs, brickwork 
and stonework are to be supplemented;   

(g) A list of moveable heritage items should be provide in the CMP. They may 
include an early pew, programs, posters remaining within the back-of house 
area and ticket office/lobby area. 

(h) An investigation of the maintenance work access to the northern wall of the 
building and the future management of space between the northern wall and 
neighbouring wall should be addressed in the CMP. 

57



 

(i) The amended CMP is to be submitted and approved by Council’s Area 
Planning Manager prior to the issue of Construction Certificate. 

(14) VISITOR AND TOURIST ACCOMMODATION - PLANS OF MANAGEMENT 

Plans of Management must be submitted and approved by Council's Health and 
Building Unit prior to any Occupation Certificate being issued. The Plans of 
Management must include the minimum criteria as stipulated in Council’s Sydney 
Development Control Plan 2012 – 4.4.8. 

(15) VISITOR AND TOURIST ACCOMMODATION - USE AND OPERATION 

The use and operation of the premises must comply with the requirements of 
Schedule 2 (Standards for Places of Shared Accommodation) of the Local 
Government (General) Regulation, 2005 under the Local Government Act 1993, 
the Public Health Act, 2010 and regulations thereunder and Sydney Development 
Control Plan 2012 – 4.4.8. 

(16) COPIES OF CONSENTS AND MANAGEMENT PLANS 

A full and current copy of all current development consents, the Plan of 
Management and the Security Management Plan must be kept on-site and made 
available to Police or Council Officers, or Special Investigator upon request. 

(17) ALLOCATION OF CAR PARKING 

Car parking spaces are to be provided in accordance with the table below. Details 
confirming the quantity and allocations of car parking spaces is to be submitted to 
the satisfaction of the Certifying Authority prior to the issue of a Construction 
Certificate. 

Car Parking Type Number 

Small Rigid Vehicle loading dock(s) 1 

 

(18) CAR PARKING DESIGN 

The design, layout, signage, line marking, lighting and physical controls of all off-
street car parking facilities is to satisfy the Australian Standard AS/NZS 2890.1 - 
2004 Parking facilities Australian Standard AS/NZS 2890.6 - 2009 Parking 
facilities Part 6: Off-street parking for people with disabilities. The details must be 
submitted to and approved by the Certifying Authority prior to a Construction 
Certificate being issued. 

(19) BICYCLE PARKING AND END OF TRIP FACILITIES     

The minimum number of bicycle parking spaces and end of trip facilities (EOT 
facilities to be deleted for residential development) to be provided for the 
development must comply with the table below: 

User Number of 
bicycles to be 
accommodated 

Requirements 

58



 

Staff  34 Class B bicycle parking 
facility in accordance with 
AS2890.3   
 

Customer/ Visitor 10 Class C bicycle parking 
facility in accordance with 
AS2890.3. 4 (six) spaces 
to be located in the though 
site link from the Kent 
Street level and 6 (six) to 
in public domain access 
from Clarence Street.  
 

End of Trip Facility 
Type  

Number  

Showers with 
change area 

4  

Personal lockers 44 
 

 

 

The layout, design and security of bicycle facilities must comply with Australian 
Standard AS 2890.3:2015 Parking Facilities Part 3: Bicycle Parking Facilities. The 
details must be submitted to and approved by the Certifying Authority confirming 
prior to the Construction Certificate being issued. 

(20) COST OF SIGNPOSTING 

All costs associated with signposting for any kerbside parking restrictions and 
traffic management measures associated with the development shall be borne by 
the developer. 

(21) CHANGES TO KERB SIDE PARKING RESTRICTIONS 

A separate submission must be made to the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic 
Calming Committee via the City Infrastructure and Traffic Operations Unit seeking 
the City’s approval for any changes to kerb side parking arrangements. There is 
no guarantee kerb side parking will be changed, or that any change will remain in 
place for the duration of the development use. 

The submission must include two plans. One showing the existing kerb side 
parking restriction signs and stems, the second showing the proposed kerb side 
parking restriction signs and stems. Both plans must include chainages to all signs 
and stems from the kerb line of the nearest intersection. 

All costs associated with the parking proposal will be borne by the developer. 

Note: As parking in the LGA is at a premium, it is recommended that the applicant 
should approach the Area Traffic Engineer to discuss the proposal before making 
a submission. 

(22) ASSOCIATED ROADWAY COSTS 

All costs associated with the construction of any new road works including kerb 
and gutter, road pavement, drainage system and footway shall be borne by the 
developer. The new road works must be designed and constructed in accordance 

59



 

with the City’s “Sydney Streets Technical Specification” including amendments 
and “Sydney Streets Design Code”. 

(23) ON SITE LOADING AREAS AND OPERATION 

All loading and unloading operations associated with servicing the site must be 
carried out within the confines of the site, at all times and must not obstruct other 
properties/units or the public way. 

At all times the service vehicle docks, car parking spaces and access driveways 
must be kept clear of goods and must not be used for storage purposes, including 
garbage storage. 

(24) SERVICE VEHICLE SIZE LIMIT 

The size of vehicles servicing the property must not exceed 6.4m.  

(25) VEHICLE ACCESS 

The site must be configured to allow all vehicles to be driven onto and off the site 
in a forward direction. 

(26) SIGNAL SYSTEM 

A system of traffic lights and/or mirrors and automated roller door must be installed 
at vehicle access driveway as outlined in the submitted traffic report to indicate 
traffic movement on the ramp(s)/driveway and vehicle lift is occupied.  This system 
must be detailed in the application for a Construction Certificate. Any system using 
traffic light signals must maintain a green signal to entering vehicles at the point of 
entry, and must maintain a red signal when an exiting vehicle is detected upon the 
ramp or driveway. 

The details must be submitted to and approved by the Certifying Authority prior to 
a Construction Certificate being issued.  

(27) SIGNS AT EGRESS 

The following signs must be provided and maintained within the site at the point(s) 
of vehicle egress: 

 (a) Compelling "Give Way to Pedestrians and Bicycles" before crossing a 
footpath on an existing or identified shared path route.  

The signs/ are to be erected prior to issue of any Occupation Certificate and must 
be maintained in good order at all times by the owners of the building. 
 

(28) TRAFFIC WORKS 

Any proposals for alterations to the public road, involving traffic and parking 
arrangements, must be designed in accordance with RMS Technical Directives 
and must be referred to and agreed to by the Local Pedestrian, Cycling and Traffic 
Calming Committee prior to any work commencing on site. 

60



 

(29) VEHICLE FOOTWAY CROSSING 

A separate application is to be made to, and approved by, Council for the 
construction of any proposed vehicle footway crossing or for the removal of any 
existing crossing and replacement of the footpath formation where any such 
crossings are no longer required. 

All disused or redundant vehicle crossings and laybacks must be removed and 
footway, kerb, gutter and road restoration reinstated in accordance with Council’s 
standards, to suit the adjacent finished footway and edge treatment materials, 
levels and details, or as otherwise directed by Council officers. All construction 
and replacement works are to be completed in accordance with the approved 
plans prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate. 

Note: In all cases the construction materials should reinforce the priority of 
pedestrian movement over that of the crossing vehicle. 

(30) REFLECTIVITY 

The Principal Certifier must ensure that the visible light reflectivity from building 
materials used on the façade of the building, including the glass used for the 
heritage display glass boxes within the through-site link, does not exceed 20% 
prior to issue of the Construction Certificate. 

(31) NOISE – COMMERCIAL PLANT / INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Noise from commercial plant and industrial development must not exceed a 
project amenity/intrusiveness noise level or maximum noise level in 
accordance with relevant requirements of the NSW EPA Noise Policy for 
Industry 2017 (NPfI) unless agreed to by the City’s Area Planning Manager. 
Further: 

(i) Background noise monitoring must be carried out in accordance with 
the long-term methodology in Fact Sheet B of the NPfI unless 
otherwise agreed by the City’s Area Planning Manager. 

(ii) Commercial plant is limited to heating, ventilation, air conditioning, 
refrigeration and energy generation equipment. 

 (b) An LAeq,15 minute (noise level) emitted from the development must not exceed 
the LA90, 15 minute (background noise level) by more than 3dB when assessed 
inside any habitable room of any affected residence or noise sensitive 
commercial premises at any time. Further: 

(i) The noise level and the background noise level shall both be measured 
with all external doors and windows of the affected residence closed. 

(ii) Background noise measurements must not include noise from the 
development but may include noise from necessary ventilation at the 
affected premise. 

(c) Corrections in Fact Sheet C of the NPfI are applicable to relevant noise from 
the development measured in accordance with this condition, however 
duration corrections are excluded from commercial noise. 

61

https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate-site/resources/noise/17p0524-noise-policy-for-industry.pdf
https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate-site/resources/noise/17p0524-noise-policy-for-industry.pdf
https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate-site/resources/noise/17p0524-noise-policy-for-industry.pdf
https://www.epa.nsw.gov.au/-/media/epa/corporate-site/resources/noise/17p0524-noise-policy-for-industry.pdf


 

(32) COMPLIANCE WITH THE ACOUSTIC REPORT PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION 
AND OR OCCUPATION CERTIFICATES 

(a) All performance parameters, requirements, engineering assumptions and 
recommendations contained in the acoustic report prepared by ARUP, dated 
29th November 2018, Job No. 261407-00, titled Revised DA Acoustic 
Submission – 422 Kent St, Council Ref 2018/648394 must be implemented 
as part of the detailed design assessment and implemented into the design 
drawings prior to the commencement of the use of the premises in 
accordance with the requirements of (b) and (c) below and to the satisfaction 
of the Principal Certifier. 

(b) Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, the construction drawings and 
construction methodology must be assessed and certified by a suitably 
qualified acoustic consultant* (see definition below) to be in accordance with 
the requirements of the DA acoustic report set out below. Specifically, the 
consultant will prepare a written Acoustic Certification Report with reference 
to drawings, to the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier. 

(c) Prior to the issue of any Occupation Certificate, a suitable qualified acoustic 
consultant is to provide a written Acoustic Verification Report to the 
satisfaction of the Principal Certifier that the development complies with the 
requirements set out in the Report and in (a) and (b) above. 

Note: Suitably qualified Acoustic Consultant means a consultant who 
possesses the qualifications to render them eligible for membership of the 
Australian Acoustics Society, Institution of Engineers Australia or the 
Association of Australian Acoustic Consultants at the grade of member. 

(33) NOISE – ENTERTAINMENT 

(a) The LA10, 15 minute noise level emitted from the use must not exceed the 
background noise level (LA90, 15minute) in any Octave Band Centre Frequency 
(31.5 Hz to 8 kHz inclusive) by more than 5dB between the hours of 7.00am 
and 12.00 midnight when assessed at the boundary of any affected 
residence. 

(b) The LA10, 15 minute noise level emitted from the use must not exceed the 
background noise level (LA90, 15 minute) in any Octave Band Centre Frequency 
(31.5 Hz to 8 kHz inclusive) between the hours of 12.00 midnight and 7.00am 
when assessed at the boundary of any affected residence. 

(c) Notwithstanding compliance with (a) and (b) above, noise from the use when 
assessed as an LA10, 15 minute enters any residential use through an internal to 
internal transmission path is not to exceed the existing internal LA90, 15 minute 
(from external sources excluding the use) in any Octave Band Centre 
Frequency (31.5 Hz to 8 kHz inclusive) when assessed within a habitable 
room at any affected residential use between the hours of 7am and 
12midnight. Where the LA10, 15 minute noise level is below the threshold of 
hearing, Tf at any Octave Band Centre Frequency as defined in Table 1 of 
International Standard ISO 226 : 2003- Normal Equal-Loudness-Level 
Contours then the value of Tf corresponding to that Octave Band Centre 
Frequency shall be used instead. 

62



 

(d) Notwithstanding compliance with (a), (b) and (c) above, the noise from the 
use must not be audible within any habitable room in any residential use 
between the hours of 12.00 midnight and 7.00am. 

(e) The LA10, 15 minute noise level emitted from the use must not exceed the 
background noise level (LA90, 15 minute) in any Octave Band Centre Frequency 
(31.5 Hz to 8 kHz inclusive) by more than 3dB when assessed indoors at 
any affected commercial premises. 

Note: The LA10, 15 minute noise level emitted from the use is as per the definition 
in the Australian Standard AS1055-1997 Acoustics – Description and 
measurement of environmental noise. The background noise level LA90, 15 

minute is to be determined in the absence of noise emitted by the use and be 
representative of the noise sensitive receiver. It is to be determined from the 
assessment LA90 / rating LA90 methodology in complete accordance with the 
process listed in the NSW EPA Industrial Noise Policy and relevant 
requirements of AS1055.1997. 

(34) PLAN OF MANAGEMENT 

The use must always be operated / managed in accordance with the Plan of 
Management, prepared by FJMT signed and dated 2 May 2019 (Revision 2) that 
has been approved by Council. In the event of any inconsistency, the conditions 
of this consent will prevail over the Plan of Management. 

(35) NOISE FROM GLASS REMOVAL 

Glass must not be emptied or transferred from one receptacle to another anywhere 
in a public place. All glass must be emptied / transferred inside of the building on 
the premises and removed in containers. 

(36) NO SPEAKERS OR MUSIC OUTSIDE 

Speakers and/or noise amplification equipment must not be installed and music 
must not be played in any of the outdoor areas associated with the premises 
including the public domain. Speakers located within the premises must not be 
placed so as to direct the playing of music towards the outdoor areas associated 
with the premises. 

(37) NO SPRUIKING NOISE 

(a) No persons (such as those commonly known as spruikers) or recordings or 
other devices which have the effect of spruiking are to be located on Council 
owned property. Furthermore, the sound level of any spruiking generated 
within privately owned land must not be audible on any adjacent property 
with a shared boundary. 

(38) DEMOLITION, EXCAVATION AND CONSTRUCTION NOISE AND VIBRATION 
MANAGEMENT PLAN 

A site specific noise management plan shall be prepared to the Council for 
comments and approval prior to the issue of Construction Certificate. The Plan 
must be prepared by a suitably qualified person who possesses the qualifications 
to render them eligible for membership of the Australian Acoustic Society 
Institution of Engineers Australia or the Australian Association of Acoustic 
Consultants. The Plan must include but not be limited to the following:   

63



 

(a) identification of noise sensitive receivers near to the site. 

(b) A prediction as to the level of noise impact likely to affect the nearest noise 
sensitive receivers from the use and proposed number of high noise 
intrusive appliances intended to be operated onsite. A statement should also 
be submitted outlining whether or not predicted noise levels will comply with 
the noise criteria stated within the City of Sydney Construction Hours /Noise 
Code of Practice 1992 for the typical construction hours of 07.00am to 
7.00pm. Where resultant site noise levels are likely to be in exceedance of 
this noise criteria then a suitable proposal must be given as to the duration 
and frequency of respite periods that will be afforded to the occupiers of 
neighbouring property. 

(c) A representative background noise measurement (LA90, 15 minute) should be 
submitted, assessed in the vicinity of any potentially affected receiver 
locations and measured in accordance with AS 1055:1.2.1997. 

(d) Confirmation of the level of community consultation that has/is and will be 
undertaken with Building Managers/ occupiers of the main adjoining noise 
sensitive properties likely to be most affected by site works and the operation 
of plant/machinery particularly during the demolition and excavation phases. 

(e) Confirmation of noise monitoring methodology that is to be undertaken 
during the main stages of work at neighbouring noise sensitive properties in 
order to keep complaints to a minimum and to ensure that noise from site 
works complies with the noise criteria contained within City's Construction 
Noise Code. 

(f) What course of action will be undertaken following receipt of a complaint 
concerning offensive noise. 

(g) Details of any noise mitigation measures that have been outlined by an 
acoustic consultant or otherwise that will be deployed on site to reduce noise 
impacts on the occupiers of neighbouring noise sensitive property to a 
minimum. 

(h) What plant and equipment is to be used on site, the level of sound mitigation 
measures to be undertaken in each case and the criteria adopted in their 
selection taking into account the likely noise impacts on the occupiers of 
neighbouring property and other less intrusive technologies available. 

(39) COMPLIANCE WITH DEMOLITION, EXCAVATION & CONSTRUCTION NOISE 
AND VIBRATION MANAGEMENT PLAN 

(a) All works conducted on site which form part of this development must be 
carried out in accordance with the submitted Demolition, Excavation and 
Construction Management Plan. 

(b) Where all such control measures have been implemented and the resultant 
noise and/ or vibration levels at any sensitive receiver still exceed the 
council’s applicable criteria stated in the Construction Hours/Noise Code 
1992 and are giving rise to sustained complaints then the contractor must 
provide regular, appropriate and sustained periods of respite in consultation 
with Council’s Health and Building unit. Approval to vary the authorised noise 
and vibration levels must be received in writing by the proponent from 
Council prior to activities being undertaken that exceed sanctioned emission 

64



 

levels. (Use where respite periods not specified under the approved DEC 
NMP) 

Such periods must be set and agreed to by Council’s Health and Building 
Unit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SCHEDULE 1B 

PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE/COMMENCEMENT OF WORK/HEALTH AND 
BUILDING 

65



 

(40) LOT CONSOLIDATION 

All land titles within the site must be consolidated into one lot. A plan of 
consolidation must be registered with the Office of Land Registry Services, prior 
to any Occupation Certificate being issued. If a Development Application is lodged 
in relation to the subdivision of the site, separating the different buildings with the 
site, then the requirement for lot consolidation is waived. 

(41) LAND SUBDIVISION 

Any proposal to subdivide the site, including any stratum subdivision of the 
buildings, will require a separate application to Council to obtain development 
consent for the proposal and subsequent issue of the Subdivision Certificate under 
Section 109J of the Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979 

(42) DEMOLITION/SITE RECTIFICATION  

The following conditions apply to the development: 

(a) Demolition or excavation must not commence until a Construction Certificate 
has been issued for construction of the substantive building. 

(b) Prior to the Construction Certificate being issued, documentary evidence 
must be provided to Council that the owner of the site has entered into a 
Deed with Council, the cost of preparation and execution of such Deed 
(including stamp duty and registration fees) to be borne by the applicant, 
which contains such conditions as the Council reasonably requires to ensure 
the matters set out in this condition are adequately provided for. 

(c) Without limiting the generality of paragraph (b), the Deed must provide for: 

(i) a bank guarantee to be provided in the sum of $201,575 dollars as 
security for the costs of such works provided that: 

a. the maximum liability under the Deed must not exceed $201,575 
dollars; and 

b. the Council may accept a lesser amount as security if 
substantiated by detailed design and Quantity Surveyor costing 
for works which meet the objectives of the condition. 

(ii) Council is to be given sufficient contractual rights to be able to ensure 
that in any of the following events namely: 

a. demolition of the existing building has commenced but not been 
completed; 

b. the existing building has been demolished; or 

c. the site has been excavated; or 

d. the erection of the structure has commenced; 

(iii) that it, or any person authorised by it, may enter the site and carry out 
such works at the cost of the applicant (or such other person as the 

66



 

Consent Authority may approve) as may be then appropriate in the 
circumstances in each of the abovementioned events, to: 

a. make the building safe and of an appearance acceptable to 
Council at ground level; 

b. allow the ground level to be landscaped and of an appearance 
acceptable to Council from any public vantage point; or 

c. for the hole to be covered to allow it to be landscaped and made 
attractive from any public vantage-point; or 

d. in the event that the new building is constructed beyond the 
ground floor, to allow any hoardings to be removed and the 
ground floor development to be completed to a tenantable stage; 

AND to call on such bank guarantee to cover the cost thereof. 

(d) If the site is commenced to be developed and there is suspension in activity 
for 6 months (or suspensions of activity which in the aggregate exceed 6 
months), resulting in a building site which has an appearance not acceptable 
to Council, then the Council will have the readily enforceable rights to: 

(i) require certain works including but not limited to those works 
necessary to achieve the results referred to in sub-clause (c) (ii)a – d 
to take place on the site; and 

(ii) in the event of default, have the right to enter and carry out these works 
and to call upon security in the nature of a bank guarantee to cover the 
cost of the works. 

(e) The Deed may provide for the release of the Bank Guarantee at such time 
that the Final Occupation Certificate for the approved development is issued.  
If the approved development also relates to works to existing buildings, the 
relevant Final Occupation Certificate is the one that relates to that part of the 
approved development which involves the demolition and new construction. 

(43) HAZARDOUS MATERIALS SURVEY REQUIRED 

A Hazardous Materials Survey Report must be prepared by a certified 
Occupational Hygienist (Australia Institute of Occupational Hygienists) and 
submitted to the satisfaction of the City’s Area Planning Manager prior to any 
demolition / refurbishment work commencing at the site.  The report must identify 
and record the type, location and extent of any hazardous materials on the site 
and make recommendations as to their safe management and/or removal to 
ensure the site is made safe for demolition, construction and future 
use/occupation. 

(44) COMPLIANCE WITH HAZARDOUS MATERIALS SURVEY REPORT 

All of the recommendations for management and/or removal of hazardous 
materials on the site, as outlined in the Hazardous Materials Survey Report, as 
approved by the City’s Area Planning Manager must be complied with. 

Prior to the Occupation Certificate, certification must be submitted to the Principal 
Certifier from a certified Occupational Hygienist (Australia Institute of Occupational 

67



 

Hygienists) confirming that all hazardous materials identified have been contained, 
managed or removed in accordance with the recommendations given in the 
Hazardous Materials Survey Report approved by the City’s Area Planning 
Manager and that the site is safe for future occupation in accordance with the 
approved use. 

(45) ASBESTOS REMOVAL WORKS 

(a) All works removing asbestos containing materials must be carried out by a 
suitably licensed asbestos removalist duly licensed with Safework NSW, 
holding either a Friable (Class A) or a Non- Friable (Class B) Asbestos 
Removal Licence which ever applies. 

A copy of the relevant licence shall be made available to any authorised 
Council officer on request within 24 hours. 

(b) Five days prior to the commencement of licensed asbestos removal, 
Safework NSW must be formally notified of the works. All adjoining 
properties and those opposite the development must be notified in writing of 
the dates and times when asbestos removal is to be conducted. The 
notification must identify the licensed asbestos removal contractor and 
include a contact person for the site together with telephone number and 
email address. 

(c) All work must be carried out in accordance with the Work Health and Safety 
Regulation 2011 and the NSW Government and Work Cover document 
entitled How to manage and control asbestos in the work place: Code of 
Practice (Safework NSW) December 2011 and the City of Sydney Managing 
Asbestos Policy dated 21 October 2013 and associated guidelines. 

(d) The asbestos removalist must use signs and barricades to clearly indicate 
the area where the asbestos removal work is being performed. Signs must 
be placed in positions so that people are aware of where the asbestos 
removal work area is and should remain in place until removal is completed 
and clearance to reoccupy has been granted. Responsibilities for the 
security and safety of the asbestos removal site and removal must be 
specified in the asbestos removal control plan (where required). This 
includes inaccessible areas that are likely to contain asbestos. 

(e) Warning signs must be placed so they inform all people nearby that asbestos 
removal work is taking place in the area. Signs must be placed at all of the 
main entry points to the asbestos removal work area where asbestos is 
present. These signs must be weatherproof, constructed of light-weight 
material and adequately secured so they remain in prominent locations. The 
signs must be in accordance with AS 1319 -1994 Safety Signs for the 
Occupational Environment for size, illumination, location and maintenance. 

(f) Asbestos waste must only be transported and disposed of at an EPA 
licensed waste facility. 

(g) No asbestos products are to be reused on the site (i.e. packing pieces, 
spacers, formwork or fill etc). 

(h) No asbestos laden skips or bins are to be left in any public place without the 
written approval of Council. 

68



 

(i) A site notice board must be located at the main entrance to the site in a 
prominent position and must have minimum dimensions of 841mm x 594mm 
(A1) with any text on the notice to be a minimum of 30 point type size. 

The site notice board must include the following: 

(i) contact person for the site; 

(ii) telephone and facsimile numbers and email address; and 

(iii) site activities and time frames. 

(46) EMISSIONS 

(a) The use of the premises must not give rise to the emission of gases, 
vapours, dusts or other impurities which are a nuisance, injurious or 
prejudicial to health. 

(b) Gaseous emissions from the development must comply with the 
requirements of the Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 and 
Protection of the Environment Operations (Clean Air) Regulation 2010. 

(47) ACID SULPHATE SOILS – PRELIMINARY SITE ASSESSMENT  

If the development is removing greater than 1 tonne of soil from the site or lowering 
the water table to below 1 metre,  a preliminary acid sulfate soil assessment is 
required as the site is located within 500m of land with a class 1, 2, 3 or 4 acid 
sulfate soil classification. This must be carried out by a suitably qualified person in 
accordance with the Acid Sulfate Soils Assessment Guidelines (Acid Sulfate Soils 
Management Advisory Committee August 1998). The preliminary assessment 
must be submitted to the City’s Area Planning Manager for approval and written 
approval issued prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate. 

Where the preliminary site assessment confirms that the site is subject to acid 
sulfate soils which may affect the integrity development, then an Acid Sulfate Soils 
Management Plan must also be prepared and submitted to the City for approval 
prior to the issuance of a Construction Certificate. 

(48) NOTIFICATION – NEW CONTAMINATION EVIDENCE 

Any new information which comes to light during remediation, demolition or 
construction works which has the potential to alter previous conclusions about site 
contamination shall be notified to Council’s Area Planning Manager and the 
Principal Certifier. 

(49) CLASSIFICATION OF WASTE 

Prior to the exportation of waste (including fill or soil) from the site, the waste 
materials must be classified in accordance with the provisions of the Protection of 
the Environment Operations Act 1997 and the NSW DECC Waste Classification 
Guidelines, Part1: Classifying Waste (July 2009). The classification of the material 
is essential to determine where the waste may be legally taken. The Protection of 
the Environment Operations Act 1997 provides for the commission of an offence 
for both the waste owner and the transporters if the waste is taken to a place that 
cannot lawfully be used as a waste facility for the particular class of waste. For the 

69



 

transport and disposal of industrial, hazardous or Group A liquid waste advice 
should be sought from the EPA. 

(50) IMPORTED FILL MATERIALS 

All fill imported onto the site shall be validated to ensure the imported fill is suitable 
for the proposed land use from a contamination perspective. Fill imported on to 
the site shall also be compatible with the existing soil characteristic for site 
drainage purposes. 

The City may require details of appropriate validation of imported fill material to be 
submitted with any application for future development of the site. Hence all fill 
imported onto the site should be validated by either one or both of the following 
methods during remediation works: 

(a) Imported fill should be accompanied by documentation from the supplier 
which certifies that the material is not contaminated based upon analyses of 
the material for the known past history of the site where the material is 
obtained; and/or  

(b) Sampling and analysis of the fill material shall be conducted in accordance 
with NSW EPA (1995) Sampling Design Guidelines. 

(51) STOCKPILES 

(a) No stockpiles of soil or other materials shall be placed on footpaths or nature 
strips unless prior approval has been obtained from the City’s Construction 
Regulation Unit. 

(b) All stockpiles of soil or other materials shall be placed away from drainage 
lines, gutters or stormwater pits or inlets. 

(c) All stockpiles of soil or other materials likely to generate dust or odours shall 
be covered. 

(d) All stockpiles of contaminated soil shall be stored in a secure area and be 
covered if remaining more than 24 hours 

(52) BCA COMPLIANCE - ALTERATIONS AND ADDITIONS - UPGRADE OF 
BUILDING IS REQUIRED  

(a) Pursuant to Clause 94 of the Environmental Planning and Assessment 
Regulation 2000, the Genesian Theatre building must comply with the 
Building Code of Australia (BCA). 

(b) If compliance with the conditions listed in (a) above cannot be achieved 
through the deemed-to-satisfy pathway, an alternative solution in 
accordance with Part A0 of the BCA must be prepared and submitted to the 
Principal Certifier illustrating how the relevant performance provisions are to 
be satisfied, and must form part of the approval prior to a Construction 
Certificate being issued. 

(53) ANNUAL FIRE SAFETY STATEMENT FORM 

An annual Fire Safety Statement must be given to Council and the NSW Fire 
Brigade commencing within 12 months after the date on which the initial 

70



 

Interim/Final Fire Safety Certificate is issued or the use commencing, whichever 
is earlier. 

(54) COMPLIANCE WITH BUILDING CODE OF AUSTRALIA 

(a) All proposed work must comply with the Building Code of Australia (BCA). 

(b) If compliance with (a) above cannot be achieved through the deemed-to-
satisfy pathway, an alternative solution in accordance with Part A0 of the 
BCA must be prepared and submitted to the Principal Certifier illustrating 
how the relevant performance provisions are to be satisfied, and must form 
part of the approval prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. 

(55) STRUCTURAL CERTIFICATION FOR DESIGN – BCA (ALL BUILDING 
CLASSES) 

Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, structural details and a Structural 
Certificate for Design by a qualified practising structural engineer and in 
accordance with Clause A2.2 (a) (iii) of the Building Code of Australia (applicable 
to Class 2-9 buildings) and Clause 1.2.2(iii) of Volume 2 of the BCA (applicable to 
Class 1 and 10 buildings) must be submitted to the satisfaction of Council (where 
Council is the Principal Certifier). 

(56) STRUCTURAL CERTIFICATION FOR EXISTING BUILDING – ALTERATIONS 
AND ADDITIONS 

A qualified practising certified structural engineer must provide structural 
certification to Council (where Council is the Principal Certifier) verifying that the 
existing structure can adequately support the proposed new loads and the 
structural design complies with the Structural Provisions of Part B1 (Vol 1) and 
Part 2.1 (Vol 2) of the Building Code of Australia prior to a Construction Certificate 
being issued. The proposed additional loads and/or alterations must not cause a 
decrease in the existing structural performance of the building including its 
performance under earthquake actions (AS1170.4). 

(57) DILAPIDATION REPORT – MAJOR EXCAVATION/DEMOLITION 

(a) Subject to the receipt of permission of the affected landowner, dilapidation 
report/s, including a photographic survey of all neighbouring properties are 
to be prepared by an appropriately qualified structural engineer prior to 
commencement of demolition/excavation works. A copy of the dilapidation 
report/s together with the accompanying photographs must be given to the 
above property owners, and a copy lodged with the Principal Certifier and 
the Council prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate. 

UPON COMPLETION OF EXCAVATION/DEMOLITION 

(b) A second Dilapidation Report/s, including a photographic survey must then 
be submitted at least one month after the completion of 
demolition/excavation works. A copy of the second dilapidation report/s, 
together with the accompanying photographs must be given to the above 
property owners, and a copy lodged with the Principal Certifier and the 
Council prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate. 

71



 

Any damage to buildings, structures, lawns, trees, sheds, gardens and the like 
must be fully rectified by the applicant or owner, at no cost to the affected property 
owner. 

Note: Prior to the commencement of the building surveys, the applicant/owner 
must advise (in writing) all property owners of buildings to be surveyed of what the 
survey will entail and of the process for making a claim regarding property 
damage. A copy of this information must be submitted to Council. 

(58) EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL - BETWEEN 250 AND 2,500SQM 

Prior to the commencement of demolition/excavation/construction work, an 
Erosion and Sediment Control Plan (ESCP) must be submitted to and be approved 
by the Principal Certifier. The ESCP must: 

(a) Conform to the specifications and standards contained in Managing Urban 
Stormwater: Soils and Construction (Landcom, 2004); the Guidelines for 
Erosion and Sediment Control on Building Sites (City of Sydney, 2004); and 
the NSW Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997. 

(b) Include a drawing(s) that clearly shows: 

(i) location of site boundaries and adjoining roads 

(ii) approximate grades and indications of direction(s) of fall 

(iii) approximate location of trees and other vegetation, showing items for 
removal or retention 

(iv) location of site access, proposed roads and other impervious areas 

(v) existing and proposed drainage patterns with stormwater discharge 
points 

(vi) north point and scale 

(c) Specify how soil conservation measures will be conducted on site including: 

(i) timing of works 

(ii) locations of lands where a protective ground cover will, as far as is 
practicable, be maintained 

(iii) access protection measures 

(iv) nature and extent of earthworks, including the amount of any cut and 
fill 

(v) where applicable, the diversion of runoff from upslope lands around 
the disturbed areas 

(vi) location of all soil and other material stockpiles including topsoil 
storage, protection and reuse methodology 

(vii) procedures by which stormwater is to be collected and treated prior to 
discharge including details of any proposed pollution control device(s) 

72



 

(viii) frequency and nature of any maintenance program 

(ix) other site-specific soil or water conservation structures. 

(59) ROAD OPENING PERMIT 

A separate Road Opening Permit under Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 must 
be obtained from Council prior to the commencement of any: 

(a) Excavation in or disturbance of a public way, or 

(b) Excavation on land that, if shoring were not provided, may disturb the 
surface of a public road (including footpath). 

(60) TEMPORARY GROUND ANCHORS, TEMPORARY SHORING AND 
PERMANENT BASEMENT/RETAINING WALLS AFFECTING THE ROAD 
RESERVE 

For temporary shoring including ground anchors affecting the road reserve, a 
separate application under Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 must be lodged 
with Council. 

(61) CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT PLAN 

(a) A Construction Traffic and Pedestrian Management Plan must be submitted 
to and approved by Council prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. 

(b) Construction Traffic and Pedestrian Management Plans are to be prepared 
in accordance with Standard Requirements for Construction Traffic 
Management Plan on the City’s website 
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/business-
responsibilities/traffic-management/construction-traffic-management-plans  

(c) The applicant shall prepare a Construction Pedestrian and Traffic 
Management Plan (CPTMP) in consultation with the Sydney Coordination 
Office and Sydney Light Rail Team within TfNSW and consider both the 
Sydney Light Rail Project being under construction and in operation. The 
applicant shall submit a copy of the final plan to the Coordinator General, 
Transport Coordination for endorsement, prior to the commencement of any 
work on site. The CPTMP needs to specify, but not limited to, the following: 

(i) Location of the proposed work zone; 

(ii) Haulage routes; 

(iii) Location of the crane; 

(iv) Construction vehicle access arrangements; 

(v) Proposed construction hours; 

(vi) Estimated number of construction vehicle movements; 

(vii) Construction program; 

(viii) Consultation strategy for liaison with surrounding stakeholders; 

73

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/business-responsibilities/traffic-management/construction-traffic-management-plans
http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/business/business-responsibilities/traffic-management/construction-traffic-management-plans


 

(ix) Any potential impacts to general traffic, cyclists, pedestrians and bus 
and light rail 

(x) services within the vicinity of the site from construction vehicles during 
the construction of the proposed works; 

(xi) Cumulative construction impacts of projects including the Sydney Light 
Rail Project, Sydney Metro City and Southwest and surrounding 
developments. Existing CPTMPs for developments within or around 
the development site should be referenced in the CPTMP to ensure 
that coordination of work activities are managed to minimise impacts 
on the CBD road network; and 

(xii) Proposed mitigation measures. Should any impacts be identified, the 
duration of the impacts and measures proposed to mitigate any 
associated general traffic, public transport, pedestrian and cyclist 
impacts should be clearly identified and included in the CPTMP. 

(d) The applicant shall provide the builder's direct contact number to small 
businesses adjoining or impacted by the construction work and the 
Transport Management Centre and Sydney Coordination Office within 
Transport for NSW to resolve issues relating to traffic, freight, servicing and 
pedestrian access during construction in real time. The applicant is 
responsible for ensuring the builder's direct contact number is current during 
any stage of construction. 

(62) MECHANICAL PARKING FACILITIES (CAR LIFT AND TURNTABLE) 

(a) The following details being submitted to an approved by the Principal 
Certifying Authority prior to the issue of the issue of a Construction 
Certificate: 

(b) A review of the proposed installation by the manufacturer and its suitability 
for implementation in accordance with the manufacturer’s specifications 
including but not limited to compliance with AS/NZS 2890.1 2004 and its 
references to AS/NZS 28590.6. 

(c) The predicted noise and vibration levels arising from the car parking area 
received by occupiers of the building, including references to relevant 
Standards.  

(d) Any further information requested by the Principal Certifying Authority.   

(63) MECHANICAL PARKING FACILITY SAFETY MEASURES  

Prior to the issue of any Occupation Certificate, details outlining implementation of 
the mechanical parking facility including the requirements of and/or changes to 
specifications required in Condition 62 of this consent must be submitted to and 
approved by Principal Certifying Authority. 

(64) BICYCLE DIRECTIONAL SIGNAGE AND WAYFINDING PLAN 

Directional signage to the bicycle parking facility is to be installed from the street 
level, between the vehicle entry point at the site boundary (if any) and the entry 
point to the End of Trip facilities. Signage is to be generally in accordance with 

74



 

image (a) (Direction sign) shown in Figure 2.5 of Australian Standard AS 
2890.3:2015 Parking Facilities Part 3: Bicycle Parking Facilities.  

Signage is to be installed before the issue of any Occupation Certificate. 

(65) COACH PARKING AN GUEST PICK-UP AND DROP-OFF MANAGEMENT 
PLAN 

A Coach parking and Guest Pick-Up and Drop-off Management Plan is to be 
submitted in consultation with the Sydney Coordination Office within TfNSW 
demonstrating management of all vehicles associated with guest arrivals, 
departures and tours and its potential impacts on surrounding streets. The Guest 
Pick-Up and Drop-off Management Plan is to include the following and shall be 
submitted to and approved by Council prior to the issue of an Occupation 
Certificate for the site/use:     

(a) An outline of the quantity and frequency of visits per day, including time of 
day, of vehicles (including taxi, uber, hire cars) likely to be received for guest 
drop-off and pick-up and tour groups/services 

(b) Details of coach/vehicle sizes likely to be used to accommodate guest 
arrivals, departures and tours 

(c) Details of how guest arrivals and departures would be managed if changes 
to street parking restrictions are not supported  

(d) Management of guests, luggage and/or trollies to ensure the public footpath 
remains unobstructed for use of pedestrians.   

(e) Detail of strategies  to communicate and inform all the guests such as at the 
time of booking/reservation, website, confirmation email, text messaging 
about of the lack of on-street car parking and passenger pick-up and set 
down areas at the development site, and be encouraged to use public 
transport 

(66) LOADING MANAGEMENT PLAN  

(a) A detailed Loading Management Plan, must be submitted to and approved 
by Council prior to the Construction Certificate for the site/use being granted. 

(b) The Plan shall include details on the freight and servicing profile including 
the use of off peak/ night time deliveries and demonstrate the freight and 
servicing profile could adequately be accommodated for the development 
without the use of on-street facilities. The management plan is required to 
include the following (not limited to): 

(i) Management of queuing along Kent Street as a result of malfunction 
of the proposed loading dock access arrangement; 

(ii) Details of loading zones to redirect vehicles due to extensive queuing 
at the access to the loading bay; 

(iii) Loading bay management details including service vehicle 
movements during peak periods and how traffic flow in Kent Street will 
not be impacted; 

75



 

(iv) Details on how onsite waiting bays requirement (due to queueing from  
mechanical parking facilities car lift, turntable etc.) can be eliminated/ 
managed by traffic lights, fast and automated roller door; 

(v) Details on how the loading area will be managed and used by all 
building tenants; 

(vi) Details of the management of deliveries to ensure there is no 
requirement for any service vehicles to wait on public streets to enter 
the site; 

(vii) Management of Long stay deliveries (i.e. tradesperson, removalist 
vehicle) and management of Short stay deliveries (i.e. courier); 

(viii) Details of the largest vehicle accessing the site; and 

(ix) Management of conflicts between vehicles accessing the site and 
pedestrian and cyclist movements along Kent Street. 

(c) The proposed loading dock must not be reserved for any one other single 
tenancy, and must be available to all users within the site. A loading dock 
manager and loading schedule, pre-booking or similar must be prepared so 
all users are aware of their entitlements and to avoid too many deliveries 
being at the dock at any one time. 

(d) Once approved by the Council, the Loading Bay Management Plan shall be 
referred to the Coordinator General, Transport Coordination within TfNSW 
for endorsement, prior to the issue of the Construction Certificate. 

(67) TRANSPORT ACCESS GUIDE  

(a) A Transport Access Guide must be implemented and maintained by the 
operators of the premises and be made available to staff, clients, customers 
and visitors at all times. The following information shall be submitted to and 
approved by Council prior to the issue of any Occupation Certificate for the 
site/use: 

(b) The Transport Access Guide is to include (but not limited to) the following: 

(i) A Transport Access Guide detailing sustainable transport options to 
access the site including public transport, cycling and walking or a 
combination of these modes. 

(ii) Information regarding lack of off-street car parking and passenger 
pick-up and set-down areas at the development site. 

(iii) Suitable nearby drop-off/pick-up locations. 

(iv) Identify areas where drop-off/pick-up is prohibited and instruct visitors 
to avoid use of these areas.  

(v) Suitable nearby Taxi Zones. 

(vi) Public Transport options adjacent to the site. 

(vii) Pedestrian access to the site. 

76



 

(viii) Bicycle Parking and cycleway networks to the site. 

(ix) Communication methods by which the Transport Access Guide will be 
made available to staff, clients, customers and visitors. 

Note: Transport Access Guide requirements are detailed in Section 7.7 of the 
Sydney DCP 2012. Information about preparing a Transport Access Guide is 
available on Council’s website. For further information about a preparing a 
Transport Access Guide, the applicant should contact the City’s Transport and 
Access Unit. 
 

(68) ALIGNMENT LEVELS – MAJOR DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Proposed building floor levels, basement levels, basement car park entry 
levels and ground levels shown on the approved Development Application 
plans are indicative only and have not been approved by this consent. 

(b) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for any excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), excluding 
approved preparatory or demolition work,  alignment levels for the building 
and site frontages must be submitted to and approved by Council. The 
submission must be prepared by a Registered Surveyor and designed by a 
suitably qualified engineer, must be in accordance with the City of Sydney's 
Public Domain Manual and must be submitted with a completed and Levels 
and Gradients Approval Application form (available on the City’s website). 

(c) These alignment levels, as approved by Council, are to be incorporated into 
the plans submitted with the application for a Construction Certificate for any 
civil, drainage and public domain work as applicable under this consent. If 
the proposed detailed design of the public domain requires changes to any 
previously approved Alignment Levels, then an amended Alignment Levels 
submission must be submitted to and approved by Council to reflect these 
changes prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for public domain 
work. 

(69) PAVING MATERIALS 

The surface of any material used or proposed to be used for the paving of 
colonnades, thoroughfares, plazas, arcades and the like which are used by the 
public must comply with AS/NZS 4586:2004 (including amendments) "Slip 
resistance classification of new pedestrian surface materials". 

(70) PHOTOGRAPHIC RECORD / DILAPIDATION REPORT - PUBLIC DOMAIN 

Prior to an approval for demolition being granted or a Construction Certificate 
being issued, whichever is earlier, a photographic recording of the public domain 
site frontages is to be prepared and submitted to Council's satisfaction. 

The recording must include clear images of the building facade adjoining the 
footpath, the footpath, nature strip, kerb and gutter, driveway crossovers and 
laybacks, kerb ramps, road carriageway, street trees and plantings, parking 
restriction and traffic signs, and all other existing infrastructure along the street. 

The form of the recording is to be as follows:- 

77



 

(a) A PDF format report containing all images at a scale that clearly 
demonstrates the existing site conditions; 

(b) Each image is to be labelled to identify the elements depicted, the direction 
that the image is viewed towards, and include the name of the relevant street 
frontage; 

(c) Each image is to be numbered and cross referenced to a site location plan; 

(d) A summary report, prepared by a suitable qualified professional, must be 
submitted in conjunction with the images detailing the project description, 
identifying any apparent existing defects, detailing the date and authorship 
of the photographic record, the method of documentation and limitations of 
the photographic record; 

(e) Include written confirmation, issued with the authority of both the applicant 
and the photographer that the City of Sydney is granted a perpetual non-
exclusive license to make use of the copyright in all images supplied, 
including the right to make copies available to third parties as though they 
were Council images. The signatures of both the applicant and the 
photographer must be included. 

Any damage to the public way including trees, footpaths, kerbs, gutters, road 
carriageway and the like must immediately be made safe and functional by the 
applicant. Damage must be fully rectified by the applicant in accordance with the 
City’s standards prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued for Public Domain 
Works or before any Occupation Certificate is issued for the development, 
whichever is earlier. 

(71) PRESERVATION OF SURVEY MARKS 

All works in City streets must ensure the preservation of existing permanent survey 
marks (a brass bolt, or a lead plug holding a brass tack, covered by a cast iron 
box). At least forty-eight hours prior to the commencement of any works in the 
public way within 1 metre of a permanent survey mark contact must be made with 
the City's Project Manager Survey / Design Services to arrange for the recovery 
of the mark. 

Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, a survey plan, clearly showing the 
location of all permanent survey marks fronting the site and within 5 metres on 
each side of the frontages must be submitted to Council. 

At least forty-eight hours prior to the commencement of any works in the public 
way within 1 metre of a permanent survey mark contact must be made with the 
City’s Senior Surveyor to arrange for the recovery of the mark. 

A fee must be paid to the Council for the replacement of any permanent survey 
mark removed or damaged in accordance with the City's Schedule of Fees and 
Charges (Reinstatement of Survey Box). 

(72) PROTECTION OF SURVEY INFRASTRUCTURE 

Prior to the commencement of any work on site, a statement prepared by a 
Surveyor registered under the Surveying and Spatial Information Act 2002 must 
be submitted to Council verifying that a survey has been carried out in accordance 
with the Surveyor General’s Direction No. 11 – Reservation of Survey 

78



 

Infrastructure. Any Permanent Marks proposed to be or have been destroyed must 
be replaced, and a "Plan of Survey Information" must be lodged at the NSW Land 
Registry Services. 

Reason: To ensure that the survey control infrastructure and cadastral framework 
are preserved for the public benefit and in accordance with the Surveying and 
Spatial Information Act 2002. 

(73) PUBLIC DOMAIN PLAN 

(a) A detailed Public Domain Plan must be prepared by a suitably qualified 
architect, urban designer, landscape architect or engineer and must be 
lodged with Council’s Public Domain Section and be approved by Council 
prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for public domain work or 
above ground building work, whichever is later. 

(b) The Public Domain Plan must document all works required to ensure that 
the public domain complies with the City of Sydney’s Public Domain Manual, 
Sydney Streets Code and Sydney Streets Technical Specification, including 
requirements for road pavement, traffic measures, footway pavement, kerb 
and gutter, drainage, vehicle crossovers, pedestrian ramps, lighting, street 
trees and landscaping, signage and other public domain elements. If an 
Alignment Levels condition applies to the development, the Public Domain 
Plan submission must incorporate the approved Alignment Levels. If the 
proposed detailed design of the public domain requires changes to any 
previously approved Alignment Levels, then an amended Alignment Levels 
submission must be submitted to and approved by Council to reflect these 
changes prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for public domain 
work. 

(c) The works to the public domain are to be completed in accordance with the 
approved Public Domain Plan and Alignment Levels plans and the Public 
Domain Manual before any Occupation Certificate is issued in respect of the 
development or before the use commences, whichever is earlier. 

(74) PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS BOND 

(a) Public Domain Works Deposit will be required as security for the public 
domain works and for repairing damage that may be caused to the public 
domain in the vicinity of the site, in accordance with the City of Sydney’s 
adopted fees and charges and the Public Domain Manual. The Public 
Domain Works Deposit must be submitted as an unconditional bank 
guarantee or insurance bond as per the Council’s Performance Bond Policy 
in favour of Council as security for completion of the obligations under this 
consent (Guarantee). 

(b) Council's Public Domain section must be contacted to determine the 
guarantee amount prior to lodgement of the guarantee. The guarantee must 
be lodged with Council prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. 

(c) The Guarantee will be retained in full until all Public Domain works, including 
rectification of damage to the public domain, are completed to City of Sydney 
standards and approval and the required certifications, warranties and 
works-as-executed documentation are submitted and approved by Council 
in writing. On satisfying the above requirements, 90% of the security will be 

79



 

released. The remaining 10% will be retained for the duration of the specified 
Defects Liability Period. 

(75) PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS - HOLD POINTS AND HANDOVER 

(a) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for public domain work, 
including civil, drainage and subsurface works, , a set of hold points for 
approved public domain,  civil and drainage work is to be determined with 
and approved by the City's Public Domain section in accordance with the 
City of Sydney's Public Domain Manual and Sydney Streets Technical 
Specification. 

(b) Prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued for public domain works and 
before the issue of any Occupation Certificate for the development or before 
the use commences, whichever is earlier, electronic works-as-executed (as-
built) plans and documentation, certified by a suitably qualified, independent 
professional must be submitted to and accepted by Council for all public 
domain works. Completion and handover of the constructed public domain 
works must be undertaken in accordance with the City of Sydney's Public 
Domain Manual and Sydney Streets Technical Specification, including 
requirements for as-built documentation, certification, warranties and the 
defects liability period. 

(76) STORMWATER AND DRAINAGE - MAJOR DEVELOPMENT 

(a) Prior to an approval or Construction Certificate being issued for  excavation, 
civil construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), excluding 
approved preparatory or demolition work a detailed drainage engineering 
design, calculations and design for the stormwater overland flow path for the 
development must be: 

(i) prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic or civil engineer to show the 
proposed method of collection and disposal of stormwater; and  

(ii) prepared in accordance with the City of Sydney’s Stormwater 
Drainage Manual, technical specifications, standards and policies, as 
amended from time to time; and 

(iii) submitted to and be approved by the City of Sydney and a copy of the 
City’s letter of approval must be provided to the Principal Certifying 
Authority.   

(b) For approval of a connection into the City of Sydney’s drainage system an 
“Application for Approval of Stormwater Drainage Connections" must be 
submitted to the City, together with an application fee in accordance with the 
City of Sydney’s adopted Schedule of Fees and Charges.   

(i) The application must be approved by the City of Sydney prior to an 
approval or Construction Certificate being issued for excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), 
excluding approved preparatory or demolition work. 

(ii) All proposed connections to the City's underground drainage system 
require the owner to enter into a Deed of Agreement with the City of 
Sydney and obtain registration on Title of a Positive Covenant prior to 

80



 

an Occupation Certificate being issued, including an Interim 
Occupation Certificate. 

On-site Detention 

(c) The requirements of Sydney Water with regard to the on-site detention of 
stormwater must be ascertained and complied with.  

(i) Evidence of the approval by Sydney Water of the detailed design of 
the on-site detention must be submitted to and be accepted by the City 
of Sydney and a copy of the City’s letter of acceptance must be 
provided to the Principal Certifying Authority prior to a Construction 
Certificate being issued, excluding for any approved preparatory, 
demolition or excavation works. 

(ii) Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, including an Interim 
Occupation Certificate, a Positive Covenant must be registered on the 
property title for all drainage systems involving On-Site Detention 
(OSD) to ensure maintenance of the approved OSD system 
regardless of the method of connection. 

Stormwater Quality Assessment 

(c) Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for any excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), but excluding 
approved preparatory or demolition work, a stormwater quality assessment 
must be undertaken and must be approved by City of Sydney and a copy of 
the City’s letter of approval must be provided to the Principal Certifying 
Authority. 

A stormwater quality assessment must be undertaken by a suitably qualified 
drainage engineer to demonstrate how the development will be designed to 
ensure that the flow of post-development pollutants from the site due to 
stormwater will be reduced.  The water quality assessment must be 
submitted to and be approved by the City of Sydney and a copy of the City’s 
letter of approval must be provided to the Principal Certifying Authority prior 
to a Construction Certificate being issued for any excavation, civil 
construction, drainage or building work (whichever is earlier), excluding 
approved preparatory or demolition work. 

Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, maintenance schedules of 
the proposed water sensitive urban design and drainage measures must be 
submitted to and be approved by the Principal Certifying Authority and a 
copy provided to the City of Sydney. 

Completion / Works-as-Executed Documentation 

(d) Prior to a Certificate of Completion being issued by the City of Sydney for 
stormwater drainage works:  

(i) All works for the disposal of stormwater and drainage are to be 
implemented in accordance with the approved plans, City of Sydney 
technical specifications. Standards and policies, approval letters and 
the requirements of this consent.   

81



 

(ii) a Works-As-Executed survey, prepared, signed and dated by a 
Registered Surveyor, must be submitted to and be accepted by the 
City of Sydney.  The plan must be overlaid on a copy of the approved 
stormwater drainage plans issued with the Construction Certificate, 
with variations to locations, dimensions, levels and storage volumes 
clearly marked. 

(iii) Electronic works-as-executed (as-built) details, certifications, 
warranties, inspection reports (including Closed Circuit Television 
reports) and associated documentation for the completed work must 
be prepared and certified by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer, in 
accordance with the requirements of the City of Sydney’s technical 
specifications, the Public Domain Manual, the Stormwater Drainage 
Manual, the conditions of this consent and all letters of approval issued 
by the City of Sydney for works in the public domain, and must be 
submitted to and be accepted by the City of Sydney. 

(e) Prior to the issue of the first Occupation Certificate, including an Interim 
Occupation Certificate, or before the use commences (whichever is earlier):  

(i) A copy of the City’s Certificate of Completion for all stormwater and 
drainage work undertaken in the public domain must be provided to 
the Principal Certifying Authority; 

(ii) a Works-As-Executed survey, must be prepared, signed, dated and 
certified by a Registered Surveyor and must be submitted to and be 
accepted by the Principal Certifying Authority. The Works-as-Executed 
plan must be overlaid on a copy of the approved stormwater drainage 
plans issued with the Construction Certificate, with variations to 
locations, dimensions, levels and storage volumes clearly marked; 

(iii) a Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and Calculation Sheet must be 
prepared by a suitably qualified hydraulic engineer (minimum NER), 
showing approved versus installed hydraulic calculations, and must be 
submitted to and be accepted by the Principal Certifying Authority; 

(iv) evidence of Sydney Water’s acceptance of the Works-As-Executed 
documentation, certification and Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and 
Calculation Sheet must be provided to the Principal Certifying 
Authority; 

(v) The Principal Certifying Authority must submit a copy of the Works-As-
Executed plans, certifications, Hydraulic Compliance Certificate and 
Calculation Sheet to the City of Sydney. 

(77) DEFECTS LIABILITY PERIOD – PUBLIC DOMAIN WORKS 

All works to the City’s public domain, including rectification of identified defects, 
are subject to a 6 month defects liability period from the date of final completion. 
The date of final completion will be nominated by Council on the Certificate of 
Completion for public domain works. 

(78) DRAINAGE AND SERVICE PIT LIDS  

Drainage and service pit lids throughout the public domain shall be heelguard and 
bicycle safe, finish flush with the adjacent pavement to avoid trip hazards and be 

82



 

clear of obstructions for easy opening and cleaning. Pit lids shall be in accordance 
with the City of Sydney’s Sydney Streets Design Code and Sydney Streets 
Technical Specification. Details of drainage and service pit lids shall be submitted 
and approved by Council prior to a Construction Certificate being issued for the 
relevant stage of work. 

(79) PROTECTION OF STONE KERBS 

(a) The existing stone kerbs on the Clarence Street and Kent Street frontages 
of the site are to be retained and properly protected during excavation and 
construction works. 

(b) To avoid damage to stone kerbs during excavation and construction works 
for the development, temporary removal and storage of the stone kerbs may 
be approved by Council. Removed, serviceable stone kerbs (i.e. those that 
are in good condition as agreed by Council officers) must be re-installed in 
accordance with the City of Sydney’s standard details and specifications 
after the construction works have been completed. Note: A temporary 
concrete kerb will need to be constructed to retain the footpath until the stone 
kerbs can be reinstalled. The removed stone kerbs are to be reinstalled prior 
to the issue of an Occupation Certificate. Note: all costs associated with the 
works are to be at no cost to the Council. 

(c) Damaged kerbs are to be replaced to match existing to Council’s satisfaction 
or as otherwise advised by Council officers.  

(d) Where new crossings or temporary crossings are to be constructed to 
access the property, the affected kerb stones should be salvaged and 
reused wherever possible. 

(e) All new driveway laybacks and kerbs are to be constructed with stone kerbs 
to match existing stones or as specified by City officers. All unused stone 
kerbs are to be salvaged and returned to the City’s store. 

(f) Council approval is required before kerbs are removed. 

(g) Council approval is required prior to the cutting of existing stone kerbs for 
stormwater kerb outlets. 

(80) PUBLIC DOMAIN DAMAGE DEPOSIT  

(a) A Public Domain Damage Deposit calculated on the basis of 143 square 
metres of asphalt site frontage must be lodged with Council in accordance 
with the City of Sydney’s adopted Schedule of Fees and Charges. The 
Public Domain Damage Deposit must be submitted as an unconditional bank 
guarantee or insurance bond as per the Council’s Performance Bond Policy 
in favour of Council as security for repairing any damage to the public 
domain in the vicinity of the site (Guarantee). 

(b) The Guarantee must be lodged with Council prior to an approval for 
demolition being granted or a Construction Certificate being issued, 
whichever is earlier. 

(c) The Guarantee in this condition will be retained in full until the Public Domain 
Works Deposit Guarantee if required by this consent is lodged with Council. 

83



 

Upon lodgement of the Public Domain Works Deposit Guarantee, the 
Guarantee in this condition will be released. 

(d) If no public domain works are required the Guarantee in this condition will 
be retained in full until the final Occupation Certificate has been issued and 
any rectification works to the footway and Public Domain are completed to 
Council’s satisfaction. The Guarantee will be released in full unless 
rectification works are required where upon 90% of the total securities will 
be released, with the remaining 10% to be retained for the duration of a 6 
months Defect Liability Period.  

(81) PUBLIC DOMAIN LIGHTING 

(a) Prior to a Construction Certificate for public domain works or above ground 
building works being issued, whichever is later, a detailed Public Domain 
Lighting Plan for pedestrian and street lighting in the public domain must be 
prepared by a suitably qualified, practicing lighting engineer or lighting 
designer and must be submitted to and approved by Council. The Lighting 
Plan must be prepared in accordance with the City of Sydney’s Sydney 
Lights Design Code, Sydney Streets Code, Sydney Streets Technical 
Specification and Public Domain Manual and must include the following: 

(i) Vertical and horizontal illuminance plots for the public domain lighting 
design to demonstrate compliance with all relevant Australian 
Standards and to meet the lighting categories and requirements 
specified by the City; 

(ii) The location, type and category of existing and proposed lights, 
including details of luminaire specifications, required to ensure 
compliance with City policies and Australian Standards; 

(iii) Footing locations and structural details; 

(iv) Location and details of underground electrical reticulation, connections 
and conduits; 

(v) Certification by a suitably qualified, practicing lighting engineer or 
lighting designer to certify that the design complies with City policies 
and all relevant Australian Standards including AS 1158, AS 3000 and 
AS4282; 

(vi) Structural certification for footing designs by a suitably qualified, 
practicing engineer to certify that the design complies with City of 
Sydney policies and Australian Standards. 

(b) The public domain lighting works are to be completed in accordance with the 
approved plans and the City of Sydney's Public Domain Manual before any 
Occupation Certificate is issued in respect of the development or before the 
use commences, whichever is earlier. 

(82) TACTILE GROUND SURFACE INDICATORS AND HANDRAILS 

All tactile ground surface indicators, handrails and other elements required to 
provide access into the building / property must be located entirely within the 
private property boundary. 

84



 

(83) THROUGH-SITE LINK WAYFINDING SIGNAGE 

(a) A wayfinding signage plan for the through site link must be submitted to the 
City for review and approval with the Public Domain Plan.  

(b) The signage plan must comply with relevant Australian Standards and 
Disability Discrimination Act requirements, and must include a certification 
of compliance from a suitably qualified and practicing access consultant.  

(c) Through site link signage works must be completed in accordance with the 
approved signage plan before any Occupation Certificate is issued in 
respect of the development or before the use commences, whichever is 
earlier.  

(84) APPLICATION FOR HOARDINGS AND SCAFFOLDING INSTALLED ON OR 
ABOVE A PUBLIC ROAD AND OPERATING HOISTING DEVICES INCLUDING 
BUILDING MAINTENANCE UNITS OVER A PUBLIC ROAD 

(a) A separate application under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 
and Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 is to be made to Council to erect a 
hoarding and/or scaffolding (temporary structures) on or above a public road 
(footway and/or roadway). 

(b) Where an approval (Permit) is granted allowing the placement of temporary 
structures on or above a public road the structures must comply fully with 
Council’s Hoarding and Scaffolding Policy; Guidelines for Hoardings and 
Scaffolding; and the conditions of approval (Permit) granted including: 

(i) maintaining a current and valid approval for the full duration that the 
temporary structure/s is in place; 

(ii) maintaining temporary structure/s in a structurally sound and stable 
condition for the full duration of installation (Clause 2.11.1); 

(iii) bill posters and graffiti being removed within 24 hours of their 
placement (Clause 2.11.2); 

(iv) maintaining temporary structures and the public place adjoining the 
work site in a clean and tidy condition including repainting and/or repair 
of graphics (Clauses 2.11.1, 2.11.4, 2.14.1 and 3.9.3); 

(v) maintaining a watertight deck (Type B hoardings) to prevent liquids 
including rainwater, falling onto the footway/roadway surfaces 
(Clauses 3.9.1 and 3.9.4); 

(vi) approved site sheds on the decks of a Type B hoarding being fully 
screened from the public place (Clause 3.9.5); 

(vii) material and equipment not being placed or stored on the deck of Type 
B hoardings, unless specifically approved by Council (Clause 3.9.4); 

(viii) providing and maintaining operational artificial lighting systems under 
Type B hoardings including at high-bay truck entry points (Clause 
3.9.9); and 

85



 

(ix) ensuring all required signage is provided and maintained (Clauses 
3.9.3, 3.9.6, 3.9.8, 3.10.1 and 4.2). 

If it is proposed to operate a hoisting device including a building maintenance unit 
above a public road which swings, hoists material/equipment and/or slews any 
part of the device over the public road, a separate application under Section 68 of 
the Local Government Act 1993 and Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 must be 
made to Council to obtain approval. 

Note: 'Building maintenance unit' means a power-operated suspended platform 
and associated equipment on a building specifically designed to provide 
permanent access to the faces of the building for maintenance (Work Health and 
Safety Regulation 2011). 

(85) WORKS REQUIRING USE OF A PUBLIC PLACE 

Where construction/building works require the use of a public place including a 
road or footpath, approval under Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 is to be 
obtained from Council prior to the commencement of work. Details of any 
barricade construction, area of enclosure and period of work are required to be 
submitted to the satisfaction of Council. 

(86) UTILITY SERVICES 

To ensure that utility authorities are advised of the development: 

(a) Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate a survey is to be carried out 
of all utility services within and adjacent to the site including relevant 
information from utility authorities and excavation if necessary, to determine 
the position and level of services. 

(b) Prior to the commencement of work the applicant is to obtain written 
approval from the utility authorities (e.g. Energy Australia, Sydney Water, 
and Telecommunications Carriers) in connection with the relocation and/or 
adjustment of the services affected by the construction of the underground 
structure. Any costs in the relocation, adjustment or support of services are 
to be the responsibility of the developer. 

(87) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT - COMMERCIAL 

(a)    The Waste and Recycling Management Plan accompanying this 
Development Application has not been approved by this consent.  

(b)    A Waste and Recycling Management Plan is to be approved by the Principal 
Certifier prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. The plan must 
comply with the Council's Guidelines for Waste Management in New 
Developments 2018. All requirements of the approved Building Waste and 
Recycling Management Plan must be implemented during construction of 
the development. 

(c)     All requirements of the approved Waste and Recycling Management Plan 
must be implemented during construction of the development. Including but 
not limited to:  

(d)     Dedicated bin storage space to be provided on each habitable floor area to 
hold one day’s waste and recycling. In addition, dedicated storage space 

86



 

within the development for the storage and recycling of bulky waste, problem 
waste, strip out and food waste. 

(e)     Collection points for waste and recycling must be wholly located within the 
boundary of the development. 

(f)      The nominated waste and recycling storage areas must be constructed to 
meet the relevant conditions required by the City’s Guidelines for Waste 
Management in New Developments 2018. 

(g)     Provision and storage within the boundary of the development of waste and 
recycling receptacles and any bulky waste at all times. 

UPON COMPLETION OF THE DEVELOPMENT 

(h)     Prior to any Occupation Certificate being issued or the use commencing, 
whichever is earlier, the Principal Certifier must ensure that waste handling 
works have been completed in accordance with: the Waste and Recycling 
Management Plan; other relevant development consent conditions; and 
Council's Guidelines for Waste Management in New Developments 2018. 

(88) WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT - MINOR 

The proposal must comply with the relevant provisions of Council's Guidelines for 
Waste Management in New Developments 2018 which requires facilities to 
minimise and manage waste and recycling generated by the proposal. 

(89) ARCHAEOLOGICAL INVESTIGATION 

(a) The applicant must apply to the Heritage Division of the Department of 
Environment and Heritage for an excavation permit under Section 140 of the 
Heritage Act 1977. 

(b) Should any potential archaeological deposit likely to contain Aboriginal 
objects be identified by any person during the planning or historical 
assessment stage, application must be made by a suitably qualified 
archaeologist to the NSW Government Office of Environment and Heritage 
for an excavation permit for Aboriginal objects. 

(c) The applicant must comply with the conditions and requirements of any 
excavation permit required, and are to ensure that allowance is made for 
compliance with these conditions and requirements into the development 
program. 

(d) General bulk excavation of the site is not to commence prior to compliance 
with the conditions and requirements of any excavation permit required. 

(e) Should any relics be unexpectedly discovered in any areas of the site not 
subject to an excavation permit, then all excavation or disturbance to the 
area is to stop immediately and the Heritage Council of NSW should be 
informed in accordance with section 146 of the Heritage Act 1977. 

(f) Should any Aboriginal objects be unexpectedly discovered then all 
excavation or disturbance of the area is to stop immediately and NSW 
Government Office of Environment and Heritage is to be informed in 
accordance with Section 89A of the National Parks and Wildlife Act 1974; 

87



 

(g) Should any archaeological remains or Aboriginal objects be discovered, a 
copy of recording of the finds and the final archaeological summary report is 
to be submitted to Council’s Area Coordinator Planning Assessments / Area 
Planning Manager prior to issue of an Occupation Certificate. 

(90) BUILDING WORKS TO COMPLY WITH BCA – HERITAGE BUILDINGS OR 
BUILDINGS WITHIN CONSERVATION AREA 

Any building works required to ensure compliance with the BCA or new building 
standards not specified in the submitted/approved plan must not damage existing 
fabric and building features. If such upgrading works have impact or potentially 
have impact on existing fabric and features, details of the works must be submitted 
and approved by Council’s Area Coordinator Planning Assessments / Area 
Planning Manager prior to issue of any Construction Certificate. 

(91) COSTED HERITAGE ASSET MAINTENANCE PLAN 

(a) To ensure the continued protection of heritage significance of the heritage 
item and to guide the future maintenance on heritage fabric, a costed 
Heritage Asset Maintenance Plan is to be developed. The following is to 
apply: 

(i) The Plan is to be based the NSW Heritage Division of the Department 
of Environment and Heritage publication: ‘Preparing a maintenance 
plan’, and is to be a guide for the effective, continuous, protective 
maintenance of all significant heritage fabric for a minimum period of 
20 years. 

(ii) The Plan is to include all fabric identified as being of heritage 
significance, specification notes and methodologies based on the 
Articles of the Australian ICOMOS Burra Charter 2013 and best 
conservation practise, and a list of appropriate consultants and 
suppliers together with the projected costing for each item of work. 

(iii) The Plan is to be prepared by the Conservation Architect and is to be 
submitted to Council for approval prior to the issue of any Occupation 
Certificate. 

(92) GENERAL HERITAGE 

(a) The proposed works are to be carried out in a manner that minimises 
demolition, alterations and new penetrations/fixings to the significant fabric 
of the existing building which is listed as a Heritage Item. 

(b) The fabric and features to be retained by the proposal must be properly 
protected during the process of demolition and construction. The protection 
measures are to be specified in the construction management plan. 

(c) All conservation and adaptation works are to be in accordance with the 
Articles of the Australian ICOMOS Burra Charter 2013. 

(d) New services are to be surface mounted rather than chased-in to existing 
walls to minimise impact on heritage fabric. 

88



 

(e) Appropriately qualified tradespersons (as appropriate) are to be 
commissioned who are skilled in traditional building and engineering trades 
to carry out the proposed scope of works. 

(f) The face brickwork/stone/tiles must not be rendered, painted or coated. 

(93) HERITAGE CONSERVATION WORKS 

(a) The Schedule of Conservation Works submitted in the application and dated 
December 2018 is not satisfactory. Prior to the issue of the Construction 
Certificate, an updated schedule of conservation works to be undertaken 
concurrent with the works is to be submitted to Council’s Area Coordinator 
Planning Assessments / Area Planning Manager for approval. 

(b) The schedule is to detail the conservation of all fabric and building 
components. The schedule is to specify the scope of work to each building 
element of the church. It is not limited to maintenances but includes 
reinstatements of lost features such as the stain glass windows. The 
schedule is to be based on investigation findings to the existing building 
fabric by experienced heritage tradespeople or professionals. 

(c) The schedule is to be supported by relevant investigation reports, outline 
specifications, methodologies and detailed architectural sections, elevations 
and plans at 1:20 and 1:5 scales. The details should incorporate any 
structural and/or building services design for the building. The repair work to 
stonework is to be specified block by block. 

(d) The proposed works are to be carried out in a manner that minimises 
demolition, alterations and new penetrations/fixings to the significant fabric 
of the existing building. 

(e) All conservation and adaptation works are to be in accordance with the 
Articles of the Australian ICOMOS Burra Charter 2013. Appropriately 
qualified contractors and tradespersons are to be commissioned who are 
skilled in traditional building and engineering trades to carry out the 
proposed scope of works within the heritage building. 

(f) INSPECTION AND APPROVAL: The conservation works are to be 
progressively inspected by, and be implemented to the satisfaction of 
Council’s Area Coordinator Planning Assessments / Area Planning Manager 
prior to the issue of the Occupation Certificate or commencement of the use, 
whichever is the earlier. 

(94) HERITAGE INTERPRETATION PLAN 

(a) An interpretation plan for the church building at 420 Kent St and warehouse 
buildings to be demolished at 422 Kent St and 277 Clarence St must be 
submitted to and approved by Council’s Area Planning Manager prior to a 
Construction Certificate being issued. The plan is to be prepared by a 
suitably qualified and experienced heritage practitioner or historian. 

(b) The interpretation plan must detail how information on the history and 
significance of the church and warehouse buildings will be provided for the 
public and make recommendations regarding public accessibility, signage 
and lighting. Public art, details of the heritage design, the display of selected 

89



 

artefacts are some of the means that can be used. Any archaeological finds 
during the excavation must be incorporated into the interpretation. 

(c) The plan must specify the location, type, making materials and contents of 
the interpretation device being proposed. 

(d) Prior to any occupation certificate being issued the approved interpretation 
plan must be implemented to the satisfaction of Council’s Area Co-ordinator 
Planning Assessments / Area Planning Manager. 

(95) HISTORIC MARKER 

A plaque of high-quality material (e.g. bronze or stainless steel) describing the 
history of the site and building must be installed on the facade of the building prior 
to an Occupation Certificate being issued. The design, location and wording must 
be submitted for the approval of Council’s Area Coordinator Planning 
Assessments / Area Planning Manager prior to manufacture and installation. The 
marker is to be incorporated into the heritage interpretation plan if a plan is 
required by this consent. 

(96) MATERIALS FOR MAKING GOOD 

New materials for making good and repairs, are to match the existing in terms of 
colours, finishes, sizes, profile and properties. 

(97) PHOTOGRAPHIC ARCHIVAL DOCUMENTATION (MAJOR WORKS) 

Prior to a Construction Certificate being issued, an archival photographic recording 
of the church building at 420 Kent Street, warehouse building at 422 Kent Street 
and warehouse building at 277 Clarence Street is to be prepared to Council's 
satisfaction. The recording is to be in digital form, prepared in accordance with the 
NSW Heritage Division of the Department of Environment and Heritage guidelines 
titled "Photographic Recording of Heritage Items using Film or Digital Capture". 
One copy of the record is to be submitted to Council to be lodged with Council's 
Archives. 

Procedure 

For buildings or structures with heritage significance, the archival documentation, 
and the number and type of selected enlarged photographs required will be 
determined by the significance and quality of the building or structure. For a scope 
of work, refer to Council’s Heritage Specialist to determine the particular 
architectural/design features of the building/site that may need to be recorded. 

For buildings or structures with no heritage significance the archival 
documentation requirements are less comprehensive, and may just be limited to 
contextual and exterior photographs only. However, this will depend upon the type, 
complexity and significance of the building, and should be confirmed with Council’s 
Area Coordinator Planning Assessments / Area Planning Manager, and if 
necessary Council’s Urban Design and Heritage Manager. 

Because significant fabric may remain concealed and only be exposed during 
construction works, the archival recording is to be undertaken in stages, prior to 
the removal of any significant building fabric or furnishings from the site, during 
the removal of fabric on site that exposes significant building fabric or furnishings, 
and after work has been completed on site, as considered appropriate by the 

90



 

conservation architect commissioned for the project, and submitted as two parts 
as follows. 

(a) The first submission of the archival recording of significant building fabric or 
furnishings is to be prior to the removal of any significant building fabric or 
furnishings from the site, and must be submitted to and approved by Council 
prior to the commencement of any work on site and prior to a Construction 
Certificate being issued. 

(b) The second submission of the archival recording is of significant building 
fabric or furnishings that is exposed during demolition or construction and 
after work has been completed on site, and must be submitted to Council 
prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued. 

The form of recording is to be a photographic documentation of the site and its 
context, and the exteriors and interiors of the existing building(s) photographed, 
where appropriate, using a camera/lens capable of ‘perspective correction’. The 
photographic recording is to be in digital form, prepared in accordance with the 
NSW Heritage Division of the Department of Environment and Heritage guidelines 
titled ‘Photographic Recording of Heritage Items using Film or Digital Capture’. 
One copy of the record is to be submitted to Council to be lodged with Council’s 
Archives. 

(c) For each of the two submissions listed above in (a) and (b), the digital form 
of the recording is to be as follows: 

(i) The Development Application number and the Condition of Consent 
number must be noted. 

(ii) Include a summary report detailing the project description, date and 
authorship of the photographic record, method of documentation and 
limitations of the photographic record. 

(iii) The electronic images are to be taken with a minimum 8 megapixel 
camera, saved as JPEG TIFF or PDF files with a size of approximately 
4-6MB, and cross referenced to the digital catalogue sheets and base 
plans. Choose only images that are necessary to document the 
process, and avoid duplicate images. 

(iv) Include written confirmation, issued with the authority of both the 
applicant and the photographer that the City of Sydney is granted a 
perpetual non-exclusive licence to make use of the copyright in all 
images supplied, including the right to make copies available to third 
parties as though they were Council images. The signatures of both 
the applicant and the photographer must be included. 

(v) The report can be submitted on a USB, CD or DVD, in PDF/A format 
(created directly from the digital original), with a digital catalogue of 
images with the following data for each: DOS title, image 
subject/description and data photograph taken. 

(98) SITES IN THE VICINITY OF A HERITAGE ITEM – MAJOR DEVELOPMENT 

(a) A protection strategy for the duration of the construction works, is to be 
submitted to and approved by Council’s Area Coordinator Planning 
Assessments / Area Planning Manager prior to the issue of any Construction 

91



 

Certificate. The Strategy is to detail how the proposed works will ensure that 
the heritage buildings within or in the vicinity of the construction site are to 
be suitably protected and stabilised during the construction process 
including from any construction waste, dust, damp, water runoff, vibration or 
structural disturbance or damage. 

(99) USE OF HERITAGE CONSULTANT 

(a) A heritage consultant experienced in heritage restoration and renovation 
works is to be commissioned to work with the consultant team throughout 
the design development, contract documentation and construction stages of 
the project. The heritage consultant is to be involved in the resolution of all 
matters where existing significant fabric and spaces are to be subject to 
preservation, restoration, reconstruction, adaptive reuse, recording and 
demolition. The heritage consultant is to be provided with full access to the 
site and authorised by the applicant to respond directly to Council where 
information or clarification is required regarding the resolution of heritage 
issues throughout the project. 

(b) Evidence and details of the above commission on the above terms are to be 
provided to Council’s Area Coordinator Planning Assessments / Area 
Planning Manager prior to commencement of work on site. The heritage 
consultant must sign off the completed project and submit a final report to 
Council’s Area Coordinator Planning Assessments / Area Planning Manager 
specifying how the heritage conditions are satisfied prior to the issue of any 
Occupation Certificate or the commencement of the use, whichever is 
earlier. 

(100) LANDSCAPED (GREEN) WALLS 

The design of the green wall must demonstrate the response to site conditions, 
including in particular light availability, sun and wind impacts. 

(a) Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, the following design details 
of the proposed green wall must be submitted to, and approved by Council’s 
Area Planning Manager: 

(i) Detailed drawings demonstrating how the green wall is constructed, 
including proposed materials, planter dimensions, and integration into 
the wall structure; 

(ii) Details of the proposed growing medium, including soil depth and type; 

(iii) Location, numbers, type and size of plant species selected (with plants 
being selected on the basis of the site conditions); 

(iv) Drainage, irrigation and waterproofing details (as applicable); and 

(v) Details of any additional lighting (where applicable). 

(b) Prior to the issuing of a Construction Certificate a maintenance plan is to be 
submitted to, and approved by Council. The maintenance plan is to include 
information on: 

(i) How access will be provided to the plants, soil and structural elements 
for installation and maintenance; and 

92



 

(ii) Details outlining the intended strategy for decommissioning the 
planting works should plants fail. This strategy is to ensure that the 
finish to the wall is well maintained throughout its life. 

(101) MECHANICAL VENTILATION 

(a) The premises must be ventilated in accordance with the Building Code of 
Australia and AS1668.1 and 2 - 2012. The Use of Ventilation and Air-
Conditioning in Buildings - Mechanical Ventilation in Buildings. 

(b) Details of any mechanical ventilation and/or air conditioning system 
complying with AS1668.1 and 2 – 2012 The Use of Ventilation and Air-
Conditioning in Buildings - Mechanical Ventilation in Buildings, the Building 
Code of Australia and relevant Australian Standards must be prepared by a 
suitably qualified person and certified in accordance with Clause A2.2 (a) (iii) 
of the Building Code of Australia, to the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier 
prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate. 

(c) Prior to issue of any Occupation Certificate and following the completion, 
installation, and testing of all the mechanical ventilation systems, a 
Mechanical Ventilation Certificate of Completion and Performance in 
accordance with Clause A2.2 (a) (iii) of the Building Code of Australia, must 
be submitted to the Principal Certifier. 

(102) CONSTRUCTION AND FITOUT OF FOOD PREMISES 

The construction, fitout and finishes of the food premises must comply with 
Standard 3.2.3 of the Australian and New Zealand Food Standards Code under 
the Food Act 2003 and AS 4674 – 2004 Design, Construction and Fitout of Food 
Premises. 

Note: Copies of AS 4674-2004 may be obtained from the Standards Australia 
Customer Service on telephone 1300 65 46 46 or by visiting the website 
www.standards.com.au.  

Copies of the Food Standards Code (Australia) may be obtained by contacting the 
Food Standards Australia and New Zealand Authority on telephone (02) 6271 
2222, email info@foodstandards.gov.au or by visiting the website 
www.foodstandards.gov.au. 

(103) GREASE AND LIQUID WASTE TRAPS 

(a) A grease trap if required by Sydney Water must be installed in accordance 
with Sydney Water requirements and:   

(i) Must be installed by a suitably qualified and licensed plumber in 
accordance with the Plumbing Code of Australia; 

(ii) The grease trap must be not be located in any kitchen, food 
preparation or food storage area; 

(iii) Be suitably constructed and installed in a location which allows it to be 
easily and effectively cleaned and emptied; and 

(iv) Be suitably constructed and located as not to encourage the 
harbourage of pests and be effectively pest proofed. 

93

http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/


 

(b) In-sink and in-floor waste bucket traps must be installed in all sinks and floor 
wastes in all commercial kitchens and food preparation areas and must be 
carried out by a suitably qualified and licensed plumber in accordance with 
the Plumbing Code of Australia. 

(104) HOT WATER SERVICE 

The capacity of the hot water service must ensure that a constant supply of hot 
water is provided to the premises at all times for all sinks and basins including 
hand wash basin/s. The temperature of the hot water provided to the sinks must 
be in accordance with AS4674 – Design, Construction and Fit-out of Food 
Premises and the Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code 3.2.2 - Food 
Safety Practices and general requirements. 

(105) NOTIFICATION OF CONDUCT OF FOOD BUSINESS 

(a) The use shall not commence until the food business has notified Council 
with their food business details in accordance with the Food Act 2003 and 
The Australia New Zealand Food Standards Code – 3.2.2 – Food Safety 
Practices and General Requirements, Clause 4. 

(b) An Occupation Certificate will not be issued until such notification has been 
received by Council in accordance with Clause (a) of this condition. 

Note: Registration forms are available on Council's website 
www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au. 

(106) WASTE STORAGE AREA 

(a) To ensure the adequate storage and collection of waste from the food 
premises, all garbage and recyclable materials emanating from the premises 
must be stored in a designated waste storage area. The waste storage area 
must be designed and constructed in accordance with AS 4674 – Design, 
Construction and Fit-out of Food Premises, Australia New Zealand Food 
Standards Code 3.2.3 – Food Premises and Equipment and comply with the 
Council Policy for Waste Minimisation in New Developments, and must be: 

(i) Provided with a hose tap connected to the water supply. 

(ii) Paved with impervious floor materials. 

(iii) Coved at the intersection of the floor and walls. 

(iv) Graded and drained to a waste disposal system in accordance with 
the requirements of the relevant regulatory authority (Sydney Water). 

(v) Adequately ventilated (mechanically or naturally) so that odour 
emissions do not cause offensive odour or air pollution as defined by 
the Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 or a nuisance. 

(vi) Fitted with appropriate interventions to meet fire safety standards in 
accordance with the Building Code of Australia. 

(vii) Provided with the appropriate number and size of bins adequate for 
the storage of waste generated by the business, including recycling. 

94

http://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/


 

(viii) Appropriately managed so that it does not attract pests or create litter. 

(b) Detailed plans and specifications for the construction of the waste storage 
area must be submitted to and approved by the Principal Certifier prior to 
the issue of the Construction Certificate and must be constructed in 
accordance with such plans and specifications prior to the issuance of any 
Occupation Certificate. 

(107) ENERGY EFFICIENCY OF BUILDINGS 

The design of the building and its services must achieve a rating of 4.5 stars under 
the NSW Office and Environment and Heritage (OEH) National Australian Built 
Environment Rating System (NABERS Energy). This can be demonstrated by: 

(a) Entering into a Commitment Agreement with OEH, to deliver this star rating. 

(b) The applicant must provide a copy of the completed Commitment 
Agreement with their Construction Certificate application; and 

(c)     Providing a copy of the independent energy assessment report to OEH and 
submitted with the Construction Certificate application, that follows the 
current OEH guidelines. This report must be based on the same documents 
as those submitted with the Construction Certificate. 

Note: Definitions referred to in clause [1(a)] above: 

(i)      Commitment Agreement means an agreement that is set out in 
accordance with OEH NABERS Commitment Agreement, which is 
made/signed between OEH and the applicant/building owner to 
design, build and commission the premises to an agreed star rating. 

(ii)     Star rating refers to the benchmarking system applied by OEH for 
measuring the energy efficiency of a building, and known as NABERS 
the National Australian Built Environment Rating System. 

(108) INTERNAL LIGHTING SYSTEM  

The proposed internal lighting system must be designed to provide for the efficient 
use of energy including the use of energy efficient light fittings, zoned lighting and 
controls and sensors to avoid unnecessary lighting of unused rooms/spaces. 
Details of the internal lighting system must be submitted to and approved by the 
Principal Certifier prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. 

(109) OVERALL DESIGN FOR WATER EFFICIENCY  

A report describing all water efficiency measures applied to the building design 
and fit out is required and must be submitted for the approval of the Principal 
Certifier, prior to a Construction Certificate being issued. The report should 
address, as a minimum: Efficiency ratings of toilets, urinals, taps, and shower 
heads in hotel rooms, publically accessible areas, back of house services 
(kitchens, laundrys) and staff facilities (end of trip facilities etc); efficiency 
measures for fire test water, and any water-based space conditioning 
(HVAC) services. 

 

95



 

SCHEDULE 1C 

DURING CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO OCCUPATION/COMPLETION 

(110) OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE TO BE SUBMITTED 

An Occupation Certificate must be obtained from the Principal Certifier and a copy 
submitted to Council prior to commencement of occupation or use of the whole or 
any part of a new building, an altered portion of, or an extension to an existing 
building. 

(111) HOURS OF WORK AND NOISE – CBD 

The hours of construction and work on the development must be as follows: 

(a) All work, including demolition, excavation and building work, and activities in 
the vicinity of the site generating noise associated with preparation for the 
commencement of work (eg loading and unloading of goods, transferring of 
tools etc) in connection with the proposed development must only be carried 
out between the hours of 7.00am and 7.00pm on Mondays to Fridays, 
inclusive, and 7.00am and 5.00pm on Saturdays, and no work must be 
carried out on Sundays or public holidays. 

(b) All work, including demolition, excavation and building work must comply 
with the City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 
and Australian Standard 2436-2010 Guide to Noise Control on Construction, 
Maintenance and Demolition Sites. 

(c) Notwithstanding the above, the use of a crane for special operations, 
including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and 
erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which warrant the on-street 
use of mobile cranes outside of above hours can occur, subject to a permit 
being issued by Council under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 
and/or Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993. 

Note: Works may be undertaken outside of hours, where it is required to avoid the 
loss of life, damage to property, to prevent environmental harm and/or to avoid 
structural damage to the building. Written approval must be given by the 
Construction Regulation Unit, prior to works proceeding. 

The City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 allows 
extended working hours subject to the approval of an application in accordance 
with the Code and under Section 4.55 of the Environmental Planning and 
Assessment Act 1979. 

(112) HAZARDOUS AND INDUSTRIAL WASTE 

Hazardous and/or industrial waste arising from the demolition/operational 
activities must be removed and/or transported in accordance with the 
requirements of the NSW Work Cover Authority pursuant to the provisions of the 
following: 

(a) Protection of the Environment Operations Act 1997 

(b) Protection of the Environment Operations (Waste) Regulation 2005 

96



 

(c) Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Act 2001 

(d) Work Health and Safety Act 2011 

(e) Work Health and Safety Regulation 2011. 

(113) USE OF HIGH NOISE EMISSION APPLIANCES/PLANT  

(a) The operation of high noise emission appliances, plant and/or machinery 
such as pile – drivers, rock breakers and hydraulic hammers and those 
which are not listed in Groups B, C, D, E or F of Schedule 1 of the City of 
Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 and Australian 
Standard 2436-2010 Guide to Noise Control on Construction, Maintenance 
and Demolition Sites is restricted to the hours of 9.00am – 12.00pm and 
2.00pm – 6pm Monday – Friday, 10.00am – 12.30pm and 1.30pm – 5pm on 
Saturdays, and no work must be carried out on Sundays or public holidays. 

(b) All reasonable and feasible steps must be undertaken to ensure that the 
work, including demolition, excavation and building complies with the City of 
Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 and Australian 
Standard 2436- 2010 Guide to Noise Control on Construction, Maintenance 
and Demolition Sites. 

(114) NOTIFICATION OF EXCAVATION WORKS OR USE OF HIGH NOISE 
EMISSION APPLIANCES/PLANT 

The immediately adjoining neighbours must be given a minimum of 48 hours 
notice that excavation, shoring or underpinning works or use of high noise 
emission appliances / plant are about to commence. 

(115) ENCROACHMENTS – NEIGHBOURING PROPERTIES 

No portion of the proposed structure shall encroach onto the adjoining properties. 

(116) ENCROACHMENTS – PUBLIC WAY 

No portion of the proposed structure, including gates and doors during opening 
and closing operations, shall encroach upon Council’s footpath area. 

(117) SURVEY 

All footings, walls and floor slabs adjacent to a boundary must be set out by a 
registered surveyor. On commencement of brickwork or wall construction a survey 
and report, prepared by a Registered Surveyor, must be submitted to the Principal 
Certifier indicating the position of external walls in relation to the boundaries of the 
allotment. Any encroachments by the subject building over adjoining boundaries 
or roads must be removed prior to continuation of building construction work. 

(118) SURVEY CERTIFICATE AT COMPLETION 

A Survey Certificate prepared by a Registered Surveyor must be submitted at the 
completion of the building work certifying the location of the building in relation to 
the boundaries of the allotment. 

97



 

(119) COVERING OF LOADS 

All vehicles involved in the excavation and/or demolition process and departing 
the property with demolition materials, spoil or loose matter must have their loads 
fully covered before entering the public roadway. 

(120) EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL 

The Soil and Water Management Plan (SWMP) or Erosion and Sediment Control 
Plan (ESCP) which has been approved by the Principal Certifier must be 
implemented in full during the construction period. 

During the construction period; 

(a) erosion and sediment controls must be regularly inspected, repaired and 
maintained in working order sufficient for a 10 year Average Recurrence 
Interval (ARI) rainfall event; 

(b) erosion and sediment control signage available from Council must be 
completed and attached to the most prominent structure visible at all times 
when entering the site for the duration of construction; and 

(c) building operations and stockpiles must not be located on the public footway 
or any other locations which could lead to the discharge of materials into the 
stormwater system. 

(121) VEHICLE CLEANSING 

Prior to the commencement of work, suitable measures are to be implemented to 
ensure that sediment and other materials are not tracked onto the roadway by 
vehicles leaving the site. It is an offence to allow, permit or cause materials to 
pollute or be placed in a position from which they may pollute waters. 

(122) SYDNEY WATER CERTIFICATE 

A Section 73 Compliance Certificate under the Sydney Water Act 1994 must be 
obtained from Sydney Water Corporation. 

Application must be made through an authorised Water Servicing Coordinator. 
Please refer to the Building Developing and Plumbing section on the web site 
www.sydneywater.com.au then refer to “Water Servicing Coordinator” under 
“Developing Your Land” or telephone 13 20 92 for assistance. 

Following application a “Notice of Requirements” will advise of water and sewer 
infrastructure to be built and charges to be paid. Please make early contact with 
the Coordinator, since building of water/sewer infrastructure can be time 
consuming and may impact on other services and building, driveway or landscape 
design. 

The Section 73 Certificate must be submitted to Council or the Principal Certifier 
prior to any Occupation Certificate or subdivision/strata certificate being issued. 

98



 

(123) ACCESS DRIVEWAYS TO BE CONSTRUCTED 

Approved driveways are to be constructed for all vehicular access to the 
construction site in accordance with the requirements of Council's “Driveway 
Specifications” to the satisfaction of Council. 

(124) LOADING AND UNLOADING DURING CONSTRUCTION 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) All loading and unloading associated with construction activity must be 
accommodated on site, where possible. 

(b) If, it is not feasible for loading and unloading to take place on site, a Works 
Zone on the street may be considered by Council. 

(c) A Works Zone may be required if loading and unloading is not possible on 
site. If a Works Zone is warranted an application must be made to Council 
at least 8 weeks prior to commencement of work on the site. An approval for 
a Works Zone may be given for a specific period and certain hours of the 
days to meet the particular need for the site for such facilities at various 
stages of construction. The approval will be reviewed periodically for any 
adjustment necessitated by the progress of the construction activities. 

(d) Where hoisting activity over the public place is proposed to be undertaken 
including hoisting from a Works Zone, a separate approval under Section 68 
of the Local Government Act 1993 must be obtained. 

(125) NO OBSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WAY 

The public way must not be obstructed by any materials, vehicles, refuse, skips or 
the like, under any circumstances. Non-compliance with this requirement will result 
in the issue of a notice by Council to stop all work on site. 

(126) USE OF MOBILE CRANES 

The following requirements apply: 

(a) Mobile cranes operating from the road must not be used as a method of 
demolishing or constructing a building. 

(b) For special operations including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant 
and equipment and erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which 
warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes, permits must be obtained from 
Council for the use of a mobile crane. The permits must be obtained 48 hours 
beforehand for partial road closures which, in the opinion of Council will 
create minimal traffic disruptions and 4 weeks beforehand in the case of full 
road closures and partial road closures which, in the opinion of Council, will 
create significant traffic disruptions. 

(c) The use of a crane for special operations, including the delivery of materials, 
hoisting of plant and equipment and erection and dismantling of on site tower 
cranes which warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes outside of approved 
hours of construction can occur, subject to a permit being issued by Council 
under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 and/or Section 138 of 
the Roads Act 1993. 

99



 

SCHEDULE 2 
PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS 

The prescribed conditions in accordance with Division 8A of the Environmental 
Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 apply: 

Clause 98  Compliance with Building Code of Australia and insurance requirements 
under the Home Building Act 1989 

Clause 98A Erection of signs 

Clause 98B Notification of Home Building Act 1989 requirements 

Clause 98C Conditions relating to entertainment venues 

Clause 98D Conditions relating to maximum capacity signage 

Clause 98E Conditions relating to shoring and adequacy of adjoining property 

Refer to the NSW State legislation for full text of the clauses under Division 8A of the 
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. This can be accessed at: 
http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au 
 

100



 

SCHEDULE 3 

(A) TRANSPORT FOR NSW (TfNSW) CONCURRENCE CONDITIONS  

TfNSW has provided the following concurrence conditions pursuant to Clause 88 of the State 
Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 2007 as follows: 

General Conditions  

(127) All structures which are proposed for construction or installation, or which are 
constructed or installed, in connection with the approved development that 
have a potential impact on the CBD Rail Link (CBDRL) must be designed, 
constructed and maintained in accordance with design criteria specified by 
Transport for NSW (TfNSW). 

(128) The design and construction of the basement levels, foundations and ground 
anchors for the approved development are to be completed to the satisfaction 
of TfNSW; 

(129) The applicant must make allowances that are to be agreed with TfNSW in the 
design, construction and maintenance of the approved development for the 
future operation of railway tunnels in the vicinity of the approved development, 
especially in relation to noise, vibration, stray currents, electromagnetic fields 
and fire safety; 

(130) The design and construction of the foundations and ground anchors for the 
approved development are to be completed to the satisfaction of TfNSW. An 
accurate plan/CAD model should be included for the proposed foundations, to 
enable verification against the CBDRL alignment model; 

(131) No modifications may be made to the approved design without the consent of 
TfNSW; 

(132) The applicant must provide access by representatives of TfNSW upon request 
to the site of the approved development and all structures on that site during all 
stages of the development; 

(133) TfNSW, and persons authorised by it for this purpose, are entitled to inspect 
the site of the approved development and all structures to enable it to consider 
whether those structures on that site have been or are being constructed and 
maintained in accordance with these conditions of consent, on giving 
reasonable notice to the principal contractor for the approved development or 
the owner or occupier of the part of the site to which access is sought; 

(134) Any contamination issues encountered during the development of the site are 
to be resolved taking cognizance of the future railway; 

(135) Copies of any certificates, drawings or approvals given to or issued by TfNSW 
must be delivered to Council for its records; and 

(136) All TfNSW costs associated with review of plans, designs and legal must be 
borne by the applicant. 

 

 

101



 

Prior to the issue of Construction Certificate 

The applicant should consult with TfNSW to confirm the timing of the each construction 
certificate and associated documentation and activities prior to preparation of requested 
documentation.  
 
The applicant should provide the information to TfNSW for review and endorsement. The 
Principal Certifying Authority (PCA) is not to issue the relevant Construction Certificate until 
received written confirmation from TfNSW that the following conditions have been complied 
with. 
 

(137) Prior to issue of any Construction Certificate, the applicant shall address the 
adverse effects of the approved development on the CBD Rail Link (CBDRL) 
identified in State Environmental Planning Policy (Infrastructure) 2007. The 
applicant must: 

(a) Provide the following for TfNSW review and endorsement: 

(i) Geotechnical Report - The applicant must undertake detailed 
geotechnical analysis to the satisfaction of TfNSW to demonstrate 
likely movements of the ground due to the future CBDRL; 

(ii) Foundation Design - The applicant shall develop their foundation 
design, and any encroachment into the Exclusion Zones as required 
by TfNSW. Cross Sectional drawings showing the proposed basement 
excavation and structural design of sub ground support adjacent to the 
rail corridor should be included for the proposed foundations. All 
ground anchors and rock bolts within the CBDRL protection zone 
adjacent to the bulk excavation face shall be temporary anchors, or 
removable type or fibreglass type, to avoid obstruction of any future 
CBDRL construction; and 

(iii) Electrolysis report - All Structures must be designed, constructed and 
maintained so as to avoid any damage or other interference, which 
may occur as a result of stray electrical currents, electromagnetic 
effects and the like from future railway operations. An Electrolysis 
Report is to be submitted to TfNSW demonstrating the Electrolysis 
Risk to the development. The applicant must incorporate in the 
development all the measures recommended in the report to control 
that risk. 

Any conditions issued as part of TfNSW approval/certification of the above 
documents will also form part of the consent conditions that the applicant is 
required to comply with. 

(b) Make allowances that are to be agreed with TfNSW in the design for the 
future construction of railway tunnels in the vicinity of the approved 
development; 

(c) Consult with TfNSW including preparation of a detailed regime for 
consultation with and approval by, TfNSW for the excavation of the site and 
the construction of the building foundations (including ground anchors) for 
the approved development, which may include geotechnical and structural 
certification in the form required by TfNSW 

102



 

(d) Provide detailed survey information to TfNSW, to confirm the property 
boundaries are consistent with the setting out on the CBDRL drawings; 

(e) Provide to TfNSW drawings, reports and other information related to the 
design, construction and maintenance of the approved development; and 
Address such other matters that TfNSW considers is appropriate. 

(f) The applicant is to submit a report to TfNSW demonstrating how the 
proposed development will comply with the Department of Planning's 
document titled "Development Near Rail Corridors and Busy Roads -Interim 
Guideline". All structures must be designed, constructed and maintained so 
as to avoid any damage or other interference, which may occur as a result 
of air-borne noise, ground-borne noise and vibration that may emanate from 
the (future) rail corridor construction and rail operations to the proposed 
development. The applicant must incorporate in the development all the 
measures recommended in the report. 

Prior to the Commencement of Works 
 

(138) Prior to the commencement of any excavation below existing ground level, a 
restrictive covenant is to be created upon each of the titles which comprise the 
approved development pursuant to Section 88E of the Conveyancing Act 1919, 
restricting any alterations or additions to any part of the approved development 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect, or which otherwise are likely to 
interfere with the design, construction and operation of the future CBDRL the prior 
written consent of TfNSW. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

103



 

(B) TRANSPORT FOR NSW (TfNSW) REFERRAL CONDITIONS  
 
The conditions of consent, as recommended by TfNSW in response to the development are 
as follows: 

(139) COACH PARKING AND PASSENGER PICK-UP AND SET-DOWN 
MANAGEMENT 

(a) A ‘Coach Parking and Passenger Pick- Up and Set-Down Management 
Plan’ must be prepared, in consultation with the Sydney Coordination Office 
within TfNSW, prior to the issue of the Construction Certificate. 

(140) LOADING BAY MANAGEMENT 

(a) A ‘Loading Bay Management Plan’ must be prepared, in consultation with 
the Sydney Coordination Office within TfNSW, prior to the issue of the 
Construction Certificate. 

(141) CONSTRUCTION PEDESTRIAN AND TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT 

A ACTIVE TRANSPORT  

The applicant must:  

(a) Locate bicycle facilities in secure, convenient, accessible areas close to the 
main entries incorporating adequate lighting and passive surveillance and in 
accordance with Austroads guidelines; and 

(b) Develop wayfinding strategies and travel access guides to assist with 
increasing the mode share of walking and cycling for staff and guests. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(C) AUSGRID REFERRAL CONDITIONS  

The conditions of consent, as recommended by Ausgrid in response to the development are 
as follows:  

104



 

(143) PROXIMITY TO EXISTING NETWORK ASSETS – UNDERGROUND CABLES 

(a) There are existing underground electricity network assets in Kent Street and 
Clarence Street.  

(b) Special care should be taken to ensure that driveways and any other 
construction activities within the footpath area do not interfere with the 
existing cables in the footpath. Ausgrid cannot guarantee the depth of cables 
due to the possible changes in ground levels from previous activities after 
the cables were installed. Hence, it is recommended that the developer 
locate and record the depth of all known underground services prior to any 
excavation in the area.  

(c) Safework Australia Excavation Code of Practice, and Ausgrid’s Network 
Standard NS156 outlines the minimum requirements for working around 
Ausgrid’s underground cables. 

 

(144) FOR ACTIVITIES WITHIN OR NEAR TO THE ELECTRICITY EASEMENT  

(a) Purpose of Easement 

(i) This easement was acquired for the 11,000 volt distribution assets 
currently owned and operated by Ausgrid. The purpose of the 
easement is to protect the distribution assets and to provide adequate 
working space along the route of the cables for construction and 
maintenance work. The easement also assists Ausgrid in controlling 
works or other activities under or near the distribution cables, which 
could either by accident or otherwise create an unsafe situation for 
workers or the public, or reduce the security and reliability of Ausgrid’s 
network. 

 

105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



Document is Restricted

147


	Agenda
	1 Disclosures of Interest
	2 Confirmation of Minutes
	3 Matters Arising from the Minutes
	4 Development Application: 2-38 Baptist Street and 397-399 Cleveland Street, Redfern - D/2018/1128
	Attachment A -  Recommended Conditions of Consent
	Attachment B1 - Selected Architectural Drawings
	Attachment B1 - Architectural Drawings
	Attachment B2 - Architectural Drawings

	Attachment B2 - Selected Architectural Drawings
	ADP6C5.tmp
	(A) [insert Deferred Commencement conditions]
	Evidence that will sufficiently enable Council to be satisfied as to those matters identified in deferred commencement conditions, as indicated above, must be submitted to Council within 24 months of the date of this determination of this deferred com...
	The consent will not operate until such time that the Council notifies the Applicant in writing that deferred commencement consent conditions as indicated above, have been satisfied.
	Upon Council giving written notification to the Applicant that the deferred commencement conditions have been satisfied, the consent will become operative from the date of that written notification, subject to the following conditions of consent.
	(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT
	(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. [insert DA number] dated [insert date DA was lodged] and the following drawings prepared by [insert]:
	(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail.




	Attachment C -  Clause 4.6 Variation Request - Height of Buildings
	(A) [insert Deferred Commencement conditions]
	Evidence that will sufficiently enable Council to be satisfied as to those matters identified in deferred commencement conditions, as indicated above, must be submitted to Council within 24 months of the date of this determination of this deferred com...
	The consent will not operate until such time that the Council notifies the Applicant in writing that deferred commencement consent conditions as indicated above, have been satisfied.
	Upon Council giving written notification to the Applicant that the deferred commencement conditions have been satisfied, the consent will become operative from the date of that written notification, subject to the following conditions of consent.
	(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT
	(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. [insert DA number] dated [insert date DA was lodged] and the following drawings prepared by [insert]:
	(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail.



	Attachment D -  Clause 4.6 Variation Request - Floor Space Ratio
	(A) [insert Deferred Commencement conditions]
	Evidence that will sufficiently enable Council to be satisfied as to those matters identified in deferred commencement conditions, as indicated above, must be submitted to Council within 24 months of the date of this determination of this deferred com...
	The consent will not operate until such time that the Council notifies the Applicant in writing that deferred commencement consent conditions as indicated above, have been satisfied.
	Upon Council giving written notification to the Applicant that the deferred commencement conditions have been satisfied, the consent will become operative from the date of that written notification, subject to the following conditions of consent.
	(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT
	(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. [insert DA number] dated [insert date DA was lodged] and the following drawings prepared by [insert]:
	(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail.



	Attachment E -  Competitive Design Alternatives Report
	(A) [insert Deferred Commencement conditions]
	Evidence that will sufficiently enable Council to be satisfied as to those matters identified in deferred commencement conditions, as indicated above, must be submitted to Council within 24 months of the date of this determination of this deferred com...
	The consent will not operate until such time that the Council notifies the Applicant in writing that deferred commencement consent conditions as indicated above, have been satisfied.
	Upon Council giving written notification to the Applicant that the deferred commencement conditions have been satisfied, the consent will become operative from the date of that written notification, subject to the following conditions of consent.
	(1) APPROVED DEVELOPMENT
	(a) Development must be in accordance with Development Application No. [insert DA number] dated [insert date DA was lodged] and the following drawings prepared by [insert]:
	(b) In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail.


	Appendix D - Competitive Desig~ 397-399 Cleveland St, Redfern.PDF
	Competitive Design Alternatives Report FINAL
	Endorsement
	Competitive Design Alternatives Report FINAL
	1.0 Introduction
	2.0 Competitive Process
	2.1 Competitors
	2.2 Competitive Process Manager
	2.3 Technical Advisors
	2.4 Selection Panel
	2.5 City of Sydney Observers
	2.6 Recommendation Process

	3.0 Chronology of Events
	4.0 Design Alternatives Considered
	4.1 Competitor Submissions
	4.1.1  Bates Smart + Chenchow Little + Luchetti Krelle
	4.1.2  Woods Bagot Alexander & Co Christopher Owen Landscape Design
	4.1.3  DKO+ Archer Office + Tribe + Aspect Studios + Hames Sharley
	4.1.4 SJB + Architect Prineas +Aspect Studios


	5.0 Selection Panel Recommendation
	6.0 Conclusion




	5 Development Application: 194 & 196-204 Pitt Street, Sydney – D/2018/1246
	Attachment A - Recommended Conditions of Consent
	Attachment B - Building Envelope Drawings
	Attachment C - Indicative Demolition Drawings
	Attachment D - Indicative Concept Drawings
	Attachment E - Design Excellence Strategy
	Attachment E - Design Excellence Strategy
	Attachment E Cover Sheet
	Attachment E - Design Excellence Strategy

	Rev10_DEX Strategy 194-204 Pitt St Sydney
	1.0 Introduction
	1.1 Overview
	1.2 Objectives of the Design Excellence Strategy

	2.0 Design Excellence Strategy
	2.1 Site context
	2.2 Competitive Design Process Components
	2.3 Type of competitive process
	2.4 Selection of competitors
	2.5 Establishment of the competition jury
	2.6 Competition brief
	2.7 Proposed allocation of up to 10% additional floor space
	2.8 Options for distributing floor space within the building envelope
	2.9 Sustainable design targets
	2.10 Design integrity



	Attachment F - Submissions (Confidential)

	6 Development Application: 420 & 422-424 Kent Street and 275 & 277 Clarence Street, Sydney - D/2018/1577
	Attachment A - Recommended Conditions of Consent
	Attachment B1 - Selected Architectural Drawings
	Attachment B2 - Selected Architectural Drawings
	Attachment C - Shadow Diagrams
	Attachment D - Submissions (Confidential)




